
 

Borough of Telford and Wrekin 

Cabinet 

Thursday 15 December 2022 

10.00 am 

The Telford Room, Addenbrooke House, Ironmasters Way,  

Telford, TF3 4NT 

   

 

Democratic Services: 

 

Jayne Clarke / Stacey 

Worthington 

01952 383205 / 384382 

Media Enquiries: 

 

Corporate Communications 01952 382406 

Lead Officer: 

 

David Sidaway - Chief Executive 01952 380130 

 

Cabinet Members:  

Councillor S Davies Leader of the Council 

Councillor R A Overton Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member: Housing, 
Enforcement and Transport 

Councillor A J Burford Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care and Health, Integration 
and Transformation 

Councillor E M Callear Cabinet Member: Visitor Economy, Employment and Skills 

Councillor L D Carter Cabinet Member: Neighbourhood Services, Regeneration 
and the High Street 

Councillor R C Evans Cabinet Member: Finance, Governance and Customer 
Services 

Councillor C Healy Cabinet Member: Climate Change, Green Spaces, Natural 
and Historic Environment and Cultural Services 

Councillor K Middleton Cabinet Member: Leisure, Public Health and Well-Being, 
Equalities and Partnerships 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

Councillor S A W Reynolds Cabinet Member: Children, Young People, and Families 

Councillor P Watling Cabinet Member: Stronger and Safer Communities 

Invitees  

Councillor A J Eade  
 

Conservative  

Councillor W L Tomlinson  Liberal Democrat  

 
 Agenda Page 

 
1.0   Apologies for Absence 

 
 

 

2.0   Declarations of Interest 
 
 

 

3.0   Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
 

3 - 8 

4.0   Leader's Announcements 
 
 

 

5.0   Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site – Supplementary Planning 
Document (Consultation Version) 
Cllr Richard Overton - Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member: 
Housing, Enforcement and Transport 
To obtain approval to proceed to consultation on the draft Ironbridge 
Gorge World Heritage Site Supplementary Planning Document. 
 

9 - 144 

6.0   Declaration of Further Green Guarantee Sites 
Cllr Carolyn Healy - Cabinet Member: Climate Change, Green 
Spaces, Natural and Historic Environment and Cultural Services 
To receive a report on the declaration of further Green Guarantee sites. 
 

145 - 214 

7.0   Indoor Sports and Leisure Strategy 2022-2032 
Cllr Kelly Middleton - Cabinet Member: Leisure, Public Health and 
Well-Being, Equalities and Partnerships 
To receive a report on the new Indoor Sports and Leisure Strategy. 
 

215 - 300 

8.0   Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 
Cllr Paul Watling - Cabinet Member: Stronger and Safer 
Communities 
To receive a report on the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
Strategy. 
 

301 - 340 

 
 

Page 2



 

 

CABINET 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 3 November 2022 

at 10.00 am in The Telford Room, Addenbrooke House, Ironmasters Way, 
Telford, TF3 4NT 

 
PUBLISHED ON WEDNESDAY 9 NOVEMBER 2022 

 
(DEADLINE FOR CALL-IN: MONDAY 14 NOVEMBER 2022) 

 
 
Present: Councillors S Davies (Chair), R A Overton (Vice-Chair), A J Burford, 
E M Callear, L D Carter, R C Evans, C Healy, K Middleton, S A W Reynolds 
and P Watling.  
 
Also Present:    Councillors A J Eade (Conservative Group Leader), W L 
Tomlinson (Liberal Democrat Group Leader)  
 
CAB-
188 

Declarations of Interest 

 
Councillor P R Watling declared an interest in item CAB-193 (Autism Draft 
Strategy) and advised that he would leave the room during the determination 
thereof.  
 
Councillor S Davies declared a personal and non-prejudicial interest in item 
CAB-192 (School Growth) as his wife worked in a primary school in the 
Borough. 
 
Councillor S A W Reynolds declared a personal and non-prejudicial interest in 
item CAB-192 (School Growth) as her daughter worked in a primary school in 
the Borough. 
 
CAB-
189 

Minutes of the Previous Meeting 

 
RESOLVED- that the minutes of the meeting held on 13 October 2022 be 
confirmed and signed by the Chair.  
 
CAB-
190 

Leader's Announcements 

 
The Leader congratulated Councillor Hilda Rhodes for her Lifetime 
Achievement Award from the Local Government Information Unit (LGiU), 
Councillor Rhodes had been a Councillor for over thirty years and had made a 
significant contribution to the Borough.  
 

The Leader also congratulated Councillor Kuldip Sahota on his ascension to 
the House of Lords. This was a huge recognition for not only Councillor 
Sahota, but for Telford and the Sikh community.  

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

 

 
CAB-
191 

Leader and Cabinet Members' Young Person Grant Scheme 

 
The Cabinet Member: Children, Young People & Families presented the 
report of the Director: Children’s Safeguarding & Family Support. The scheme 
had been in place since 2017. In 2021, an allocation of £20,000 was made 
and the scheme received 132 applicants, of which 64 were successful. In 
2022, the same number of applications (132) were received, however, there 
were 72 successful applicants.  
 

The report summarised the communications that had taken place to reach 
young people for the 2022 scheme, which was effective with over 840,000 
views to the scheme webpages coming from social media. 53 of the 132 
applicants advised that they had been made aware of the scheme via social 
media.  
 
Applications could be made in a variety of ways, which had increased the 
range of applicants. 
 
The proposals for the 2023 scheme were outlined in the report.  
 
Cabinet Members welcomed the report and noted the difference these awards 
made to young peoples’ lives.  
 
In response to a question from the Conservative Group Leader, the Cabinet 
Member: Children, Young People & Families stated that alongside their 
application, applicants had to submit a written reference which was thoroughly 
checked. A panel meeting took place where all applications were reviewed.  
 
RESOLVED that: 
 

a) The funding for the Leader and Cabinet Members’ Young Person 
Grant Scheme be approved; 

b) The holding of an alumni event to understand the impact on 
successful applicants from the past 2 years and to inform the 
upcoming 2023 scheme be approved; 

c) The communications plan be further developed to ensure more 
young people are reached, including our NEET cohort beyond the 
age of 16 be approved. 

 
CAB-
192 

School Growth 

 
The Cabinet Member: Children, Young People & Families presented the 
report of the Director: Education & Skills. The report identified that there had 
been an 18% increase in the number of children on roll at primary schools 
within the Borough over the last 10 years, with a 17% increase in secondary 
school rolls over the same period.  
 

Page 4



 

 

The report provided an update on the development of a new schools in Castle 
Farm Way / A5 area and Allscott and the expansion of Lawley Village 
Academy and Ercall Wood School. The report also included the increased 
provision for SEN hubs across primary and secondary schools in the Borough, 
providing additional capacity for children to attend education in their local 
communities.  
 
Cabinet Members welcomed the report and the investment into schools 
across the Borough. Cabinet Members in particular welcomed the provision of 
the SEN hubs, allowing children to access education within their own 
communities.  
 
The Leader of the Conservative Group queried provision within the Newport 
area, including sixth form provision. The Cabinet Member: Children, Young 
People & Families advised that investment had been made into Newport 
Infant School, Newport Junior School, the Burton Borough School, 
Haberdasher’s Adams’ and Newport Girls High School, all of which were in 
the Newport area. Section 106 funding from development within Newport 
would only be spent on education in the Newport area. Newport had two sixth 
forms and the new sixth form provision at the Station Quarter would attract 
students from across the Borough.  
 
RESOLVED that: 
 

a) The position on the current and projected demand for school 
places and the action taken to date to manage the supply of 
school places be noted; 

b) Authority be delegated to the Director: Education & Skills, in 
consultation with the Director: Finance & HRF and the Cabinet 
Member: Children, Young People & Families to allocate the basic 
need grant and high need capital funding, including allocations 
for 2022-25, and relevant section 106 funding, in relation to the 
provision of mainstream and specialist provision across all age 
groups within the Borough; 

c) The proposed acquisition of land to the Council that was 
negotiated as part of the s106 agreement, so at no financial cost, 
on the Castle Farm Way / A5 site in Priorslee and onwards lease to 
the Department for Education (DfE) who will act as an agent for 
the Thomas Telford Trust who have been granted sponsorship of 
the new free school, for the provision of additional primary 
education places be approved; 

d) Authority be delegated to the Director: Education & Skills, in 
consultation with the Director: Finance & HR and the Cabinet 
Member: Children, Young People & Families, to take all necessary 
steps to implement the proposed expansion of Lawley Village 
Academy by 210 primary school places and 30 nursery provision 
places subject to such expansion being in accordance with the 
available budget; 

e) Authority be delegated to the Director: Education & Skills, in 
consultation with the Director: Finance & HR and the Cabinet 

Page 5



 

 

Member: Children, Young People & Families to take all necessary 
steps to implement the proposed expansion of Ercall Wood 
Academy  by at least 150 secondary places and create additional 
class bases across the secondary estate to create a further 150 
places, subject to such expansions being in accordance with 
outcomes from feasibility studies and the available budget.  

 
CAB-
193 

Autism Draft Strategy 

 
In accordance with his declaration of interest Councillor P Watling left the 
room during determination of this item.  
 

The Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care and Health, Integration and 
Transformation presented the report of the Director: Adult Social Care. The 
report provided a background to the strategy and advised on the proposed 
next steps for public consultation. 
 
A pre-consultation engagement programme had taken place which had 
received 230 responses from Autistic people, family members, carers and 
support workers and other professionals. The report outlined the timetable for 
the proposed consultation and steps to be taken afterwards. The proposed 
strategy was included as Appendix A of the report. 
 
Members welcomed the strategy and noted it was vital to hear from those with 
lived experiences.  
 
RESOLVED that: 
 

a) The public consultation on the draft autism strategy be approved; 
b) The consultation with the community and all partners be 

supported and championed; 
c) Authority be delegated to the Director: Adult Social Care in 

consultation with the Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care and 
Health, Integration and Transformation and the Telford and Wrekin 
Autism Partnership Board to take the necessary steps to 
implement these recommendations.  

 
CAB-
194 

20mph Speed Strategy 

 
The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member: Housing, Enforcement and 
Transport presented the report of the Director: Neighbourhood & Enforcement 
Services. The report sought the approval for the strategy and to develop a 
community speed watch network. 
 

The report highlighted the 45 existing schemes within the Borough, with six 
further 20mph speed limit zones set to be introduced. It was noted that the 
scheme offered flexibility.  
 

Page 6



 

 

Cabinet Members noted that speeding was a significant concern for residents 
across the Borough and discussed where existing schemes had had an 
impact on communities. Members welcomed the community speed watch 
network and noted that these volunteer groups benefitted their communities 
immensely. 
 
The Leader of the Liberal Democrat Group welcomed the report and thanked 
the local PSCO in the Wellington area for her work in introducing a community 
speed watch scheme, which had been very successful.  
 
The Leader of the Conservative Group welcomed the proposals but raised 
concerns regarding capacity within the highways team. The Leader explained 
that the Council had put in significant resources into this area and this strategy 
was a commitment to keep this within the forefront of priorities.  
 
RESOLVED that: 
 

a) The adoption of the 20mph Speed Limit Strategy as contained in 
Appendix 1 of the report be approved; 

b) The delivery of 20mph speed limit projects completed to date and 
those planned for delivery during 2022/23 be noted; 

c) Authority be delegated to the Director: Neighbourhood & 
Enforcement Services, in consultation with the Deputy Leader and 
Cabinet Member: Housing, Enforcement & Transport to 
periodically update the 20mph Speed Limit Strategy as may be 
required; 

d) Work with partners including Town and Parish Councils, to deliver 
a Community Speed Watch Programme which will secure over 100 
volunteers to assist with monitoring as part of the community 
speed watch initiative be approved.  

 
The meeting ended at 10.46 am 
 
Signed for the purposes of the Decision Notices 

 
Anthea Lowe 
Director: Policy & Governance 
Date:  Wednesday 9 NOVEMBER 2022 
 

 
Signed  

 
Date: 

 
Thursday 15 December 2022 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Ironbridge Gorge World heritage Site – supplementary Planning Document 

 

“Ironbridge is an internationally recognised area of outstanding universal value and 

one of seven designated conservation areas in the borough which we are extremely 

proud of. 

“The World Heritage Status has helped the area maintain a strong visitor economy 

for decades and promote the wider borough as a place to visit, live, work and invest, 

as well as securing investment into ground stabilisation works and conservation 

projects in the area. 

“The council, residents and businesses are custodians of the World Heritage Site. 

The supplementary planning document will ensure that the site is protected and that 

the history, conservation and sustainability of the area are top priorities for anyone 

wishing to bring forward a planning application. 

“Through this guidance we want to underline the importance of Ironbridge in our 

borough and ensure it is protected for future generations.” 

 

  

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Borough of Telford and Wrekin 
Cabinet  

15 December 2022 
Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site – Supplementary Planning 

Document (Consultation Version)  
 
 
Cabinet Member:  Cllr Richard Overton – Cabinet Member: Housing, 

Enforcement & Transport   
 
Lead Director:  Katherine Kynaston – Director: Housing, Employment & 

Infrastructure   
 
Service Area:   Strategic Planning   
  
Report Author:   Gavin Ashford – Strategic Planning Team Leader  
   
Officer Contact Details:   Tel: 01952 384260 Email: gavin.ashford1@telford.gov.uk 
 
Wards Affected:   Ironbridge Gorge and Madeley & Sutton Hill  
   
Key Decision:   Key Decision   
 
Forward Plan:   Yes - 25/05/22 
   
Report considered by:  SMT – 11/10/22 

Business Briefing - 17/11/22 
Cabinet – 15/12/22 

 
 
1.0 Recommendations for decision: 

 
It is recommended that Cabinet:-  
 

1.1. Approve the consultation version of the Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site 
Supplementary Planning Document  
 

1.2. Delegate authority to the Director: Housing, Employment & Infrastructure (and any 
other officer authorised in writing by this postholder) to consult.   

 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site Supplementary Planning Document Consultation 
Version 
 

2 

 

2.0 Purpose of Report 
 

2.1. The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet approval to consult on the draft 
Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). 
Following consultation the SPD will be brought back to Cabinet for adoption.   
 

3.0 Background 
 

3.1. The Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site (WHS) is an internationally recognised 
area of outstanding universal value and one of seven designated conservation 
areas in the borough. UNESCO awarded the gorge World Heritage Site status in 
1986 in recognition of the areas record of innovation during the Industrial 
Revolution. The ‘Outstanding Universal Value’ (or OUV) of the area is captured in 
the many historical sites, landscape, setting of the gorge and the social history of 
the area. 
 

3.2. The value of designation has helped the area maintain a strong visitor economy, 
promote the wider borough as a place to visit, live, work and invest and has also 
helped secure investment into ground stabilisation works and conservation 
projects in the WHS area.  
 

3.3. The purpose of the World Heritage Site SPD is to provide locally distinctive 
planning guidance to help protect the gorge and support sustainable development 
within the WHS. The SPD clarifies why the protection of the OUV is of such 
importance and it will form part of a suite of documents including the WHS 
Management Plan that set out how the area will be protected and managed. The 
WHS boundary extends into Shropshire and therefore the SPD will be used by 
both Local Planning Authorities to help determine planning applications in their 
respective areas.  
 

3.4. The Council place a high priority on its commitment to protecting the gorge and 
work closely with key stakeholders to achieve this including the WHS Steering 
Group, Historic England and Icomos UK.  
 

3.5. The purpose of this report is to present the consultation version of the SPD to 
Cabinet for approval. This will be followed by a 6 week period of public 
consultation and engagement with stakeholders between early January and 
February 2023.  
 

4.0 Summary of main proposals 

4.1 The Ironbridge Gorge is a historically significant area and contains a number of 
scheduled ancient monuments not least the Ironbridge itself. The UNESCO 
designation of WHS status, awarded in 1986, provides international recognition of 
the value of the area, this is encapsulated by its Outstanding Universal Value or 
OUV. The Ironbridge Gorge is also a conservation area and enjoys additional 
protection under that designation. 

 
What is Outstanding Universal Value? - “Outstanding Universal Value means 
cultural and/or natural significance which is so exceptional as to transcend 

Page 12



Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site Supplementary Planning Document Consultation 
Version 
 

3 

 

national boundaries and to be of common importance for present and future 
generations of all humanity. As such, the permanent protection of this heritage is 
of the highest importance to the international community as a whole”. 

 
4.2.  The overarching aim of this SPD is to provide guidance for protecting and 

enhancing the OUV of the WHS, preventing loss through deterioration and 
disappearance of its heritage value. This SPD will set out how the planning system 
will seek to fulfil the responsibilities and opportunities that arise from WHS status.  

 
 The SPD will help:  
 

 Protect the WHS 

 Conserve the WHS 

 Present and transmit to future generations the importance of the WHS 

 Encourage investment and development to secure a healthy economy and 
support regeneration.  

4.3.  There are a significant number of heritage assets within the WHS. This includes; 
375 listed buildings, 7 scheduled ancient monuments, buildings of local interest 
and 10 internationally significant museums. The protection and preservation of 
these sites, the historic character of the area and the green and natural 
environment is a key focus for the SPD.  

 
4.4.  An added benefit of the Councils responsibility to protect and conserve the WHS 

and conservation area is the contribution of the WHS to the success of the 
boroughs visitor economy and economy in general. The WHS attracts around 1 
million visitors a year and generates an estimated £43m for the boroughs 
economy. It is therefore important that there is a robust plan for managing and 
protecting the area. 

  
4.5.  Alongside bringing the SPD forward the Council will, be:  
 

 Updating the Ironbridge Gorge WHS Management Plan  

 Consulting on a revised boundary for the Severn Gorge Conservation Area  

 Issuing a revised Article 4 Directive for the Severn Gorge Conservation Area 

Opportunities  
 
4.6. The guidance contained in the SPD provides the opportunity to address a range of 

other matters including promoting and ensuring appropriate repair techniques, 
bringing redundant buildings back into use whilst retaining internal and external 
original features, and the repair and reinstatement of historical features 

 
4.7. The SPD also provides an opportunity to address climate change pressures within 

the WHS / conservation area. There are many listed buildings that have residential 
and business uses, improving the thermal and energy efficiency of buildings will 
help tackle climate change and reduce the running costs of such buildings thereby 
improving there long term sustainability. The SPD will provide guidance on where 
appropriate measures can be put in place to address climate change in the WHS 
area.  

Page 13



Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site Supplementary Planning Document Consultation 
Version 
 

4 

 

 
  Planning context 
 
4.8. The planning system affords World Heritage Sites a very high level of protection 

through the National Planning Policy Framework which states that plan making 
bodies should aim to satisfy the following principles:  

 

 Protecting the WHS and its setting, including any buffer zone, from 
inappropriate development;  

 Striking a balance between the needs of conservation, biodiversity, access, the 
interests of the local community, the public benefits of a development and the 
sustainable economic use of the World Heritage in its setting, including any 
buffer zone; 

 Protecting a WHS and its setting from the effect of changes which are relatively 
minor but which, on a cumulative basis, could have significant effect;  

 Enhancing the WHS and its setting where appropriate and possible through 
positive management; and  

 Protecting the WHS and its setting from climate change but ensuring that 
mitigation and adaptation is not at the expense of integrity or authenticity.  

4.9.    The Telford & Wrekin Local Plan Policy BE3 provides a robust planning policy 
protection for the WHS. A wider suite of policies provide protection for assets 
within the gorge itself including; listed buildings (BE4), conservation areas (BE5), 
buildings of local interest (BE6), archaeology and scheduled ancient monuments 
(BE8) and land stability (BE10).  

 
How the SPD will be used 

 
4.10. The Council has the power to introduce SPD’s under the Town and Country 

Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, Part 5. SPD documents 
provide the opportunity for additional detailed planning guidance over and above 
planning policy set out in local development plans. This provides residents, 
businesses and other organisations with certainty when submitting planning 
applications.  

 
4.11. The SPD will provide residents, business and organisations that intend to submit 

planning applications, planning guidance in the following areas;  
 

 within the boundaries of the WHS; and  

 where proposals impact the setting of the WHS.   

 
4.12. The guidance will help applicants submit planning applications that take full 

account of the areas OUV in relation to proposals for development such as:  
 

 Alternations, extensions and refurbishment of existing residential and 
commercial properties  

 Change of use from one development type to another 

 New development proposals  

 Applications relating to renewable energy  

Page 14



Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site Supplementary Planning Document Consultation 
Version 
 

5 

 

4.13. A portion of the WHS is located within Shropshire Councils administrative area. 
The SPD, on adoption, will be used by Shropshire Council as part of the planning 
process for applications within its administrative area.  

 
Consultation and engagement 

 
4.14. Consultation and engagement will be a key part of developing the SPD and the 

following communications activity is planned:  

 Direct engagement with stakeholder organisations including:  
o ICOMOS UK and Historic England 
o WHS Steering Group  
o Parish Councils   

 Use of social media channels and Council website. 

 Public engagement sessions in the WHS area   

4.15. As the WHS boundary south of the river Severn covers some areas that are within 
the administrative boundary of Shropshire the SPD will, go to Shropshire Councils 
Cabinet on the 14 December. This will be followed by a 6 week period of public 
consultation and engagement with stakeholders between early January and 
February 2023. This will be a joint consultation across both Telford & Wrekin and 
Shropshire Council areas of the WHS.   

 
5.0 Alternative Options 

 

5.1 Protection of the OUV of the WHS is considered to be of paramount importance. 
Progressing the SPD will help do this and also help balance the need for 
conservation with pressures such as adapting to climate change. Not progressing 
the SPD could lead to progressive deterioration of the conservation aspects of the 
area which could ultimately lead to the loss of WHS status and is therefore not an 
option. 
 

6.0 Key Risks 

6.1 The suite of documents including the WHS Management Plan and the SPD will 
form the framework for protection of the areas OUV. The SPD will also set 
recommendations made in the Severn Gorge Conversation Area Management 
Plan for the Gorge into a formal planning document. Not bringing forward the SPD 
could adversely impact the OUV of the Gorge area and risk its status as a WHS. 

 
6.2.  The Council are taking a proactive approach (in partnership with Shropshire 

Council) to ensure that the risk to the WHS is minimised. UNESCO have, where 
they feel the OUV is threatened, remove WHS status from sites.  

 
6.3.  There are a number of potential risks to the OUV of the WHS that the SPD can 

help address, this includes:  
 

 Development proposals that are poorly designed risking the character of 
the area – the SPD will provide guidance tailored to the WHS area for 
residents and businesses intending to submit planning applications.  

Page 15



Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site Supplementary Planning Document Consultation 
Version 
 

6 

 

 Increased risk of flooding events and the need to balance the protection 
of property and life with the heritage of the area – the SPD will help provide 
planning guidance for particular issues such as property level flood defences.  

 The need to conserve and maintain heritage assets whilst encouraging 
sustainable, low carbon development – Guidance in the SPD will help 
support appropriate ‘climate ready’ development such as renewable energy 
and electric vehicle infrastructure.  

 Minimising potentially negative impacts, associated with a successful 
visitor economy – the SPD will provide planning guidance on infrastructure 
and commercial developments. 

7.0 Council Priorities 
 
7.1 The report recommendations link to the following Council priorities:  
 

 Every child, young person and adult lives well in their community; 

 Everyone benefits from a thriving economy; 

 All neighbourhoods are a great place to live 

 Our natural environment is protected, and the Council has a leading role in 
addressing the climate emergency; 

 A community-focussed, innovative council providing efficient, effective and 
quality services. 

8.0 Financial Implications 
 
8.1 The Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site Supplementary Planning Document 

(SPD) will allow the Council to continue to make the most effective use of its 
resources and support the efficient delivery of the Planning application process. 
The consultation and engagement process will be a key part of developing the 
SPD, the activities planned within this report along with subsequent 
implementation of the SPD will be met from within existing resources and budgets. 

 
9.0 Legal and HR Implications 
 
9.1 SPDs should build on and provide more detailed advice or guidance on policies in 

an adopted local plan. Regulations 11 to 16 of The Town and Country Planning 
(Local Planning)(England) Regulations 2012 set out the requirements for 
producing, consulting on and adopting SPDs. An SPD must not conflict with the 
Local Plan. The policies within the Council’s Local Plan are significant in 
determining planning applications as proposals are determined in accordance with 
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The 
National Planning Policy Framework states that SPD’s add further detail to the 
policies in the Council’s Local Plan. They can be used to provide further guidance 
for development on specific sites or on particular issues and are capable of being 
a material consideration in planning decisions but are not part of the Council’s 
Local Plan. Approval of an SPD is a Cabinet function. 

 
9.2.  There are no direct HR implications arising from this report.  
 
 

Page 16



Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site Supplementary Planning Document Consultation 
Version 
 

7 

 

10.0 Ward Implications 
 
10.0  The proposals contained in this report and attached draft SPD will, once fully 

adopted, bring in additional planning guidance for the wards of Ironbridge and 
Madeley & Sutton Hill. The guidance will help make it easier and more consistent 
for residents and businesses when considering whether proposals require 
planning permission in relation to the WHS.   

 
11.0 Health, Social and Economic Implications 
 
11.1 The proposals contained in the draft SPD will provide additional planning guidance 

regarding issues such as thermal insulation in homes within the WHS area. This 
will help reduce running costs, improve the energy efficiency of properties and 
contribute to the health and wellbeing of residents. 

 
11.2.   The introduction of planning guidance will help provide businesses with guidance 

in advance of submitting planning applications. This will help ensure well 
developed planning proposals can be submitted that will be considered in a full 
and timely manner. Supporting businesses and the visitor economy will increase 
private investment, create new jobs and safeguard others, provide supply chain 
opportunities and increase visitor spend. 

  
12.0 Equality and Diversity Implications 
 
12.1 There are no specific negative impacts related to equality and diversity, or the 

armed forces community currently.  
 
12.2.  The SPD reinforces the Unesco principles of diversity, equity and equality, respect 

for human rights, engagement and consultation. 
 
12.3  The Council will consult as per the Statement of Community Involvement, this 

includes taking account of the needs of the local community who have a slightly 
older age profile in the WHS area than the rest of the borough. As well as other 
measures, we will ensure:  

 

 Materials will be made available via the Council website including explanations 
of what the proposals will mean for residents and businesses, and alternative 
formats will be available on request 

 Responses can be received e-mail, written correspondence and (at public 
engagement sessions) in person 

 Public engagement venues will be accessible to the whole community and the 
consultation will be advertised widely within the WHS area using traditional 
methods as well as digital.  

13.0 Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
 
13.1  The following climate change implications are addressed by these proposals:   
 

Page 17



Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site Supplementary Planning Document Consultation 
Version 
 

8 

 

 Resource Efficiency - The proposals in the draft SPD document consider how 
to improve the energy efficiency of buildings and the appropriate use of 
renewable energy in the WHS.   

 Climate Change - The proposals will help to minimise carbon emissions by 
providing guidance on adapting buildings for climate change.   

 Waste - No specific impacts  

 Biodiversity - No specific impacts  

 Travel and Transport Options - The proposals will help adapt the WHS 
toward more sustainable modes of travel and includes guidance on the 
appropriate installation of electric vehicle charging infrastructure.  

14.0  Background Papers 
  
Not Applicable   

 
15.0  Appendices 
 

A Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site – Supplementary Planning 
Document – Consultation Version  

  
16.0  Report Sign Off 
 
Signed off by Date sent Date signed off Initials  
Equality & Diversity 15/06/2022 16/06/2022 RT  
Legal  15/06/2022 24/11/2022 SH 
Finance  15/06/2022 24/11/2022 AM  

 

Page 18



 

Page 19



41 Abbreviations

62 Introduction

62.1 Purpose of the Supplementary Planning Document

72.2 Aims and Objectives of the SPD

8
2.3 Why is the Outstanding Universal Value of the Ironbridge Gorge so Important?

102.4 Success of the World Heritage Site

102.5 Managing Change and Addressing Climate Change

143 Description of the World Heritage Site

143.1 Boundary

153.2 Character Areas and Key Settlements

173.3 Setting

183.4 Main Access Routes into the IGWHS

193.5 Views

23
4 Outstanding Universal Value, Integrity, Authenticity and Attributes of Outstanding

Universal Value

234.1 Outstanding Universal Value

244.2 Criteria of Inscribing

254.3 Understanding the heritage values of the IGWHS

254.4 Attributes defining Outstanding Universal Value

284.5 Conditions of Authenticity

294.6 Conditions of Integrity

325 Planning Context

325.1 National Planning Policy Framework

335.2 National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)

335.3 Local Policy

345.4 Telford & Wrekin Council

385.5 Shropshire Council

425.6 Local Guidance

425.7 Other Local Guidance

475.8 Stakeholders

516 Conservation, Heritage and Planning Controls

- IGWHS SPD

Contents

Page 20



6.1 Conservation Area Status 51

516.2 Listed Buildings

536.3 Scheduled Monuments

546.4 Non-designated Heritage Assets and Buildings of Local Interest

556.5 Permitted Development Rights

566.6 Article 4 Direction

587 Making Planning Decisions in the IGWHS

587.1 Authenticity

597.2 Integrity

62
7.3 Screening for Components of Outstanding Universal Value – Understanding

Risk

637.4 Identifying Risks

637.5 Assessing Impacts

657.6 Harm to Heritage Significance

66
7.7 Opportunities in the Planning Application Process to Protect or Enhance the

IGWHS

698 Submitting a Planning Application in the IGWHS

789 Annex 1 - Characteristic Views of Severn Gorge Settlements

8110 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS

8110.1 Ground Instability

8410.2 Contaminated Land

8510.3 New Development in the IGWHS

8910.4 Guidance for Alterations to Existing Buildings in the IGWHS

11810.5 Guidance for the Maintenance and Development of Infrastructure

12310.6 Guidance for Development Affecting the Setting of the IGWHS

- IGWHS SPD

Contents

Page 21



3- IGWHS SPD

1 Abbreviations 1

Page 22



1 Abbreviations

Abbreviations

DCMS – Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport
EV – Electric Vehicles
HE – Historic England
HER – Historic Environment Record
ICCROM – The International Centre for the Study of the Preservation and Restoration of
Cultural Property
ICOMOS – International Council on Monuments and Sites
IGWHS – Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site
NPPF – National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG – National Planning Practice Guidance
OUV – Outstanding Universal Value
PPA – Planning Performance Agreement
SC – Shropshire Council
SPAB – Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings
SPD – Supplementary Planning Document
TWC – Telford & Wrekin Council
UNESCO – United Nations, Education, Scientific and Cultural Organisation
WHC – World Heritage Centre
WHS – World Heritage Site

- IGWHS SPD4

1 Abbreviations1

Page 23



5- IGWHS SPD

2 Introduction 2

Page 24



2 Introduction

2.1 Purpose of the Supplementary Planning Document

2.1 The Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site (referred to as the ‘IGWHS’ or the ‘Site’
throughout this document) is an extraordinarily important place, and was designated in 1986,
as one of the United Kingdom’s first World Heritage Sites by the United Nations, Educational,
Scientific and Cultural Organisation (UNESCO). This was in recognition of its leading role in
the Industrial Revolution and the unique landscape that provided the raw materials.

Figure 1: Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site

2.2 Under the terms of the UNESCO Convention Concerning the Protection of the World
Cultural and Natural Heritage (1972), which was ratified by the UK in 1984, the UK Government
is formally responsible for the management of the IGWHS and for ensuring that itsOutstanding
Universal Value (OUV), Authenticity and Integrity are not compromised. UNESCO actively
monitors World Heritage Sites (WHS) through reactive and periodic monitoring, to ensure they
are being managed appropriately and are not being put in danger. If UNESCO feel that a WHS
is not being protected to an appropriate standard, a review of the WHS’s status will take place,
if UNESCO consider that the Outstanding Universal Value, Authenticity and Integrity has been
seriously impacted the status of the WHS will be removed.

2.3 In addition, adopted in 2003(1) the convention for the international community’s first binding
multilateral instrument intended to safeguard and raise the profile of intangible cultural heritage.
Intangible cultural heritage (“ICH”) refers to the practices, representations, expressions,
1 2003 Convention for the Safeguarding of the Intangible Cultural Heritage (UNESCO) https://ich.unesco.org/doc/src/15164-EN.pdf

- IGWHS SPD6

2 Introduction2

Page 25

https://ich.unesco.org/doc/src/15164-EN.pdf


knowledge and know-how, transmitted from generation to generation within communities, created
and transformed continuously by them, depending on the environment and their interaction with
nature and history. Although not yet ratified by the UK local authorities can still abide by it for
a more inclusive and full understanding of our heritage.

What is Outstanding Universal Value

“Outstanding Universal Value means cultural and/or natural significance which is
so exceptional as to transcend national boundaries and to be of common importance
for present and future generations of all humanity. As such, the permanent protection
of this heritage is of the highest importance to the international community as a
whole”.

Paragraph 49 of the Operational Guidelines for the Implementation of the World
Heritage Convention WHC .21/01 31st July 2021

2.4 Therefore, the overarching aim of this SPD is to provide guidance for protecting and
enhancing the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS, preventing loss through deterioration
and disappearance of its heritage value, whilst providing a consistent set of guidelines to help
businesses and residents play their part in maintaining what makes the IGWHS so universally
special.

2.5 To achieve this the SPD will set out how the planning system will seek to fulfil the
responsibilities and opportunities that arise from WHS status. This includes helping to:

Protect;
Conserve;
Present and transmit to future generations the importance of the IGWHS; and
Encourage investment and development to secure a healthy economy and support
regeneration, whilst not compromising theOutstandingUniversal Value of the IGWHS.

2.6 The intention is to implement the Operational Guidelines set out by ICOMOS and UNESCO
ensuring that the important historic buildings and significant landscape are properly preserved
and conserved, and that new development integrates harmoniously with them. The Outstanding
Universal Value of the IGWHS has proven potential to inspire new development, to attract
investment and visitors, as well as be a source of local civic pride: this SPD therefore seeks to
protect and capitalise on that potential. Further explanation of Outstanding Universal Value can
be found in Chapter 3. Outstanding Universal Value, Integrity, Authenticity and Attributes
of Outstanding Universal Value.

2.2 Aims and Objectives of the SPD

2.7 The Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site has a long history as the birthplace of the
industrial revolution. Its rich landscape character, special architectural, historical and
archaeological significance, and social heritage need to be preserved and enhanced. The
protection of the historic nature of the IGWHS is a priority for both Telford & Wrekin Council
and Shropshire Council.

7- IGWHS SPD

2 Introduction 2

Page 26



2.8 The aim of this SPD is to ensure the high standards of both preservation and conservation
are maintained, whilst providing further guidance for protecting and enhancing the Outstanding
Universal Value of the IGWHS, encouraging development which secures and supports
sustainable regeneration.

2.9 Through the adoption and implementation of this SPD, Telford & Wrekin Council and
Shropshire Council will look to achieve the following objectives:

Safeguarding the historic nature and setting of the IGWHS and protecting its Outstanding
Universal Value;
Enhancing existing and proposed development to the benefit of the IGWHS whilst
maintaining its Outstanding Universal Value;
Allowing planners and developers to fully understand the impact of the IGWHS and its
international value; and
Raising design standards to achieve the best possible implementation of new development
whilst achieving appropriate alterations to existing developments.

2.3 Why is the Outstanding Universal Value of the Ironbridge Gorge so Important?

2.10 World Heritage Sites are sites, places, monuments or buildings of “Outstanding
Universal Value” to the international community, including its current and future generations.
The protection of a World Heritage Site is the responsibility of national governments. Being a
signature to the convention is a commitment by the government to identify, protect, preserve
and conserve their World Heritage Sites for future generations.

2.11 The Site lies within the southern end of the East Shropshire coalfield within a gorge
formed by a glacial overflow that occurred during the ice age. The coalfield is exceptionally rich
in mineral sources and, along with deposits of coal, the land area has significant deposits of
carboniferous limestone, iron ore, and clays suitable for making brick, roofing tiles, decorative
tiles, pottery, and tobacco pipes.

2.12 The Industrial Revolution, a worldwide phenomenon, began in 18th century England
before spreading to other nations. This transition including the change from an agrarian (related
to cultivated land) and handicraft economy to one dominated by industry and machine
manufacturing including iron production(2) resulting in far-reaching changes in human history,
and which is embodied in the remarkable and integral role of the IGWHS.

2 The Industrial Revolution https://www.britannica.com/event/Industrial-Revolution

- IGWHS SPD8

2 Introduction2

Page 27

https://www.britannica.com/event/Industrial-Revolution


2.13 The Site spreads over 550ha with roughly three quarters sitting within the administrative
boundary of Telford & Wrekin Council, and roughly a quarter within the Shropshire Council
administrative boundary. Section 2 of the SPD provides a spatial portrait of the area.

At the time of inception and as written in 1986(3), the IGWHSwas described as having
five major areas of interest.

These included:

Coalbrookdale: This is where in 1709 the Quaker Abraham Darby I developed the
coke iron production technique which began the great 18th century steel revolution.
In the 19th century the Coalbrookdale foundries were highly prosperous, exporting
their production as far as New Zealand and the Hawaiian Islands. There still remains
a high concentration of 18th and 19th century dwellings, warehouses, churches and
chapels in the town. The Great Warehouse contains an iron museum.
Ironbridge: The locality, where mining and metallurgical (the scientific study of
structures and uses of metals) activity began in the 17th century, drawing the areas
name from the Iron Bridge erected in 1779 and which also serves to designate the
entire region of the Severn Gorges. At the furthest eastern end of the locality there still
exist the remains of two 18th century blast furnaces, the Bedlam furnaces, which were
built in 1757.
Hay Brook Valley: Downstream from Madeley in the low valley of this small tributary
of the Severn River, a large open-air museum (Blists Hill Victorian Town) covers 20
hectares. Extraction galleries, shafts with their head-frames, and blast furnaces have
been preserved near the Shropshire Canal, which was linked to the Severn River via
a gigantic inclined plane known as the Hay Inclined Plane, fitted with ramps.
Jackfield: This small town located on the south bank of the Severn made its living
from coal mining, clay production and navigation. It was the valley’s port of registry
(with 87 barges in operation in 1756).
Coalport: This town is located at the eastern end of the IGWHS on the north bank of
the Severn, which is spanned by the Coalport Bridge. The high point of this town is
the porcelain manufacturing plant founded by John Rose at the end of the 18th century
and which closed down in 1926. Today it is a porcelain museum (Coalport China
Museum) presenting not only the valley’s other porcelain manufacturers, such as
Caughly, but also other producers of ceramics in Ironbridge Gorge (tileries, pipe
factories, etc.). Furthermore, Maws Craft Centre is situated in what remains of the
former tile factory of Maw & Co which closed down in 1970.

The site is an extraordinary concentration of mining, foundries, factories, workshops and
warehouses which coexist with an old network of lanes, paths, roads, ramps, canals and
railways as well as the substantial remains of traditional landscape and housing. The site
is both unique and symbolises an era of exceptional innovation where artists, engineers
and writers from all areas of the world decided to focus their attention.

2.14 Following the areas inscription in 1986, it is considered that there are now six major
areas of interest including Madeley:

3 Advisory Body Evaluation (ICOMOS) 1986 https://whc.unesco.org/en/list/371/documents/

9- IGWHS SPD

2 Introduction 2

Page 28

https://whc.unesco.org/en/list/371/documents/


2.15 Madeley is the earliest settlement within the IGWHS which includes a two-bay medieval
hall and some 16th and 17th century timber-framed houses. Madeley’s strategic location led to
its inclusion in plans for Dawley New Town in 1963, however the subsequent development of
the central shopping centre together with the Parkway Bypass in the late 1960’s, severed the
settlement from the north and interrupted the medieval street pattern.

Figure 2: Ironbridge Gorge

2.4 Success of the World Heritage Site

2.16 Today, the site is a living, working community with a population of approximately 4,000
people as well as being a world-renowned place to visit. It is also an historic landscape that is
interpreted and made accessible through the work of a number of organisations, in particular,
the Ironbridge Gorge Museum Trust (established in 1967 to preserve and interpret the remains
of the Industrial Revolution within the Ironbridge Gorge) and the Severn Gorge Countryside
Trust (established in 1991 to manage the woodland, grassland and associated historic structures
in the Gorge).

2.5 Managing Change and Addressing Climate Change

2.17 Conserving our heritage is not just about preserving places in a point of time. One of
the biggest challenges is achieving a balance of conserving our heritage whilst remaining
relevant. In today’s climate, it is becoming ever more evident that shifts in our weather patterns
and the need to tackle climate change threatens the livelihood of our historic settings.

2.18 The changes in our climate have greatly increased in both frequency and severity of
weather events which can lead to the degradation of heritage assets. The impacts of the 2020
floods in the town of Ironbridge clearly demonstrate that heritage assets must be able to adapt
to change.

- IGWHS SPD10

2 Introduction2

Page 29



2.19 Heritage assets require additional Government support to enable them to play their full
part in reaching net zero targets. The obligation for assistance stems from the UNESCO
‘Convention on World Cultural and Natural Heritage’(4) and its Operational Guidelines. These
set out the key duties and obligations of national governments, as State Party signatories, to
do all that they can to ensure the conservation, preservation, protection, presentation, and
transmission to future generations of World Heritage properties situated on their territories. The
requirement to conserve natural, tangible and intangible cultural heritage is now going to require
engagement with climate change in order to meet the most basic of these objectives.

2.20 Moreover, whilst generally associated with adverse impacts on heritage significance,
change – including that delivered through new development – can have positive effects on
heritage value and significance. This could manifest itself in stripping away poorly designed
additions to historic buildings, changing land management regimes or simply drawing attention
to the value, character and significance of under-appreciated assets rather than letting them
degrade through neglect or to be affected by criminal activities such as vandalism.

2.21 Over one million people every year visit the iconic Iron Bridge and the surrounding area.
With this comes challenges including management of flows of both pedestrians and motor
vehicles. Services such as the Park and Ride lessen the pressure on the small roads of Ironbridge
Gorge, however the frequency of motor vehicles can dominate the area during the peak summer
period.

2.22 Having effective planning policies in place through Local Development Plans for Telford
& Wrekin and Shropshire Council’s respective areas and supplementary planning guidance
within this SPD, allows change to be carefully managed and where possible avoids adverse
impacts whilst ensuring opportunities for positive improvements that will safeguard our heritage
assets for future generations.

2.23 AManagement Plan (2017) for the IGWHS has also been prepared and formally adopted
by both Telford & Wrekin and Shropshire Council’s. As such, it is a material consideration in
the planning process within both administrative areas.

4 Convention Concerning the Protection of the World Cultural and Natural Heritage 1972 https://whc.unesco.org/en/conventiontext/

11- IGWHS SPD

2 Introduction 2

Page 30

https://whc.unesco.org/en/conventiontext/


Role of the SPD in Decision Making

They key purpose of this SPD is to provide additional guidance to existing and emerging
Development Plan policies for protecting and enhancing the Outstanding Universal Value
of the IGWHS.

This SPD is therefore intended to be used as a material consideration on relevant planning
applications within the WHS and, where appropriate, within its’ setting.

Whilst the SPD is a joint document prepared by Telford & Wrekin Borough Council and
Shropshire Council, this does not change the primacy of the respective development plan
policies being the starting point for decision making within each administrative area.

Guidance within this SPD

Specific guidance for householder and local businesses applications within this SPD includes
that relating to;

Alterations/extensions to existing buildings;
Refurbishment of existing buildings;
Making use of redundant buildings;
Proposals for a change of use of an existing building; and
Proposals for new development

Details can be found in Annex 2: Guidance for Development in the Ironbridge Gorge
World Heritage Site.

Guidance on the process for submitting a planning application can be found in Chapter 7:
Submitting a Planning Application in the World Heritage Site.

2.24 Prior to the introduction of this SPD, there have been a number of documents that
function as guidance and policy direction within the IGWHS, further explanation on what these
documents achieve is covered in ‘Chapter 4. Planning Context’.

- IGWHS SPD12

2 Introduction2

Page 31



13- IGWHS SPD

3 Description of the World Heritage Site 3

Page 32



3 Description of the World Heritage Site

3.1 Boundary

3.1 The Ironbridge GorgeWorld Heritage Site covers an area of 5.5km (550ha) and is located
partly in Telford, and partly Shropshire, approximately 50km north-west of Birmingham. Beyond
the bridge itself, the IGWHS is comprised of five communities - Coalbrookdale, Ironbridge,
Coalport, Jackfield and parts of the community of Madeley. Within Shropshire theWHS extends
into the Broseley Town Council area as well as Barrow and Sutton Maddock parishes.

3.2 The site lies predominantly within the boundary of Telford and Wrekin Council
(approximately 76%) with a smaller portion (approximately 24%) within the Shropshire Council
boundary. The IGWHS is also a designated Conservation Area (Severn Gorge Conservation
Area) and there are over 375 listed buildings of which two are Grade 1 and eighteen are Grade
2*. In addition, there are 7 Scheduled Monuments as well as numerous sites designated for the
protection of habitats and species.

3.3 The site incorporates a 5km length of the steep-sided, mineral-rich Severn Valley from a
point immediately west of Ironbridge downstream to Coalport, together with two smaller river
valleys extending northwards to Coalbrookdale and Madeley. The boundaries of the IGWHS
end at the north section of Coalbrookdale.

3.4 Other settlements such as parts of Madeley (in Telford &Wrekin) and the town of Broseley
(in Shropshire), that fall outside of the immediate boundary of the IGWHS, have contextual
importance to the IGWHS with a history of early industrialisation from the 16th century and
earlier and are dynamically connected to the area as a whole.

3.5 As described, the WHS straddles the boundary of the two administrative area of Telford
& Wrekin and Shropshire. Joint working on conserving the Outstanding Universal Value of the
WHS is therefore the responsibility of both authorities, along with a number of other partner
organisations who together form the Ironbridge Gorge WHS Steering Group (IGWHSSG). The

- IGWHS SPD14

3 Description of the World Heritage Site3

Page 33



IGWHSSG supports the preparation and implementation of the Ironbridge GorgeWorld Heritage
Site Management Plan. The 2017 Management Plan has been formally adopted by both local
authorities and is a material consideration in the planning process.

Buildwas Parish borders the WHS to the west. The village of Buildwas is a small but vibrant
settlement which has a thriving community and a strong relationship to Ironbridge. The
well-preserved standing and archaeological remains of Buildwas Abbey, a Scheduled
Monument, founded in 1135 as a Cistercian monastery, can be found in a bend in the River
Severn to the south-east of Buildwas and about 2 miles west of Ironbridge the abbey was
an important centre of learning up to the 14th century.

The steep southern side of the Ironbridge gorge is heavily wooded in places and some of
this woodland extends on to the more level ground southwards towards Broseley. Much of
this is AncientWoodland whose loss and deterioration is prevented by policies in the National
Planning Policy Framework. Part of the Benthall Edge woodland in Barrow parish is a Site
of Special Scientific Interest. These important woodlands are complemented by several
locally designated Wildlife Sites in the Shropshire part of the WHS which are important for
their ash, oak and elm woodland, and grassland and meadow plants and animals. The
River Severn is also a Local Wildlife Site.

The town of Broseley is situated within half a mile of the WHS and two of the Ironbridge
Gorge Museums are located in the town. The Ironbridge links Broseley with
Coalbrookdale and Madeley. The town shares much of its history with Ironbridge through
the mining and transport of coal and clay, iron making, pottery and clay pipe manufacture.
The plans for the construction of the Iron Bridge (as it was known at the time) were drawn
up in Broseley and Abraham Darby I who developed the process of smelting iron using
coking coal, is buried there. The railways, mines, ironworks, brickworks, kilns, houses and
fine buildings associated with the town testify to its integral role in the activities taking place
in Ironbridge itself during the Industrial Revolution. Much of this built environment is protected
through an extensive Conservation Area designation, the boundary of which extends
southwards from the edge of the WHS.

The village of Jackfield on the River Severn is unique in that it is located on the boundary
of Telford/Shropshire, sitting within both the Broseley and Gorge parish areas. The
settlement grew as a river port for Broseley and Benthall which lie high above it on the rim
of the gorge. A very early wooden wagon way (built in 1605) took coal from the lord of the
manor’s mines to the river here. Jackfield became important for its pottery drinking mugs
in the 18th century and later, in the 19th and 20th centuries, high quality encaustic tiles.
Some small-scale manufacture of these continues today to replace Jackfield-made tiles in
conservation work such as the London Underground.

3.2 Character Areas and Key Settlements

3.6 The five key settlements have been identified (as shown in the Severn Gorge Conservation
Appraisal) in being Madeley; Coalford and Jackfield, Coalport, Coalbrookdale and Ironbridge,
all of which fall within the Telford & Wrekin Council boundary, with the exception of Jackfield
which is part within the Telford & Wrekin boundary and part within the Shropshire boundary.

15- IGWHS SPD

3 Description of the World Heritage Site 3

Page 34



Within these settlements there are areas of further character identification which all have their
own special characteristics, which are especially considered to be worth conserving. These
include:

Madeley:High Street; Court Street; Church Street (east), Church Street (west) and Russell
Road
Coalford and Jackfield: Area adjacent River Severn, The Knowle and Church Road
Coalport and Blists Hill: China Works, Coalport Bridge, High Street and Blists Hill
Coalbrookdale:Wellington Road, Darby Road, Woodside, The Ironworks, Dale Road and
Dale End
Ironbridge: Market Square and High Street, The Wharfage, Bower Yard & Ladywood,
Hodge Bower and Madeley Wood

3.7 In Figure 3 is a map showing each of the character areas (outlined for ease of reference),
further analysis of the character areas is contained within the Severn Gorge Conservation Area
Appraisal which gives an overview of each of the character areas listed above and how they
make their relative area particularly important to the nature of the IGWHS and its Outstanding
Universal Value.

Figure 3: Character Areas in the World Heritage Site

- IGWHS SPD16

3 Description of the World Heritage Site3

Page 35



3.3 Setting

Defining Setting

3.8 The concept of the ‘setting’ of the IGWHS is an important one and is the physical and
cultural contextual surroundings in which the heritage asset resides.

3.9 The NPPF defines the setting of a heritage asset as:

The surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced. Its extent is not fixed
and may change as the assets and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting
may make a positive or negative contribution to the significance of an asset, may
affect the ability to appreciate that significance or may be neutral.

3.10 Setting is not itself a heritage asset or heritage designation (although land comprising
a setting may itself be subject to other heritage or environmental designations). The importance
of setting lies in what it contributes to the significance of the heritage asset or to the ability to
appreciate that significance.

3.11 The Circular on the Protection of World Heritage Sites (published in 2009) which provides
policy guidance on the level of protection and management required for WHS’s in England,
states:

‘The setting of a World Heritage Site is the area around it - - - in which change, or
development is capable of having an adverse impact on the World Heritage Site,
including an impact on views to or from the site’.

3.12 The setting of the IGWHS is therefore, anywhere outside the IGWHS where change is
capable of having an adverse impact on the IGWHS. This is explained further in the Circular
stating:

‘In developing plans for the protection of World Heritage Sites it is important to
consider carefully how to protect the setting of each World Heritage Site so that its
Outstanding Universal Value, integrity, authenticity and significance is not adversely
affected by inappropriate change or development’.

3.13 Within UNESCO’s Operational Guidelines in relation to the effective management of a
property it states:

‘The wider setting may relate to the property’s topography, natural and built environment,
and other elements such as infrastructure, land use patterns, spatial organization, and
visual relationships. It may also include related social and cultural practices, economic
processes and other intangible dimensions of heritage such as perceptions and
associations’.

3.14 Going on to say:

‘Management of the wider setting is related to its role in supporting the Outstanding Universal
Value’

17- IGWHS SPD

3 Description of the World Heritage Site 3

Page 36



3.15 This clearly states that the consideration of setting can cover a wide range of impacts
which not only relate to the physical, such as views and noise, but can also include social or
economic impacts. In addition, the management of the wider setting is a crucial aspect of
supporting the Outstanding Universal Value.

3.16 In order to fully understand how the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS may be
affected through development or management proposals outside of its boundary, it is important
to understand what the setting may comprise for the IGWHS:

i. The physical location and surroundings of the various character areas within the IGWHS,
generally: steep slopes with dense woodland or open agricultural fields around Ironbridge.

ii. Infrastructure such as roads and local services that connect with or run through the IGWHS
that may impact on its Outstanding Universal Value.

iii. Residential areas such as the majority of Madeley and Woodside which sit above and
between the IGWHS and the majority of Broseley which sits south of the IGWHS.

3.17 As is recognised within the NPPF definition of setting (provided above), not all parts of
setting will contribute to the significance of the IGWHS in equal measure and indeed some parts
of the setting may have a negative contribution.

Considering Impacts

3.18 As described above and covered in both National and International guidance the overall
impact on the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS arising from development that results
in changes to its setting should be taken into account in the decision-making process. The
IGWHS does not have a defined ‘Buffer Zone’, making the consideration of effects upon its
setting in the planning process of particular importance.

3.19 Proposals likely to affect the IGWHS or its settingmust be accompanied by a proportionate
Heritage Statement / Heritage Impact Assessment which clearly identifies the potential impact
of the development on the WHS’s significance. Further guidance on the purpose and scope of
these documents is provided within Chapters 6 and 7 of this SPD.

3.20 Historic England’s Good Practice Advice in Planning Note 3 (Second Edition) provides
guidance on managing change within the settings of heritage assets. The guidance has been
written for local planning authorities and those proposing change that may affect the setting of
heritage assets, including World Heritage Sites.

3.4 Main Access Routes into the IGWHS

3.21 The following areas are considered the main access points into the IGWHS.

3.22 Madeley (partly located within the IGWHS) provides a focus for local shopping and
community services. It lies north of, and outside, the steeply sloping sides of the Gorge itself
and provides two main access points into the Gorge via Madeley Road and Coalport Road.

3.23 In addition to the small market town at Madeley, a second settlement 2km west is
Coalbrookdale. This settlement encapsulates the integration between the Site’s industrial
heritage and the community that developed to support it, with the impressive landscape providing
a backdrop for this historic association. The steep topography has greatly influenced the pattern

- IGWHS SPD18

3 Description of the World Heritage Site3

Page 37



of development and the resultant tiers of terraces and larger detached houses that are set
amongst the wooded valley sides, provide two main access routes towards Ironbridge via Dale
Road, Dale End and Church Road.

3.24 To the west of Market Square the Wharfage consists of a mix of former warehouses,
pubs and some Victorian villas. At its eastern end the attractive three storey streetscape is
enhanced by the stepped elevation as the alignment of the street turns slightly and the buildings
rise up Tontine Hill towards the northern end of the bridge. This picturesque setting of the
Wharfage alongside the River Severn provides a very attractive streetscape along its entire
length.

3.25 The area south of the bridge was fully integrated with Ironbridge as a whole (more so
than other areas of the Site) when the bridge was open to traffic, although the Toll House remains
on the southern end of the bridge. The blue brick Railway Hotel and adjacent Station Master’s
House stand as a testament to the Station that closed in 1963. They look out over a flat area
of what is now car parking and what was originally railway tracks and sidings set above a
substantial retaining wall. From the south this leads directly into the centre of Ironbridge into
Market Square.

3.26 To the east of the centre is the area of Coalport which lies on the north side of the River
Severn. The village was planned as a canal-river interchange and a complete “new town” by
William Reynolds, who between 1788 and 1796 built warehouses, workshops, factories and
workers’ accommodation in Coalport. There are two main access points into Coalport which
are from the north via Brockton and the south via Broseley.

3.5 Views

3.27 Many views within, across and around the gorge are characterised by contrasting effects
of industrial or urban buildings alongside heavily wooded slopes that define Ironbridge Gorge.
Pockets of green spaces, such as gardens, allotments and recreational spaces are also visible
but are frequently seen against a wooded backdrop.

19- IGWHS SPD

3 Description of the World Heritage Site 3

Page 38



Figure 4: Aerial View of Ironbridge

Figure 5: Aerial View of Ironbridge

3.28 Many of the streets themselves, narrow in appearance in comparison to other road
networks, are closed in by high boundary walls and buildings or trees, resulting in very few open
views out of the area. Whilst travelling across the gorge glimpses of longer and wider views are
revealed. Panoramic views can be achieved from the upper slopes and partial, surprise views
can be seen from higher elevated roads.

- IGWHS SPD20

3 Description of the World Heritage Site3

Page 39



3.29 The degree of enclosure of the public realm spaces means that when there are open
views along, and across, the valleys they are of greater significance, and it is therefore a priority
for the viewpoints themselves to be maintained and carefully managed to retain or enhance
significant features.

3.30 The views up and downstream from the bridges in the area are particularly important
as they help visitors understand the overall shape of the valley and the importance of the river
in the history of the gorge. Where vegetation becomes overgrown on riverbanks, this should
be managed, so that views of important sites are not obscured.

3.31 Significant changes of view are obtained along the Wharfage, as the urban fabric of
Ironbridge unfolds and as the view of the iconic bridge emerges. The fabric of the buildings on
the north side of the Wharfage is often obscured by trees, dependent on the time of year and
whether they are in leaf or not. The presence of so much greenery between the river and the
Wharfage does not reflect the harder nature of the historic landscape that delivered from its
industrial past and is part of more recent change.

3.32 Other important views are obtained when descending to the Gorge through the settlement
of Coalbrookdale. This is characterised by a series of glances across the valley.

3.33 As has been described and as shown in Annex 3, the views within the IGWHS range
from wide open views to more enclosed scopes across the gorge, each one of these however
is considered integral to the protection of the IGWHS and must therefore be maintained to
preserve the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS.

21- IGWHS SPD

3 Description of the World Heritage Site 3

Page 40



22- IGWHS SPD

4 Outstanding Universal Value, Integrity, Authenticity and
Attributes of Outstanding Universal Value

4

Page 41



4OutstandingUniversal Value, Integrity, Authenticity and Attributes
of Outstanding Universal Value

4.1 The IGWHS is quite clearly an incredibly important area that has a number of globally
unique attributes that demonstrates the Outstanding Universal Value that must be protected by
all parties, whether by national bodies, local governments, businesses or residents that reside
with the WHS boundary. Each have and will continue to have an important and integral role to
play in the area’s preservation and conservation so it can continue to be a special place for
future generations.

4.2 A shared understanding of the importance of the IGWHS is therefore a key requirement
for effective management of the IGWHS. The terminology used to describe the site and its
importance as a WHS, often creates confusion as to what the IGWHS is made up of and in turn
how to preserve and conserve the sites international significance.

4.3 The purpose of this section is to clearly outline the terminology associated with the
Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS, allowing readers to work more effectively to ensure
the continued preservation and conservation of the IGWHS.

4.1 Outstanding Universal Value

4.4 The basis of any nomination for aWorld Heritage Site is that they must display Outstanding
Universal Value.

4.5 In order for a WHS to be considered to be of Outstanding Universal Value, a number of
requirements had to be met:

Meeting one or more of the ten World Heritage Criteria;
Meeting the conditions of integrity; and
Meeting the conditions of authenticity.

4.6 By understanding the different aspects of Outstanding Universal Value, it is possible to
understand how change can impact the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS.

4.7 The UNESCOOperational Guidelines(5) identifies the need for an appropriate management
system specifying how the Outstanding Universal Value of a property should be preserved,
ensuring the effective protection for present and future generations. The common elements of
this document include the following:

A thorough shared understanding of the property, including its universal, national and local
values and its socio-ecological context by all stakeholders, especially local communities;
A respect for diversity, equity, gender equality and human rights and the use of inclusive
and participatory planning and stakeholder consultation processes;
A cycle of planning, implementation, monitoring, evaluation and feedback;
An assessment of the vulnerabilities of the property to social, economic, environmental
and other pressures and changes, including disasters and climate change, as well as the
monitoring of the impacts of trends and proposed interventions;
The allocation of necessary resources;

5 Operational Guidelines for the Implementation of the World Heritage Convention 31st July 2021 https://whc.unesco.org/en/guidelines/

23- IGWHS SPD

4 Outstanding Universal Value, Integrity, Authenticity and
Attributes of Outstanding Universal Value

4

Page 42

https://whc.unesco.org/en/guidelines/


Capacity building; and
An accountable, transparent description of how the management system functions.

4.8 The World Heritage Committee, the main body in charge of the implementation of the
Convention, has also developed precise criteria for the inscription of properties on the World
Heritage List. This is included with the UNESCO Operational Guidelines which is regularly
updated.

4.2 Criteria of Inscribing

4.9 WHS’s are designated for a number of reasons. For cultural sites (of which the IGWHS
falls within) the following criteria apply:

i. To represent a masterpiece of human creative genius;
ii. To exhibit an important interchange of human values, over a span of time or within a

cultural area of the world, on developments in architecture or technology, monumental
arts, town-planning or landscape design;

iii. To bear a unique or at least exceptional testimony to a cultural tradition or to a
civilization which is living, or which has disappeared;

iv. To be an outstanding example of a type of building, architectural or technological
ensemble or landscape which illustrates (a) significant stage(s) in human history;

v. To be an outstanding example of a traditional human settlement, land-use, or sea-use
which is representative of a culture (or cultures), or human interaction with the
environment especially when it has become vulnerable under the impact of irreversible
change;

vi. To be directly or tangibly associated with events or living traditions, with ideas, or with
beliefs, with artistic and literary works of outstanding universal significance. (The
Committee considers that this criterion should preferably be used in conjunction with
other criteria)

Note: as the IGWHS falls under a cultural site, the other four criterions (listed under the
World Heritage Criteria) relating to natural sites is not covered.

4.10 The inscription of the IGWHS meets four of the criterions, these are listed below.

i. The Coalbrookdale blast furnace perpetuates in situ the creative effort of Abraham
Darby I who discovered coke iron in 1709. It is a masterpiece of man’s creative genius
in the same way as Ironbridge, which is the first known metal bridge. It was built in
1779 by AbrahamDarby III from the drawings of the architect Thomas Farnolls Pritchard.

ii. The Coalbrookdale blast furnace and Ironbridge exerted great influence on the
development of techniques and architecture.

iii. Ironbridge Gorge provides a fascinating summary of the development of an industrial
region in modern times. Mining centres, transformation industries, manufacturing plants,
workers’ quarters, and transport networks are sufficiently well preserved to make up
a coherent ensemble whose educational potential is considerable

iv. Ironbridge Gorge, which opens its doors to over 1 million visitors yearly, is a
world-renowned symbol of 18th century Industrial Revolution.

- IGWHS SPD24

4 Outstanding Universal Value, Integrity, Authenticity and
Attributes of Outstanding Universal Value

4

Page 43



4.3 Understanding the heritage values of the IGWHS

4.11 It is important to consider that all heritage assets are important within the IGWHS,
regardless of whether these are designated or not. Different aspects of heritage can have
different value from one person to the next. Considering how these aspects of heritage combine
and relate with each other help to provide an understanding of their significance in the
Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS.

4.12 The significance of heritage is defined within the NPPF as the value of a heritage asset
to this and future generations because of its historic interest. Significance derives not only from
a heritage asset’s physical presence, but also from its setting. For WHS’s, the cultural value
described within each site’s Statement of Outstanding Universal Value forms part of its
significance.

4.13 The NPPF definition further states that in the planning context heritage interest may be:

Archaeological;
Architectural;
Artistic; or
Historic.

4.14 These can be interpreted as follows(6):

Archaeological interest: As defined in the Glossary to the National Planning Policy
Framework, there will be archaeological interest in a heritage asset if it holds, or potentially
holds, evidence of past human activity worthy of expert investigation at some point.
Architectural and artistic interest: These are interests in the design and general aesthetics
of a place. They can arise from conscious design or fortuitously from the way the heritage
asset has evolved. More specifically, architectural interest is an interest in the art or science
of the design, construction, craftsmanship and decoration of buildings and structures of all
types. Artistic interest is an interest in other human creative skill, like sculpture.
Historic interest: An interest in past lives and events (including pre-historic). Heritage
assets can illustrate or be associated with them. Heritage assets with historic interest not
only provide a material record of our nation’s history, but can also provide meaning for
communities derived from their collective experience of a place and can symbolise wider
values of cultural identity such as faith, folklore, crafts etc.

4.15 Establishing heritage value is a key stage in the process when considering impacts on
the IGWHS. Attributes of the IGWHS (covered more widely below) also provide a useful checklist
to ensure that heritage value is considered.

4.4 Attributes defining Outstanding Universal Value

4.16 Attributes are the specific qualities that convey a WHS’s Outstanding Universal Value.
Attributes can include both tangible and intangible elements and help to articulate the Outstanding
Universal Value and help the decision-making process. The table below demonstrates what
may be considered tangible or intangible attributes.

6 Decision-making: historic environment PPG https://www.gov.uk/guidance/conserving-and-enhancing-the-historic-environment

25- IGWHS SPD

4 Outstanding Universal Value, Integrity, Authenticity and
Attributes of Outstanding Universal Value

4

Page 44

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/conserving-and-enhancing-the-historic-environment


Attributes defining the Outstanding Universal Value

Intangible AttributesTangible Attributes

TraditionsBuildings
Monuments Language

LiteratureLandscapes
Natural Features Art

4.17 Attributes should assist in the assessment of impact of proposed changes within or
affecting the setting of the designated WHS.

4.18 Attributes are described as having ‘authenticity’ and ‘integrity’. This means that they
relate clearly and coherently to their original form and therefore demonstrate aspects of the
Sites Outstanding Universal Value. They can also include relationships and links between
features and with their wider context or environment.

4.19 The attributes for the IGWHS reflect the values they convey and will be the focus of
protection and management, they display and measure the integrity of the wholeness and
intactness of cultural heritage and credibly express the cultural value of the IGWHS’s authenticity.
These are summarised in the table below:

Descriptive SummaryAttributes

The landscape is rich in evidence of the heroic
period when it was the focus of international
attention, blessed with mineral riches as well
as timber, and many remains of the mines and
quarries.

(a) A 5km length of steep sided, mineral rich
Severn Valley

The sluices and pools along tributary streams,
which were the source of power for bellows,
hammers and mills, can still be recognised.

(b) Two small river valleys leading from the
Gorge to Coalbrookdale and Madeley

Perfected by Abraham Darby I the WHS
includes 3 groups of blast furnaces at
Coalbrookdale, Bedlam and Blists Hill. This
led to a revolution in the making of iron.

(c) Smelting iron with coke

There are still warehouses and wharves along
the banks of the River Severn, which carried
much of the trade of the Gorge. The IGWHS

(d) A high concentration of 18th and 19thcentury
dwellings, warehouses and public buildings

contains a wealth of monuments associated
with production, blasts furnaces, factories and
engineering works.

The outstanding monument of the mining
industry in the Ironbridge Gorge is the Tar
Tunnel, important as a geological curiosity
and as evidence of the skills of 18thcentury
minors.

(e) Substantial mining remains

- IGWHS SPD26

4 Outstanding Universal Value, Integrity, Authenticity and
Attributes of Outstanding Universal Value

4

Page 45



There remain at least seven locations in the
WHS where mine entries can be seen and
accessed and there are some 400 recorded
mine entries in the IGWHS as a whole.

The entire and multi themed collections of the
Ironbridge Gorge Museum Trust, which
includes those on display in its 10 museums

(f) Collections and artefacts

together with its extensive Library and archive,
are all Designated of national importance by
Arts Council England.

The Iron Bridge is the only substantial iron
road bridge to survive from the 18th century. It
was universally accepted at the time of its

(g) The Iron Bridge

construction that it was the first of its kind. The
impact made by the Iron Bridge in continental
Europe is shown by a small wrought iron
replica bridge of 1791.

The landscape of the Gorge also reflects the
achievements of talented men and women
who are no longer individually remembered,

(h) Workers' housing

but who skills in sinking mines, moulding iron
castings, painting china and sailing barges
were the foundation of the area’s prosperity
and fame.

Monuments of transport systems are further
evidence of the confidence and scientific
understanding of those who lived in the Gorge

(i) Infrastructure and transport

in the 18th century, the Iron Bridge, Hay
Inclined Plane, and the numerous traces of
the primitive railways.

The historic landscape also shows clear
evidence of the philanthropic nature as well
as entrepreneurial skills of the early
industrialist in the area.

(j) Traditional landscapes and woodland of the
Severn Gorge

The world has recognised the significance of
the Ironbridge Gorge since the 18th century
when artists, engineers and writers frommany

(k) Inspiration for artists, engineers, architects
and writers

countries were drawn to the area to admire
innovations in ironworking, mining, and in
structural and mechanical engineering.

27- IGWHS SPD

4 Outstanding Universal Value, Integrity, Authenticity and
Attributes of Outstanding Universal Value

4

Page 46



The Ironbridge Gorge was one of the areas
of the United Kingdom that experienced
profound economic and social changes

(l) The historic landscape as an accessible,
interpreted open air museum, educational
facility and international symbol of the
Industrial Revolution between 1709 and 1820. The people of the

Gorge pioneered new means of mining coal,
of working iron, of building bridges, of applying
the power of steam, of building railed ways
and carrying canals over inhospitable territory.
Its landscape reflects both the pains and the
triumphs of human experience and is part of
the world’s heritage from which all can learn.

The landscape reflects the ambition and
imagination of the entrepreneurs and
engineers of the past.

(m) The sequence of industrial development
evident in the landscape that tells a complete
story of industrial innovation and development

The industrial monuments of the Ironbridge
Gorge are associated with people whose
names are internationally known such as the
Darby Family, Richard Reynolds, John
Wilkinson, Thomas Telford, Rev John Fletcher
and the ninth Earl Dundonald. Some of their
homes still stand, as do some of the structures
for which they were responsible.

4.5 Conditions of Authenticity

4.20 In addition, to meeting criteria for inscription, WHS’s also have to meet the conditions
of authenticity. The key consideration in this is the attributes that comprise the Outstanding
Universal Value are well understood in terms of their history, meaning and development.

4.21 The ability to understand the value that is attributed to a site's heritage depends on the
sources of information and their credibility or truthfulness. The knowledge and understanding
of these sources of information and the accumulation of their meaning over time, are the requisite
bases for assessing all aspects of authenticity.

4.22 Paragraph 82 of the Operational Guidelines states that ‘Depending on the type of cultural
heritage, and its cultural context, properties may be understood to meet the conditions of
authenticity, if their cultural values are truthfully and credibly expressed through a variety of
attributes including:

Form and design;
Materials and substance;
Use and function;
Traditions, techniques and management systems;
Location and setting
Language, and other forms of intangible heritage;
Spirit and feeling; and
Other internal and external factors.’

- IGWHS SPD28

4 Outstanding Universal Value, Integrity, Authenticity and
Attributes of Outstanding Universal Value

4

Page 47



4.23 Attributes such as spirit and feeling do not lend themselves easily to practical applications
for the conditions of authenticity, but nevertheless are important indicators of character and
sense of place, for example, in communities maintaining tradition and cultural continuity.

4.6 Conditions of Integrity

4.24 The third requirement (in addition to theWHS’s inscription and conditions of authenticity)
in order for a WHS to have Outstanding Universal Value, is to satisfy the conditions of integrity.
Integrity is a measure of wholeness and intactness of a WHS and its attributes. This is explained
further overleaf.

Wholeness: All the necessary attributes are within the property or site

An application that has an impact on the wholeness of the IGWHS would remove a
feature or features that are considered to be integral to the Outstanding Universal
Value. The loss of a Wynd or a former factory building or the narrow lanes of
development within some of the communities could have this level of impact.

Intactness: All the necessary attributes are still present – none are lost or have been
significantly damaged or have decayed

The guidance within this document is intended to protect the attributes of the
Outstanding Universal Value and all the cultural and environmental characteristics of
the IGWHS.

4.25 The conditions of integrity are particularly relevant to cultural sites, as it is important that
these sites are representative of a certain way of life, having sufficient dimensions and containing
all significant features and elements to respect their integrity.

4.26 Examining the conditions of integrity, therefore requires assessing the extent to which
the site:

a. Includes all elements necessary to express its Outstanding Universal Value;
b. Is of adequate size to ensure the complete representation of the features and processes

which convey the sites significance; and
c. Suffers from adverse effects of development and/or neglect.

4.27 This means that the physical fabric and/or its significant features should be in good
condition, and the impact of deterioration processes controlled. A significant proportion of the
elements necessary to convey the totality of the value conveyed by the Site should be included.
Relationships and dynamic functions present in cultural landscapes, historic towns or other
living properties essential in their distinctive character should also be maintained.

4.28 The guidance within this document is intended to protect the attributes of the Outstanding
Universal Value and all the cultural and environmental characteristics of the IGWHS.

4.29 The figure below shows how all of the above relates with each other and how each can
affect the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS.

29- IGWHS SPD

4 Outstanding Universal Value, Integrity, Authenticity and
Attributes of Outstanding Universal Value

4

Page 48



- IGWHS SPD30

4 Outstanding Universal Value, Integrity, Authenticity and
Attributes of Outstanding Universal Value

4

Page 49



31- IGWHS SPD

5 Planning Context 5

Page 50



5 Planning Context

5.1 National Planning Policy Framework

5.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the Government’s planning
policies for England and how these should be applied. It provides a framework within which
locally prepared plans for housing and other development can be produced (Para 1 NPPF).

5.2 The NPPF is a material consideration when planning decisions are being made. Planning
law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance with
policies in development plans unless other material considerations indicate otherwise(7).

5.3 In paragraph 189 the NPPF states:

“Heritage assets range from sites and buildings of local historic value to those of
the highest significance, such as World Heritage Sites which are internationally
recognised to be of Outstanding Universal Value(8). These assets are an irreplaceable
resource, and should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance, so
that they can be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life or existing and
future generations(9)”.

5.4 Paragraph 190 goes on to consider that “Plans should set out a positive strategy for the
conservation and enjoyment of the historic environment”.

5.5 Paragraph 200 states that “Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated
heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should
require clear and convincing justification”.

5.6 Paragraphs 201 and 202 consider when consent should be refused for developments
which cause substantial or less than substantial harm. Exceptions include consideration of the
nature of the asset, viable use, conservation by grant-funding or whether the harm or loss is
outweighed.

5.7 Paragraph 206 further considers “Local planning authorities should look for opportunities
for new development within Conservation Areas andWorld Heritage Sites, and within the setting
of heritage assets, to enhance or better reveal their significance. Proposals that preserve those
elements of the setting that make a positive contribution to the asset (or which better reveal its
significance) should be treated favourably”.

5.8 However, Paragraph 207 states “Not all elements of a Conservation Area orWorld Heritage
Site will necessarily contribute to its significance. Loss of a building (or other element) which
makes a positive contribution to the significance of the Conservation Area or World Heritage
Site should be treated either as substantial harm under paragraph 201 or less than substantial
harm under paragraph 202, as appropriate, taking into account the relative significance of the
element affected and its contribution to the significance of the Conservation Area or World
Heritage Site as a whole”.

7 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
8 Some World Heritage Sites inscribed by UNESCO are of natural significance rather than cultural significance; some are inscribed for both their natural and

cultural significance.
9 The policies set out in this chapter relate, as applicable, to the heritage-related consent regimes for which local planning authorities are responsible under

the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, as well as to plan-making and decision-making.

- IGWHS SPD32

5 Planning Context5

Page 51



5.9 Regarding mineral extraction (in relation to World Heritage Sites) Paragraph 211 states
when “considering proposals for mineral extraction, mineral planning authorities should:

a. as far as is practical, provide for themaintenance of landbanks of non-energyminerals
from outside National Parks, the Broads, Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and
World Heritage Sites, scheduled monuments and conservation areas”.

5.2 National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)

5.10 The PPG sets out the importance of World Heritage Sites, setting out how they are
protected andmanaged in England. Paragraph 27 sets out how the importance ofWorld Heritage
Sites is reflected in the NPPF which clearly defines them as a designated heritage asset.

5.11 Moreover, Paragraph 33 considers how the setting of a WHS is protected through the
protection of specific views and viewpoints, both from and to the site.

5.12 The PPG also highlights what approach should be taken to assessing the impact of
development on WHS’s. Paragraph 35 states that in the event that a proposal affects a WHS’s
Outstanding Universal Value, integrity or authenticity through its development, there is a
requirement to submit the relevant information to enable an assessment of the potential impacts
on the Outstanding Universal Value. This may include the following:

Visual Impact Assessments;
Archaeological Data; and/or
Historical Information.

5.13 In some cases, within the IGWHS, this will form part of an Environment Statement, with
useful approaches to completing this set out in the:

International Council on Monuments and Site’s Heritage Impact Assessment guidelines;
and
Historic England’s guidance on the Setting of Heritage Assets setting and views; which
gives general advice on understanding setting, and how it may contribute to the significance
of heritage assets and allow that significance to be appreciated, as well advice on how
views contribute to setting

5.3 Local Policy

5.14 Planning policy that looks to protect and enhance the Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage
Site is covered in both the Telford & Wrekin and Shropshire Council’s adopted Local Plans and
is the starting point for taking planning decisions on Planning Applications in these respective
areas.

5.15 The majority of the IGWHS falls within Telford & Wrekin Council’s administrative area
(approximately 415ha, 76%) with a smaller area within Shropshire Council’s administrative area
(approximately 135ha, 24%). this is identified in Figure 6 below.

33- IGWHS SPD

5 Planning Context 5

Page 52



Figure 6: Council Boundaries for the Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site

5.16 The following sections provide a summary of the Local Development Plans(10) within
Telford & Wrekin Council and Shropshire Council administrative areas.

5.4 Telford & Wrekin Council

Telford & Wrekin Local Plan (2018)

5.17 The Telford andWrekin Local Plan 2011 – 2031 was adopted in January 2018 and forms
the development plan for the borough. Chapter 9, the Built Environment and Heritage, sets out
the importance of the historic environment and emphasises its benefits to the local quality of
life. All the policies within this section, BE1 to BE10 are relevant to the IGWHS.

5.18 Of particular relevance is section 9.2 Historic Environment, with a dedicated policy for
the IGWHS (BE3), this is shown below.

10 Other Neighbourhood Plans have been ‘made’ within both the Telford & Wrekin and Shropshire Council administrative areas. This summary focuses upon
those of greatest relevance to the IGWHS.

- IGWHS SPD34

5 Planning Context5

Page 53



5.19 As the Site is also an area of special archaeological interest the policy also sets out how
proposed development will be particularly scrutinised for potential impacts on the archaeology
of sites andmonuments. Moreover, Policy BE3 is considered integral to protecting and enhancing
the IGWHS’s Outstanding Universal Value the full policy is shown overleaf:

35- IGWHS SPD

5 Planning Context 5

Page 54



The Council will protect and enhance the Outstanding Universal Value of the Ironbridge
Gorge World Heritage Site.

Any harm or loss to the World Heritage Site must be clearly justified.

The Council will only support proposals likely to cause substantial harm to theWorld Heritage
Site where it has been clearly demonstrated that there would be substantial public benefits
associated with the proposal, or in all the following circumstances:

The asset cannot be sustained in its current use;
The asset prevents all reasonable use of the site; and
The harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into use.

In these wholly exceptional circumstances where harm can be clearly and convincingly
justified and the development would result in the partial or total loss of a heritage asset
and/or its setting within the World Heritage Site, the Council will require the developer to
record and analyse the asset, including an archaeological excavation where relevant, in
accordance with a scheme to be agreed beforehand and to be deposited on the Council's
Historic Environment Record.

In determining any application for development, and in undertaking its overall responsibilities,
the Council will give significant weight to the international value of the Severn Gorge area
as a World Heritage Site.

The Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site is an area of special archaeological interest
within which all archaeological sites of significance will be afforded the same protection as
that given to nationally important monuments. Proposed development will be particularly
scrutinised for its potential effect on the archaeology of sites and monuments.

The Council will not support proposals in, or adjacent to, the World Heritage Site that
adversely affect the following key features:

i. The existing topographical character and landscape quality, including the stability of
the slopes and riverbanks;

ii. The setting of the World Heritage Site including the existing skylines and views to, and
from, the Gorge;

iii. The area’s natural diversity and ecology, including amongst others, Sites of Special
Scientific Interest and Local Wildlife Sites; or

iv. The area’s distinctive archaeological resource.

In addition to these features, development within the World Heritage Site will need to take
account of flood risk and drainage and will be required to demonstrate that the site is stable,
and that the development can address gas migration.

The Council will only support engineering works or development along the riverside, or
within the course of the river, if it can be demonstrated that the natural, historic or
archaeological character of the River Severn is preserved or enhanced by the proposal
and that there is no adverse impact on the hydrology, ecology or archaeology of the river
and associated deposits upstream or downstream.

- IGWHS SPD36

5 Planning Context5

Page 55



5.20 The criteria for protecting key features as outlined within Policy BE3, derives from the
existing WHS Management Plan.

5.21 The other policies that are considered relevant to the IGWHS are:

Listed Buildings (BE4);
Conservation Areas (BE5);
Buildings of Local Interest (BE6); and
Archaeology and Scheduled Ancient Monuments (BE8).

5.22 Also, of importance to the IGWHS is section 9.3 of the Local Plan which deals with
unstable and contaminated land, which is a particular issue in the gorge. This includes:

Land Stability (Policy BE9); and
Land Contamination (Policy BE10).

Telford & Wrekin Local Plan Review

5.23 In October 2020, Telford & Wrekin Council undertook the first period of consultation
(Issues and Options) for the review of the Telford & Wrekin Local Plan. This consultation ended
in January 2021. The Local Plan Review will consider changes in national policy, local
circumstances and wider global issues such as climate change. The Local Plan Review will
include a robust policy position giving protection to the IGWHS.

Madeley Neighbourhood Plan

5.24 The Madeley Neighbourhood Plan (NP) was made in March 2015, and forms part of the
Local Development Plan for Telford & Wrekin and is used to help determine planning
applications.

5.25 Objective 8 of the Neighbourhood Plan looks to protect and enhance the historic
environment, including archaeological remains and non-designated buildings and sites of
heritage value, for the benefits of residents and visitors alike, and Objective 9 looks to maintain
and enhance local character and areas of historic importance by ensuring high quality design
of buildings and public realm. Additionally, Objective 17 looks to promote Madeley as a tourism
hub for the IGWHS.

5.26 Policy LC5 states that new development throughout the Plan Area should protect physical
assets of the historic environment (buildings, sites or areas together with their settings) and
enhance or reinforce those characteristics, qualities and features that contribute to the local
distinctiveness of the Plan Area’s landscape and townscape.

37- IGWHS SPD

5 Planning Context 5

Page 56



5.5 Shropshire Council

Shropshire Local Development Plan

5.27 Approximately 24% of the IGWHS falls within Shropshire Councils administrative area.
The current development plan for Shropshire comprises the Core Strategy (adopted in 2011)
and the Site Allocation and Management of Development (SAMDev) Plan (adopted in 2015).
Together these documents contain a number of policies which are relevant to theWorld Heritage
Site.

5.28 Within the Core Strategy:

Policy CS3: Market Towns and Other Key Centres;
Policy CS6: Sustainable Design and Development;
Policy CS16: Tourism, Culture and Leisure; and
Policy CS17: Environmental Networks.

5.29 The above policies are further supplemented by development management policies
contained within the SAMDev Plan, these include:

Policy S4: Broseley;
Policy MD12: Natural Environment; and
Policy MD13: Historic Environment.

5.30 SAMDev Plan Policy MD13: Historic Environment is particularly important in the context
of the IGWHS, it states:

In accordance with Policies CS6 and CS17 and through applying the guidance in the Historic
Environment SPD, Shropshire’s heritage assets will be protected, conserved, sympathetically
enhanced and restored by:

1. Ensuring that wherever possible, proposals avoid harm or loss of significance to
designated or non-designated heritage assets, including their settings.

2. Ensuring that proposals which are likely to affect the significance of a designated or
non-designated heritage asset, including its setting, are accompanied by a Heritage
Assessment, including a qualitative visual assessment where appropriate.

3. Ensuring that proposals which are likely to have an adverse effect on the significance
of a non-designated heritage asset, including its setting, will only be permitted if it can
be clearly demonstrated that the public benefits of the proposal outweigh the adverse
effect. In making this assessment, the degree of harm or loss of significance to the
asset including its setting, the importance of the asset and any potential beneficial use
will be taken into account. Where such proposals are permitted, measures to mitigate
and record the loss of significance to the asset including its setting and to advance
understanding in a manner proportionate to the asset’s importance and the level of
impact, will be required.

4. Encouraging development which delivers positive benefits to heritage assets, as
identified within the Place Plans. Support will be given in particular to proposals which
appropriately conserve, manage or enhance the significance of a heritage asset
including its setting, especially where these improve the condition of those assets which
are recognised as being at risk or in poor condition.

- IGWHS SPD38

5 Planning Context5

Page 57



Shropshire Local Plan Review

5.31 Shropshire Council is at an advanced stage of their Local Plan Review, the Council
submitted the Local Plan to the Secretary of State in September 2021 and are now undergoing
Examination.

5.32 The draft Shropshire Local Plan (2016-2038) identifies a vision and framework for the
future development of Shropshire to 2038; addresses needs and opportunities in relation to
housing, the local economy, community facilities and infrastructure; and seeks to safeguard the
environment, enable adaptation to climate change and helps to secure high-quality and accessible
design.

5.33 Due to the significant progress undertaken by Shropshire Council on their Local Plan it
is important to consider the updated policies that relate to the IGWHS. These include:

SP1 The Shropshire Test: This includes raising design standards and enhancing the
area’s character and historic environment.
SP5 High Quality Design: This policy is intended to ensure new development will deliver
high quality design, taking account of the need to maintain and enhance the character,
appearance and historic interests of settlements, street scenes, groups of buildings and
the landscape. Whilst not specific to the IGWHS, the policy nevertheless doe apply within
that part of the WHS, and its setting situated within Shropshire.
SP14 Strategic Corridors: The Shropshire Economic Growth Strategy seeks to deliver a
‘step change’ in the capacity and productivity of the local economy. The strategic approach
in Policy SP2 seeks to deliver significant development and infrastructure investment within
the ‘strategic corridors’ served by the principal rail network and strategic and principal road
networks in Shropshire. The Eastern Belt ‘strategic corridor’ includes opportunities in and
around Ironbridge through the redevelopment of the former Power Station site.

39- IGWHS SPD

5 Planning Context 5

Page 58



5.34 The draft Shropshire Local Plan also includes development management policies that
are relevant to the IGWHS and the setting of the IGWHS, the most directly relevant being Policy
DP23 Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment. This is shown below.

Shropshire’s heritage assets will be protected, conserved, sympathetically enhanced and
restored, by:

1. Ensuring that wherever possible, proposals avoid harm or loss of significance to
designated or non-designated heritage assets, including their settings.

2. Ensuring that proposals which are likely to affect the significance of a designated or
non-designated heritage asset, including its setting, are accompanied by a Heritage
Assessment. The level of detail in the Heritage Assessment should be proportionate
to the asset’s significance.

3. Ensuring that proposals which are likely to result in any loss of, harm to, the significance
of a designated heritage asset, including its setting, either directly or indirectly, are
determined in line with the National Planning Policy Framework.

4. Ensuring that proposals which are likely to result in loss of, or harm to, the significance
of a non-designated heritage asset and/or its setting, either directly or indirectly, will
only be permitted if it can be clearly demonstrated that on balance, the benefits of the
proposal outweigh that loss or harm. In making this assessment the following will be
taken into account:

a. The degree of harm or loss of significance to the asset and/or its setting; and
b. The importance of the asset; and
c. Any potential beneficial use.

5. Where such proposals are permitted, measures will be required to:

a. Mitigate and record the loss of significance to the asset and/or it’s setting; and
b. Advance understanding in a manner proportionate to both the assets and/or its

setting importance and the level of impact.

6. Encouraging development which delivers positive benefits to heritage assets. Support
will be given in particular to proposals which appropriately conserve, manage or enhance
the significance of a heritage asset including its setting, especially where these improve
the condition of those assets which are recognised as being at risk or in poor condition.

7. Ensuring that development proposals affecting designated or non-designated heritage
assets are determined in line with more detailed supplementary planning documents,
where applicable.

5.35 In addition, the draft plan includes a range of settlement policies, this includes:

S4 Broseley Place Plan Area: This is the development strategy for the Broseley which is
identified as a key centre and lies partly within the IGWHS boundary.
S20 Strategic Settlement: Former Ironbridge Power Station: This outlines the requirements
for redevelopment of the Former Ironbridge Power Station Site. It includes recognition that
there is a need for the high-quality design and layout of development on the site which
reflects and respects the sites heritage, heritage assets on the site and heritage assets
within the wider area, including the IGWHS.

- IGWHS SPD40

5 Planning Context5

Page 59



Broseley Neighbourhood Plan

5.36 The Broseley Neighbourhood Plan is at a very advanced stage. It has been subject to
a series of consultations, examination by an independent examiner and a local referendum was
recently undertaken during which a significant proportion (in excess of 89% of valid votes)
supported the use of the Neighbourhood Plan for decision making on planning applications in
the neighbourhood area. Subject to approval by Shropshire Council’s full Council, the
Neighbourhood Plan will now become part of Shropshire’s Local Development Plan.

5.37 Objective 5.9a) of the Neighbourhood Plan considers the tourism impact of the Ironbridge
Gorge and its associated museum sites. It states that the plan will consider how Broseley can
be promoted as a base for tourists wishing to explore the surrounding area.

5.38 Policy GR5 looks to protect footways and bridleways through green spaces and where
possible enhance. The Neighbourhood Plan aims to improve links between Broseley and IGWHS.

41- IGWHS SPD

5 Planning Context 5

Page 60



5.6 Local Guidance

5.39 In addition to national and local planning policy, there is also a range of local planning
guidance that is relevant to the IGWHS. The most directly relevant is the IGWHS Management
Plan, which has been formally adopted by both Telford & Wrekin and Shropshire local planning
authorities and is a material consideration in the planning process.

IGWHS Management Plan

5.40 Protecting and strengthening the qualities of IGWHS and its rich material evidence of
Britain’s rise as the world’s first industrial nation is one of the key principles which under-pins
the IGWHS Management Plan.

5.41 The IGWHS Management Plan (2017) recognises that if the IGWHS is to survive as a
living community, it will need to continue to change and adapt in the spirit of innovation, which
made the area famous and which must be allowed to continue to flourish.

5.42 The IGWHS Management Plan was produced in order to oversee the sustainable use
of the cultural assets of the Ironbridge Gorge, the conservation of its buildings, monuments and
the landscape and to ensure the protection of the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS,
as well as deliver on obligations to UNESCO.

5.7 Other Local Guidance

5.43 There is also a range of other planning guidance (including other Supplementary Planning
Documents) relevant to the Telford & Wrekin and Shropshire Council administrative areas
respectively, the most directly relevant to the IGWHS has been outlined for context:

Telford & Wrekin Council

Residents Guide

5.44 In July 2020, Telford and Wrekin Council produced a guide for residents of the IGWHS
within the Telford & Wrekin administrative area, which provides information to help residents
make informed choices and decisions when considering making changes to or carrying out
works to both the dwelling house, and the land that surrounds the property. The Residents
Guide sets out what all residents of the IGWHS need to be aware of, so that we can work
together to maintain and enhance the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS.

5.45 The Residents Guide provides background information on the IGWHS, explaining the
need for additional measures required to protect the built and natural environment of an area
with this status and provides advice on relevant considerations when residents propose to make
alterations to their properties or land.

5.46 This is not part of the development plan but provides useful information and guidance
for submitting planning applications in the IGWHS and when you need planning permission.

5.47 Essential information also included in the guide:

What is planning permission required for?
What is a Listed Building and when is Listed Building Consent required?
Archaeological matters.

- IGWHS SPD42

5 Planning Context5

Page 61



Ecological considerations.
Tree Preservation Orders and Trees in Conservation Areas.
Access and Parking.
Land stability and flooding – planning considerations and why.

Supplementary Planning Documents

5.48 The SPD’s listed below are all considered to have some relevance to the IGWHS within
the Telford & Wrekin Council administrative area, (although some may not be directly related
to the IGWHS as a whole, it is considered that particular planning applications to which they
are relevant, whether this be related to Shop Fronts, supported and specialist housing or
telecommunications development may impact the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS).

Telford & Wrekin Council Shop Fronts and Signage Design Guidance in Conservation
Areas

5.49 Telford & Wrekin has attractive Conservation Areas, each with their own distinctive
character and history. Over time the character and quality of traditional shopping streets across
the borough had gradually been eroded by poor, careless and unsympathetic alterations to
shop fronts and the Design Guide was intended to address and holt those undesirable changes.

5.50 Widespread use of relatively cheapmaterials and standardised shop front designs leads
to a loss of local distinctiveness. Inappropriate shops fronts and large attention-grabbing signs
dominate the street scene and have a negative impact on historically important buildings as
well as whole shopping areas.

5.51 The Design Guide enables developers to plan for shop front solutions appropriate to
various settings.

Homes for All: Providing accessible, supported and specialist housing in Telford and
Wrekin

5.52 In March 2020 Telford & Wrekin Council adopted its Supported and Specialist
Accommodation Strategy for their administrative area. This provides an evidence base around
supported, specialist and accessible housing needs in the borough.

5.53 Further to this work the Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) ‘Homes for All:
Providing accessible, supported and specialist housing in Telford and Wrekin’ was published
to support the delivery of a broader range of accommodation in Telford & Wrekin Council’s
administrative area including housing for older people, residents with care needs and vulnerable
young people. The SPD set out Telford & Wrekin Council’s long-term vision to ensure that all
new homes are accessible, adaptable and well designed, enabling people to live independently
and comfortably.

43- IGWHS SPD

5 Planning Context 5

Page 62



Telecommunications Development

5.54 Telecommunications installations in environmentally sensitive areas are sometimes
requested by mobile phone operators in order to provide their network coverage. The Council
will require telecommunications development in Conservation Areas or on or near Listed
Buildings, the site and setting of Scheduled Monuments (and other nationally important
archaeological remains), and the Ironbridge World Heritage Site to be particularly sympathetic
in terms of its design and appearance and this may require innovative solutions from the
operators.

Conservation Area Guidance

Severn Gorge Conservation Area Appraisal

5.55 The Severn Gorge Conservation Area Appraisal was published in 2016. The purpose
of the appraisal is to convey a statement of the special architectural and historic character and
appearance of the components of the Severn Gorge Conservation Area within the Telford &
Wrekin administrative area. It is provided to inform the management of the area and, in particular,
the formulation of policies, the determination of applications for development and proposal for
enhancement.

5.56 The appraisal provides:

a statement of the special architectural and historic interest of the Severn Gorge
Conservation Area; and
information on the management of the area including the policy background;

5.57 This in order to assist any evaluation or determination of applications for development
or proposals for change and enhancement within the Conservation Area.

Severn Gorge Conservation Area Management Plan (CAMP)

5.58 The Conservation Area Management Plan was published in January 2017 and applies
to the components of the Severn Gorge Conservation Area within the Telford & Wrekin Council
administrative area. It is for local residents and businesses, the local planning authority, major
landowners; and for anyone who can play a role in conserving the Severn Gorge.

5.59 All of the Severn Gorge Conservation Area lies within the IGWHS boundary.

5.60 The CAMP is one of a suite of documents produced by organisations undertaking the
largest roles in the conservation and management of the Gorge. The document has a distinct
purpose in identifying the very special qualities of the Gorge and setting out how this can best
be protected and managed.

5.61 A particular focus of the document is on the historic built environment and the purpose
of the conservation area as “an area of special architectural or historic interest where the
character or appearance of which is desirable to preserve or enhance”.

5.62 The report sets out in sequence a brief summary of an understanding of the site and its
setting, followed by a resume of the significance of the site and its component elements. The
CAMP recognised the need for the development of a Supplementary Planning Document to
provide additional planning guidance within the IGWHS area.

- IGWHS SPD44

5 Planning Context5

Page 63



5.63 The report set out Threats and Opportunities in connection with the site, including:

Conservation of the historic fabric;
Traffic and parking issues;
Land stability;
Tourism and visitor management;
Natural environment including River Severn and its banks; and
Community resilience.

5.64 The essence of the report is contained in the section called – Recommendations for
Management. These arise from the Threats and Opportunities section and seek to address the
challenges that the conservation area faces, as well as to capitalise on any missed opportunities
where possible.

Figure 7: Severn Gorge Conservation Area

5.65 Please note: the areas shaded in pink represent the extent of the Severn Gorge
Conservation Area within the Shropshire Council administrative area.

45- IGWHS SPD

5 Planning Context 5

Page 64



Shropshire Council

Housing Strategy

5.66 Shropshire Council’s Housing Strategy sets out our vision for housing for the next five
years:

That all homes are well designed decent homes of high quality, which will protect
Shropshire's unique urban and rural environments and ensure it is a great place to live,
and
That all Shropshire residents have access to the ‘right home in the right place’ to support
and promote their health and wellbeing throughout their lives.

5.67 It also identifies six key objectives, these are:

1. To meet the overall current and future housing needs of Shropshire’s growing population
by addressing the housing needs of particular groups within communities.

2. To ensure people whose housing needs are not met through the local open market housing
can access housing that meets their needs.

3. Work to reduce and prevent households from becoming homeless, and where this is not
possible ensuring they have safe, secure and appropriate accommodation until they are
able to resettle.

4. To ensure people can access a mix of housing options within Shropshire’s urban and rural
landscape that best meets their needs in terms of tenure, safety, size, type, design and
location of housing.

5. To minimise the environmental impact of existing housing stock and future housing
development in the interest of climate change. To work with policy makers, developers and
private and social landlords to maximise resource efficiencies and to ensure optimum use
of sustainable construction techniques.

6. To support the drive for economic growth by ensuring that there is enough housing supply
to enable businesses to attract and retain the local workforce that they need.

5.68 The strategy will be supported by a detailed action plan outlining short-, medium- and
long-term actions.

Right Home, Right Place

5.69 Right Home, Right Place is a Shropshire Council-led initiative to identify hidden housing
needs across the county and ensure local people have access to the right housing in their area.

5.70 The Right Home Right Place process involves a comprehensive Housing Needs Survey
on a Parish basis. The survey process seeks to involve all households within a community to
better understand needs. Once all the surveys have been completed and returned, Shropshire
Council’s team compile and analyse the data and prepares a detailed report.

5.71 These surveys are invaluable, helping Shropshire Council and the relevant Town or
Parish Council to understand the different demographics and housing needs in the Parish.

5.72 Further information on Right Home, Right Place is available at:

https://www.righthomerightplace.co.uk/

- IGWHS SPD46

5 Planning Context5

Page 65

https://www.righthomerightplace.co.uk/


Type and Affordability of Housing SPD

5.73 The Type and Affordability of Housing SPD is relevant to all types of residential
development, providing detailed guidance to assist in implementing a number of Core Strategy
policies.

5.74 The SPD helps to provide a mix of good quality, sustainable housing development of
the right size, type, tenure and affordability to meet the housing requirements of all sections of
the community.

5.75 Shropshire Council has committed to update this SPD so that it provides guidance on
the application of relevant policies in the draft Shropshire Local Plan.

5.8 Stakeholders

5.76 The IGWHS has a number of stakeholders that have an important role in managing the
Site. Some of the key stakeholders, including details of their role are set out below:

Role of UNESCO World Heritage Centre(11) (WHC)

5.77 THEUNESCOWorld Heritage Committee Operational Guidelines request that theWHC
be informed at an early stage where proposals are identified as having potentially adverse
impacts on the Outstanding Universal Value of a WHS.

5.78 The importance of the WHC should not be understated and if the IGWHS is considered
to be in danger of losing the attributes of its Outstanding Universal Value, the consequences
can be deletion from the World Heritage List, a penalty previously used in the UK.

5.79 Planning authorities must therefore consult with Historic England (HE) at the earliest
opportunity – ideally at pre-application stage – to enable liaison with the Department for Culture,
Media and Sport (DCMS) and the World Heritage Centre.

5.80 The World Heritage Centre may refer an application to its designated advisory bodies
for comment. In the context of this WHS which is inscribed as a Cultural Site, the advisory
bodies are:

IUCN: The International Union for Conservation of Nature
ICOMOS: The International Council on Monuments and Sites(12); and
ICCROM: The International Centre for the Study of the Preservation and Restoration
of Cultural Property.

5.81 ICOMOS International (International Council on Monuments and Sites), has a special
role as official advisor to UNESCO on cultural WHS’s. ICOMOS Internationals role is to advise
on aspects of World Heritage and sites for nomination across the world. The body are an
independent charity with an international mission to promote and support best practice in the
conservation, care and understanding of the historic environment.

5.82 For major applications sufficient time should be allowed in the planning development
process for this consultation to take place, which should be within the context of a Planning
Performance Agreement (PPA), this is used as a project tool which LPA’s and applicants can

11 UNESCO WHC https://whc.unesco.org/en/
12 ICOMOS UK https://icomos-uk.org/

47- IGWHS SPD

5 Planning Context 5

Page 66

https://whc.unesco.org/en/
https://icomos-uk.org/


use to agree timescales, actions and resources for handling particular applications. This should
cover the pre-application and application stages and may extend through to the post application
stage.

Role of Historic England (HE)

5.83 Historic England, the public body charged with conserving and managing England’s
historic environment, plays a key role in the planning process where applications have the
potential to have adverse effects on designated heritage assets. Further information on their
role can be found at https://historicengland.org.uk/

In relation to World Heritage Sites

5.84 HE provides advice to UKGovernment on its obligations relating to world heritage. These
are set out under the 1972 World Heritage Convention and focus on protection of WHS’s in the
United Kingdom.

5.85 HE works closely with DCMS, which acts as the UK 'State Party' to the Convention. This
works helps DCMS to meet its international obligations to identify, protect, preserve, promote
and transmit the Outstanding Universal Value of WHS’s in England for the benefit of this and
future generations.

5.86 In keeping with UNESCO’s request, the relevant planning authority will, therefore, consult
with HE at the earliest opportunity – ideally at pre-application stage – to enable liaison with
DCMS and the World Heritage Centre.

5.87 Where the local planning authority is minded to grant permission for a development to
which HE has objected, the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government must
be consulted to provide the option for the decision to be called-in for their determination under
Section 77 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended.

Role of Local Stakeholders

5.88 The IGWHS Steering Group represent the key stakeholders for the IGWHS. Established
in 1995 the IGWHS Steering Group is a strategic body comprising senior professional and
community representatives, whose purpose is to:

Ensure effective collaboration and partnership between national, regional, local organisations
and local communities to deliver a common vision.
Ensure the IGWHS is managed in line with the high standards required by its WHS status,
balancing the needs of all stakeholders and local people.
Help coordinate a consistent, holistic approach by all parties to ensure a strong relationship
between the protection of the IGWHS and its economic vitality.
Provide a forum where concerns and proposals from interested groups and expert parties
can be discussed and appropriate actions can be agreed.

- IGWHS SPD48

5 Planning Context5

Page 67

https://historicengland.org.uk/


5.89 The following key organisations are represented on the Steering Group:

RoleLocal Stakeholder

Managing development for land falling within the Council
boundary

Telford & Wrekin Council

Managing development for land falling within the Council
boundary

Shropshire Council

The public body that helps people care for, enjoy and
celebrate England's spectacular historic environment.

Historic England

Registered charity managing over 400 properties that
make up the ‘National Heritage Collection’

English Heritage Trust

Responsible for managing the risk of flooding from main
rivers, reservoirs, estuaries and the sea

The Environment Agency

Established in 1968 to preserve and interpret the
birthplace of the Industrial Revolution in the Ironbridge
Gorge

Ironbridge Gorge Museum Trust

Includes Broseley Town Council, Gorge Parish and
Madeley Town Council. They provide communities with
a democratic voice and a structure for taking community
action

Parishes and Town Councils within
the IGWHS

Works to balance the conservation and enhancement of
landscape, wildlife and public access, and reinforce the
cultural importance of the special areas

Severn Gorge Countryside Trust

Driving accelerated economic growth across the region.
A partnership of business, education and the local
authorities of Herefordshire, Shropshire and Telford &
Wrekin

Marches Local Enterprise
Partnership

49- IGWHS SPD

5 Planning Context 5

Page 68



50- IGWHS SPD

6 Conservation, Heritage and Planning Controls 6

Page 69



6 Conservation, Heritage and Planning Controls

6.1 In addition to planning policy contained within the Local Development Plan (including
Neighbourhood Plans) and guidance within supporting documents such as this SPD, there are
a number of other conservation, heritage and planning controls that help protect the WHS and
Severn Gorge Conservation Area, and these are outlined below.

6.1 Conservation Area Status

6.2 A Conservation Area is an “area of special architectural or historic interest the character
or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance” as set out in the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (Section 69).

6.3 When dealing with planning applications in Conservation Areas the local authority is
required to ensure that “special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or
enhancing the character or appearance of that area” (Section 72). In addition, a local authority
has a duty “from time to time to formulate and publish proposals for the preservation and
enhancement of any parts of their area which are conservation areas” (Section 71). The Town
& Country Planning Act prevents the demolition of buildings in Conservation Areas without
consent and allows for repairs notices for vacant buildings.

6.4 Whether or not planning permission is needed for work such as alteration, demolition or
extension to an existing building is a complex matter. The local planning department should
always be consulted to find out if permission is needed.

6.5 The Severn Gorge Conservation Area was a relatively early designation, in 1971 (which
was enlarged in 1980). In 2004 (and later refreshed in 2016), Telford andWrekin commissioned
a Conservation Area Appraisal for the components within their administrative area, which set
out to: demonstrate the areas special character and appearance, explain the value of the area
to the local community, to form the basis for sound decision making, and assist in developing
proposals for protection and enhancement.

6.2 Listed Buildings

6.6 Listed Buildings are selected to mark and celebrate their special architectural and historic
interest and are considered to be of national importance. This also brings these buildings under
the consideration of the planning system, so that they can be protected for future generations.
The older a building is, and the fewer the surviving examples of its kind, the more likely it is to
be listed.

6.7 The general principles are that all buildings built before 1700 which survive in anything
like their original condition are likely to be listed, as are most buildings built between 1700 and
1850. Careful selection is required for buildings from the period after 1945 and a building less
than 30 years old is not normally considered to be of special architectural or historic interest.

6.8 There are two main routes to listing: one being a public nomination and the second using
HE’s strategic programme of listing priorities. In both cases HE makes a recommendation to
the Secretary of State for DCMS based on principles of selection for listed buildings and they
make the final decision as to whether a site should be listed or not.

6.9 Once listed, buildings are split into three categories these are as follows:

51- IGWHS SPD

6 Conservation, Heritage and Planning Controls 6

Page 70



Grade I – for buildings of exceptional interest
Grade II* - particularly important buildings of more than special interest
Grade II – buildings that are of special interest, warranting every effort to preserve them

Figure 8: The Wharfage, Grade II Listed Building

6.10 The Gorge parish within the IGWHS, has a total of 215 listed buildings recorded in the
National Heritage List for England. Of these two are listed at Grade I, 13 are at Grade II*, and
the others are at Grade II.

6.11 Alterations and other works to listed buildings often require Listed Building Consent.
Some alterations require both planning permission and Listed Building Consent. The 1990 Act
states “no person shall execute or cause to be executed any works for the demolition of a listed
building or for its alterations or extension in any manner which would affect its character as a
building of special architectural or historic interest, unless the works are authorised”. Unauthorised
work to a listed building is a criminal offence.

6.12 When considering works to a Listed Building the Council has duty to “have special regard
to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural
or historic interest which it possesses”.

6.13 If a listed building falls into serious disrepair, the Council has powers to ensure that
urgent repairs are undertaken, and in certain cases has the power to acquire the buildings and
find a new owner who will repair it.

6.14 Listed places of worship generally have separate controls under a scheme known as
“ecclesiastical exemption”.

- IGWHS SPD52

6 Conservation, Heritage and Planning Controls6

Page 71



Figure 9: Listed Buildings and Scheduled Monuments in Ironbridge

6.3 Scheduled Monuments

6.15 A Scheduled Monument is an historic building or site that is included in the Schedule of
Monuments kept by the Secretary of State for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport. The regime is
set out in the Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act 1979.

6.16 The designation cannot be applied to an ecclesiastical building in ecclesiastical use or
to a building in use as a dwelling, unless the person living there is employed as a caretaker of
the site. Buildings in use for non-residential purposes may be scheduled.

6.17 The Schedule of Monuments has almost 200,000 entries (2019) and includes sites such
as Roman remains, burial mounds, castles, bridges, earthworks, the remains of deserted villages
and industrial sites. Monuments are not graded, but all are, by definition, considered to be of
national importance. The Schedule can be viewed online on the National Heritage List for
England and physically inspected at the HE Archive in Swindon. Scheduled Monuments may
also appear on the Shropshire Historic Environment Record.

6.18 Once a monument is scheduled any works to it, and flooding and tipping operations that
might affect it, (with few exceptions), require scheduled monument consent from the Secretary
of State (not the local planning authority). HE manages the process of scheduled monument
consent on behalf of the Secretary of State. Metal detecting on a Scheduled Monument is also
illegal without a licence from HE.

53- IGWHS SPD

6 Conservation, Heritage and Planning Controls 6

Page 72



6.19 For historical reasons, a few buildings are both scheduled and listed. In such a case the
scheduled monument statutory regime applies, and the listed building regime does not. The
Secretary of State will review dually designated heritage assets over time with a view to producing
a single, rationalised designation for each asset.

6.20 The Iron Bridge itself is a Scheduled Monument and has been since 1934 when it was
closed to vehicular traffic. The total area includes a 5-metre boundary around the archaeological
features which are considered to be essential for the Ironbridge’s support and preservation.

6.21 In total 7 scheduled monuments are located within the IGWHS boundary:

The Iron Bridge
Darby Ironworks, Coalbrookdale (furnaces, foreheaths and blowing house areas);
Bedlam Furnaces;
Blists Hill Iron Furnaces;
Lilleshall Beam Blowing Engines;
Coalport Inclined Plane; and
Coalport Bridge.

6.4 Non-designated Heritage Assets and Buildings of Local Interest

6.22 Non-designated Heritage Assets are buildings, monuments, archaeological sites, places,
areas or landscapes identified by plan-making bodies as having a degree of heritage significance
meriting consideration in planning decisions, but which do not meet the criteria for designated
heritage assets.

6.23 A substantial majority of buildings or sites have little or no heritage significance and thus
do not constitute heritage assets. Only a minority have enough heritage significance to merit
identification as Non-designated Heritage Assets.

6.24 There are a number of processes through which Non-designated Heritage Assets may
be identified, including the Local Plan and Neighbourhood Plan-making processes and
conservation area appraisals and reviews. Irrespective of how they are identified, it is important
that the decisions to identify them as Non-designated Heritage Assets are based on sound
evidence.

6.25 Plan-making bodies should make clear and up to date information on Non-designated
Heritage Assets accessible to the public to provide greater clarity and certainty for developers
and decisionmakers. This includes information on the criteria used to select them and information
about the location of existing assets.

6.26 In some cases, local planning authorities may also identify Non-designated Heritage
Assets as part of the decision-making process on planning applications, for example, following
archaeological investigations. It is helpful if plans note areas with potential for the discovery of
Non-designated Heritage Assets with archaeological interest. The Shropshire Historic
Environment Record will be a useful indicator of archaeological potential in the area.

6.27 Telford & Wrekin Council has a Register of Buildings of Local Interest. For inclusion on
the register buildings need to meet a number of criteria to demonstrate that they are ‘heritage
assets’ and that they have demonstrable ‘local interest’. A high number of these are located

- IGWHS SPD54

6 Conservation, Heritage and Planning Controls6

Page 73



within the WHS. Exclusion from the list, however, does not mean that the building or site does
not classify as a ‘Non-designated Heritage Asset, or that it does not make a contribution to the
Outstanding Universal Value of the WHS.

Shropshire Historic Environment Record (HER)

The Shropshire Historic Environment Record, which is maintained by Shropshire Council
on behalf of both Councils for the whole of the IGWHS (and indeed the remainder of both
local authorities' administrative areas) provides a useful starting point for identifying
Non-designated Heritage Assets. The NPPF requires that the Historic Environment Record
should be consulted when preparing development proposals within the IGWHS.

The system is the primary source of trusted information, about the historic environment in
the county including information on:

Archaeological sites, finds and features historic buildings, structures, and Landscapes.

Further information on the Historic Environment Record can be found on the Shropshire
Council website:

https://shropshire.gov.uk/environment/historic-environment/historic-environment-record/

6.5 Permitted Development Rights

6.28 Permitted Development Rights allow for certain works to proceed without a requirement
to submit a planning application. These rights are set out in the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015, as amended (GDPO 2015).

PD Rights in the IGWHS

World Heritage Sites have been classed as an Article 2(3) land, these are protected
areas where special quality has been recognised and as such specific limits have
been placed on the applicable permitted developments rights which mean most
works and alterations will require full planning permission.

6.29 Limitations and/or Conditions in relation to Article 2(3) land, and in some cases specifically
World Heritage Sites, have been placed on the permitted development rights which are applicable
in most other locations. These controls broadly relate to:

Development within the curtilage of a dwelling house;
Changes of use;
Temporary buildings and uses;
Non-domestic extensions, alterations etc.;
Road related development;
Renewable energy;
Power related (i.e., electricity and gas distribution) development;

55- IGWHS SPD

6 Conservation, Heritage and Planning Controls 6

Page 74

https://shropshire.gov.uk/environment/historic-environment/historic-environment-record/


Communications; and
Development by the Crown or for national security purposes.

Figure 10: Swan Hotel on the Wharfage Front

6.6 Article 4 Direction

6.30 Although permitted development is still allowed in the IGWHS, an Article 4 Direction
restricts the scope of Permitted Development Rights within the Telford & Wrekin Council area,
either in relation to a particular area or site, or a particular type of development anywhere in the
authority’s area. Where an Article 4 direction is in effect, a planning application may be required
for development that would otherwise have been permitted development. Article 4 directions
are used to control works that could threaten the character of an area of acknowledged
importance.

6.31 In the case of the IGWHS the Article 4 Direction, this ensures proposals are of high
quality and reflect the importance of the IGWHS and its Outstanding Universal Value.

6.32 The current Article 4 Direction for the IGWHS within Telford & Wrekin’s administrative
area can be found on the Telford & Wrekin Council website at:

https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20170/planning_applications_and_

advice_appeals_enforcement_and_guidance/2244/article_4_direction

- IGWHS SPD56

6 Conservation, Heritage and Planning Controls6

Page 75

https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20170/planning_applications_and_advice_appeals_enforcement_and_guidance/2244/article_4_direction
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20170/planning_applications_and_advice_appeals_enforcement_and_guidance/2244/article_4_direction


57- IGWHS SPD

7 Making Planning Decisions in the IGWHS 7

Page 76



7 Making Planning Decisions in the IGWHS

7.1 Achieving appropriate decisions on planning applications is crucial in keeping the
Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS intact. It is acknowledged that it can be complicated
to decipher what forms of development are appropriate within the IGWHS. The exceptional
historic and natural character of the IGWHS reflected in the specific qualities and attributes
comprising the Outstanding Universal Value, makes it essential to ensure acceptable
development takes place within the site.

7.2 When a planning application is made for development within the IGWHS there are a
number of considerations which must be taken into account in deciding to grant permission or
not.

7.3 This section sets out what development or change is considered to negatively affect the
Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS, delving into the conditions of authenticity, integrity
and the impact on the attributes which contribute to the Outstanding Universal Value, this is so
applications can avoid these elements. This is intended to assist owners, applicants and agents
in formulating planning applications that will be more likely to be supported by both Telford &
Wrekin Council and Shropshire Council.

7.4 Understanding Outstanding Universal Value is central to protecting the special character
and appearance of a WHS, with the conditions of authenticity and integrity being met by the
attributes of properties conveying the Outstanding Universal Value.

7.1 Authenticity

7.5 Authenticity is a key concept that informs the preservation, curation, management and
presentation of the historic environment, the key condition is that the types of attributes which
comprise the Outstanding Universal Value are well understood in terms of their history, meaning
and development.

7.6 Authenticity lies in whatever most truthfully reflects and embodies the values attached to
the place, and can therefore relate to the design, function, or the fabric of the building. Design
values may be affected over time suffering from harm or loss resulting from disaster or physical
decay, or through ill-considered alteration or accretion. The design valuemay also be recoverable
through repair or restoration.

7.7 Therefore, the decision as to which value should prevail if all cannot be fully sustained
always requires a comprehensive understanding of the range and relative importance of the
heritage values involved and what is necessary (and possible) to sustain each of them. Retaining
the authenticity of a place is not always achieved by retaining as much of the existing fabric as
is technically possible.

7.8 The desire to retain authenticity tends to suggest that any deliberate change to a significant
place should be distinguishable, that is, its extent should be apparent through inspection. The
degree of distinction that is appropriate must take account of the aesthetic values of the place.
In repair and restoration, a subtle difference between new and existing, comparable to that often
adopted in the presentation of damaged paintings, is more likely to retain the coherence of the
whole than jarring contrast.

- IGWHS SPD58

7 Making Planning Decisions in the IGWHS7

Page 77



7.9 This does not limit, the consideration to original form and structure, but instead can include
subsequent modifications and additions over the course of time, which in themselves possess
artistic or historical values.

7.10 The figure below shows the ongoing evolution of a uniform terrace of cottages. Although
not ‘original’, such alterations may have heritage value in their own right.

Figure 11

7.11 Any accompanying Heritage Statement(13)or Design and Access
Statement(14) submitted with a development proposal will have to take into account the changes
to a building and identify which changes have historical or aesthetic merit, alongside an
explanation for how and why this has been decided. Any changes that are of historic or aesthetic
merit will need to be retained.

7.2 Integrity

7.12 Integrity can apply to a structural system, a design concept, the way materials or plants
are used, the character of a place, artistic creation, or functionality. Decisions about recovering
any aspect of integrity that has been compromised must, like authenticity, depend upon a
comprehensive understanding of the values of the place, particularly the values of what might
be lost in the process.

7.13 Every place is unique in its combination of heritage values, so, while it is technically
possible to relocate some structures, their significance tends to be diminished by separation
from their historic location.

7.14 The implication of integrity is covered within the Venice Charter: International Charter
for the Conservation and Restoration of Monuments and Sites(15) and was introduced in
1964.

7.15 The following articles are taken from the Venice Charter and their impact on making
planning decisions in the IGWHS are considered further.

13 Guidance on HIAs for Cultural World Heritage
Properties https://www.iccrom.org/sites/default/files/2018-07/icomos_guidance_on_heritage_impact_assessments_for_cultural_world_heritage_properties.pdf

14 What is a Design and Access Statement https://www.planningportal.co.uk/faqs/faq/51/what_is_a_design_and_access_statement
15 Venice Charter https://www.icomos.org/charters/venice_e.pdf

59- IGWHS SPD

7 Making Planning Decisions in the IGWHS 7

Page 78

https://www.iccrom.org/sites/default/files/2018-07/icomos_guidance_on_heritage_impact_assessments_for_cultural_world_heritage_properties.pdf
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/faqs/faq/51/what_is_a_design_and_access_statement
https://www.icomos.org/charters/venice_e.pdf


Article 7

7.16 “A monument is inseparable from the history to which it bears witness and from the
setting in which it occurs. The moving of all or part of a monument cannot be allowed except
where it is justified by national or international interests of paramount importance.”

The Venice Charter (as it is commonly called today) collates internationally accepted
standards of conservation practice relating to architecture and sites. The document
sets out principles of conservation based on the concept of authenticity and the
importance of maintaining the historical and physical context of a site or building.
The Charter was considered a major step towards better conservation of traditional
buildings and places and has since become the founding document of ICOMOS.

7.17 The monument in this sense is both the Ironbridge Gorge as a whole and also all the
human interventions that have made the environment as we see it today. This means Article
7 covers the following:

industrial buildings;
domestic buildings;
commercial buildings;
public buildings;
transport infrastructures;
agricultural buildings; and
archaeological remains of human developments.

Figure 12: Monuments within the IGWHS

7.18 In addition to the above, the ecological impacts, as a result of the industrial period coming
to an end in Ironbridge, are also considered a key part of the IGWHS and its development over
time. Ecological impacts must therefore be considered on an equal footing as any built heritage
asset.

- IGWHS SPD60

7 Making Planning Decisions in the IGWHS7

Page 79



Figure 13: Viaduct at Coalbrookdale

Article 8

7.19 “Items of sculpture, painting or decoration, which form an integral part of a monument,
may only be removed from it if this is the sole means of ensuring their preservation.”

7.20 This will relate to the exterior of unlisted buildings as well as the interiors of Listed
Buildings. This means that ornaments and decorations, can and should, be retained where it
is integral to the heritage significance of the building.

7.21 An example of this would be a loss of exterior brickwork through rendering which may
cause a building to look misplaced or impact on the character and appearance of the surrounding
area.

7.22 The Article 4 Direction within the IGWHS is there to protect such features on the exterior
of domestic unlisted buildings, restricting the scope of permitted development rights.

Article 14

7.23 “The sites of monuments must be the object of special care in order to safeguard their
integrity and ensure that they are cleared and presented in a seemly manner”.

7.24 This relates to structures like the Wynds, the Old Blast Furnaces and Adits and other
below or above ground archaeological features, which should be carefully managed to ensure
their continued protection.

61- IGWHS SPD

7 Making Planning Decisions in the IGWHS 7

Page 80



Figure 14: Bedlam Furnaces

7.3 Screening for Components of Outstanding Universal Value – Understanding Risk

7.25 The responsibilities involved in understanding risk and how harm may be caused is
considered firstly through screening for components of Outstanding Universal Value and then
assessing their impacts.

7.26 At the beginning of the planning process the applicant or agent will need to make an
assessment of whether a proposed development can impact the attributes of Outstanding
Universal Value in the IGWHS, and whether the proposal will impact both the authenticity and
integrity of the IGWHS. This should be done through:

A Design and Access Statement for all Listed Building Consent applications and
applications within theWHS for new dwellings or other buildings of over 100 square metres
floor space; and
AHeritage Statement / Heritage Impact Assessment for all applications within theWHS;
and
Where both are required, they can be combined into one document.

7.27 These documents need to be drawn up prior to proposals being settled upon. These
document/s will then be used to steer development proposals in order to limit the impacts on
the Outstanding Universal Value, alongside the special historic and architectural interest of any
listed buildings and the character and appearance of the conservation area.

7.28 Within the relevant statements it will be necessary to explain how the proposals will
preserve, conserve and enhance the building or site involved and how the development will
protect the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS. HE provides further guidance regarding
best practice relating to Heritage Statements(16). with further guidance from ICOMOS on heritage
impact assessments for cultural world heritage properties.

16 Historic England has a comprehensive guide to Heritage Statements and can be found
at https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/statements-heritage-significance-advice-note-12/

- IGWHS SPD62

7 Making Planning Decisions in the IGWHS7

Page 81

https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/statements-heritage-significance-advice-note-12/


7.29 Understanding the location of these types of heritage assets, including their boundary
and setting, will help in the design process for proposals so that any impact can be mitigated
by design.

7.30 Mapping services such as both Telford and Wrekin(17) and Shropshire Council’s(18)

interactive policies maps, can be used to help identify the location of the proposal in relation to
the WHS and other historic assets (please note, not all historic assets are identified on these
mapping systems, and it is important to consider other sources of information, including the
Shropshire Historic Environment Record).

7.4 Identifying Risks

7.31 It is vital to identify and understand the risks that a proposal may have on the Outstanding
Universal Value as well as the character and appearance of the surrounding area. To grasp
the potential risks to the two elements (authenticity and integrity), it will be necessary to:

Develop an understanding of the building or site and how it relates to the IGWHS;
Understand how the construction materials relate to the IGWHS;
Determine how authentic the building is in terms of design and materials; and
Determine how a site contributes to the historic landscape; and
Set out how the development of the building or site, overtime, reflect the Outstanding
Universal Value of the IGWHS.

7.32 It is important to check the Shropshire Historic Environment Record for archaeological
features and remains that may be within the site or building. The whole area has a very rich
heritage in the terms of archaeology and proposed developments that damage or remove
remains above or below the ground would need to demonstrate national or international benefits
that outweigh the harm to the IGWHS to make them supportable.

The Shropshire Historic Environment Record can be found at:

https://shropshire.gov.uk/environment/historic-environment/.

The Shropshire archives can be found at: https://www.shropshirearchives.org.uk/

7.5 Assessing Impacts

7.33 When considering appropriate forms and design of development on potential development
sites within the IGWHS, it is important to understand the relationship between the site and the
IGWHS (both in terms of how the IGWHS sets the context for the potential development site
and the impact that any proposed development could have on the IGWHS). It is not uncommon
that when considering such sites, the focus is placed on the consideration of site specific heritage
assets or specific heritage assets in proximity to the site (for example impact on listed buildings
or scheduled monuments). Whilst it is important to fully consider the impacts on such heritage
assets, it is equally important to consider the relationship with and potential impact on the
IGWHS.

17 Telford & Wrekin Interactive Policies Map https://telford-gis.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=b16fe1e5d68f4127a12e68bce1aa21a7
18 Shropshire Council Interactive Policies Map https://shropshire.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=9f89026cc3bf4e64a91536b60130e7db

63- IGWHS SPD

7 Making Planning Decisions in the IGWHS 7

Page 82

https://shropshire.gov.uk/environment/historic-environment/
https://www.shropshirearchives.org.uk/
https://telford-gis.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=b16fe1e5d68f4127a12e68bce1aa21a7
https://shropshire.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=9f89026cc3bf4e64a91536b60130e7db


7.34 The most important functions of a Heritage Impact Assessment are to determine firstly
which heritage assets are affected by a planning proposal, and secondly the nature of any
effects. The heritage assets likely to be affected by proposals in or near the IGWHS comprise:

The significance, in terms of its Outstanding Universal Value, of the IGWHS and any
contribution to these made by the WHS’s setting; and
Conservation Areas, Listed Buildings and Scheduled Monuments within the IGWHS and
the contribution to their significance made by their respective settings; and
Any non-designated heritage assets within the IGWHS, including those with archaeological
interest and any contribution to their significance.

7.35 Effects can be adverse, neutral or positive. The nature of an effect in the IGWHS can
be understood with reference to authenticity and the scale and implication of an effect can be
understood by assessing the impact on integrity.

7.36 The authenticity and integrity of the IGWHS both contribute to the attributes within the
Site. Whilst the inscription is fixed and cannot be changed, both authenticity and integrity are
vulnerable to change which could impact the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS.

7.37 Heritage Impact Assessments should be carried out by a suitably qualified professional
and submitted at the planning application stage in order to inform the consideration of the
proposal. The assessment should be proportionate to the significance of the asset(s) likely to
be affected. The greater the importance of the asset, the more detail will be needed. It should
be noted that World Heritage Sites are classed as being assets of the highest significance so
proposals likely to affect the IGWHS or its setting made must be accompanied by a detailed
assessment which clearly identifies the potential impact of the development on the WHS’s
significance and it’s Outstanding Universal Value.

7.38 As a minimum, a search of the Shropshire Historic Environment Record will provide a
starting point for identifying whether a development proposal is likely to affect any heritage
assets, including the IGWHS and its setting.

Positive Outcomes

7.39 Development proposals within the IGWHS should positively contribute to its significance.
Indeed, there are a number of opportunities to achieve a positive outcome through the
development process that carefully considers the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS.

7.40 The Design and Access Statement and / or Heritage Statement provide the mechanisms
for demonstrating the impact of a development proposal on the IGWHS and any other relevant
heritage assets.

7.41 Overall positive outcomes include:

Reuse of a redundant building which retains external and internal original features;
Use of correct repair techniques; and / or
The repair and reinstatement of architectural features.

7.42 New builds or extensions must show that the proposals reflect the established historic
buildings in the terms of scale, massing, material and details. Examples of both poor and suitable
detailing, massing and materials are shown below.

- IGWHS SPD64

7 Making Planning Decisions in the IGWHS7

Page 83



7.6 Harm to Heritage Significance

7.43 There are three levels of harm to the significance of designated heritage assets. These
are, in order of significance:

Less than substantial harm
Substantial harm
Total loss

Less Than Substantial Harm to Heritage Significance

7.44 Less than substantial harm covers a broad range of harm / alterations or change, and
there is no spectrum of degree of harm. The more important a heritage asset is, the greater the
weight to be attached to its preservation or the preservation of its setting, irrespective of whether
the harm caused is substantial or less than substantial.

7.45 Paragraph 202 of the NPPF considers that where a development proposal will lead to
less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should
be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including optimising its viable use.

7.46 The NPPF itself does not define what public benefits are for this purpose. However, the
historic environment section of the PPG considers that public benefit refers to anything which
delivers the economic, social or environmental objectives of sustainable development described
in paragraph 8 of the NPPF. The conservation of a heritage asset is itself a public benefit.

7.47 The PPGmakes clear that the public benefits must flow from the development and must
be of a nature or scale that would benefit the public at large but these benefits do not always
have to be visible or accessible to the public or to all sections of the public to be genuine public
benefits.

7.48 However, judgement of less than substantial harm is different when considering
Designated or Non-designated Heritage Assets. Paragraph 203 of the NPPF states that the
effect of an application on the significance of a Non-designated Heritage Asset should be taken
into account in determining an application. A balanced judgment will therefore be required
having regard to the exact scale of any harm or loss and more importantly the significance of
the heritage asset. Within the IGWHS, however, there are many Non-designated Heritage
Assets which also contribute to its Outstanding Universal Value. These will therefore be
considered under paragraph 202 as part of the WHS designated Heritage Asset.

Substantial Harm to or Total Loss of Heritage Significance

7.49 Substantial harm to or total loss of assets of the highest significance should be wholly
exceptional. These heritage assets include:

Scheduled monuments,
Protected wreck sites,
Registered battlefields,
Grade I and II* listed buildings,
Grade I and II* registered parks and gardens, and
World Heritage Sites.

65- IGWHS SPD

7 Making Planning Decisions in the IGWHS 7

Page 84



7.50 The NPPF states that, if a development would result in substantial harm or loss, planning
consent should be refused unless it can be demonstrated that the impacts are necessary to
achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss.

7.51 In relation to WHS’s, their recognition as internationally important assets means that
where harm can be identified, very significant weight must be given to its conservation, regardless
of the degree of harm envisioned.

7.52 Substantial harm or total loss could consequently result from alteration or destruction,
or from development within the setting. It is the degree of harm to the asset’s significance rather
than the scale of the development that is to be assessed.

7.53 Substantial harm is therefore a high test in planning terms, and as such it is unlikely that
an application that will cause substantial harm to a heritage asset that contributes to the
Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS would be supported unless it was considered to be
of major national importance or international importance.

7.7 Opportunities in the Planning Application Process to Protect or Enhance the IGWHS

7.54 The planning process is central to the protection and conservation of the IGWHS. The
policies within Local Development Plans provide the starting point for decision making on any
planning applications. Supporting guidance (such as this SPD) provide an opportunity to provide
further detail and guidance on the application of these policies. As such, they provide an
opportunity to positively influence development proposals to secure positive outcomes for the
IGWHS.

7.55 Similarly, the planning application decision making process provides a further opportunity
to positively influence proposals and secure positive outcomes for the IGWHS.

7.56 Opportunities to influence planning applications starts from the very beginning of the
planning application process, with efforts in retaining the Outstanding Universal Value of the
WHS starting at the pre-application stage continuing through to submission and an eventual
decision. It should be noted that given the complexity of the IGWHS it will always be necessary
to obtain specialist advice when preparing planning applications and use of pre-application
services is encouraged.

7.57 There are, in reality, very few sites for appropriate development within the IGWHS itself.

7.58 Any such sites should achieve the highest quality of design. Standard design and
materials are unlikely to be supported and any application should follow the design guide for
each character area.

7.59 The density and layout of larger schemes can be as important as the materials and
detailed design of buildings, and the design and management of infrastructure. As an example,
poor highways decisions can damage the historic road layouts and the use of inappropriate
modern highways materials, and the proliferation of signs can cause significant damage to the
Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS. Council highway officers will be encouraged to
consider the proposals from the perspective of protecting the character of the area allowing
flexibility on road layouts within new development sites so that the historic pattern of development
is maintained and respected.

- IGWHS SPD66

7 Making Planning Decisions in the IGWHS7

Page 85



7.60 Applications must present a clear message on the importance of the IGWHS and its
consideration in the planning application process. In submitting an application further detail is
therefore required and it is required that a full application (following an initial pre-application)
be submitted ensuring sufficient detail has been provided, helping inform planning officers to
an eventual decision.

7.61 Without providing sufficient detail it is difficult for planning officers to assess the impacts
on heritage significance and the Outstanding Universal Value in order to reach an informed
conclusion and therefore the inclusion of Heritage Impact Assessments in accordance with
ICOMOS guidance alongside the required Design & Access Statements are a must.

67- IGWHS SPD

7 Making Planning Decisions in the IGWHS 7

Page 86



68- IGWHS SPD

8 Submitting a Planning Application in the IGWHS 8

Page 87



8 Submitting a Planning Application in the IGWHS

Initial Evidence Gathering

8.1 When starting on a potential project it is critical that a full understanding of the building
or site is gained by gathering the right information first.

8.2 This will entail:

1. Drawing up a Heritage Statement

8.3 The first stage of producing a Heritage Statement is to identify all heritage assets that
might be affected by the development. This will require a check on the Shropshire Historic
Environment Record to identify any existing records of Heritage Assets on the development
site and within its vicinity.

8.4 Further details of how to contact the Shropshire Historic Environment Record are available
here:

https://shropshire.gov.uk/environment/historic-environment/historic-environment-record/

8.5 The next step is to provide a Statement of Significance for the site based where available
on historic maps and archive materials in conjunction with on-site analysis.

8.6 A Statement of Significance for an existing building will explain the development of the
building as a piece of upstanding archaeology and its architectural and aesthetic values. Although
interesting it is not necessary, usually, to give a history of who lived there, although occasionally
that will help to explain the development of the house if it was an artisan dwelling. It should
centre on the appearance, materials, layout and detailing and how that has changed over time.

8.7 For a vacant site the Statement of Significance will look at the history of the site and its
past uses and examine its importance to the character and appearance of the area and the
Outstanding Universal Value of the WHS as it currently exists.

8.8 This Statement of Significance should be carried out prior to drawing up any proposals.
It should help inform the proposals so areas that changes are restricted to areas that have less
significance and cause the least impact on heritage significance.

8.9 A Heritage Impact Assessment in accordance with ICOMOS guidance should then be
included in the Heritage Statement to explain how the heritage significance including the
Outstanding Universal Value of the WHS would be impacted and how the proposals have been
designed to minimise any negative impacts and/or achieve enhancement. Given the density of
industrial archaeological remains within the IGWHS, it is likely that archaeological mitigation
will be required in many instances.

8.10 HE produces guidance on how and what to include in a heritage statement. This can be
found at:

https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/

publications/statements-heritage-significance-advice-note-12/

69- IGWHS SPD

8 Submitting a Planning Application in the IGWHS 8

Page 88

https://shropshire.gov.uk/environment/historic-environment/historic-environment-record/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/statements-heritage-significance-advice-note-12/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/statements-heritage-significance-advice-note-12/


8.11 In addition, an Ecological Appraisal may be needed on both buildings and sites. It may
be that a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA) is required to support a planning application
and detailed species surveys (e.g., for vascular plants, bats, great crested newts, birds or otters)
may also be required. Assessments of impacts upon designated sites may also be required in
some cases.

8.12 There may be a need to seek advice about highway access issues prior to developing
a scheme of development.

2. Seeking Pre-Application Advice

8.13 Both Telford & Wrekin Council and Shropshire Council run a pre-application service.
Seeking pre-application advice in advance of making a Listed Building Consent or Planning
Application will help speed up the process after the application is made because any issues
that may be encountered can be dealt with prior to application.

8.14 There is a variety of pre-application advice available from Telford &Wrekin Council these
are:

1. Verbal advice – providing free planning advice on principles of householder development
only which is made available through an appointment basis at our Wellington Offices.

2. Householder permitted development confirmation – providing written confirmation
whether planning permission is or is not required for any development.

3. Pre-application written advice – consulting internal technical specialists, Parish/Town
Councils and Councillors, providing a detailed written response to the proposed development
and the requirements for any application.

4. Pre-application workshops – providing a workshop that includes the technical specialists,
to engage with the developer, highlighting issues and identifying solutions. This is followed
by a detailed written response to the proposed development and the requirements for any
application. This is made available to all scales of development.

8.15 There are fees payable for some of the above services and it is advisable to check the
correct fee structure at the time of apply by checking Telford & Wrekin Council’s website.

8.16 Shropshire Council also provide pre-application advice through submission of an advice
form which can be found on the Shropshire Council website. The benefits of using this
pre-application advice service includes:

An understanding of how national and local guidance and policies will be applied to your
development;
Potential for reducing the time your professional advisors spend in working up the proposals;
An indication of those proposals that are completely unacceptable, so saving you the cost
of pursuing a formal application;
Written confirmation of the advice given to you at the pre-application stage;
Advice that is consistent, reliable, up-to-date and tailored to the specific development; and
Comprehensive information on what you need in order for your application to be validated
and considered by the authority

- IGWHS SPD70

8 Submitting a Planning Application in the IGWHS8

Page 89



8.17 The submission of a pre-application advice form is not mandatory. However, if an
application is submitted which requires significant change where pre-application advice hasn't
been sought or followed, then it's likely that decisions will be taken without further opportunity
to amend schemes. This is likely to incur further costs to you through submitting additional
applications.

3. Submitting a Planning Application

8.18 When submitting a Planning Application or Listed Building Consent Application the
easiest way is through the planning portal at

https://www.planningportal.co.uk/

8.19 There are a number of documents that you will need to supply. These are broken down
into two elements, National and local requirements. These can be found at:

Telford & Wrekin Council:

https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20170/planning_applications_and_guidance/

585/what_you_need_to_get_planning_permissio

Shropshire Council: https://shropshire.gov.uk/planning/applications/submission-requirements/

8.20 If you fail to provide any of these documents and the related fees it will slow the validation
process. It should be remembered that until the application is validated, and checked for
completeness, the determination timescale will not start for the application.

8.21 The process by which the local planning authority considers the application will be
assisted by the application providing detailed and clear information.

8.22 There are a number of outside bodies that may be also consulted regarding the suitability
of the proposals. This is not an exhaustive list but may include:

Historic England;
The Environment Agency;
National Amenity Societies, i.e.

Georgian Group
Vernacular Buildings Group etc.

Biodiversity Groups and Trusts including Natural England;
Parish Councils of the various communities and neighbours; and
Highways

8.23 It should be noted that any works proposed that are within a Scheduled Monument then
consent from HE will be required.

4. Planning Performance Agreements

8.24 The Local Government website states that

71- IGWHS SPD

8 Submitting a Planning Application in the IGWHS 8

Page 90

https://www.planningportal.co.uk/
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20170/planning_applications_and_guidance/585/what_you_need_to_get_planning_permission
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20170/planning_applications_and_guidance/585/what_you_need_to_get_planning_permission
https://shropshire.gov.uk/planning/applications/submission-requirements/


8.25 ‘As a general principle the agreement should be as simple as possible, consistent with
a proportionate approach to the scale of the proposal and complexity of the issues raised. It
will usually be agreed in the spirit of a memorandum of understanding rather than as a legally
binding contract. The common elements of a PPA are:

1. That the agreement is drawn up prior to the submission of a planning application.
2. That the Local Planning Authority and the prospective applicant are signatories to this

voluntary agreement.
3. The agreement includes one or more agreedmilestones to define the process of considering

the development proposed, including an agreed date by which an application will be
determined by the Local Planning Authority

The agreed determination date supersedes the 13- or 16-week statutory time limit
The agreed determination date also supersedes the 26-week planning guarantee’.

8.26 Further information can be found about these agreements at:

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/good-practice-advice-and--fcb.pdf.

Planning Conditions and Obligations

8.27 Some applications have conditions and/or obligations placed on the permission;

1. Conditions can be pre-commencement which means before you can start the work you
must provide certain information which the planning officer needs to discharge in a formal
letter i.e., building recording or archaeological investigations. Other conditions may be prior
to installation so you can start work but not install certain items before supplying the
information to the local planning authority and getting formal approval from them in writing
i.e., windows, doors etc.

2. Other conditions may relate to opening hours, when contractors may work on site, travel
or delivery plans etc.

3. There may be a requirement for a Section 106 agreement which will set out the financial
obligations resulting from a development

8.28 It is very important to read the decision notice to make certain that you and the contractors
are aware of all conditions and comply with them. It can be a criminal offence not to comply
with conditions relating to a Listed Building Consent.

Post Determination

8.29 There may be significant work to carryout post determination, including the discharge
of conditions as detailed above, and this should be factored into a development's timescale.

Enforcement

8.30 The Planning Enforcement Team carries out monitoring of permissions to make certain
they are carried out in accordance with the plans and also investigate works carried out without
consent.

- IGWHS SPD72

8 Submitting a Planning Application in the IGWHS8

Page 91

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/good-practice-advice-and--fcb.pdf


8.31 Sometimes an injunction to stop work is granted by the Council due to works not being
according to plan or the works does not have permission. If work continues after the injunction,
it becomes a criminal offence. It is a criminal offence, under the Listed Building Consent regime,
to carry out works to the building or one within its curtilage without consent.

8.32 Deciding if a building or structure is curtilage listed can be difficult and it is essential to
contact the Built Heritage Team to discuss this.

8.33 Enforcement will also monitor any biodiversity and wildlife conditions. It is a criminal
offence to disturb or destroy certain flora and fauna. If this occurs, it will be reported to the police
who will carry out an investigation.

Planning Fees

8.34 In most cases, when submitting a planning application, you will need to pay a planning
fee. The cost depends on the type of application and what is proposed. When applying for
permission the application fee should be paid at the time the application is submitted. For Telford
& Wrekin Council the planning fee list is available on their website at:

https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20170/planning_applications_and_guidance/

583/planning_application_fees

8.35 For Shropshire Council the planning fees can be found on their website at:

https://shropshire.gov.uk/planning/applications/submit-an-application/

8.36 If you are unsure however what the fee should be you can calculate your fee using the
Planning Portal’s Calculator at:

https://www.planningportal.co.uk/app/fee-calculator?region=1

8.37 Or you can contact either of the Planning Teams of which are detailed below:

Planning ServicesDevelopment Management Team

Shropshire CouncilTelford & Wrekin Council

PO BOX 4826PO BOX 457

ShrewsburyWellington Civic Offices

SY1 2BQTelford

Telephone: 0384 678 9004TF2 2FH

Email: customer.service@shropshire.gov.ukTelephone: 01952 380380

Email: planning.control@telford.gov.uk

73- IGWHS SPD

8 Submitting a Planning Application in the IGWHS 8

Page 92

https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20170/planning_applications_and_guidance/583/planning_application_fees
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20170/planning_applications_and_guidance/583/planning_application_fees
https://shropshire.gov.uk/planning/applications/submit-an-application/
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/app/fee-calculator?region=1


8.38 There are a number of concessions which if valid will allow you to submit an application
without payment. These concessions have been drawn from the Planning Portal – Application
Fees(19) and are shown in the table below:

19 Planning Portal – Application Fees https://ecab.planningportal.co.uk/uploads/english_application_fees.pdf

- IGWHS SPD74

8 Submitting a Planning Application in the IGWHS8

Page 93

https://ecab.planningportal.co.uk/uploads/english_application_fees.pdf


Concessions

Exemptions from payment

An application solely for the alteration or extension of an existing dwelling house; or works in
the curtilage of an existing dwelling house (other than the erection of a dwelling house) for
the purpose of providing:

Means of access to or within it for a disabled person who is resident in it, or is proposing
to take up residence in it; or
Facilities designed to secure that person’s greater safety, health or comfort.

An application solely for the carrying out of the operations for the purpose of providing a
means of access for disabled persons to or within a building or premises to which members
of the public are admitted.

Listed Building Consent

Planning permission for relevant demolition in a Conservation Area

Works to trees covered by a Tree Preservation Order or in a Conservation Area Hedgerow
Removal

If the application is the first revision of an application for development of the same character
or description on the same site by the same applicant:

For a withdrawn application: Within 12 months of the date the application was received
For a determination application: Within 12 months of the date the application was granted,
refused or an appeal dismissed
For an application where an appeal was made on the grounds of non-determination:
Within 12 months of the period when the giving of notice of a decision on the earlier valid
application expired

If the application is for a lawful development certificate, for existing use, where an application
for planning permission for the same development would be exempt from the need to pay a
planning fee under any other planning fee regulation

If the application is for consent to display an advertisement following either a withdrawal of
an earlier application (before notice of decision was issued) or where the application is made
following refusal of consent for display of an advertisement, and where the application is made
by or on behalf of the same person

If the application is for consent to display an advertisement which results from a direction
under Regulation 7 of the 2007 Regulations, dis-applying deemed consent under Regulation
6 to the advertisement in question

If the application relates to a condition or conditions on an application for Listed Building
Consent or planning permission for relevant demolition in a Conservation Area.

If the application if for a Certificate of Lawfulness of Proposed Works to a listed building

75- IGWHS SPD

8 Submitting a Planning Application in the IGWHS 8

Page 94



If an application for planning permission for planning permission (for which a fee is payable)
being made by the same applicant on the same date for the same site, buildings or land as
the prior approval application (for larger home extensions, additional storeys on a home, or
change of uses)

Note: Not all concessions are valid for all application types. Upon receipt of your
application, the relevant local authority will check the fee is correct and if the
concession is applicable.
Additional Note: For further information on reductions in payments and fees for
cross boundary applications, please refer to the Planning Portal – Application Fees.

- IGWHS SPD76

8 Submitting a Planning Application in the IGWHS8

Page 95



77- IGWHS SPD

9 Annex 1 - Characteristic Views of Severn Gorge
Settlements

9

Page 96



9
A
nn

ex
1
-C

ha
ra
ct
er
is
tic

Vi
ew

s
of

Se
ve
rn

G
or
ge

Se
ttl
em

en
ts

- IGWHS SPD78

9 Annex 1 - Characteristic Views of Severn Gorge
Settlements

9

Page 97



Legend

Ironbridge (Dark Blue)

A. Expansive views. Views up to the steeply sided gorge
B. Views along the river, alongside commercial area and towards the Iron Bridge
C. Views down into the gorge
D. Views up to the steeply sided gorge

Coalbrookdale (Red)

A. Views to key structures highlighting industrial past – viaduct and Darby Houses
B. Cross/through ‘valley’ views with wooded backdrop
C. Dynamic views along the road, characterful roofscapes below, historic and existing industry
D. Views up to parallel road above

Coalport (Green)

A. Views of a flatter, more rural, leafy and less dense built environment
B. View down canal to Coalport China Museum – highlighting industrial past
C. Views capturing industrial past – Hay Inclined Plane and canal with narrow bridge

Coalford & Jackfield (Light Blue)

A. Views showing difference in topography – lower lying land and informal vernacular
B. Views across the river, isolated cottage and wooded backdrop
C. View of more rugged, sparse and rural settlement
D. Views across the river to Coalport with ‘village like’ built environment and open space

Madeley (Purple)

A. Views up, along main High Street
B. Connecting views from town centre to parish church
C. Views to historic landmark buildings

79- IGWHS SPD

9 Annex 1 - Characteristic Views of Severn Gorge
Settlements

9

Page 98



80- IGWHS SPD

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS 10

Page 99



10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS

10.1 This Annex provides guidance for development within the IGWHS in terms of its impact
on the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS. The starting point for decision makers
remains the relevant adopted development plan policies of the Telford &Wrekin and Shropshire
Local Plans respectively, but this SPD provides guidance to support the implementation of these
policies.

10.2 Other material considerations within the Telford & Wrekin Council administrative area
include the Severn Gorge Conservation Area Management Plan and the IGWHS Residents
Guide.

10.3 Many of the works described below may require planning permission or listed building
consent. The Residents Guide provides further advice on this for the area covered by Telford
& Wrekin Council:

https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/15198/world_heritage_site_whs_residents_guide

10.4 Advice can also be sought from the Local Planning Authority if you are unsure if
permission is required.

10.5 The guidance covered within this annex includes the following:

10.1 Ground Instability;
10.2 Contaminated Land;
10.3 New Development in the IGWHS;
10.4 Guidance for alterations to existing buildings in the IGWHS;
10.5 Guidance for the Maintenance and Development of Infrastructure; and
10.6 Guidance for Development Affecting the Setting of the IGWHS

10.6 At the core of considerations and decisions relating to changes to buildings and sites
with the IGWHS is the preservation of its Outstanding Universal Value through considerations
of authenticity and integrity and the retention of the historic built environment.

10.1 Ground Instability

10.7 The IGWHS’s geology, geomorphology and topography creates its beauty and also the
ideal conditions that kick-started the industrial revolution. Melting water from beneath a glacier
carved the steep sided gorge and cut down into layers of Coal, Limestone, and Ironstone which
constitute the perfect ingredients for making high quality iron.

81- IGWHS SPD

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS 10

Page 100

https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/15198/world_heritage_site_whs_residents_guide


NOTE - Ground Instability Assessments

Due to the significant potential for localised ground instability problems within the Ironbridge
Gorge, it is strongly advised that a professional Geotechnical Engineer is consulted to
discuss any planning proposals. In the first instance a ground conditions focused Desk
Study Report should be prepared for the proposed development site. This report will compile
sufficient information to determine the likelihood of ‘instability’ being present or being
triggered as a direct result of the proposed development. Instability issues, if identified,
might be the result of a number of complexes interacting factors which would influence the
type, depth, layout and cost of a required ground investigation and ultimately the necessary
stabilisation works.

The first stage Desk Study should be completed at the earliest opportunity PRIOR to the
development layout being agreed and prior to the submission of a planning application. It
is advisable that the findings of the initial Desk study are shared with the Councils
Development Management Team at the earliest opportunity and works should not be
progressed until the Council has provided technical feedback to the developer. The Council
cannot be held responsible for works which are carried out which are inappropriate to their
setting, and we strongly recommend taking pre-application advice on proposals in the first
instance before commissioning a Desk Study report.

10.8 During the industrial revolution and in the period that followed, the landscape of the
IGWHS changed dramatically as a direct result of mining and the deposition of unwanted mining
‘spoil’ within the IGWHS. These changes have had a largely negative effect on an already
naturally unstable gorge with waste spoils loading the banks andmining altering the groundwater
flow.

Figure 15: Work to address land instability between Jackfield Tile
Museum and Boat Inn

10.9 The continued and increasingly significant, effects of climate change are likely to bring
more extreme weather events such as prolonged heavy rain and flooding which will only increase
the potential for land slippage to occur more frequently.

- IGWHS SPD82

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS10

Page 101



10.10 Telford &Wrekin Council have carried out extensive research into the issues that cause
land movement within the Gorge. The Council have prepared a set of drawings and figures for
the public which hold key information relating to stability in the Gorge. Of note are drawings A,
B and C, the latter being a guide to the Planning Zones and potential stability risk to
development. The guidance can be found at:

https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20423/land_stability_flooding_and_drainage/460/land_instability.

10.11 Although presented for public information, it is strongly recommended that these
documents are interpreted by a professional in the context of any planning application submission.

10.12 Over time, any building whether in the IGWHS or not, may experience somemovement
and defects. This may appear as small cracks in buildings, retaining walls, boundary walls or
movement within gardens.

10.13 When noticed it will be appropriate to contact a suitably qualified engineer who can
provide expert advice regarding the necessary steps to take. Sometimes this movement may
be the result of shrinkage or swelling of clays in relation to trees, however, occasionally, it is a
result of slope stability. If remedial stabilisation works are advised by the consulting expert, then
it is likely that Planning Permission and / or listed building consent will be required.

10.14 Prior to making an application for permission or consent it is important to seek the
advice of Telford &Wrekin Council or Shropshire Council officers respectively. Applications that
impact on the Outstanding Universal Value in a negative way are unlikely to gain consent. Any
stabilisation works will need to be designed to respect the Outstanding Universal Value of the
IGWHS and mitigate any negative impact that may occur due to the works.

10.15 If significant excavation works or piling are required, for example, then an archaeological
watching brief may be required during excavation works. If such works impact on the archaeology
of the IGWHS then it would be important to appoint a suitably qualified Archaeological specialist
to assist with planning mitigation prior to finalising plans.

Works relating to Ground Instability / Structural Stability - Key Guidance Points

Proposals should consider…

Minor works – before embarking on works to improve structural stability, check with
Planning and/or the Building Control Departments of the relevant Local Authority
(Telford & Wrekin Council or Shropshire Council) as permissions may be required.
Significant works or where excavations are required – These will be supported
where it can be shown that the design reflects the necessary protections for the
Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS. Full proposed intended ground investigation
works, and follow-on professional calculations plus detailed design drawings would be
expected in the proposed design pack for these works.
Large scale reforming of land– These works will have to be shown to support the
protection of the overall site and be designed in a way to mitigate any damage to the
Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS. Full proposed intended ground investigation
works, and follow-on professional calculations plus detailed design drawings would be
expected in the proposed design pack for these works.

83- IGWHS SPD

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS 10

Page 102

https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20423/land_stability_flooding_and_drainage/460/land_instability


10.2 Contaminated Land

10.16 The term ‘land contamination’ covers a wide range of situations where land is
contaminated in some way. All over the UK, there are thousands of sites that have been
contaminated by previous uses, and more often this is associated with industrial processes or
activities that have now ceased, but where waste products or remaining residues present a
hazard to the general environment.

10.17 The IGWHS has been the home of ever-changing industry since at least the 17thCentury
and these factories, ironworks and furnaces (amongst other industries) will have left residual
substances in the ground. These sites may present a hazard to human health or the environment,
but there is a growing need to reclaim and redevelop this land.

10.18 Telford & Wrekin Council have guidance available relating to this issue and on how to
address the problems relating to contaminated land. Basic advice can be found at:

www.telford.gov.uk/info/20358/pollution/105/contaminated_land

10.19 Shropshire Council also provides guidance on contamination land. This guidance can
be found at:

https://shropshire.gov.uk/environmental-health/

environmental-protection-and-prevention/contaminated-land/

10.20 Contaminated land assessments should be carried out by a suitably qualified specialist.

10.21 Sites within the boundary of the IGWHS that are contaminated may not have potential
for development due to ground instability or other constraints (e.g. flooding). On sites potentially
suitable for development:

It will be important that any works required to rectify contamination is also designed to work
with the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS site and to include mitigation within
the proposals to address any issues that might damage the Outstanding Universal Value.
Any works carried out to understand and address potential contaminated land issues should
be carried out in cognisance of the multiple guidance documents including those prepared
by the Environment Agency.
In addition, any person or developer assessing land for potential contamination should be
fully aware of the legislation as defined in Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990.

Contaminated Land - Key Guidance Points

Proposals should consider…

Where a site incorporates contaminated land, the works to rectify the issues must be
designed to protect the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS. Involving planning,
conservation and/or ecology officers of the relevant Local Authority (Telford andWrekin
Council or Shropshire Council) at an early stage of the design process will help to
achieve the best outcome for the planning application, the development site and the
IGWHS.

- IGWHS SPD84

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS10

Page 103

http://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20358/pollution/105/contaminated_land
https://shropshire.gov.uk/environmental-health/environmental-protection-and-prevention/contaminated-land/
https://shropshire.gov.uk/environmental-health/environmental-protection-and-prevention/contaminated-land/


10.3 New Development in the IGWHS

10.22 Telford & Wrekin Local Plan policy SP4 has a presumption in favour of sustainable
development but with a caveat that it must reflect the NPPF historic environment policies.
Shropshire Council’s adopted SAMDev Plan policy MD13 states that Shropshire’s heritage
assets will be protected, conserved, sympathetically enhanced and restored.

10.23 These policies set a hierarchy to historic sites with Paragraph 189 of the NPPF stating:

10.24 ‘Heritage assets range from sites and buildings of local historic value to those
of the highest significance, such as World Heritage Sites which are internationally
recognised to be of Outstanding Universal Value. These assets are an irreplaceable
resource, and should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that
they can be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of existing and future
generations’.

10.25 Protection and enhancement of the natural, built and historic environment are at the
heart of the objectives of sustainable development as set out in the NPPF, which recognises
that great weight should be given to the conservation of heritage assets “irrespective of
whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial
harm to its significance” and that “the more important the asset, the greater the weight
should be” (Paragraph 199). World Heritage Sites are recognised as being of the highest
significance and this should be reflected in the amount of weight attributed to it. Development
within the IGWHS must be of the highest quality and the NPPF is clear that any development
should be careful to reflect the character and not detract from the significance of the IGWHS
and its Outstanding Universal Value.

10.26 The National Planning Policy Framework can be viewed at:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2

3.1 Previously Developed Land

10.27 Most parts of the IGWHS make a positive contribution to the Outstanding Universal
Value of the IGWHS, but there are some that might actually detract from its significance. This
is especially the case with “Previously Developed Land”, where more recent development has
obscured the historic character of the site or its contribution to the Outstanding Universal Value,
and there is therefore an opportunity for enhancement through redevelopment.

10.28 An example of this is the former AGA site in Coalbrookdale, with its now redundant
factory buildings. Many of the buildings are modern structures which have been constructed
over the years and it is now difficult to understand the original site and its early development.

85- IGWHS SPD

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS 10

Page 104

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


Figure 16: Former Coalbrookdale Foundry

10.29 To ascertain what has significance and how the loss of any building or structure or
redevelopment will impact the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS, it is necessary to
carry out a Heritage Impact Assessment in accordance with ICOMOS guidelines which will feed
into the Heritage Statement.

Previously Developed Land - Key Guidance Points

Proposals should consider…

Where applications for developing vacant, previously developed sites are made within the
IGWHS, Design and Access Statements and Heritage Statements will be required (which
can be combined into one document) and should include a Heritage Impact Assessment
in accordance with ICOMOS guidelines. It should set out the historic development of the
land, its current character and contribution to the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS,
and how the proposed development would impact on the Outstanding Universal Value of
the IGWHS. This is in order:

1. To identify whether the proposed site was always vacant and if the land had been
previously built on, what was the building or structure and its use;

2. To understand how the vacant site stood within the historic environment in the past
and present and how it currently contributes to the Outstanding Universal Value of the
IGWHS;

3. To justify why the land should be developed now;
4. To demonstrate that the development will preserve and/or enhance the Outstanding

Universal Value of the IGWHS; and
5. To investigate the likelihood of potential archaeology on the site and how this could

be mitigated.

- IGWHS SPD86

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS10

Page 105



3.2 New Buildings on previously undeveloped land

10.30 Many of the existing green spaces within the IGWHS may contribute to the landscape
value of the IGWHS, which is one of its key attributes, and others may contribute to the setting
of existing heritage assets or contain significant industrial or below ground archaeological
features. In certain locations, new development may therefore be inappropriate in principle. It
is therefore important to have pre-application discussions regarding any proposals for new
residential or commercial developments at an early stage.

10.31 All the character areas within the IGWHS have distinct characteristics that contribute
to the overall Outstanding Universal Value. It is important that these are taken into account
when new residential or commercial developments are being designed.

10.32 Key considerations for new developments:

Ensure the siting of a new building or buildings in the proposed location would be appropriate
in terms of the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS. The loss of key landscape
features, harm to important views or the setting of nearby heritage assets will not be
supported.
Investigate any issues of ground instability or contamination at an early stage as this may
affect the feasibility or viability of the development.
The density, pattern, scale and layout of development should be carefully considered taking
into account the particular characteristics of the specific character area. For example, are
existing properties predominately terraced or detached? Do they have spacious gardens
or are they set close to the road?
Materials, form and detail should be consistent with the character area, including roof forms,
heights, scale and footprints as well as architectural detailing.
Boundary treatments such as railings and walls should be consistent with the local
characteristics.
Areas of hard surfacing including roads should pick up on local historic precedents.
Contemporary building styles will not be supported in the IGWHS other than in very
exceptional ‘landmark’ locations. The introduction of non-traditional forms or materials can
be harmful to the Outstanding Universal Value due to the jarring visual impact on the street
scene which typically has a consistent and harmonious historic character
Any new buildings should be delivered to the highest environmental standards in terms of
using appropriate sustainable or locally sourced materials, thermal insulation, and provision
of heating and power services within the building.
In areas at risk of flooding, resilience measures to help reduce the risk of property level
flooding should be incorporated into the building design.

10.33 When designing new development reference should be made to information in this
SPD (alongside the Severn Gorge Conservation Area Management Plan and the Conservation
Area Appraisal in the Telford &Wrekin Council administrative area, which sets out the distinctive
features of the relevant character areas of the IGWHS: Ironbridge, Coalbrookdale, Jackfield,
Coalport and Madeley).

87- IGWHS SPD

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS 10

Page 106



New Development - Key Guidance Points

All applications for new residential or commercial development within the IGWHSwill require
Design and Access and Heritage Statements (which can be combined into one document)
and should include a Heritage Impact Assessment in accordance with ICOMOS guidelines.
It should set out the historic development of the land, its current character and contribution
to the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS, and how the proposed development
would impact on the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS.

Proposals should consider…

Whether the existing site contributes to the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS
in terms of its landscape character, views, archaeological value or contribution to the
setting of individual heritage assets.
Justifying why the land should be developed now.
How new development reflects the immediate surrounding characteristics and relates
to the character areas identified in the Severn Gorge Conservation Area Appraisal in
terms of density, layout, form, materiality and design.
Appropriate materials and designs for outbuildings, boundary treatments and hard
landscaping.
Investigating potential archaeological interest on the site and consider how this could
be mitigated.
Investigating ecological implications and consider how this could be mitigated.
Use of sustainable materials and high standards of energy efficiency.

Proposals should avoid…

Loss of green spaces or sites that contribute to the Outstanding Universal Value of the
IGWHS.
Subdivision of historic plots.
Modern contemporary designs that do not cohere with the overall visual character of
the IGWHS and immediate locality.

- IGWHS SPD88

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS10

Page 107



Figure 17: Buildings of sympathetic materials and forms with a variety of
heights and orientations complement the local historic environment and

reflect its piecemeal development over time

Figure 18: Building set in line with existing
buildings with brick boundary wall to edge
of street. Using a good brick match for

adjacent historic building, sympathetic roof
pitch, chimney stacks, sash windows, six
panel door with door case, boundary wall

and iron gate.

10.4 Guidance for Alterations to Existing Buildings in the IGWHS

10.34 Many alterations to buildings within the IGWHS require Planning Permission (and in
the case of Listed Buildings, will also require Listed Building Consent). As documented within
this SPD, any such Planning Application should be accompanied by an appropriate Heritage

89- IGWHS SPD

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS 10

Page 108



Statement and any such Listed Building Consent Application should be accompanied by an
appropriate Design and Access Statement and appropriate Heritage Statement (where both
are required, they can be integrated into one document).

10.35 Furthermore, within the Telford & Wrekin Council administrative area an Article 4
direction has been introduced. The Article 4 Direction removes certain Permitted Development
Rights for alterations to dwelling houses and as such Planning Permission will be required for
these works. It is strongly advised that before commencing any development within the IGWHS
within the Telford & Wrekin Council area, residents check the most up to date version of the
Article 4 direction on the Telford & Wrekin Council website, as planning permission may be
required prior to development taking place.

https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20170/

planning_applications_and_advice_appeals_enforcement_and_guidance/2244/article_4_direction

10.36 For some buildings within the IGWHS, some or all of the Permitted Development Rights
which usually apply may have been removed as a condition of a past Planning Permission.
Where this is the case, Planning Permission will be required for these works.

10.37 For alterations to existing buildings within the IGWHS that do not require Planning
Permission, it remains important to carefully consider how potential works and any resultant
alterations impact on and relate to the character and architectural design of the existing building
and the character and appearance of the IGWHS itself.

10.38 This is because small scale alterations that normally do not require planning permission
can lead to the loss of key features of historic or architectural value, or poor-quality extensions
and curtilage structures. Together these could cause incremental erosion of the authenticity
and integrity of the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS, and its character and appearance
leading to significant harm in the long term.

4.1 Thermal and Energy Efficiency of Buildings

10.39 The ability of residents and businesses to improve the energy efficiency of existing
buildings is an important means of tackling climate change and reducing running costs of a
building as a way of ensuring its long-term use as a home or business.

10.40 Improving the thermal and energy efficiency of a building to reduce necessary loss of
energy should be the first step. This will help reduce the running costs of a building and should
be considered in conjunction with any proposals for renewable energy installations (see Section
4.2).

Historic buildings (listed buildings, buildings of local interest, traditionally constructed
buildings)

10.41 The energy and carbon performance of many historic buildings can be improved, but
it is important to take a holistic approach and strike the right balance to avoid harm to heritage
significance. Within the IGWHS it is key to maintain the Outstanding Universal Value, which
includes retaining the authenticity of architectural detail and historic fabric, and the integrity of
the character and appearance of the area.

- IGWHS SPD90

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS10

Page 109

https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20170/planning_applications_and_advice_appeals_enforcement_and_guidance/2244/article_4_direction
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20170/planning_applications_and_advice_appeals_enforcement_and_guidance/2244/article_4_direction


10.42 Historic buildings are not designed to perform as sealed units as modern buildings are,
and the fabric of older buildings needs to be able to ‘breathe’. So, it will not always be possible,
or advisable, to use standard solutions.

10.43 It is important to take a ‘whole building approach’ that understands the particular
circumstances of an individual building, taking into account the environmental conditions, built
fabric, energy-usage, services and systems, usage, and avoidance of waste, as well as heritage
significance. For example, retaining existing material and making only essential repairs rather
than embarking on wholesale replacement avoids unnecessary use of new materials and the
energy expended in their manufacture. Research has also shown that in many cases energy
losses from buildings are greater from appliances and heating systems than from the actual
building fabric, and that the easiest way to make energy savings is to change behaviours.

10.44 Often thermal improvements can be made simply by ensuring that a building is
well-maintained. Any sources of damp, such as leaking gutters and downpipes, inappropriate
cementitious renders and mortars, high ground levels against external walls, a lack of ground
drainage etc. will lead to a build-up of moisture in the walls lowering internal temperatures.
Fixing rainwater goods, replacing cementitious pointing with lime, reducing ground levels and
installing French drains can all lead in turn to thermal improvements. Windows and doors can
be overhauled to ensure they fit correctly, and they can usually be fitted with draught-proof
strips without significant intervention to historic fabric.

Wall and Roof Insulation

10.45 When considering wall and roof installation on historic buildings it is important to consider
that:

For historic buildings external wall insulation will rarely be acceptable due to the impact on
historic fabric, architectural detail and character, which could seriously harm the Outstanding
Universal Value.
Internal wall insulation can be considered for unlisted buildings and does not need planning
permission. However, it is still important to use breathable materials on traditionally
constructed buildings to avoid long-term damage to their fabric.
For listed buildings internal insulation of walls can be considered on a case-by-case basis
and will always need Listed Building Consent. Where historic lime plaster survives it should
be retained, but if the historic plaster has already been lost, it may be acceptable to insert
insulation, provided there would be no loss of or harm to significant internal features such
as skirting boards, cornices and architraves. But it is still essential to protect the breathability
of the building for its long-term survival, and breathable materials should be used.
Many buildings have existing lofts enabling the insertion of insulation without impacting on
historic fabric or character. Again, it is important to consider breathability, and that Listed
Building Consent may be required if there is physical attachment to the historic structure.

Windows and Doors

10.46 When considering alterations to windows and doors on historic buildings it is important
to consider that:

Double-glazing is often considered a quick fix to improve energy efficiency, but research
has shown that as little as 5% of energy losses from domestic buildings is through windows
or doors. More energy is lost through walls and roofs and by inefficient services or use of

91- IGWHS SPD

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS 10

Page 110



appliances. Particularly where windows are relatively small compared to the area of walling,
very little benefit may result from double-glazing.
Historic windows and doors are often key features of significance to historic buildings
and make a particularly positive contribution to the Outstanding Universal Value of the
IGWHS. Wherever original historic windows or doors survive they should be retained.
This applies on all elevations of a listed building, and across the IGWHS where windows
or doors are visible from public spaces and replacement would need planning permission
under the Article 4 Direction.
Existing windows and doors can be overhauled, and draft-stripping can usually be applied
to eliminate drafts.
Additional insulation can be provided by installing secondary glazing or internal shutters.
For listed buildings, Listed Building Consent may be required if there would be any impact
on features such as internal panelling or architraves, but bespoke solutions can usually be
accommodated.
Where historic windows or doors have already been lost, there is often an opportunity
to upgrade to double-glazing whilst also enhancing the appearance of a building and the
IGWHS by adopting appropriate traditional designs in painted timber. Usually ‘slim-line’
double-glazed units will be required, especially where the design includes glazing bars,
which would need to be too bulky and deep to accommodate standard units.

Floors

10.47 When considering alterations or repairs to floors in historic buildings it is important to
consider that:

Many of the older buildings in the IGWHS have timber floorboards over unheated cellars
or under crofts which can result in draughty floors making living spaces particularly
uncomfortable. Solutions as simple as carpeting over exposed floorboards can make a
significant difference. Underfloor heating can also be considered. These internal works
do not require planning permission, but advice should be sought for listed buildings as
there could be impacts on the historic fabric and structure and Listed Building Consent may
be required.

Services

10.48 When considering alterations and upgrades to services in historic buildings it is
necessary to consider that:

Many of the energy inefficiencies of any building are down to elderly and inefficient heating
systems or the management of the use of appliances and spaces within the building.
Addressing these issues does not usually require planning permission, although relocation
of boilers may need Listed Building Consent if any significant historic fabric may be affected,
or if new flues or extraction units are required.
Consideration may be given to microgeneration, such as installation of solar generation,
biomass, air source or ground source heat pumps, and this is addressed below under the
subheading Renewable Energy.

10.49 Other sources of information on how to improve energy efficiency of historic buildings
include Historic England and the Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings (SPAB).

- IGWHS SPD92

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS10

Page 111



https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/technical-advice/energy-efficiency-and-historic-buildings/

https://www.spab.org.uk/advice/energy-efficiency-and-old-buildings-principles-and-priorities

Non-historic buildings

10.50 The IGWHS contains many post-war buildings which were not designed to be
‘breathable’ and so can accommodate standard methods and materials for thermal insulation
and will not be expected to have traditional window or door designs. However, where permission
is required for external alterations under the Article 4 Direction, or where Permitted Development
Rights have been removed as a condition of planning permission, care must be taken to respect
both the character and architectural design of the existing building and its contribution to the
character and appearance of the area as a whole.

Thermal / Energy Efficiency of Buildings within the IGWHS – Key Guidance Points

Proposals should consider…

Opportunities to improve the thermal efficiency of buildings through improvements
appropriate to the building.
Regular maintenance of historic buildings to reduce issues that can lead to, for example,
reduced temperatures caused by issues such as damp.
Improvements such as carpeting ground floors where cellars or under crofts are present
in a property, fitting appropriate draft proof strips and appropriate loft insulation.
For glazing improvements to historic buildings, the use of good quality secondary
glazing or internal shutters where retention of historic windows makes a positive
contribution towards the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS.
Seek early advice on proposals that require Listed Building Consent or Planning
Permission.
How to ensure the breathability of historic buildings as part of any proposals to improve
thermal insulation.

Proposals should avoid…

Any loss of historic building features when making thermal improvements to a building.
The use of materials and solutions that would not be in keeping with the age and type
of the building.
The use of impervious materials

4.2 Renewable Energy

10.51 In addition to improving the thermal and energy efficiency of a building the next step
in reducing running costs and addressing climate change is to consider whether there are
suitable options for generating renewable energy.

10.52 Set out below are the different forms of renewable energy generation and guidance on
where they could be appropriately located as part of any development proposals.

93- IGWHS SPD

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS 10

Page 112

https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/technical-advice/energy-efficiency-and-historic-buildings/
https://www.spab.org.uk/advice/energy-efficiency-and-old-buildings-principles-and-priorities


Solar

10.53 Solar energy is popular with homeowners. Solar panels / tiles / water heating could be
considered appropriate within the IGWHS in the following circumstances:

Non-reflective panels on roofs - provided that they are not visible from the public highway,
public realm and do not impact on landscape views. This could, for example, include the
roof of a single storey extension that is ordinarily hidden from public view.
Sympathetic incorporation into an existing roof scape - through the use of solar tiles
where it is in keeping with the characteristics of the local area and the local vernacular.
Products that can be used to provide hot water - that appear like slate and some that
can also be used on flat roofs and do not have a highly reflective surface. These solar
materials may be something that could be considered on a case-by-case basis, although
this would not be supported on a roof seen from the public realm.
Concealed non-reflective solar panels – this could include innovative options such as,
where possible, behind boundary brick walls, but only where they cannot be seen from the
public realm.

Figure 19: Slate Solar Tiles for Pitched Roofs

10.54 The installation of solar panels can be visually intrusive, interrupting the characteristic
tiled roofscapes of the IGWHS and introducing incongruous reflective surfaces, to the detriment
of building character and landscape views. Where the fittings would be visible from the public
realm, they will not be supported.

Biomass

10.55 Biomass is produced from organic materials, either directly from plants or indirectly
from industrial, commercial, domestic or agricultural products.

10.56 Producing energy from biomass has both environmental and economic advantages. It
provides low carbon energy and can also contribute to waste management by harnessing energy
from products that are often disposed of at landfill sites.

10.57 There are two main ways of using biomass to heat a domestic property these include:

Standalone stoves providing space heating for a room these can be fitted with a back
boiler to provide water heating; and
Boilers connected to central heating and hot water systems.

- IGWHS SPD94

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS10

Page 113



10.58 Small scale biomass systems could require additional storage areas for fuel or to house
the boiler.

10.59 Biomass installations can be considered within the IGWHS where:

There is existing space within a property, and installation does not result in damage to the
property or loss of any historic features,
There are suitably located outbuildings suitable for housing an appropriately sized biomass
boiler system and / or associated storage.
A new building can be designed to be in keeping with existing buildings – refer to guidance
on new buildings.
New flues for ventilation can be sensitively located and designed.

Figure 20: Biomass Boiler System

Air Source Heat Pumps

10.60 This sort of renewable energy system is becoming more popular. However, it requires
a large pump box to be fixed to the outside of the building. There two main types of air source
heat pumps:

Air to air heat pumps: which absorb heat from the outside air and then transfer it directly
into your home via a fan system to heat a room; and
Air to water heat pumps: which absorb heat from the outside air and then transfer it via
your central heating system to provide hot water heating, radiator, or underfloor heating in
an indoor space.

10.61 Air source heat pumps can be considered in the IGWHS where:

The pump box would be located on a wall that is not ordinarily visible from the highway or
public realm. Siting on front elevations would be unlikely to be supported due to the visual
impact, but siting at ground floor level on rear elevations or tucked into discreet corners
can usually be supported.
Where more prominent locations are unavoidable, the pump is housed or screened by a
structure that is sensitive to the historic character of the area.
They are positioned to minimise noise from the operation of the pump.
For a listed building there would be no damage to external and internal historic fabric or
architectural detail.

95- IGWHS SPD

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS 10

Page 114



Ground Source Heat Pumps

10.62 Ground source heat pumps require a large area in which to install the pipe loops.
Excavation is required either horizontally, where large areas are required to accomplish the
necessary heat exchange, or vertically where there may be issues of ground instability.

10.63 Ground source heat pumps can be considered where:

The proposal is supported by a Ground Instability Assessment (see section 1 of this Annex)
early in the planning process.
They would be located in areas where ground conditions and land stability are potentially
more suitable.
Below ground archaeology and biodiversity have been considered and any impacts can
be mitigated.

Figure 21: Ground Source Heat Pump systems

Wind Energy

10.64 This form of renewable energy would be impossible to locate within or in the setting of
the IGWHS without having a severe negative impact on the Outstanding Universal Value of the
IGWHS due to the likely height needed to provide power, the stand-off areas and infrastructure
necessary to take the electricity to the grid.

- IGWHS SPD96

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS10

Page 115



Building Insulation and Renewable Energy - Key Guidance Points

Proposals should consider…

Locating solar generation in areas that have minimal visual impact on the surrounding
area such as rear of properties, use of innovative solar tiles and concealed ground
level provision.
Whether biomass energy production on a small scale is appropriate where the
necessary infrastructure and associated storage can be located within a suitable existing
building or a well-designed new building that is in keeping with the surrounding area.
Whether air source heat pumps can be situated in inconspicuous areas and where the
infrastructure will not damage the internal historic fabric of the building or be visible
from the public realm.
Whether ground source heat pumps can be situated where the necessary excavations
will not damage the land stability, biodiversity, archaeology or any aspect of the
Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS or historic fabric of a building within the
IGWHS.

Proposals should avoid…

Use of standard solar/PV panels in publicly visible locations or where they would harm
the special interest of a listed building.
The use of biomass where it would lead to unacceptable changes to the property as
part of installation, or inappropriately designed or located additional storage units.
Siting air source heat pumps in highly visible locations.
Ground source heat pumps in areas of known ground instability.
Wind generation schemes, as turbines will not be supported within or on the edge of
the IGWHS due to visual impacts.

4.3 Electric Vehicle Charging Points

10.65 The UK’s electric vehicle (EV) charging infrastructure is continually growing and changing
shape to meet the needs of the growing number of EV drivers. Within the IGWHS there are
opportunities for charging points to serve homes and workplaces, as well as public charging
points in car parks.

10.66 Where a building or site is not listed or a scheduled monument, there are certain
permitted development rights for EV charging points, and planning permission is not required
to install fittings of a certain size and height, subject to their location(20).

10.67 Any charge points fixed to a Listed Building or any of its outbuildings or boundary walls
will need Listed Building Consent.

10.68 EV charging points are essentially modern in design and can appear incongruous in
the context of historic buildings and street scenes, to the detriment of the Outstanding Universal
Value of the IGWHS, so careful siting is required.

10.69 Design considerations for EV charging points in the IGWHS include:

20 Schedule 2 Part 2 Class D of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015

97- IGWHS SPD

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS 10

Page 116



Charge points in a domestic setting should be sited in discreet locations such as within a
garage or outbuilding or to the rear of a property where the parking arrangements permit.
Where this is not possible, consider screening the modern fittings, or locating them on the
inner face of boundary walls out of view.
Running cables outside the curtilage of a property and across public highways or footpaths
to reach a vehicle will not be supported due to issues of obstruction and the potential for
trip hazards.
In commercial, business or public car park locations the size, type and design of charging
infrastructure should be such that it minimises the visual impact on the surrounding area.
Consider more recessive colours for fittings as well as less prominent areas.
For commercial or businesses locations and in public car parks, there may be opportunities
to install additional passive infrastructure such as ducting to allow additional EV charge
points to be more easily installed in the future and minimise future disruption.

Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure – Key Guidance Points

Proposals should consider…

The size, location and design of the charging outlet as per the above criteria.
In the case of commercial / business / public car park proposals consider opportunities
to install passive infrastructure to facilitate additional points in the future.

Proposals should avoid…

The need to run charging cables across public highway or footpaths.
The installation of infrastructure at public locations that would create a negative visual
impact.

4.4 Designing for Flood Risk

10.70 Flooding is an ever-growing problem in the Ironbridge Gorge, with climate change set
to increase the number of extreme weather events affecting the area.

Historic Setting

10.71 The rivers and watercourses in the Gorge are key to the setting of the World Heritage
Site, at the heart of which is a long, linear settlement along the River Severn and up into the
Coalbrookdale valley. Historically, the River Severn provided a transport route for goods and
people and the Coal Brook was a key power supply used to drive mill wheels and industrial
processes. As a result, flooding has been a threat to the communities close in the Gorge for
centuries.

- IGWHS SPD98

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS10

Page 117



Figure 22: Ladywood before and during a flood event

10.72 This history also means that the watercourses in the Gorge have been heavily modified
and changed over time, and there are a number of historic structures in and along them, including
culverts, mill wheels, leats, sluices and wharfs, which can affect flood risk.

Main Flood Sources in the World Heritage Site

10.73 River Severn - This is flooding from the river, usually following rainfall in Wales. There
is normally good warning that flooding from the Severn is expected, and the Environment Agency
are responsible for managing the flood risk from the River Severn. Flood depths can be quite
deep, and the groundwater will rise to the same level as the river along the whole river corridor.

10.74 Coal Brook - The brook is a designated Rapid Response Catchment (flash flooding
area), and flooding is caused by heavy rainfall over Coalbrookdale itself and its catchment. This
means that there could be little or no warning before it floods. The flood risk from the Coal Brook
is very different to the flood risk from the River Severn, due to the speed at which it can happen.
The Environment Agency are responsible for managing the flood risk from the Coal Brook.

10.75 Surface Water Runoff - The hillsides in the Gorge are steep and rain falling on them
will quickly run downhill. Sealed surfaces such as driveways can speed up runoff and roads
can channel water. Runoff down the hillsides can also cause erosion and flooding can occur if
flow routes are obstructed by buildings or structures. Telford & Wrekin Council and Shropshire
Council for their respective administrative areas are responsible for managing the flood risk
from surface water and the public highway.

10.76 Public Sewers - The sewerage system serving the IGWHS is historic and largely
combined, and therefore during heavy rain, is at risk of flooding. The sewers can also flood
when they block, usually as a result of misuse. More severe rainfall as a result of climate change
also increases the chances of the sewers being overwhelmed. Severn Trent Water are
responsible for managing the flood risk from public sewers.

Flooding Impacts

10.77 The landform of the Gorge means that both the River Severn and the Coal Brook have
very little floodplain.

99- IGWHS SPD

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS 10

Page 118



10.78 Once the rivers flood, not only does flooding affect a number of homes, businesses
and historic sites throughout the IGWHS, but they can also cut off several key roads across the
River Severn and in and out of the Gorge, including access for emergency vehicles to some
areas.

10.79 Some properties that are not at risk of flooding may also still be cut off to vehicular and
even pedestrian access.

10.80 The economic cost to homeowners, businesses and tourism and the mental health
impacts of flooding are also well documented, as well as the draw on time and resource for
homeowners defending their properties and Emergency Services responding to floods.

10.81 In the last three years (2020 to 2022) two museums in the IGWHS have been affected
by severe flooding along with a large number of residences and businesses.

10.82 Flood insurance can also be a problem in the Gorge. Both residential dwellings and
businesses find it very difficult to access flood insurance, however there are some steps that
can be taken to help reduce some of the impact on both new and existing properties. All new
development should be directed away from areas of flooding and designed to reduce flood risk.

Protecting Properties from Flooding

10.83 While some areas of the Gorge benefit from strategic flood defences, these only offer
limited protection. A number of properties also have their own flood defence systems such as
Property Flood Resilience. Property Flood Resilience includes both resistance measures to
keep water out and recovery measures to speed up the drying out and recovery process (see
next section on Managing Flood Water Inside Buildings).

10.84 There are also, a number of modifications that may be built into new buildings or added
to old ones to manage flooding. Specialist advice should always be taken to identify the best
options for a building given the type(s) of flood risk to which it is most at risk, taking into account
both the needs of the people who will be using it, and the need to consider the Outstanding
Universal Value of the IGWHS.

10.85 A large amount of guidance exists about Property Flood Resilience, and considerations
for properties within the World Heritage Site are set out below:

10.86 Flood Warnings - The amount of warning available before a flood will influence the
best methods to manage flooding; Barriers that need to be manually installed for example are
unlikely to be suitable for flash flooding such as the Coal Brook but may be suitable for river
flooding from the River Severn. Flood warnings for the River Severn are available via the
Environment Agency’s Floodline service and Telford & Wrekin Council have a flood warning
system for the Coal Brook.

10.87 Environment Agency

https://www.gov.uk/sign-up-for-flood-warnings

10.88 Telford & Wrekin Council

https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20474/streets_and_roads/247/flooding_and_drainage/2

- IGWHS SPD100

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS10

Page 119

https://www.gov.uk/sign-up-for-flood-warnings
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20474/streets_and_roads/247/flooding_and_drainage/2


10.89 Keeping Water Out of a Property (Flood Resistance) - Resistance measures can
include walls, doors and barriers. These can be permanent or temporary and the types of
materials used will need to be considered on balance, taking into account the surrounding
character and appearance, the height of flood protection they can offer, and their suitability to
the type of flooding being experienced.

10.90 Temporary features are also dependent on the person installing them knowing when
they will need to do so and being physically present at the time of a flood event.

10.91 For some historic properties, with e.g., timber construction or minimal foundations, or
where features of particular heritage significance would be compromised, it may be better to
allow the property to flood but minimise the damage and reduce the amount of time it takes to
make a building habitable again.

10.92 Design considerations for installing flood resistance measures within the IGWHS:

The ideal solutions for the IGWHS will minimise visual impacts or impacts on historic fabric
outside of a flood event and should be used wherever practicable.
Consider temporary non-fixed barriers first, i.e., without permanent attachments and which
require installation just prior to a flood, these can fit into some door jams, gate posts,
windows etc. depending on the structure;
If this is not possible temporary fixed barriers which involve permanent fixings on a structure
but still require installation before a flood;
Permanent flood proof air bricks are not always suitable for historic buildings, but if in
discreet locations and coloured to match the existing wall may be acceptable.
Flood gates and doors are increasingly available in ‘heritage’ design options which may
be acceptable within the IGWHS. However, where this would necessitate the removal of
historic door joinery or gates, this would harm the authenticity of the IGWHS and so would
need to be soundly justified.
Permanent walls can be considered in exceptional circumstances where alternative means
of protection are impossible, but will nevertheless need to be designed to reflect the historic
character of the area in order to minimise impacts on the Outstanding Universal Value of
the IGWHS.
Temporary seals for air bricks and/or non-return valves on toilets and drains are solutions
that can easily be used and do not require any Planning Permission or Listed Building
Consent.

101- IGWHS SPD

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS 10

Page 120



Figure 23: New housing set above under croft to allow
for flooding

10.93 Managing Flood Water Inside Buildings -It’s not usually possible to prevent flood
water from entering a property entirely. Water will find pathways through the ground and along
service lines such as sewers and ducts. Most flood defences (both strategic and property level)
still need to manage water that gets around barriers.

10.94 Using the right materials is one way to help to reduce flood damage. A number of
historic properties already have adaptions that help minimise this such as tiled floors and lime
plaster which is able to get wet and then dry out again.

10.95 Things like removable carpets/rugs and hoists to suspend furniture above the ground
have also historically been used to minimise the damage caused by flooding inside a property.

10.96 More modern installations such as kitchens and electric fitting can also designed or
adapted. New kitchens can be built out of flood resistant materials or to be modular so they
can be removed, and electric sockets can be raised to prevent water damage.

10.97 Installation of pumps - Most flooding to properties along the River Severn occurs
where water floods up through floors as well as through doorways. As such, any system trying
to keep water out or just to manage water levels within a building is likely to require flood pumps.
Flood pumps will need to be located at the lowest point possible and digging sumps within a
Listed Building may require Listed Building Consent. The electric supply feeding pumps should
also be considered, as the pumps will cut out if the electricity shorts. This could be the ring main
within the house or the exterior supply.

Planning Permission and Listed Building Consent

10.98 Flood resilience measures that alter the fabric or appearance of a building may require
Planning Permission and / or Listed Building Consent. This would include features like flood
doors, alterations to boundary walls, permanent barrier fixings and sumps. The relevant Local

- IGWHS SPD102

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS10

Page 121



Planning Authority (either Telford & Wrekin Council or Shropshire Council) can provide advice
on what would or would not require Planning Permission and the information that would be
required with any such Planning Application (e.g., Heritage Impact Assessment, Elevation Plans
etc.) – this may be via a pre-application service.

10.99 Depending on the alterations required such Planning Applications would be dealt with
on a case-by-case basis. It should be noted that any alteration that causes damage or results
in a removal of any feature that was considered to impact the Outstanding Universal Value of
the IGWHS and or the significance of a Heritage Asset would be unlikely to be supported.

10.100 It is therefore imperative to have a clear understanding of the building, through the
completion of a Heritage Impact Assessment, so that the design of any flood risk defence
mitigates against any damage to the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS and the
significance of relevant Heritage Assets.

Opportunities for Historic Buildings

10.101 Historic England have been involved in several flood resilience trials in the context of
heritage assets. They publish guidance for flooding and historic buildings, which can be found
here:

https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/technical-advice/flooding-and-historic-buildings/

10.102 There are also increasing numbers of heritage specific property flood resilience
measures available, and although still relatively small, this market is growing. Some options
are more expensive than others, but the increasing number of heritage styles and materials
available means that there is now more opportunity to “shop around”.

Historic Buildings after Flood Events

10.103 In the event a historic building is flooded the following is advised:

Clean up any damage sensitively - Don’t remove wet plaster or joinery indiscriminately,
it may well recover once the building has dried out. Once debris has been cleared away
clean all surfaces with detergent or disinfectant if necessary.
Dry the building out slowly -Natural ventilation is ideal to ensure no rapid change in
humidity that might damage historic fabric. If necessary, use extraction fans, low heating
levels and dehumidifiers. Some timber fittings, such as door linings or floorboards may
need to be selectively removed to hasten drying or prevent buckling. If any fabric needs to
be removed, make sure it is recorded first so it can later be reproduced.
Avoid unnecessary repairs or alterations -Lime plaster and timber are natural materials
that are breathable and will usually survive if left to dry out naturally. Salt deposits may
appear during drying but can be brushed or vacuumed off. Check if any repointing is required
and use lime mortars. The use of these materials will also assist in the drying process
allowing properties to become habitable sooner following a flood event.
Make sure insurers and contractors are aware if your building is listed - Standard
responses to flood damage include tanking, modern gypsum plaster, cement rich mortars
and water-repellent products. These measures can all lead to damage to the building in

103- IGWHS SPD

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS 10

Page 122

https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/technical-advice/flooding-and-historic-buildings/


the long run through hindering the natural breathable properties of the historic fabric.
Remember your building spends more time above than under water!
Check if you need Listed Building Consent or Planning Permission to make any
alterations - Even in the event of flood damage, any change to the materials or architectural
details of a Listed Building are likely to need consent, and within the IGWHS certain external
works may need Planning Permission too. The relevant Planning Department (at Telford
& Wrekin Council or Shropshire Council as appropriate) can provide advice.

Flood Risk - Key Guidance Points

Proposals should consider…

Risk of flooding from all sources and how this flooding occurs.
Directing new development away from areas of flood risk.
Ensuring that new development does not increase flood risk.
The type, age and setting of an existing or proposed property.
Other flood risk factors such as flood warnings, property access, electricity supply, and
the availability of insurance when designing new properties or altering existing
properties.
Getting specialist advice on how water may be entering your property and what options
could reduce this.
Ensuring that any development in flood risk areas is resilient to flooding.
The best materials to use, considering both heritage of the property and risk of flooding.
Different properties individually – no two properties, settings or flood risks are the same
and different users will have different needs.
Following specific guidance on addressing flood damage to a historic building and take
advice where required.
The use of temporary flood barriers throughout the duration of a flood event.

Proposals should avoid…

Permanent barriers that have a visual and material impact on the Outstanding Universal
Value of the IGWHS will be discouraged.

4.5 Alterations, Extensions and Refurbishment

10.104 The alterations, extensions and refurbishments that take place on existing buildings
within the boundary of IGWHS can over time have a significant cumulative impact on the
character and appearance of the area and its Outstanding Universal Value. If these are designed
in a sympathetic way, reflecting the intactness and authenticity of the building, then the works
will support and strengthen the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS rather than damage
it incrementally.

10.105 Telford & Wrekin Council commissioned a detailed Conservation Area Management
Plan in 2016 which lays out in detail advice regarding alterations, extensions and refurbishments
to existing historic built structures within their administrative area. This guidance should be read
in conjunction with the Conservation Area Management Plan which also applies to the Telford
& Wrekin administrative area.

- IGWHS SPD104

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS10

Page 123



10.106 The built environment that makes up the IGWHS includes the six key character areas:

Coalbrookdale;
Ironbridge;
Coalford;
Jackfield;
Coalport; and
Madeley.

10.107 Each of these key areas have their own unique historical development with a variety
of building types and materials, differing from one to the next.

10.108 When proposing alterations, extensions and refurbishment it is important to follow a
general set of principles that are applicable throughout the IGWHS as a whole and are set out
below. These rules are intended to protect the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS and
have been categorised by type of works in the sections below.

Extensions and Outbuildings

10.109 Extensions and new outbuildings - including garages, sheds, home offices, bin stores
etc - should be carefully located where they would not impact on the Outstanding Universal
Value of the IGWHS and should be subordinate in scale to the principal buildings and not disrupt
the historic street scene. Usually this means siting new work to the rear of a property. New
outbuildings to the fore of a historic building, or as a front extension, will disrupt the authentic
historic character of the area and host building and will usually be strongly resisted.

10.110 New work should be consistent in terms of form and scale with the historic context.
Height, width and depth of floor plan and roof forms should be carefully considered, and the
shape and size of window and door openings reflect historic precedents.

Walling Materials

10.111 The local material palette should also be maintained, which consists of a wide variety
of brick types, and some buff-coloured sandstone. The type, colour and texture should be
appropriate to the specific character area. Consideration should be given to the brick bond or
coursing of stonework to fit in with the local environment. Developments should avoid the use
of overtly modern or inappropriate materials, such as imported non-local stone, render, concrete,
timber or other modern cladding materials as this would negatively impact the character and
appearance of the area and the Outstanding Universal Value.

10.112 Existing historic elevations and walls should be retained and repaired with any eroded
or damaged masonry made up to match. Point new and re-point existing brickwork where
required with lime mortar and ensure that the type of pointing reflects the original, e.g., flush or
recessed pointing, the grain, texture and colour, and the width of joints.

105- IGWHS SPD

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS 10

Page 124



Figure 24: The fine lime pointed joints of ashlar
stonework should not be removed. Repointing in
hard cementitious mortar is both damaging to the
visual character and causes harm to historic fabric

Roof Works

10.113 Roof forms, whether new roofs or alterations to existing roofs, should sit within the
existing roof scape of the building, be subordinate in scale to the original building, and reflect
the host building’s roof pitch, enhancing the grain of the surrounding roof scape. Tile materials,
dimensions, textures and colours should all be consistent with those of the host building, and
not introduce new materials or designs that could negatively impact the surrounding area and
the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS. Interlocking concrete and artificial slate is not
suitable on historic buildings or on new buildings within the IGWHS, and modern flat roofing
systems should only be used in locations where there is no public visibility or impact on the
special historic or architectural interest of a listed building.

10.114 Thought should be given to the finer detail such as ridge tiles, roof verges and eaves,
to be consistent with the host building or local street scene. Bargeboards and fascia boards are
rare within the historic street scene of the IGWHS and should only be used where there is a
clear historic precedent.

10.115 Where re-roofing or repairing an historic property, the materials will be expected to
reproduce the historic character. Every effort should be made to salvage the existing tiles for
re-use, particularly where it may be difficult to source replacement decorative tiles such as
fish-scale, ridge or polychromatic tiles.

10.116 Where a historic property has previously been re-roofed in a non-historic material,
such as concrete tiles or modern pantiles, reinstatement of the traditional historic materials will
be supported.

10.117 Dormer windows should only be introduced where there is a historic precedent for
their use, and then they should accurately reproduce historic detail.

10.118 Roof lights can interrupt the uninterrupted tiled roof scape that is so characteristic of
the IGWHS. The use of roof lights will therefore be resisted unless it can be justified and is in
a discrete unobtrusive location. Where this is the case, flush-type ‘conservation’ roof lights of
metal construction should be used, with glazing bars appropriate for larger openings.

- IGWHS SPD106

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS10

Page 125



Porches

10.119 It will not always be appropriate to introduce a porch to the historic frontage of a
building where it would harm the design of the original or incorporate them into new designs
where there is no precedent in the local street scene. Where appropriate, care should be taken
to reference the status, period and style of the building. Shallow pitches, sheet materials or felt
coverings are not typical to the area.

Figure 25: Historic front doors often have simple door-cases or canopies, but
some examples of ornate carved Victorian porches can be found. New porches
should generally be confined to simple canopies drawing on the historic.

Rainwater Goods

10.120 Existing lead and cast-iron rainwater goods including hoppers, should be retained
and gutters fixed using traditional gutter brackets. If the original is unusable, then matching
rainwater goods should be used and new brackets forged to match.

10.121 Cast iron or cast aluminium (with hammered paint finish) should be used for new
rainwater goods and external plumbing.

107- IGWHS SPD

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS 10

Page 126



10.122 When painting rainwater goods an appropriate recessive colour should be used,
unless lead downpipes are being used.

Chimneys

10.123 Chimney stacks are a key feature of the historic roof scape. Removal of existing
historic chimney stacks and/or chimney pots will usually be resisted, particularly where they are
visible form the public realm, or are of significance to a listed building. Incorporating traditionally
detailed brick chimneys into new schemes should be considered, this has been achieved
successfully in recent residential schemes, such as at Reynolds Wharf, Coalport.

10.124 Pastiche or fake dummy chimneysmade of inappropriate materials will be discouraged.

Painting and rendering

10.125 Historic finishes should be retained and maintained. Painting previously unpainted
surfaces such as brick elevations will not be supported. Similarly, rendering of previously
un-rendered walls will also not be supported. Where unsympathetic painting or rendering of
historically exposed masonry has been carried out, reversal will be encouraged. However, any
proposed removal of existing paint decoration from masonry must be carefully considered,
tested and carried out by a specialist experienced in conservation work. Failure to do this could
result in serious damage to the brick or stone surface if the wrong method of paint removal is
used.

10.126 Appropriate traditional colours are recommended for re-decorating existing painted
surfaces for joinery including doors and windows, it is important to note that untreated or stained
timber was very rarely used historically. Paint was used as a protective treatment throughout
the 18th to 19thcenturies when the majority of the buildings in the IGWHS date from.

Colour Palette

10.127 It is important to use appropriate paint colours for external joinery, ironwork, and
renders. The use of certain modern colours can have a significantly harmful impact on the
overall character of views and street scenes, and affect the authenticity of the IGWHS.

10.128 Where historic features survive it is best to choose colours appropriate to their age,
and in all circumstances avoid modern bright colours, including bright whites which have no
historic precedents. Buildings within the IGWHS mainly date from the Georgian through to the
Edwardian eras. Considerations for external painting in the IGWHS are as follows:

In the Georgian era windows and doors were mainly painted in dark green, off-white or
dark brown. Some higher status buildings had doors painted in dark reds or blues.
In the later Victorian and Edwardian eras there was an increase in the production of
commercially available paints and changing technologies made a wider range of colours
available. But chocolate brown and olive green remained popular for both doors and
windows, whilst dark red and dark blues became more widespread for doors.
Bright white did not become available until the mid-20th century.
Even on one building there would have been a hierarchy of colours. For example,
outbuildings and secondary doors would have kept to the darker hard-wearing colours.

- IGWHS SPD108

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS10

Page 127



Historic rendered elevations were often designed to replicate stone and were not necessarily
painted. Where painted, the colour was a yellow-brown colour to imitate stone. So darker
stone shades are more appropriate than whites or creams.
Window and door lintels and sills were also not designed to be painted but left as exposed
stone or brickwork.
Iron railings and gates were painted in blue, green or lead grey in the Georgian period, and
green, dark blue, red and chocolate brown in the Victorian period. Black became standard
only from the early 20th century.
Shopfronts within the IGWHSmainly date from the later Victorian era using mainly restrained
darker shades: burgundy red, black, brown from dark rust to chocolate, greens from a yew
tree green to olive and dark blue. The fascia would have a more diverse colour pattern,
but the selection of colours would still reflect the main shopfront colour. Gilding was used
as a highlight and fascia signs were either gilded or hand painted.
Colours used for internal schemes of decoration differed from those used on the exterior
of buildings.
Stained wood was rarely used for external joinery, which had painted finishes as a protection
against rot.
True gloss paint, as we know it, did not arrive until the Edwardian period so it is more
authentic to use satin or eggshell finishes.
Industrial buildings kept to cheap hard-wearing colours, ranging from dark to mid brown
and black.

Windows and Doors

10.129 The proportions, detailing, materials and finishes of doors and windows make an
important contribution to the character and authenticity of individual buildings and the contribution
they make to the wider street scene and Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS.

10.130 A wide range of historic window and door joinery survives within the IGWHS, varying
according to the status of a building and its age, as well as the character area. There are
examples of casement windows, with the ‘ladder’ style particularly distinctive of the area, sash
windows particularly in higher status dwellings, and cast-iron window frames, often in more
industrial buildings. (These are discussed in detail in the Severn Gorge Conservation Area
Appraisal and Management Plan).

109- IGWHS SPD

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS 10

Page 128



Figure 26: Historic windows in the IGWHS should be retained and used to
guide the design and materials of new: vertical sliding sashes, cast iron

window, ladder style casement

10.131 Proposals relating to doors, door cases and windows should consider:

Original timber doors and windows should be repaired and retained where possible with
exact timber replacements where appropriate;
Cast iron windows should be repaired and retained;
Historic glass in existing single-glazed windows should be retained;
When considering upgrading the thermal value of an existing window this should be carried
out by draught stripping and/or secondary glazing (subject to suitability);
Where windows have been replaced inappropriately and are due for replacement the
subsequent window should look to revert back to the original intended design;
Door and window patterns which must reflect period, style and use of building.
Enlargement of window openings or creation of new, particularly on front elevations, will
likely be resisted;
In new work extensions and new builds, solid to window ratios should be maintained so
that the new will blend in with the old;
Inauthentic materials such as upvc, composite or aluminium will be resisted;
Double glazing may be supported where there is no loss of significant historic joinery and
there is an enhancement to the overall character of the area, but these will be expected to
closely replicate historic designs;
Applied glazing bars or glazing bars set within double glazing will be resisted in existing
and new buildings, and the section/profile of the historic frames and glazing bars should
be closely reproduced;
Fanlights and fancy glazing within doors are not appropriate and will be resisted in existing
and new buildings;
The use of stained timber should be avoided in favour of traditional colours in existing and
new buildings;
Fixing glass should be carried out with a simple traditional puttied struck bed. Timber
beading should be avoided as this is not a traditional detail;

- IGWHS SPD110

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS10

Page 129



Boundaries and walls

10.132 The character of boundaries throughout the IGWHS makes a significant contribution
to its character and Outstanding Universal Value. Particularly adjacent to streets and lanes and
in front of buildings, they are to the fore of key views and provide the most immediate impact
on the street scene.

10.133 Due to the nature of the gorge, retaining walls in brick and stone are prominent features
in the landscape and combine with brick boundary walls and the narrow lanes to create distinctive
street views. Locally produced ironwork adds particularly important detail, reflecting the local
industries of the IGWHS as well as historic architectural fashions.

10.134 When considering proposals for boundaries it is important to consider:

Existing historic boundary treatments should be retained and repaired with matching
materials. Salvage and re-use existing materials as far as possible. Broken cast iron, for
example, can be repaired and damaged items should not be automatically replaced.
Maintain use of painted ironwork for railings, whilst avoiding the use of overtly modern or
inappropriate boundary treatments i.e., timber fencing etc.
Post and rail fencing with hedgesmay be appropriate on themore rural edges of the IGWHS,
but close-boarded fencing will not be supported.
Scale and design of boundary treatment should be appropriate to the surrounding area
and use of the site.

111- IGWHS SPD

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS 10

Page 130



Figure 27: Traditional boundary treatments in stone and brick, sometimes with iron
rails and gates, are key characteristics in the street scene

Hard Surfaces

10.135 Road surfaces, courtyards, paths, parking areas and other hard surfaces all contribute
to the overall character of the IGWHS. The loss of surviving historic paving or use of inappropriate
materials can have a serious impact on the authenticity and integrity of the IGWHS.

10.136 When considering proposals for boundaries it is important to consider:

Retaining and repairing any historic brick pavers, garden paths or steps or stone flags
where these are of significance to the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS.
For new work, reproduce historic detail appropriate to the location and character area of
the IGWHS.
Avoid large expanses of hard surfacing to the fore of properties where gardens and historic
boundaries are of significance to the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS.
Avoid use of concrete or tarmac surfacing.
Drives and parking areas should use informal surfaces such as gravel or bound gravel, or
historically derived brick pavers.
Use materials and colours that are appropriate to the historic environment, e.g., avoid
‘Cotswold gravel’ or granite setts where there is no historic precedent.

- IGWHS SPD112

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS10

Page 131



Avoid painted road markings, e.g., for parking bays and demarcate with alternative brick
treatments.
Avoid signage, but, if necessary, consider design and location.

Figure 28: Use of sandstone setts, stone flags and brick pavers for new hard
surfaces

Figure 29: Bound gravel paths and post and rail fencing preserve themore
rural character of areas such as Coalport

Commercial Properties

10.137 Generally, the principles set out above apply equally to properties in retail or commercial
use as to domestic properties.

10.138 Telford & Wrekin Council also has a guide detailing the principles of design for old
and new shopfronts within conservation areas which should be used for proposals in the IGWHS:

https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1429/

shop_fronts_and_signage_design_guidance_in_conservation_areas

113- IGWHS SPD

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS 10

Page 132

https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1429/shop_fronts_and_signage_design_guidance_in_conservation_areas
https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1429/shop_fronts_and_signage_design_guidance_in_conservation_areas


Alterations, Extensions and Refurbishments – Key Guidance Points

In summary of the guidance set out within the section, the following broad principles should
be followed for alterations, extensions and refurbishments.

Proposals should consider…

Retain and repair all historic fabric where possible.
Make alterations to historic buildings only if they are in sympathy with the host building,
replicating its architectural style and materials.
Use appropriate traditional materials, including lime mortar for pointing masonry.
Avoid alterations to front elevations unless restoring lost historic detail.
Installation of roof lights may be acceptable where not generally visible and where
using conservation flush fitting types.
Consider the detail of roofs, walls, window and door surrounds and chimneys, not just
the materials.
Carry out boundary treatments using traditional materials including cast iron railings,
brick and stone walls or post and rail fences.
Build garages, outbuildings and garden structures reflecting the character of the host
building i.e., brick walling with a pitched tiled roof.
Site outbuildings or extensions to the rear or in discreet locations.
Any extension should be subservient to the original building and the design should not
compete with either the host or adjacent buildings.
Use windows, doors, dormers and boundary treatments that reflect the host buildings
original design and materials, as well as the location’s predominant styles.
Use of historically appropriate paint colours and avoidance of non-historic surface
treatments.

Proposals should avoid…

Using upvc, composite or aluminium windows and doors or upvc rainwater goods, as
they should instead utilise traditional and sympathetic materials.
Using roof lights on elevations that can be viewed.
Using double glazing where original windows exist as this will likely be resisted as it
can lead to the loss of historic fabric. Secondary glazing would be preferred.
Using Interlocking concrete, artificial slate or other modern materials for replacement
roofs.
Using flat roofs for garages, outbuildings and garden structures, unless the building is
well hidden.
Creating areas of hardstanding that dominate the site and propose unsuitable materials
or result in the loss of original boundary features.

Discussion with a specialist conservation officer should always be sought prior to
any works taking place through the appropriate pre-application enquiry route.

- IGWHS SPD114

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS10

Page 133



4.6 Redundant Buildings, Change of Use and Buildings at Risk

10.139 It is important to stop the accumulation of redundant buildings within the IGWHS. To
reduce the risk to the IGWHSOutstanding Universal Value it is important that a viable economic
community is supported to ensure that the local population can afford to remain within the
IGWHS. A redundant building is at considerable risk of rapid deterioration through decay and
vandalism, it is also a visible sign of neglect and decline.

10.140 Vacancy and the uncertainty of future uses threaten the Outstanding Universal Value
of the IGWHS. Potential problems do not just relate to those buildings that are no longer in use
now but to the significance of the IGWHS as a whole.

10.141 Over the centuries the IGWHS has seen incredible changes from the beginning of
the industrial revolution to the post-industrial revolution. This has left many industrial buildings
without the original use they were designed for. The production of goods has reduced over the
years and the local economy is now much more directed to services, leisure and tourism, with
just a small but significant remnant engaged in production.

10.142 Key industrial buildings and sites such as the Darby Furnace, Iron Bridge, Bedlam
Furnace, Coalport China Works, Coalbrookdale Iron Works and Craven Dunhil tile works at
Jackfield have been adopted by the Ironbridge Gorge Museum Trust or English Heritage and
the guardianship, care and protection of these are generally well managed.

10.143 Buildings which are more susceptible to vacancy include places of worship, institutions,
schools, large residential properties and commercial buildings.

10.144 These larger scale properties can often remain redundant for very long periods owing
to difficulties in finding a use that is appropriate for the historic property and at the same time
viable.

115- IGWHS SPD

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS 10

Page 134



Figure 30: Redundant Buildings

10.145 Any applications being made for conversion of buildings or redevelopment of sites
must have a detailed Heritage Statement and Heritage Impact Assessment appropriate to the
significance of the site and should provide a robust justification for the degree of alteration or
development. It will be generally expected that there will be no net harm on heritage significances,
balancing the benefits of bringing a building or site back into use with identified impacts on all
relevant heritage assets, including the IGWHS.

10.146 The sub-division of plots can have a dramatic effect on the character and appearance
of designated and non-designated heritage and the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS
and will not be supported if the significance of a Heritage Asset or the Outstanding Universal
Value of the IGWHS is damaged by the proposals.

- IGWHS SPD116

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS10

Page 135



Redundant buildings, Buildings at Risk, Change of Use – Key Guidance Points

As a general guide, for buildings of any scale or significance proposals should consider:

Proposals should consider…

Principal structural walls should be retained and repaired with appropriate materials.
Principal roof trusses and framing elements should be retained and similarly repaired.
Original roof coverings should be retained (or, in the case of sheet materials replaced
with an appropriate alternative, perhaps offering higher insulation standards).
Original architectural features, fixtures and fittings should be retained.
Original glazing opening patterns and lights should be retained and repaired where
possible.
Where possible (and consistent with a changed use) material evidence of the buildings
original use should be kept – be it industrial, civic, or religious.
There must be a net gain for biodiversity and habitats will not be damaged by conversion
or redevelopment of a site.

Proposals should avoid…

Alterations to the external appearance of the building.
The introduction of new doors or windows, including roof lights.
Harmful subdivision of buildings or curtilages.
Insensitive signage inappropriate to the historic use of the building.

4.7 Museums, Monuments and the Visitor Economy

10.147 Much of the industrial heritage within IGWHS is held by the Museum Trust and it is
essential that Telford & Wrekin and Shropshire Councils work closely, through the IGWHS
coordinator's role, to help facilitate the maintenance and repair of the existing building stock
and to assist and encourage a formal maintenance regime that will encourage volunteering and
trade craft learning within the IGWHS.

10.148 Monuments found within the IGWHS are numerous and are now covered within the
NPPF chapter 16 which instructs Local Planning Authorities to be less favourable in regards
proposals that do not protect and retain monuments set within designated heritage assets.

10.149 It is essential that encouragement is given for conservation management plans to be
drawn up for all monuments within the IGWHS and that regular surveys setting out planned
maintenance programmes are developed and carried out by major building holders. Maintenance
of the civic, religious and former industrial buildings is important to protect the fabric of the
Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS and to set an example for other property owners
within the IGWHS.

10.150 The visitor and service economy are vital to maintaining the viability of the communities
within the IGWHS and will allow sufficient income to be generated, to be reinvested in the
Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS.

117- IGWHS SPD

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS 10

Page 136



10.151 As the Gorge is such a complex site to manage, the more well-designed statistical
analysis of visitor and residential populations that can be undertaken the better. This would help
inform and gain a greater understanding of the dynamics of the population and would be
beneficial in balancing the residents’ requirements with those of the visitors. Monitoring the
demographics of the area, number of residents, householders or rentals etc. could provide
useful markers.

10.152 The need to achieve a balance between essential services and community facilities
for residents (school, pubs, food shopping, financial and other services, local health facilities,
places of worship, community halls etc.) and the provision of tourist-oriented services (cafes,
restaurants, gift shops, accommodation etc.) remains an on-going challenge.

Museums, Monuments and Visitor Economy – Key Guidance Points

Proposals should consider…

Having an up-to-date Conservation Management Plans for all key monuments.
Making sure that regular condition surveys and plannedmaintenance programmes are
in place.
That tourist accommodation proposals will be supported where no damage to the
Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS will take place.
That retention of local services will be encouraged, and any loss will need to be fully
justified.
That proposals that provide further tourist experience within the IGWHS and allows
further understanding of the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS will be
considered on merit.

10.5 Guidance for the Maintenance and Development of Infrastructure

10.153 Infrastructure refers to the basic physical systems of a business, region or nation.
These systems tend to be capital intensive and high-cost investments that are vital to economic
development and societal prosperity. For the IGWHS the main aim is to develop sustainable,
resilient and inclusive infrastructure ranging from access to highways, maintaining economic
prosperity in businesses, improving and maintaining the Green Network and protecting and
enhancing neighbourhoods from the effects of climate change.

10.154 Protecting the existing historic building stock within the IGWHS and building in resilience
into infrastructure is critical to combat the negative impacts on the environment of the IGWHS.

10.155 Climate resilience will become a priority over the coming years, with the likelihood of
regular extreme weather increasing. The need to push for sustainable development and to
protect and enhance our natural and built environment will become ever more interconnected.

10.156 Climate change will impact the buildings, flora and fauna and land stability within the
IGWHS. It is critical to plan for this so that mitigation and adaption are built into new development
and infrastructure.

- IGWHS SPD118

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS10

Page 137



10.157 New infrastructure developments will need to be designed to accommodate prolonged
and heavy rain and long periods of drought. Maintaining businesses within the IGWHS and
allowing them to prosper during extreme weather events is vital. Large gutter profiles, bigger
hoppers and additional downpipes on rainwater goods, grey water recycling and storage facilities
should be considered. Hard landscaping must be designed to allow for permeability of rainwater
to reduce run-off.

10.158 Protecting the Green Network should remain fundamental to maintaining the identity
of the IGWHSwhich is valued by its local communities. In addition, highways should be properly
maintained with potential improvements being carefully thought out so as not to compromise
movement.

10.159 There is an opportunity through the provision of new infrastructure, to secure the
future economic viability of the IGWHS. Carefully thought-out projects which improve businesses,
enhance the Green Network, develop climate resilience in historic buildings or streamline
movement, should all look to sustain and improve the future of the IGWHS whilst continuing to
protect its Outstanding Universal Value.

Infrastructure Development Proposals - Key Guidance Points

Proposals should consider…

All new development proposals are required to show how climate resilience is built
into the design reflecting the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS and the
immediate surroundings of the proposal.
New infrastructure development must also be able to show that the proposals have
taken into account the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS, and the design
reflects the immediate surroundings of the development both in appearance and
materials.
Infrastructure proposals affecting the historic built environment need to show through
a thorough Heritage Impact Assessment how the proposals have built in climate
resilience and that the design will enhance the heritage context.
Hard landscaping must be constructed providing sufficient permeability to restrict water
runoff.

Waterways and Pools

10.160 The waterways, both manmade and natural, within the Gorge will play a significant
role in how climate change will impact the communities and the Outstanding Universal Value
of the IGWHS.

10.161 All mitigation planned to assist with climate change must take into account the
Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS and be designed to fit in with the immediate
surroundings.

10.162 The Environment Agency are responsible for drawing up climate resilience plans for
the River Severn within the IGWHS.

119- IGWHS SPD

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS 10

Page 138



10.163 Along with engineering solutions, flood risk in the IGWHS should be an important
design consideration and design should be in line with any Sustainable Drainage Developer
Guidance documents and the relevant Local Authorities (Telford &Wrekin Council or Shropshire
Council) Local Flood Risk Management Strategy.

10.164 Designing ‘out’ flood disasters can, if care is not taken, result in designing ‘in’ intrusive
elements, structures and massing of developments that have an impact on the historic grain of
a place. Flood defence engineering requires extra vigilance when designing in the context of a
WHS and the sensitivity of the area should be considered at the outset of the design process.

10.165 It will be necessary to take a co-ordinated approach to plans for flood mitigation with
the local communities part of the decision-making process.

10.166 Telford & Wrekin Council manage pools in their ownership using silt-traps that have
been installed, working with the Severn Gorge Countryside Trust and their Management Plan
when necessary. Many pools are in private ownership and, like many of the pools in the Gorge,
access to these can be difficult and many are not de-silted on a regular basis. In extreme cases,
enforcement legislation is available to statutory bodies to rectify this maintenance issue although
it is rare for this to be used.

Waterways and Pools – Key Guidance Points

Proposals should consider…

All mitigations planned to assist with climate change must take into account the
Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS and be designed to fit in with the immediate
surroundings.
Mitigation should reflect future sustainable drainage developer guidance and Telford
& Wrekin’s and Shropshire’s Local Flood Risk Management Strategy.
Both Telford & Wrekin and Shropshire Council will continue to develop a co-ordinated
approach to engineering works.
Encouragement will be given to private owners to manage their pools in a sustainable
manner to facilitate maximum water capture.
Telford & Wrekin and Shropshire Council will work where appropriate with the Severn
Gorge Countryside Trust to manage the pools in their ownership.

Proposals should avoid…

Engineering works which are obtrusive.
Design should reflect the materials, scale and massing of the immediate surroundings.

Maintenance of Highways, Structures, Bridges and Public Realm

Highways

10.167 Highways are critical to economic and social performance and productivity, providing
a key form of connectivity to our immediate surroundings and beyond. This is no less the case
for the IGWHS and as such the highways within the IGWHS and its setting have the potential
to impact on the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS.

- IGWHS SPD120

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS10

Page 139



10.168 Within the IGWHS there are well-defined linear routes to either side of the River
Severn, and further steep principal routes rising up through Coalbrookdale along Dale Road
and Wellington Road, towards Madeley along Legges Way. Otherwise, the historic settlement
roads and lanes are tight, constricted and literally zigzag up the slopes of the gorge with narrow
awkward junctions. Lanes can quickly become blocked and impassable during high levels of
traffic. Some of the narrow lanes such as Belle Vue Road and St Luke’s Road in Ironbridge and
School Road and Woodside Road suffer from parking pressures and over-use. In Ironbridge
where larger vehicles attempt access for delivery, this often causes damage to curtilage structures
due to constricted routes. The hillside areas are subject to a Traffic Regulation Order.

10.169 The repair and maintenance of the highways within the IGWHS requires a
multi-disciplinary and cross-Council team to manage the design of the highways so that the
IGWHS Outstanding Universal Value is taken into account and materials are appropriate and
relate to the area that the highway is located in.

10.170 Retaining walls constructed to stabilise the Gorge and that are visible from the public
realm should be constructed using materials that relate to the Outstanding Universal Value of
the IGWHS. The selection of the correct type and colour of bricks need to relate to the location's
historic materials. The use of large concrete retaining walls will be discouraged as they are out
of keeping and do not weather into their surroundings.

Highways - Key Guidance Points

Proposals should consider…

That Telford & Wrekin and Shropshire Council will continue to develop a co-ordinated
approach and will involve other partners in regards highways improvements and works.
That materials suitable to the local immediate surrounds should be used for all
retainingwalls and boundary treatments. Plastic and other materials not found within
the built heritage should not be used within the IGWHS.

Structures and Bridges

10.171 The structures and bridges within the IGWHS are numerous, some are designated
as protected in their own right and some are more modern. It is important that these are
maintained in the most sympathetic manner using the correct method and materials to maintain
the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS.

10.172 The structures and bridges are within the ownership of various parties and a
co-ordinated approach is central to the ability to protect the Outstanding Universal Value from
being damaged by inappropriate maintenance or repair techniques.

Public Realm

10.173 The term ‘public realm’ can be defined and understood in different ways. For the
purposes of this SPD, it is defined as all the highway and hard surfaced spaces within the
IGWHS which are freely accessible by the public. This includes the streets, roads, footpaths
and public spaces. It does not however, include the green open spaces and woodland.

121- IGWHS SPD

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS 10

Page 140



10.174 In common with most compact settlements a mixture of commercial activity, high
levels of traffic, tourism hubs, and light industry, results in a wide range of different features that
tie the IGWHS together. Street furniture, railings, pavement surface treatments, signage and
service infrastructure are integral to the enjoyment of the public realm and without proper
direction can end in an inappropriate mixture of different styles.

10.175 The use of sympathetic pavement surface treatments within the IGWHS is extremely
important as it links the built heritage together and sets the buildings within the landscape. It is
therefore important that materials used are of quality and natural for the immediate surroundings.
For example, the use of manmade materials like plastic is not appropriate within the IGWHS.

10.176 Close boarded fencing would not be appropriate to be used as a boundary treatment
within the public realm of the IGWHS. Cast iron or wrought iron railings or brick walls in the
appropriate size, colour and laid in the correct bonding pattern should be used.

10.177 Public realm signage is integral to the general understanding of the IGWHS, by their
nature signage is intended to grab the attention of visitors through either directing, informing or
warnings. These should therefore be appropriately placed and should also look to remain
consistent with the historic signage that is already set within the IGWHS as well as not becoming
overbearing or rising significantly in numbers.

10.178 In some parts of the gorge there is a more rural character where timber fences, simple
park railings and agricultural features are more prevalent. Greater concern with public safety
means that there are more railings today than in the past, protecting drops and water courses.

10.179 Utilities work is often necessary in the gorge and affects the public realm. Most of this
work is not controlled through Planning Permission but has the potential to impact upon
Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS. It is expected that utilities providers will employ
good design principles and select appropriate materials for ‘making good’ pavements, road
surfacing and kerb stones following any necessary works. Both Telford & Wrekin Council and
Shropshire Council work closely with utilities provers locally on this issue.

- IGWHS SPD122

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS10

Page 141



Public Realm - Key Guidance Points

Proposals should consider…

Developing multi-disciplinary Local Authority working groups to coordinate highway
improvements, utilities work, major infrastructure, flood and river management, public
transport etc.
The coordination of physical works that do not require planning permission or impact
on traffic but is within the control of Telford and Wrekin Council / Shropshire Council
and other major stakeholders, should be carried out in a compatible manner.
Producing best practice guidance for the Conservation Area including utilities
installations, upgrades, repairs and road works. Work with the major local utility
companies to encourage a partnership approach.
That materials used within the IGWHS should be related to the historic built heritage
and that modern manmade products should not be used.
That boundary treatments and retaining walls should reflect the historic treatments
found in the immediate surroundings.

Proposals should avoid…

A proliferation of public realm signage, this should be kept to the minimum and the
historic signage should be retained.

10.6 Guidance for Development Affecting the Setting of the IGWHS

10.180 The setting of the IGWHS is an important consideration in the context of its Outstanding
Universal Value. Care must be taken when designing developments at the entrances or
immediately adjacent to the boundary of the IGWHS, or in more distant locations that could
nevertheless impact upon its setting. Poor quality development within the setting of the IGWHS
can be harmful to its Outstanding Universal Value. The following guidance provides an overview
of the considerations when proposing development within the setting of the IGWHS.

10.181 For potential development sites in the setting of the IGWHS, early and appropriate
consideration of the site’s context should be undertaken (including the significance of the
proposed development site and its contribution to the setting and Outstanding Universal Value
of the IGWHS) to help to inform the development of appropriate proposals. Both Telford &
Wrekin Council and Shropshire Council offer pre-application services that may be of benefit in
this process.

10.182 Proposals in these locations should represent and achieve high-quality design which
reflects and respects:

Heritage assets on the site itself.
Heritage assets within the wider area (including the IGWHS).
If appropriate, the design, layout, scale, materials and massing of development that may
have occurred on the site itself in the past.
The design, layout, scale, materials and massing of nearby buildings and built form -
including that within the IGWHS*.

123- IGWHS SPD

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS 10

Page 142



10.183 *Due to the scale and diverse characteristics of the IGWHS and its setting, the manner
in which development proposals within different parts of the setting can impact on the Outstanding
Universal Value of the IGWHS and as such the actions needed are varied. The design, layout,
scale, materials and massing influences will also inevitably vary from one part of the setting to
another. The advice in Sections 3 and 4 of this Annex provides useful guidance and aids
understanding in respect of the form, density, height, materials and detailing within the IGWHS
and should be appropriately taken into consideration.

10.184 Particular emphasis must be placed on the quality of placemaking, applying high-quality
design of both built form and landscaping, and ensuring the selection of appropriate good quality
and sustainable materials. In general, given the scale and forms of buildings within the IGWHS
and its organic evolution, buildings of atypically large or bulky mass will not be supported, or
repetitive uniform layouts. Larger developments will be expected to be broken down and provide
variety in layout, heights and designs, whether of individual detached buildings, or single buildings
of larger mass.

10.185 Because of the international importance of the IGWHS the use of standard materials
may not be appropriate even outside its boundary, and Design and Access Statements and
Heritage Statements / Heritage Impact Assessments will need to demonstrate a robust argument
to support proposals that depart from the usual approach. Modern architectural designs that
diverge from the established traditions of the IGWHSmay be considered for ‘landmark’ buildings
but will still need to demonstrate a harmony and legible relationship to the historic environment
and employ the highest standards of design and materials compatible with the international
importance of the IGWHS.

10.186 No two sites are the same and the contribution that potential development sites make
to the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS will inevitably vary. This will need to be
carefully analysed and set out in any Heritage Impact Assessment or Heritage Statement for a
potential development site, to support a Planning Application. In particular, it is advised that the
methodology for assessing the contribution a development site makes to settings, and thereby
the significance, of any heritage assets affected (including the Outstanding Universal Value of
the IGWHS) set out within Historic England’s ‘Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in
Planning: 3: The Setting of Heritage Assets (2nd Edition)’ is followed in full.

10.187 Development along the skyline of the valley (north and south sides) where rooves or
infrastructure could break the illusion of continuing woodland or interrupt the skyline should be
subject to sensitive design and layout and if appropriate be supported by suitable mitigation -
for instance through additional tree planting. Where an appropriate design and layout (supported
by suitable mitigation) is not possible, such development will usually be discouraged.

10.188 The setting of IGWHS should be protected by preventing inappropriate development
which causes additional intrusion into existing woodland zones or key areas of landscape
quality.

- IGWHS SPD124

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS10

Page 143



Development within the Setting of the IGWHS - Key Guidance Points

Proposals should consider…

Undertaking an analysis of the heritage significance of the proposed development site
and its contribution to the Outstanding Universal Value of the IGWHS prior to drawing
up any proposals for the design and development of the site.
Undertaking appropriate pre-application discussions with the relevant Local Authority
(Telford and Wrekin Council or Shropshire Council) to inform proposals within the
setting of the IGHWS.
Reflecting and respecting the design, layout, scale, materials and massing of nearby
buildings and built form, including that within the IGWHS itself.
That the introduction of modern architectural styles will only be supported in appropriate
locations where high-quality design is achieved, and where appropriate high-quality
materials are utilised. Whenever possible this should also make the story or history of
the IGWHS more accessible.
Important views and landscape features that contribute to the setting of the IGWHS
should be protected.
Design and Access Statements and Heritage Statements / Heritage Impact
Assessments will need to show an emphasis placed on the quality of place making
through using the adjacent IGWHS principles, including those of urban design,
landscaping and the selection of materials.

Proposals should avoid…

Breaking the skyline or damaging the illusion of unbroken woodland.
Adversely affecting key views into or out of the IGWHS.
Overbearing structures or massing.

125- IGWHS SPD

10 Annex 2 - Guidance for Development in the IGWHS 10

Page 144



 

Declaration of further Green Guarantee sites 

 

“We’re working hard to make Telford and Wrekin greener in every sense.  

“Protecting and enhancing our borough’s green spaces is so important for our 

community’s wellbeing and for the wildlife that these sites support, whether that be 

one of our huge Local Nature Reserves or that patch of land in your neighbourhood 

where children love to play.  

“That’s why I’m so excited to bring more than 100 new Green Guarantee sites 

forward for declaration – this work is keeping nature on your doorstep.” 

 

  

Page 145

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Borough of Telford and Wrekin 
Cabinet 

 
Thursday 15 December 2022 

 
Declaration of Further Green Guarantee Sites 

 
Cabinet Member: Cllr Carolyn Healy – Cabinet Member: Climate change, Green 

Spaces, Natural and Historic Environment and Cultural 
Services 

 
Lead Director:  James Dunn – Director: Prosperity and Investment 
 
Service Area:  Development Management 
 
Report Author:  Stuart Dunlop - Ecology & Green Infrastructure Specialist 
 
Officer Contact 
Details:             Tel: 01952 384144  Email: Stuart.Dunlop@Telford.gov.uk 
 
Wards Affected:  All Wards 
 
Key Decision:  Not Key Decision 
 
Forward Plan:  Not Applicable 
 
Report considered by: Cabinet – 15 December 2022 
 
 
1.0 Recommendations for decision/noting: 

 
Cabinet is recommended to: 
 

1.1 Approve the declaration of 107 new Green Guarantee Sites; 
 
1.2 Delegate authority to complete the declaration process to the Director: Prosperity 
 and Investment and Director: Policy and Governance in consultation with the 
 Cabinet Member: Climate Change, Green Spaces, Natural and Historic 
 Environment and Cultural  Services. 
 
2.0 Purpose of Report 

2.1 This report proposes the extension of the Council’s existing Green Guarantee 
 protection to an additional 107 sites in Council ownership within the borough. 
 

Page 147



 

 

2 
 

2.2 The Green Guarantee provides added security for green spaces of local importance 
 which are in the ownership of the Council and safeguards these from future 
 development or disposal. 
 
2.3 The protection is recognised in the Telford & Wrekin Local Plan which confirms the 
 Council’s commitment to the provision of locally accessible green spaces and to 
 meeting the needs of local communities.  The sites are valuable to the wildlife they 
 support and the opportunities they provide for leisure and recreation and the positive 
 impacts they bring to health and wellbeing.  
 
3.0 Background 
 
3.1 The Green Guarantee Strategy is part of the Council’s overarching commitment to 
 promote accessible green space. Approximately 90% of the borough is composed 
 of ‘Green Infrastructure’ with only 10% comprising buildings, roofs, roads, footpaths, 
 town squares and carparks. Telford Green Network covers approximately 2500ha 
 and is  described as “one of the largest scale, visually beneficial and informal 
 recreation assets of any town in the country”, which is a lasting legacy of the original 
 landscape structure plan designed for the New Town in 1971. 
 
3.2 Within this Green Network sits a hierarchy of statutory and non-statutory sites 
 comprising:  
 

• c. 108 ha of SSSI (Site of Special Scientific Interest)  
• c. 410 ha of Local Nature Reserve (LNR)  
• c. 195 ha of proposed Local Nature Reserve (LNR)  
• c. 513 ha of Local Wildlife Sites (some of which overlap with LNRs), and  
• c. 557 ha of existing Green Guarantee sites 

3.3 The selection of sites has been made using the experience and knowledge across 
 the Council. The Council have applied a set of criteria based on the value of the site 
 to local communities, biodiversity value and leisure and recreational value evidence 
 work undertaken as part of the Local Plan in accordance with the set criteria: 
 

 Criteria Explanation Evidence Base 

1 Ownership The site must be owned 
by Telford and Wrekin 
Council 

Telford and Wrekin land 
ownership datasets 

2 Green Network Is the site within the  
Green Network (as 
defined in the emerging 
Local Plan) 

Green Network mapping 
2018 as shown on the 
policies map within the 
Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 

3 Local Support Has the community been 
involved in the site in the 
past? E.g. community 
events, litter picking, tree 
planting etc... . 

Council knowledge 

4 Ecological Value Does the site have 
ecological value 
evidenced by: 

a) All species records from 
the Shropshire Ecological 
Data Network April 2015 

Page 148



 

 

3 
 

a) Historical species 
records from the 
Shropshire Ecological 
Data Network 

b) Natural or Semi-
natural habitats 
present on site 

c) Potential for wildlife to 
be present 

b) Council  knowledge and      
interpretation  

5 Ecological 
Corridor/Stepping 
Stone 

Does the site form part of 
the Ecological Corridor or 
Stepping Stone as defined 
by the Lawton Report1 

Telford & Wrekin Council 
Ecological Network 
Mapping Technical Paper & 
mapping  2014 

6 Friends Group Is there an active ‘Friends 
of’ group involved on the 
site 

Council knowledge 

7 Passive 
Recreation 

Is the site used for 
passive recreation? E.g. 
dog walking, informal play 
etc... . 

Council knowledge 

8 Active Recreation Is the site used for active 
recreation? E.g. formal 
sport and more formal 
play including use of 
formal play areas, pitches 
and games areas etc... . 

Council knowledge 

9 Cultural/Events 
Potential 

Does the site have 
potential to be used for 
small scale community 
events? 

Council knowledge 

 
3.4 Protection of the Green Guarantee sites is afforded by the Council’s ownership and 
 ensures that any disposal of, or change of use of a Green Guarantee site is 
 considered by Cabinet. Previous Cabinet Reports set out that certain works that are 
 in the community interest and do not impose any unbudgeted financial commitment 
 on the Council can be authorised by the Director. Such works are regarded as being 
 wholly consistent with the Green Guarantee strategy and would include:  
 

• Proposals intended to enhance the recreational or leisure value of Green 
Guarantee sites for the communities they serve 

• Proposals directly related to the management of the site for its current use 
• The removal and/or replacement of existing structures or apparatus where there 

had been public engagement and where the local Parish Council are in 
agreement with the proposal 

• Proposals for the creation or management of below ground easements and 
wayleaves with full re-instatement following the proposed works 

                                                 
 

Page 149



 

 

4 
 

• Leases which are in the community interest, which safeguard the land for uses 
which align with the Green Guarantee strategy and which include appropriate 
protection from development within their terms. 

3.5 The Council also intends that highways infrastructure works will be acceptable on 
 land protected under the Green Guarantee.  
 
4.0 Summary of main proposals 
 
4.1 This report proposes the extension of the Green Guarantee protection to an 
 additional 107 which meet the criteria set out in paragraph 3.3 and are therefore in 
 accordance with the declaration of sites over several phases since 2015. 
4.2 The new proposed sites are set out in a list in Appendix 1 with site maps provided 
 in Appendix 2. 
 
5.0 Alternative Options 
 
5.1 The Council is committed to recognising and protected locally accessible  green 
 space and has already protected 198 Green Guarantee sites alongside 
 extensive areas of Local Nature Reserve. 
 
5.2 These additional 107 sites are worthy of inclusion in the Green Guarantee  under 
 the criteria set out for the declaration through earlier cabinet reports. This  would 
 bring the total number of Green Guarantee sites within the borough to 306. 
 
5.3 The established alternative route for protecting small areas of green space is 
 the Local Green Space designation set out under paragraphs 101 – 103 of 
 National Planning Policy Framework. This route is only available at the time 
 of adopting a new Local Plan or making a Neighbourhood Plan. The Council 
 has, in its adopted Local Plan, left the Local Green Space route available for 
 use during the Neighbourhood Plan making process and has determined that it 
 will use the Green Guarantee process set out in cabinet reports since 2015 
 to protect these kind of spaces in its ownership.  
 
6.0 Key Risks 
 
6.1 Internal consultation with relevant officers has taken place and the sites proposed 
 meet the established criteria for inclusion in the Green Guarantee protection. No 
 other key risks have been identified associated with the proposal which seeks to 
 protect the land from disposal or development and change of use but proposes no 
 other changes to access arrangements or usage. 
 
7.0 Council Priorities 
 
7.1 The inclusion of existing land under the Green Guarantee plays an important role in 
 maintaining a healthy balance in spatial planning between the built environment and 
 green infrastructure.  
 
7.2 Research has shown that the public health benefits derived from living close to 
 accessible green spaces are considerable and include decreased levels of obesity, 

Page 150



 

 

5 
 

 heart disease and diabetes as well as lower levels of stress. Access to green spaces 
 is also seen as an effective treatment for clinical depression and regular walking 
 has been shown to increase life expectancy. Provision of accessible green spaces 
 can help to reduce costs on some local NHS services. 
 
7.3 It is increasingly recognised that we are facing three challenges linked to the natural 
 environment:  
 
 - The impacts of a changing climate,  
 - The impacts of current declines in biodiversity, and  
 - The increasing need to strengthen the connections between people and the 
  natural world.  
 
 The protection of additional areas of Green Guarantee land, as part of a wider suite 
 of sites across the borough, will help to address these challenges at a local level. 
 
7.3 The Council recognises the role each site, both small and large, plays in increasing 
 local resilience to a changing climate. The Green Guarantee sites play a supporting 
 role to the larger core sites (including Local Nature Reserves and SSSIs) and the 
 protection ensures residents will have continued access to accessible green space 
 on their doorstep allowing them to create meaningful connections to the natural 
 environment as well as helping people improve their health and wellbeing by 
 engaging in healthy activities locally. The Council is not simply providing these 
 spaces but working actively to ensure they are participatory. Telford’s green spaces 
 are cared for by a combination of Council services and just under 30 individual 
 ‘friends of’ groups, many of which are affiliated with The Telford Green Space 
 Partnership. 
 
7.4 The response to the coronavirus pandemic has highlighted the need for our 
 communities to have access to local green space and has shown that there are 
 inequalities in the levels of local green space provision and accessibility. At the 
 height of the pandemic in 2020 the UK’s People and Nature survey found that nearly 
 50% of adults surveyed had spent more time in the natural environment than before 
 the pandemic. However, it was also found that people’s ability to access local green 
 space was strongly linked to their socio-economic status. People living in areas of 
 high deprivation, on low incomes or without a current job were less likely to be 
 visiting local green spaces. Similar trends were also found for older people, minority 
 ethnic groups and those with long term illness. 
 
8.0 Financial Implications 
 
8.1 The Council will continue to manage and maintain the sites at its current budget 
 levels. S106 funding and other infrastructure investment funding will be used to 
 refurbish play and sport facilities and other site infrastructure where it has been 
 secured against a particular need in that area – this is in line with the previous 
 Cabinet Reports which set out circumstances, including site improvements in the 
 public interest, which are acceptable under the Green Guarantee.   
 
 
 

Page 151



 

 

6 
 

9.0 Legal and HR Implications 
 
9.1 The Council has determined that it will use the Green Guarantee process set out in 
 cabinet reports since 2015 to protect locally accessible green space.  
 
9.2.     Cabinet is the decision-making body in respect of management of Council owned 
 land. These powers can be delegated to officers who can exercise these powers 
 without the need to seek Cabinet approval by way of a formal report. 
 
9.3.  Cabinet has already decided that it should retain the decision-making responsibility 
 for all significant decisions relating to those areas included in the Council’s Green 
 Guarantee list. 
 
9.4 This report recommends arrangements which helpfully clarify when officers are able 
 to exercise their delegated powers in consultation with the relevant Cabinet member 
 in respect of these sites without having to seek Cabinet authority. 
 
9.5. There are no HR implications. 
 
10.0 Ward Implications 
 
10.1 The designation of the areas as Green Guarantee will deliver borough wide benefits 
 and specific impacts in multiple wards. 
 
10.2 The designation of the Green Guarantee sites contributes to several priorities, 
 including: 
 

 • Ensuring that neighbourhoods are safe, clean and well maintained  
 • Improving the health and wellbeing of our communities and addressing  
  health inequalities. 

 
10.3 The provision of accessible green spaces contributes to supporting the delivery 
 of the Borough’s public health priorities encouraging people of all ages to  remain 
 active.  
  
11.0 Health, Social and Economic Implications 
 
11.1 In 2010 Natural England published ‘Nature Nearby’ setting out the recommended 
 standards for Accessible Natural Greenspace: 
 
 “Everyone, wherever they live, should have accessible natural greenspace: 

• Of at least 2 ha in size, no more than 300 metres from home; 
• At least one accessible 20 ha site within 2 km of home; and 
• One accessible 500 ha site within 10km of home; plus 
• A minimum of one hectare of Local Nature Reserve per 1000 population” 

11.2 The larger Green Guarantee sites contribute to the borough achieving this 
 standard and the smaller sites contribute too, sometimes providing a green 
 walking route by which residents can access a larger site and sometimes simply 
 providing a green view or a tiny oasis within the built up area bringing people into 

Page 152



 

 

7 
 

 closer contact with green spaces and nature and providing opportunities, of 
 varying kinds, for exercise, reflection, relaxation and engagement. 
 
11.3 Health inequalities are often linked to individuals’ access to nature. It has been 
 shown that living close to accessible green spaces can promote public health and 
 reduce levels of obesity, heart disease, reduce stress and levels of depression. 
 
11.4 Access to high quality green space is important to health and wellbeing at all 
 stages in life. Learning through natural play is a key part of developing 
 imagination, physical fine motor skills and improves a child’s ability to deal with 
 stress and adversity in life. Activities in nature can have a significant impact on 
 reducing social isolation and symptoms anxiety and depression in adults. 
 
12.0 Equality and Diversity Implications 
 
12.1 The Council, working with parish and town councils, friends groups and local 
 environmental organisations has made a commitment to address the inequalities 
 in physical, cultural and social access to the natural environment and this reflects 
 even more positively given the changes seen through the pandemic. 
 
12.2 Volunteering through Friends of Groups is an established and effective way of 
 engaging a wide range of people and provides opportunities for maintaining and 
 improving physical health as well as providing social opportunities. These groups 
 also offer opportunities for local people to be involved in site management and 
 decision making processes through the steering groups on which Telford & Wrekin 
 Council, town and parish councils and local people work together for the good of 
 the site. Friends of Groups can be established for sites of varying sizes, many 
 smaller green spaces have active volunteer groups engaged in their maintenance 
 and use. 
 
12.3 Telford & Wrekin Council is also delivering Live Well Telford, an online community 
 directory which signposts local people to a range of services across the borough. 
 Volunteering opportunities at green spaces are made available on this directory.  
 
13.0 Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
 
13.1 The green and open spaces in the borough hold a considerable resource of 
 biodiversity which the Council is making a baseline assessment of biodiversity 
 value in 2022 and 2023. The Council will identify potential for increasing 
 biodiversity value across these sites, through amending and altering management, 
 and determining how those increases are funded in the long term. 
 
13.2 Protecting sites and maintaining them as green spaces provides a range of 
 ecosystem services including urban cooling, flood storage and carbon 
 sequestration. 
 
14.0  Background Papers 
 
 1 Cabinet Report 15 October 2015 entitled Green Guarantee and associated 
  minutes 

Page 153



 

 

8 
 

 
 2 Cabinet Report 29 January 2016 entitled Donnington Recreation Ground  
  Centenary Fields and associated minutes 
 
 3 Cabinet Report 31st May 2018 entitled Green Guarantee and the big green 
  vote & associated minutes 
 
 4 Cabinet Report 6th January 2021 entitled Green Guarantee Review and  
  associated minutes 
 
15.0  Appendices 
 
 1 Site List – New Sites 
 2 Site Maps – New Sites 
 
16.0  Report Sign Off 
 
 Signed off by  Date sent  Date signed off Initials  
 Director   19/10/2022  21/10/2022  JD 
 Finance   19/10/2022  25/10/2022  AEM 
 Legal    19/10/2022  02/11/2022  SH 
 SDM    19/10/2022  03/11/2022  VH 

Page 154



Appendix 1: Site List (by ward) 

Admaston and Bratton 

1. Admaston Open Space West, Admaston 

Apley Castle 

2. Sunderland Drive Green Space 

3. Beaufort Close Green Space 

4. Peregrine Way Green Space – North 

5. Peregrne Way Green Space – South 

6. Eider Drive Green Space 

7. Grainger Drive 

Arleston 

8. Mount Gilbert 

9. Festival Gardens Green Space 

10. Kingsway Crescent 

11. Stone Crescent Green Space 

12. Princess Avenue Green Space 

Brookside 

13. Brookside Avenue Green Space 

14. Brookside Avenue Green Space West 

15. Brookside Avenue Green Space East 

16. Brookside Spine 

17. Bishopdale 

18. Bishopdale South Green Space 

19. Linley Drive Green Space 

20. Brindleyford Play Area 

College 

21. Urban Gardens 

22. Victoria Road Play Area 

Dawley and Aqueduct 

23. Doseley Road Playing Field 

Page 155



24. Southall Play Area 

25. Pageant Drive Green Space West 

26. Pageant Drive Green Space East 

27. Aqueduct Primary School 

28. Majestic Way West 

29. Aqueduct Road/Bridgnorth Road 

30. Old Office Road Woodland 

31. Pool Hill 

Donnington 

32. The Common Green Space 

33. Bradley Road 

Dothill 

34. Dee Close Green Space 

Ercall 

35. Union Road Green Space 

36. Florence Close Allotments 

Hadley and Leegomery 

37. Summerhouse Drive 

38. Halifax Drive South 

39. Cheltenham Court East 

40. Lawton Farm Way East 

41. Hurleybrook Way Extension 

Haygate 

42. Grooms Alley Public Open Space – BMX Track 

43. Orleton Lane Open Space Extension 

Horsehay and Lightmoor 

44. Spring Village Play Area 

45. Shire Fields Way Play Area 

Ironbridge Gorge 

46. Upper Furnace Pool 

Page 156



47. Cherry Tree Hill Play Area 

48. The Green, Coalbrookdale 

49. Land in Hodge Blower 

50. The Lloyds Green Space South 

51. Cinder Hill Picnic Area 

Ketley and Overdale 

52. Sandbrook 

53. Orchard Close 

54. Copper Beech Road 

55. Ketley Brook Play Area 

56. Red Lees South 

Madeley and Sutton Hill 

57. Court Road East 

58. Sutton Hill Open Space Extension 

59. Sutton Hill Village Green 

60. Bridgnorth Road Woodland Extension 

Malinslee and Dawley Bank 

61. Spout Way Green Space 

62. Brunel Road Play Area 

63. Royal Way Spine 

64. Jubilee Gardens Play Area 

65. Prince Edward Crescent Green Space 

66. Southwater Way Extension 

67. Milners Lane Green Space 

Muxton 

68. Marshbrook Way Play Area 

Newport 

69. Shukers Field Extension 

Newport North and West 

70. Strine Brook Extension 

Page 157



71. Hawkstone Avenue Green Space 

72. Wrekin Avenue Green Space 

73. Alton Grove Green Space 

74. Newport Canal SSSI West 

Newport South and East 

75. Newport Canal SSSI East 

76. Norbroom Park South 

77. Ploughmans Croft Play Area 

Oakengates and Ketley Bank 

78. Oakengates Open Space Extension 

79. Withington Close South 

80. Rocfield Terrace South 

81. Beveley Road North 

Park 

82. Deer Park Road Green Space 

Priorslee 

83. Rookery Road South Woodland 

84. Daisy Bank Drive North 

Shawbirch 

85. Glade Way East 

86. Oakfield Road Green Space 

St Georges 

87. Walker Crescent Green Space 

The Nedge 

88. Hollinswood Open Space Extension 

89. Dinchope Drive South 

90. Dallamore Play Area 

91. Dudmaston Open Space 

92. Doddington Open Space 

93. Hollinswood Primar School 

Page 158



94. Brands Farm Way Open Space North 

95. Brands Farm Way Open Space South 

96. Randlay Community Centre Green Space 

97. Madebrook Pools and Stirchley Dingle North 

98. Dunsheath North 

Woodside 

99. The Saplings Play Area 

100. Beech Road Play Area 

101. Woodside Centre 

102. Park Lane Centre Play Area 

103. Mound Way Green Space 

Wrockwardine Wood and Trench 

104. Capewell Road 

105. Maple Close/Newfield Drive 

106. Bridge Close 

107. James Nelson Crescent 

 

Page 159



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2: Site Maps (by ward) 

Admaston and Bratton 

1. Admaston Open Space West, Admaston 

 

Apley Castle 

2. Sunderland Drive Green Space 

 

  

Page 161



3. Beaufort Close Green Space 

 

4. Peregrine Way Green Space – North 

 

  

Page 162



5. Peregrine Way Green Space – South 

 

6. Eider Drive Green Space 

 

  

Page 163



7. Grainger Drive 

 

Arleston 

8. Mount Gilbert 

 

  

Page 164



9. Festival Gardens Green Space 

 

10. Kingsway Crescent 

 

  

Page 165



11. Stone Crescent Green Space 

 

12. Princess Avenue Green Space 

 

  

Page 166



Brookside 

13. Brookside Avenue Green Space 

 

14. Brookside Avenue Green Space West 

 

  

Page 167



15. Brookside Avenue Green Space East 

 

16. Brookside Spine 

 

  

Page 168



17. Bishopdale 

 

18. Bishopdale South Green Space 

 

  

Page 169



19. Linley Drive Green Space 

 

20. Brindleyford Play Area 

 

  

Page 170



College 

21. Urban Gardens 

 

22. Victoria Road Play Area 

 

  

Page 171



Dawley and Aqueduct 

23. Doseley Road Playing Field 

 

24. Southall Play Area 

 

  

Page 172



25. Pagaent Drive Green Space West 

 

26. Pagaent Drive Green Space East 

 

  

Page 173



27. Aqueduct Primary School 

 

28. Majestic Way West 

 

  

Page 174



29. Aqueduct Road/Bridgnorth Road 

 

30. Old Office Road Woodland 

 

  

Page 175



31. Pool Hill 

 

Donnington 

32. The Common Green Space 

 

  

Page 176



33. Bradley Road 

 

Dothill 

34. Dee Close Green Space 

 

  

Page 177



Ercall 

35. Union Road Green Space 

 

36. Florence Close Allotments 

 

  

Page 178



Hadley and Leegomery 

37. Summerhouse Drive 

 

38. Halifax Drive South 

 

  

Page 179



39. Cheltenham Court East 

 

40. Lawton Farm Way East 

 

  

Page 180



41. Hurleybrook Way Extension 

 

Haygate 

42. Grooms Alley Public Open Space – BMX Track 

 

  

Page 181



43. Orleton Lane Open Space Extension 

 

Horsehay and Lightmoor 

44. Spring Village Play Area 

 

  

Page 182



45. Shire Fields Way Play Area 

 

Ironbridge Gorge 

46. Upper Furnace Pool 

 

  

Page 183



47. Cherry Tree Hill Play Area 

 

48. The Green, Coalbrookdale 

 

  

Page 184



49. Land in Hodge Blower 

 

50. The Lloyds Green Space South 

 

  

Page 185



51. Cinder Hill Picnic Area 

 

Ketley and Overdale 

52. Sandbrook 

 

  

Page 186



53. Orchard Close 

 

54. Copper Beech Road 

 

  

Page 187



55. Ketley Brook Play Area 

 

56. Red Lees South 

 

  

Page 188



Madeley and Sutton Hill 

57. Court Road East 

 

58. Sutton Hill Open Space Extension 

 

  

Page 189



59. Sutton Hill Village Green 

 

60. Bridgnorth Road Woodland Extension 

 

  

Page 190



Malinslee and Dawley Bank 

61. Spout Way Green Space 

 

62. Brunel Road Play Area 

 

  

Page 191



63. Royal Way Spine 

 

64. Jubilee Gardens Play Area 

 

  

Page 192



65. Prince Edward Crescent Green Space 

 

66. Southwater Way Extension 

 

  

Page 193



67. Milners Lane Green Space 

 

Muxton 

68. Marshbrook Way Play Area 

 

  

Page 194



Newport 

69. Shukers Field Extension 

 

Newport North and West 

70. Strine Brook Extension 

 

  

Page 195



71. Hawkstone Avenue Green Space 

 

72. Wrekin Avenue Green Space 

 

  

Page 196



73. Alton Grove Green Space 

 

74. Newport Canal SSSI West 

 

  

Page 197



Newport South and East 

75. Newport Canal SSSI East 

 

76. Norbroom Park South 

 

  

Page 198



77. Ploughmans Croft Play Area 

 

Oakengates and Ketley Bank 

78. Oakengates Open Space Extension 

 

  

Page 199



79. Withington Close South 

 

80. Rocfield Terrace South 

 

  

Page 200



81. Beveley Road North 

 

Park 

82. Deer Park Road Green Space 

 

  

Page 201



Priorslee 

83. Rookery Road South Woodland 

 

84. Daisy Bank Drive North 

 

  

Page 202



Shawbirch 

85. Glade Way East 

 

86. Oakfield Road Green Space 

 

  

Page 203



St Georges 

87. Walker Crescent Green Space 

 

The Nedge 

88. Hollinswood Open Space Extension 

 

  

Page 204



89. Dinchope Drive South 

 

90. Dallamore Play Area 

 

  

Page 205



91. Dudmaston Open Space 

 

92. Doddington Open Space 

 

  

Page 206



93. Hollinswood Primary School 

 

94. Brands Farm Way Open Space North 

 

  

Page 207



95. Brands Farm Way Open Space South 

 

96. Randlay Community Centre Green Space 

 

  

Page 208



97. Madebrook Pools and Stirchley Dingle North 

 

98. Dunsheath North 

 

  

Page 209



Woodside 

99. The Saplings Play Area 

 

100. Beech Road Play Area 

 

  

Page 210



101. Woodside Centre 

 

102. Park Lane Centre Play Area 

 

  

Page 211



103. Mound Way Green Space 

 

 

  

Page 212



Wrockwardine Wood and Trench 

104. Capewell Road 

 

105. Maple Close/Newfield Drive 

 

  

Page 213



106. Bridge Close 

 

107. James Nelson Crescent 

 

Page 214



 

Indoor Sports and Leisure Strategy 2022-2032 

 

“We are delighted that residents consider our leisure facilities to be of good or 
excellent quality. It’s essential that they are great places for our residents to keep fit 
and healthy. 
  
“Our ten-year strategy provides a framework to ensure the borough’s indoor sports 
and leisure service is able to meet future and current demand.  Our leisure facilities 
play a vital role in contributing to people’s physical and mental wellbeing. AS a 
council on the side of our residents, this is why we will continue to invest in our 
council owned gyms and swimming pools.”  
   

 

  

Page 215

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Borough of Telford and Wrekin 

Cabinet 

15 December 2022 

Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 

 
 
Cabinet Member: Cllr Kelly Middleton - Cabinet Member: Leisure, Public Health 

and Well-Being, Equalities and Partnerships 

Lead Director: Felicity Mercer – Director: Communities, Customer & 

Commercial Services 

Service Area:  Commercial Services (Operations) 

Report Author:  Stuart Davidson – Service Delivery Manager: Operations 

Officer Contact 
Details:   Tel: 01952 382601 Email: stuart.davidson@telford.gov.uk 
 
Wards Affected:  All Wards 

Key Decision:  Key Decision 

Forward Plan:  Yes - 27 September 2022 

Report considered by: SMT – 08 November 2022 

Business Briefing – 17 November 2022 

    Cabinet – 15 December 2022  

 
 
1.0 Recommendations for decision/noting: 

 

It is recommended that Cabinet:- 

1.1 Endorses the Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy (2022-2032). 
 
1.2 Delegates authority to the Director: Communities, Customer and Commercial 

Services in consultation with the Lead Cabinet Member: Leisure, Public Health 
and Well-Being, Equalities and Partnerships to progress the actions set out in 
paragraph 4.2 of this report. 

 
 
 

Page 217



Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy  
 

2 

 

2.0 Purpose of Report 

2.1 The purpose of this report is to present to Cabinet the key findings and 
recommendations of the Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy. 

 
3.0 Background 

3.1 In October 2021 Cabinet approved the appointment of consultants to support the 
production of a new Indoor Sports and Leisure Strategy for the borough to replace 
the current Leisure Facilities Framework (2007-2027). 

 
3.2 It is 15 years since the strategy was launched and despite the unprecedented and 

unforeseeable financial climate the Council has retained all of its leisure centres 
and added new and replaced, extended, or refurbished all of its leisure centre 
facilities. Investment into the Council’s leisure facilities alongside investment to 
improve access to these services, such as through the extension of the free 
swimming offer, is key to helping residents be physically active and contributes 
towards improved physical and mental health and well-being. New facilities have 
been developed at Abraham Darby, Telford Tennis Centre, Telford Park and 
Telford Langley schools. Wellington, Oakengates, Newport, Horsehay, Telford Ice 
Rink and Telford Ski Centre have all been extended or refurbished. 

 
3.3 Current council priorities, local drivers and the wider national sport and physical 

activity context have moved on and the need therefore exists to develop a new 
strategy for the borough. 

 
3.4 The new 10 year Strategy will provide a framework to ensure that the Borough’s 

indoor sports and leisure provision is able to meet current and future demand, 
contribute to council priorities and further increase community physical activity 
levels.  

 
3.5 The Strategy will be used to inform future service planning including investment 

priorities. The council has already committed to investing £14m of capital funding 
into the development and maintenance of its leisure facilities (detailed below) over 
the next two years as part of its On Your Side programme:- 

 

 Investment into a new swimming pool in the Dawley area. 

 Investment into health & fitness facilities and all new equipment at 
Wellington (completed July 2022), Abraham Darby (November 2022) 
and Stirchley (February 2023).  

 Investment to develop a new indoor cycling studio at Abraham Darby 
(October/November 2022) 

 Investment to replace and upgrade Telford Athletics Stadium 
floodlighting with new LED lights (completed September 2022) 

 Investment to replace the 3G artificial pitch surface and other works at 
Oakengates Leisure Centre (February/March 2023) 

 Investment into improving the golf course at Horsehay, phase 1 tee 
renovation (completed September 2022), phase 2 scheme of works 
being developed for bunker, drainage and footpath works (spring 2023). 

Page 218



Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy  
 

3 

 

 Investment to improve facilities at Telford Ski Centre, currently 
developing a design brief for the extension and enhancement of the 
Nursery slope. 

 Investment into the enhancement of facilities at Telford Tennis Centre, 
proposal to explore opportunity for Padel court provision. 

 Investment into essential maintenance of leisure facilities across the 
borough 

 Investment into a new leisure management and booking system 

 Investment into free junior swimming lesson provision (Launched 
October 2022) 

3.6 Significant local and national policy research, industry benchmarking, facility 
audits, public and stakeholder consultation and the use of the Sport England 
Facility Plan Modelling tool has been used to inform the development of the 
Strategy. 

 
3.7 Sport specific consultation was undertaken with the respective National Governing 

Bodies of Sports (NGBs) to obtain their overview of local supply and demand, 
future needs and opportunities. Discussions were also held with representatives 
from the NHS and a number of local secondary Head Teachers to explore matters 
such as potential future co-location opportunities. 

 
3.8 The Sport England Facility Planning Model (FPM) has been used to project the 

extent to which local Sports Hall and Swimming Pool provision is sufficient to meet 
current and future needs of the borough. This takes into account a range of factors 
such as facility location, age, size and hours of operation and mapping this against 
local demographic information and national participation data. 

 
3.9 A number of stakeholder discussions were held to identify local priorities and 

priority groups. A resident’s survey was completed to capture current physical 
activity levels, attitudes toward physical activity, key barriers to participation and 
potential encouragement factors. Themes emerging from the resident’s survey 
were then explored in more detail through targeted focus groups including 
sessions with inactive residents, workers, older people, Asian women, and people 
with a disability.   

4.0 Summary of main proposals  

4.1 Key findings 

4.1.1 The Council’s leisure centres are considered to be well placed to serve 

local residents. All facilities were rated green and as being excellent or 

good through the facility audits, they are all of a high quality, clean and well 

maintained with evidence of ongoing investment. Benchmarking illustrates 

that all facilities are recovering well post-Covid and that swimming 

indicators are particularly strong, reflective of the council investment into 

free swimming for under 25’s and £1 swimming for over 50’s and 

concessionary groups. 

4.1.2 Whilst improving physical activity levels across the board should be a focus 

for future service planning, particular importance should be given to 

Page 219



Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy  
 

4 

 

prioritising inactive communities and those communities most in need. To 

maximise community benefit leisure centres should offer activities for every 

stage of life to support physical and mental health. 

4.1.3 The council has recently launched as part of its 10 by 10 initiative, an 

investment of £73k per year over the next 3 years, to fund up to two 

thousand free swimming lesson courses for children aged between 5 and 

10 years who cannot currently swim. This investment will enable children 

across the borough to develop an essential life skill and benefit fully from 

the Council’s free swimming initiative for all residents under 25. 

4.1.4 Some 89% of survey respondents said that improving facilities would 

encourage participation and 42% of respondents were keen to do more 

exercise. Ensuring facilities and staff are welcoming and supportive was 

cited as being of significant importance. 

4.1.5 Cost and lack of confidence were reported by residents as the two main 

barriers to participation. Limited accessibility to school based leisure sites, 

particularly swimming pools, during the school day was also identified as a 

barrier to participation, a theme that also came through strongly in the 

recent Dawley Swimming Pool consultation. 

4.1.6 Sports hall provision within the borough is identified as being sufficient and 

well located to meet current and projected future need. The recommended 

priority is to continue work with a number of schools to increase accessible 

hours on school sites rather than the development of any additional 

provision. 

4.1.7 The swimming pool modelling identifies that there are areas of current 

unmet demand for swimming provision within the borough, the highest level 

of unmet demand being in Dawley/Madeley. This unmet demand is 

projected to grow as the population increases, placing additional demands 

on the only public swimming pool in the south of the borough at Abraham 

Darby. As a consequence of this, projected demand by 2031 will be 

significantly greater than supply, resulting in significant capacity issues at 

Abraham Darby. 

4.1.8 Whilst the modelling shows that there are a number of pools within a 

reasonable distance (as determined by the Facility Plan Model) of this area 

these are typically privately operated pools located in hotels or fitness 

facilities which are not accessible to a large proportion of residents living in 

the area. 

4.1.9 Additionally it is considered likely that the local demand for swimming is 

significantly higher than that allowed for within the modelling tool as a 

consequence of the council’s pro-active investment into free swimming for 

residents under 25 and swimming for £1 for over 50’s and concessionary 

groups. As such, further adding to the projected unmet local demand for 

accessible swimming pool provision within the Dawley area. 

Page 220



Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy  
 

5 

 

4.1.10 As with sports halls opportunities should be explored to work with schools 

that have swimming facilities to provide additional community access. 

4.1.11 There is a lack of a dedicated learner pool facility within the borough. 

However, the inclusion of a moveable floor within the facility at Abraham 

Darby provides a significant amount of additional shallow water space to 

support the learn to swim programme. Such provision also helps with 

accessibility and usability of the pool by people with disabilities or additional 

needs. 

4.1.12 The Strategy recommends that the council should progress the provision of 
additional pool space in the Dawley area. The Council has already given a 
commitment to provide a new swimming pool and £1m has been identified 
as part of the On Your Side investment programme to further progress this 
commitment.  

4.1.13 The provision of a new pool received strong local public support, with 84% 
of respondents strongly agreeing that a new swimming pool in Dawley 
would benefit the local community and 95% of respondents indicating that 
they or members of their family would like to swim more often. Further 
consultation is currently taking place to help develop the facility plans to 
ensure maximum community benefit. 

4.1.14 There are no recognised national standards for health & fitness facility 
provision. However, local facility and latent demand modelling identifies that 
the size and location of the council facilities is good and that they offer 
sufficient capacity to realise the projected latent demand that exists within 
the borough. There is potential opportunity for future membership growth 
particularly at Abraham Darby and Wellington. As such, no significant 
changes are recommended,  

4.1.15 The Strategy does, however, reference the importance of maintaining a 
programme of investment into the facilities in order to enable the service to 
meet customer aspirations in what is a very competitive market. Through its 
On Your Side investment programme the Council has already this year 
refurbished the fitness facilities at Wellington and installed all new 
equipment. Work to create a new indoor cycling studio at Abraham Darby 
refurbish the gym and install all new equipment was also completed earlier 
this month. The fitness equipment at Stirchley is due to be replaced early in 
2023 and will include provision of additional adaptable equipment to 
enhance facilities for people with disabilities. 

4.1.16 The Strategy has identified a limited supply of flexible studio type space, 
such spaces are both important to support the fitness offer but can also 
provide for a range of additional wellbeing and community services 
including social and community building activities, thereby extending the 
reach and impact of facilities. Two facilities have been identified as 
requiring studio space; Lawley and Horsehay Village Golf & Fitness Centre 
and Newport Swimming & Fitness Centre.  Limited community space exists 
within the catchment area of Lawley and Horsehay Village Golf & Fitness 
Centre and as such the development of a flexible studio space at Horsehay 
could potentially also serve as a community centre. 

Page 221



Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy  
 

6 

 

 
4.1.17 Through the NGB consultation the Lawn Tennis Association identified the 

opportunity for Padel court provision at Telford Tennis Centre and Swim 
England identified the need to address levels of unmet demand for water 
space within borough. Cricket England highlighted an aspiration for indoor 
cricket facilities. 

 
4.2 Key recommendations 
 

4.2.1 Progress the provision of additional pool space in the Dawley area. 
 

4.2.2 Development of a Business Case for the provision of a Studio space and 
 Toning (Assisted Exercise) Suite at Lawley and Horsehay Village Golf and 
 Fitness Centre. 

 
4.2.3 Development of a Business Case for the provision of Padel court facilities at 
 Telford Tennis Centre. 

 
4.2.4 Work with education providers to maximise community access to education 
 facilities. 

 
4.2.5 Continue to support and facilitate community based sports and physical 
 activity initiatives to further support public health initiatives, tackle 
 inequalities and stimulate new markets. 

 
5.0 Alternative Options. 

5.1 The key findings and recommendations contained within the Strategy are based 
upon the associated research and evidence base and as such are considered to 
represent the ‘best fit’ in order to meet the current and projected future needs of 
the borough over the next 10 years and to contribute toward achieving council 
priorities. 

 
5.2 In addition to the more traditional sport and physical activities an evaluation of 

potential commercial leisure opportunities has been undertaken. Investigations 
concluded that there are already high level of commercial leisure provision in the 
borough, therefore it is considered there are limited new commercial opportunities. 

6.0 Key Risks 

6.1 The identified action to increase the availability of school sports halls and 
swimming pools for community use is not directly within the Council’s control, 
however, a number of additional Community Use Agreements have been 
developed including at Ercall Wood, Holly Trinity Academy, and Charlton School, 
and these could provide a potential template for discussion with other schools. 

 
6.2 The average age of council swimming pool facilities within the borough is 39 years 

but notably, all have been refurbished since 2007. Most recently, Newport Pool 
underwent an extensive programme of refurbishment and funding has been 
identified to undertake planned essential maintenance works at Oakengates 
Leisure Centre and Wellington Civic and Leisure Centre over the next two years 

Page 222



Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy  
 

7 

 

 
7.0 Council Priorities 
 
7.1 The Strategy supports the council to achieve the following priorities: 
 

Priority 1 – every child, young person and adult lives well in their community. 
 
8.0 Financial Implications 
 
8.1 The Council has already identified £5.28m of capital funding towards further 

improving its leisure offer as part of the wider On Your Side programme of 
investment. In addition to this £73k of revenue funding per year over the next 3 
years has been made available to fund free swimming lessons as part of the 10 by 
10 initiative. 

 
8.2 Of the £5.28m a sum of £500k has been earmarked for the further development of 

facilities at the Telford Tennis Centre that could, subject to the development of the 
proposed business case, support the introduction of Padel facilities. 

 
8.3 Within the On Your Side programme a capital allocation of £8.75million has been 

made available to support provision of a new swimming pool in Dawley with 
revenue funding of £350k per year. The capital allocation will be funded through 
prudential borrowing which has been accounted for in the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy. 

 
8.4 Any further costs and potential funding opportunities arising from the findings and 

recommendations of the Strategy will need to be considered as appropriate, and 
further financial implications considered as part of the Council’s Medium Term 
Financial Strategy. 

 
9.0 Legal and HR Implications 
 
9.1 The Council has a duty pursuant to the Health and Social Care Act 2012 to take 

such steps as it considers appropriate to improve the health of people in its area.  
Producing an effective and current Leisure Strategy and implementing it is one 
way in which the Council can discharge this duty. 

 
9.2 There are no HR implications arising from the recommendations within this report 

and any specific legal advice will be provided in relation to individual Business 
Cases and recommendations where necessary. 

 
10.0 Ward Implications 
 
10.1 The Strategy is Borough wide and as such impacts all wards. 
 
11.0 Health, Social and Economic Implications 
 
11.1 The Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy has been jointly commissioned with the 

Public Health team in recognition of the important contribution such facilities and 

Page 223



Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy  
 

8 

 

services make to physical activity levels and the wider health and wellbeing of the 
community. 

 
11.2 Current adult physical inactivity levels within the borough are above the national 

average, whilst inactivity levels within children are below the national average. 
Both nationally and locally clear links exist between areas of higher deprivation or 
greatest need and higher levels of physical inactivity. Covid has further increased 
the gap in activity levels between lower and higher socio-economic groups, 
widening existing inequalities. 

 
11.3 Providing enhanced opportunities for physical activity will further support residents 

to live well in their communities and help address health inequalities, in particular 
amongst those who are currently inactive and over 45 years of age. Leisure 
facilities can also provide valuable social spaces enabling residents to come 
together and help address social isolation.  

 
11.4 Leisure facilities and policies can play a key role in increasing physical activity 

levels. Beyond this, they have a wider role to play in strengthening and connecting 
communities and directly contribute to the local economy through tourism and 
employment. The social and economic value of such services should not be 
underestimated and will be further explored and quantified through the 
development of the proposed business cases. 

  
12.0 Equality and Diversity Implications 
 
12.1 In developing this Strategy the needs and barriers of a range of groups with 

typically lower reported levels of physical activity than the wider population have 
actively been sought. The findings of this consultation will be used to help inform 
and shape future service development and delivery. 

 
12.2 Leisure Services have been working closely with a range of internal and external 

stakeholders including Social Care colleagues and parent carer forums to develop 
an Inclusive Leisure Partnership Plan which aims to further encourage and 
support participation from people with learning disabilities, physical disabilities and 
Autism.  

 
12.3 The Plan is already being used to inform facility and equipment choices,  

activity programming and to develop specific staff training to break down barriers 
to access and to support participation. 

 
13.0 Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
 
13.1 Leisure Centres are typically big consumers of power and as such are a focus for 

the council in support if its commitment to ensure its operations are carbon neutral 
by 2030. Recent investment has been made into improving the efficiency of 
facilities at Newport Pool, including the installation of an air source heat pump, 
replacing Telford Athletics Stadium floodlighting with new LED units and installing 
EV charging points at Horsehay Golf Centre.  

 

Page 224



Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy  
 

9 

 

13.2 Energy efficiency and sustainability planning will be central to both the 
development of any new facility plans and facility refurbishment works. 

 
14.0  Background Papers 
 

1 Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy: Cabinet 7 October 
2021 

 
15.0  Appendices 
 

A Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032. 
 
16.0  Report Sign Off 
 
Signed off by Date sent Date signed off Initials  
Finance 19/10/2022 25/10/2022 MB 
Legal 30/11/2022 1/12/2022 EH 

 

Page 225



This page is intentionally left blank



Strategic Outcomes Planning Model – February 2022 

 
 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  1 

 

 

 

 

         
 

 

Telford & Wrekin Council  
 
 

Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy  

2022-2032 

 
 
 

 

 

  

November 2022 

Page 227

http://max-associates.com/


Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032 

 
 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  2 

 

CONTENTS 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ................................................................................................... 4 

2. INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................................ 6 

3. STRATEGIC REVIEW........................................................................................................ 9 

4. DEMOGRAPHIC & HEALTH PROFILE .......................................................................... 18 

5. CONSULTATION ............................................................................................................. 29 

6. LATENT DEMAND MODELLING .................................................................................... 46 

7. MOSAIC MAPPING ......................................................................................................... 48 

8. SPORT ENGLAND FACILITY PLANNING MODEL (FPM) ........................................... 53 

9. LEISURE CENTRE FACILITY AUDIT ............................................................................ 57 

10. MAPPING OF PROVISION .......................................................................................... 59 

11. COMPETITION ANALYSIS – Commercial Leisure .................................................. 62 

12. NEEDS ASSESSMENT ................................................................................................ 66 

13. FACILITY RECOMMENDATIONS ............................................................................... 68 

 

 

Figure 1 – Telford & Wrekin Council Vision .............................................................................. 6 
Figure 2 – National Strategies ................................................................................................... 9 
Figure 3 – Government Key Priorities ..................................................................................... 10 
Figure 4 – Local Strategies ...................................................................................................... 11 
Figure 5 – Local Strategies ...................................................................................................... 12 
Figure 6 – Key Demographic and Health Statistics ................................................................ 19 
Figure 7 – Key Health Statistics .............................................................................................. 20 
Figure 8 – Telford & Wrekin Physical Activity profile .............................................................. 21 
Figure 9 – Sport England – Levels of Activity ......................................................................... 22 
Figure 10 – Telford & Wrekin Physical Activity profile by deprivation .................................... 23 
Figure 11 – Levels of Inactivity by deprivation ........................................................................ 23 
Figure 12 – Benefits of Physical Activity ................................................................................. 25 
Figure 13 – Moving Communities Analysis ............................................................................. 27 
Figure 14 – Stakeholder Engagement Common Strategic Themes ....................................... 29 
Figure 15 – Target Groups ...................................................................................................... 30 
Figure 16 – Barriers to participation ........................................................................................ 30 
Figure 17 – Facilities / Co-location .......................................................................................... 31 
Figure 18 – Co-location of services and co-delivery of services ............................................ 31 
Figure 19 – Online Resident Survey Key Findings – Barriers / Encouragement factors ....... 32 
Figure 20 – Online Resident Survey Key Findings – Activity Levels / Leisure usage ............ 33 
Figure 21 – Online Resident Survey Key Findings – Inactive people .................................... 33 
Figure 22 – Online Resident Survey Key Findings – Older people ........................................ 34 
Figure 23 – Online Resident Survey Key Findings – People with disability / long term health 
conditions ................................................................................................................................. 34 
Figure 24 – Focus Group Key Findings – Inactive .................................................................. 35 
Figure 25 – Focus Group Key Findings – Workers ................................................................. 35 
Figure 26 – Focus Group Key Findings – Older People ......................................................... 36 
Figure 27 – Focus Group Key Findings – Asian Women ........................................................ 36 
Figure 28 – Focus Group Key Findings – Disability ................................................................ 37 
Figure 29 – Barriers to Participation Evidence ........................................................................ 38 
Figure 30 – User profile findings.............................................................................................. 50 
Figure 31 – Strategic Themes and Outcomes ........................................................................ 66 
Figure 32 – Leisure Facility Core Needs ................................................................................. 67 

Page 228



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032 

 
 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  3 

 

 

Map 1 – Key Telford & Wrekin Leisure Estate Sites ................................................................. 7 
Map 2 – Telford & Wrekin Indices of Multiple Deprivation Map by Ward ............................... 24 
Map 3 – Telford Risk of Inactivity Map by Ward...................................................................... 25 
Map 4 – Telford & Wrekin Leisure Users Catchment Map ..................................................... 49 
Map 5 – Telford & Wrekin Leisure under-represented mosaic groups catchment Map ......... 52 
Map 6 – Indoor Leisure Provision ............................................................................................ 59 
Map 7 – Council leisure centres – 20 minute drive time catchment ....................................... 60 
Map 8 – Council leisure centres – 20 minute drive time catchment for deprivation ............... 60 
Map 9 – Council leisure centres / community centres – Risk of Inactivity map – 20 minute 
drive time catchment ................................................................................................................ 61 
Map 10 – Telford & Wrekin Borough – Indoor climbing .......................................................... 62 
Map 11 – Telford & Wrekin Borough – Trampolining .............................................................. 62 
Map 12 – Telford & Wrekin Borough – Soft Play .................................................................... 63 
Map 13 – Telford & Wrekin Borough – Ten Pin Bowling ........................................................ 64 
 

Table 1 – Strategic Themes and Outcomes ............................................................................ 15 
Table 2 – NGB Key Findings ................................................................................................... 40 
Table 3 – Projected Total Demand for Fitness – Membership Levels .................................... 46 
Table 4 – Projected Total Demand for Fitness – Members per Station ................................. 46 
Table 5 – Facility Audit ............................................................................................................ 57 
 

  

Page 229



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032 

 
 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  4 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1. Telford & Wrekin Council (TWC) requires a new Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy for the 
Borough for 2022 to 2032 to reflect current Council priorities, local drivers and the wider 
national sport and physical activity context.  The new strategy will provide a framework 
to ensure that the Council’s indoor sports and leisure provision is able to further increase 
community physical activity levels, continue to meet current and future demands, 
contribute to the Council’s commitment to ‘Protect, Care and Invest’ and to ensure every 
child, young person and adult lives well in their community.  

 

1.2. Following a national and local strategic review it was agreed that: 
 

• Leisure facilities have a role to play in connecting communities and providing 
opportunity for everyone to be active. 

• Facility development should take a place-based approach to ensure they are 
providing for local need and demand and to be supportive of local health issues. 

• Leisure facilities are a key element in increasing levels of physical activity, however 
there are other elements such as active travel and active environments that have 
a role to play in making communities more physically active. 

• Leisure centres contribute to the local economy in a variety of ways, including 
tourism and employment and there is an opportunity to maximise the impact they 
have to ensure local communities benefit from their success. 

• The leisure centres need to offer activities for every stage of life, supporting both 
physical and mental health. 
 

1.3. Key to developing the outcomes and recommendations of the strategy was the level of 
consultation with key stakeholders, the local community and national governing bodies.  

The key themes that emerged from these sessions are set out below. 

Figure 1 - Consultation Key Themes 

 

1.4. The evidence gathered to understand the need and demand for future leisure provision 
was collated from a range of different aspects, a summary is provided overleaf. 

Consultation 
Themes

Connected 
communities

Support 
people to live 

well and 
independently

Target groups -
older people, 

children, people 
with health 
conditions, 

inactive, LGBT+

Use physical 
activity to 
support 
social 

priorities

Key Barriers -
Cost & lack of 

confidence

Key 
Encouragement 

factors -
accessibility, 
quality and 
cleanliness

Additional 
pool 

provision

More 
flexible 
space

Improving 
facilities will 
encourage 

participation

Page 230



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032 

 
 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  5 

 

Table 1 - Evidence Summary 

Evidence 
Base 

Key Findings 

Demographic, 
health profile 
and activity 
level review 

• Leisure facilities need to meet the demands of one of the fastest growing 
populations outside London and must be accessible to those living in the most 
deprived areas.  Leisure facilities must be attractive to all age groups. 

• There are some local health issues that increased participation in physical activity 
could positively contribute towards. 

• Rates of participation in physical activity have declined post-Covid.  

• Leisure provision needs to provide opportunities that enables children to remain 
active throughout their teenage years and into adulthood. 

Latent 
Demand 
Modelling 

• There is the potential for growth in the fitness membership base, with the most 
growth projected to be at Abraham Darby and Wellington. 

• Whilst growth is projected the existing gym facilities are large enough to support 
the total demand projected. 

Mosaic Profile • Leisure centres should focus on people within the Modest Traditions group as 
these people will benefit from increased levels of physical activity and are under-
represented at Telford & Wrekin leisure centres. 

• Transient Renters are under-represented overall at the leisure centres. The 
facilities need to continue to offer pay and play activities as this is likely to be more 
attractive to this group than fixed term contracts. 

• The majority of under-represented groups live within the areas where the leisure 
centres are located. 

• Older people are under-represented therefore ensuring there are facilities that are 
attractive to older people is important. 

Facility 
Planning 
Model 

• Additional sports hall facilities are not required in the Council’s leisure portfolio; 
however a better balance could be achieved between supply and demand by 
increasing community access to existing facilities. 

• To meet future swimming demand the Council should consider providing additional 
water space to ensure future need is met. 

Quality Audit • All of the Council’s leisure facilities scored well in the facility audit and there is no 
one facility that stands out as being in need of significant investment to improve 
the quality of offer. 

• However, there is a limited supply of flexible studio space across the portfolio. 

Competition 
Analysis 

• Within Telford there is substantial commercial leisure provision including ten pin 
bowling, soft play and a trampoline park. Planned future provision in the town 
centre presents significant competition for any other commercial leisure facility. 

Facility 
Mapping 

• The mapping highlights that the leisure centres are well placed to serve local 
residents and where there is not a Council facility within 20 minutes there are 
community facilities available. 

 
1.5. Recommendations 
 
1.5.1. Following the needs assessment seven core recommendations have been identified: 
 
Figure 2 - Facility Recommendation Summary 

 

Recommendation 1 -
Additional 

Studio/Flexible 
Space

Recommendation 2 
– Additional 

Swimming Pool

Recommendation 3 
– New Toning 

(Assisted Exercise) 
Suite

Recommendation 4 
– Padel at the Indoor 

Tennis Centre

Recommendation 5 -
Retain Existing 

Sports Halls

Recommendation 6 -
Retain Existing 

Fitness Provision

Recommendation 7 -
Support & Facilitate 

Community 
Provision

Page 231



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032 

 
 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  6 

 

2. INTRODUCTION 
 
2.1. Telford & Wrekin Council (TWC) requires a new Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy for the 

Borough for 2022 to 2032 to reflect current Council priorities, local drivers and the wider 
national sport and physical activity context which has moved on since the last Leisure 
Facilities strategy in 2007.  
 

2.2. The new strategy will provide a framework to ensure that the Council’s indoor sports and 
leisure provision is able to further increase community physical activity levels, continue 
to meet current and future demands, contribute to the Council’s commitment to ‘Protect, 
Care and Invest’ and to ensure every child, young person and adult lives well in their 
community.  
 

2.3. It will sit alongside the Outdoor Recreation Facilities Strategy to provide a robust 
assessment of need and evidence base for future sports and leisure planning, 
investment and policy decision making and be used to inform the Local Plan review. 
 

2.4. Telford & Wrekin Council’s vision1 is to “protect, care & invest to create a better borough” 
with the five priority areas of; 

 

• Every child, young person and adult lives well in their community 

• Everyone benefits from a thriving economy 

• All neighbourhoods are a great place to live 

• Our natural environment is protected, and the Council has a leading role in 
addressing the climate emergency  

• A community focused innovative council providing efficient, effective and quality 
services 

 
 
Figure 3 – Telford & Wrekin Council Vision 

 

 
1 Telford & Wrekin Council Plan 2020 

Page 232



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032 

 
 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  7 

 

2.5. As part of the 2007 Strategy recommendations the Council has replaced, extended or 
refurbished all of its leisure facilities and provided wider community access to school 
sports facilities.  The Council has made available £8.75m to support the delivery of a 
new pool. 
 

2.6. The Council has recently confirmed its commitment to provide additional swimming 
facility provision in Telford to address the geographical in-balance in provision identified 
in the 2007 strategy.   
 

2.7. Future investment and maintenance projects have been identified, with £5.28 million 
capital agreed for next 2 years. 
 

2.8. The leisure facilities are owned and managed by the Council under the operator name 
of TW Leisure.  
 

2.9. The map below sets out location of the Council’s core leisure facilities.  
 

Map 1 – Key Telford & Wrekin Leisure Estate Sites 
 

 

Page 233



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032 

 
 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  8 

 

 
 

 
 

2.10. Consultation with key stakeholders forms a vital element of the strategy work, informing 
the recommendations including any collaborative service opportunities and integrated 
services. 
 

2.11. The report considers the context of recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic. The Council 
sees sport and leisure provision as an important piece of its wider recovery programme, 
playing a key role in delivering more sustainable and healthy communities in the post 
Covid-19 environment.  
 

2.12. The strategy also needs to be considered against the current cost of living crisis 
highlighting the need to sustain affordable leisure provision.   
 

2.13. Active Travel, Active Design and the Active Environment are an important part of the 
wider leisure provision and are covered in Telford & Wrekin Council Plan 2020, Vision 
2032, Telford & Wrekin Council Shaping Places Strategy, Cycling & Walking 2017 
Strategy and Cycling & Walking 2022 plan. This strategy focuses on indoor leisure 
provision.  

 

Page 234



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032 

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  9 

 

3. STRATEGIC REVIEW 
 

3.1. The strategic review outlines the key local and national strategic priorities and considers 
how sport, leisure and wellbeing can contribute towards achieving them. 
 

3.2. National Strategic Priorities  
 

3.2.1. A summary of the key strategies and their respective strategy outcomes/KPIs, such as 
Sport England, Public Health England (PHE) and the British Medical Association (BMA) 
are outlined below. 
 

Figure 4 – National Strategies 

Page 235



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  10 

 

3.2.2.  The infographic below shows the priority of the new government department, the Office 
for Health Improvement and Disparities, and goes on to highlight the recommendations 
from the recent House of Lords paper calling for a national plan for sport, health and 
wellbeing. 
 

3.2.3. These both highlight the focus central government is putting on physical activity and 
levelling health inequalities as the country recovers from the health and other impacts 
of the coronavirus pandemic. 

 
Figure 5 – Government Key Priorities 

 

Page 236



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  11 

 

3.2.4. The final infographic reminds us of the government’s commitment to achieve carbon 
neutrality by 2050, which is relevant given leisure centres’ large contribution to councils’ 
carbon emissions each year. 

 
3.3. Local Strategic Priorities 
 
3.3.1. The figure below outlines the key strategic documents and plans within the Borough and 

surrounding area which the physical activity and sport services have a responsibility to 
contribute towards.  

 
Figure 6 – Local Strategies 

 

 
3.3.2. An analysis of how relevant local Telford & Wrekin strategies support and align with 

national strategies is shown overleaf. 
 
  

Page 237



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  12 

 

Figure 7 – Local Strategies 

  

 

Strategy

Telford & Wrekin Council 
Plan

Vision 2032

Telford & Wrekin  Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy

Telford & Wrekin Council 
Shaping Places Strategy 

2011-2031

Vision

To protect, care and invest to 
create a better Borough

A more inclusive Telford & 
Wrekin

Working Together to enable 
people in Telford & Wrekin to 
enjoy healthier, happier and 

more fulfilling lives

By 2031 Telford and Wrekin will 
have grown to serve a population 
of over 200,000.  Development 
will realise the Borough as an 

outstanding destination for living, 
working and visiting that its 
residents are proud of and 

combines the best of both town 
and countryside

Key 
Priorities

Every child, young person and adult 
lives well in their community

Everyone benefits from a thriving 
economy

All neighbourhoods are a great place 
to live

Our natural environment is protected, 
and the Council has a leading role in 
addressing the climate emergency

A community-focussed, innovative 
council providing efficient, effective 

and quality services

Inclusive carbon neutral economy

Inclusive communities that are 
vibrant, safe and clean

inclusive healthy, independant lives

Support people in Shropshire, Telford 
& Wrekin to lead healthy lives

Develop an integrated care system 
the joins up health and social care

Develop a system infrastructure to 
make the best use of resources, 
reduce duplication and achieve 

financial stability

Improve communication and 
involvement of patient, public and all 

stakeholders

Cohesive, healthy and prosperous 
communities

Economic prosperity

Transformation of education

Accessible and integrated transport 
network

Rich cultural experience

Environmental enhancement

Page 238



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  13 

 

 

Strategy

Inclusive Leisure Partnership 
Plan 2022-2023

Telford & Wrekin Cycling and 
Walking Strategy

Telford & Wrekin Playing Pitch 
Strategy 2016

Telford & Wrekin Local Play 
Strategy

Vision

To support and improve the 
delivery, inclusivity and 

accessibility of the leisure 
offer to local people with 

learning, physical disabilities 
and Autism within Telford & 

Wrekin

To provide a safe and 
attractive network of cyclng 

and walking routes to support 
successful, prosperous and 

healthy communities

To ensure that there will be a 
range of outdoor sports 
provision to benefit all 

residents in Telford & Wrekin, 
resulting in an increase in 
participation in sport and 

physical activity both now and 
in the future

A successful, prosperous and 
healthy community which 

offers a good quality of life for 
all the people of Telford & 

Wrekin

Key 
Priorities

Empowerment of disabled people to access 
activities and facilities across the Council 

run leisure and fitness facilities

Promote SEND related activities and 
sessions available in the community to help 
improve awareness and understanding of 

what's available

Upskill and provide training to all leisure 
staff in order to expand knowledge and 

awareness and provide a welocming and 
clear environment when accessing leisure 

facilities

Taking a holistic approach to health and 
wellbeing through walking and cycling

create long term nehaviour changes 
towards more sustainable and healthier 

travel choices

Make the cycle and walking network more 
accessible to residents and visitors

Integrating community resources to deliver 
the strategy

Protect the existing supply of outdoor sports 
provision

Enhance outdoor sports provision and 
ensure there is sustainability through 

improved quality and a range of 
management models

provide new outdoor sports facilities where 
there is current or future demand to do so

Provide a shared understanding of the 
meaning of play and raise the profile of play

Provide more and better local and inclusive 
play opportunities where they are most 

needed

Improve childrens access to safe places to 
play and socialise

Sustain play opportunities over the long 
term

Page 239



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  14 

 

3.3.3. Strategic Themes and Outcomes 
 

3.3.4. The tables overleaf highlight how national and local strategic priorities are aligned and 
link to the following themes taken from the Telford & Wrekin Council Plan 2020 Live 
Well, Thriving Economy, and Healthy Neighbourhoods.   

 

Page 240



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032 

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential      15 

 

Table 2 – Strategic Themes and Outcomes 

Live Well 

National Strategies 

Sport England’s ‘Uniting the 

Movement’ Strategy 2021-2031 
includes: 
• Positive Experiences for Children 

And Young People - Unrelenting 
focus on positive experiences for 
all children and young people as the 
foundations for a long and healthy 
life. 

• Connecting With Health and 
Wellbeing - Strengthening the 
connections between sport, physical 
activity, health and wellbeing, so 
more people can feel the benefits of, 
and advocate for, an active life. 

BMA Get Moving Report October 
2019 includes: 

• School (physical education 
recognised and protected as an 
essential part of the school 
curriculum) 

PHE Strategy 2020-2025 includes: 

• Help make the healthy choice 
the easy choice to improve diets 
and reduce rates of childhood 
obesity 

Department of Transport - 

Gear change “A bold 
vision for cycling and 
walking” 2020 includes: 

• Healthier, happier and 
greener communities 

• Safer streets 

• Convenient and 
accessible transport 

• Cycling and Walking at 
the heart of transport 
decision making 

Local Strategies 

Telford & Wrekin Health & 

Wellbeing Strategy 202/1-
2022/3 

• Support People in 
Shropshire, Telford & 
Wrekin to lead healthy 
lives 

• Develop an integrated 
care system that joins 
up health and social 
care 

Telford & Wrekin Council Plan 

2020 

• Every child, young person and 
adult lives well in their 
community 

• Everyone benefits from a 
thriving community 

• All neighbourhoods are a 
great place to live 

• Our natural environment is 
protected and the council has 
a leading role in addressing 
climate change emergency 

Inclusive Leisure Partnership Action 

Plan 2022-2023 

• Implementing recommendations 
which support the empowerment 
of disabled people to access 
activities and facilities across our 
council run leisure and fitness 
facilities 

 

Telford & Wrekin Cycling & Walking 

Strategy 

• Taking a holistic approach to 
improving health and wellbeing 
through walking and cycling 

• Create long-term behaviour 
changes towards more sustainable 
and healthier travel choices 

• Make the cycle and walking network 
more accessible to residents and 
visitors 

• Integrate walking and cycling with 
other modes of public transport 

 

P
age 241



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032 

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential      16 

 

Thriving Economy 

National Strategies 

Sport England’s ‘Uniting the Movement’ 
Strategy 2021-2031 includes: 
• Recovering from the biggest crisis in a 

generation and reinventing as a vibrant, 
relevant and sustainable network of 
organisations providing sport and physical 
activity opportunities that meet the needs of 
different people 

Levelling Up the United Kingdom 2022 includes: 

• Institutional Capital – Local leadership, 
capacity and capability 

• Boost productivity, pay, jobs and living 
standards by growing the private sector 

National Infrastructure Strategy 2020 sets out how 
infrastructure can support economic recovery and 
includes: 

• A united UK with thriving communities, cities, 

regions and nations  

Local Strategies 

Telford & Wrekin Council Plan 

• Everyone benefits from a thriving economy 

• All age unemployment is addressed by connecting residents to jobs, 
support and training 

Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports and Leisure Strategy 

• Cohesive, healthy and prosperous communities 

• Economic prosperity 

 

Healthy Neighbourhoods 

National Strategies 

Sport England’s ‘Uniting the 
Movement’ Strategy 2021-2031 
includes: 
• Connecting Communities – 

More communities to enjoy the 
benefits of what sport and 
physical activity can do, both for 
individuals and the place where 
they live and work 

BMA Get Moving Report 
October 2019 includes: 

• Travel (increased investment 
in active travel) 

• Leisure (access to open 
spaces and recreation 
facilities) Work (encourage 
active travel) 

PHE Strategy 2020-2025 includes: 

• Take steps towards creating a 
smoke-free society by 2030 

• Develop and share advice on how 
to best reduce air pollution levels 
and people’s exposure to polluted 
air 

• Promote good mental health and 
contribute to the prevention of 
mental illness 

Department of Transport - Gear change 
“A bold vision for cycling and walking” 
2020 includes: 

• Healthier, happier and greener 
communities 

• Safer streets 

• Convenient and accessible transport 

• Cycling and Walking at the heart of 
transport decision making 

Local Strategies 

Telford & Wrekin Council Shaping Places 
Strategy 

• Cohesive, healthy and prosperous 
communities 

• Environmental enhancement 

Telford & Wrekin Walking and Cycling Strategy   

• Make the cycle and walking network more accessible to 
residents and visitors 

• Integrating community resources to deliver the strategy 

Telford & Wrekin Health & Wellbeing 
Strategy 2020/1-2022/3 

• Support people in Shropshire, Telford & 
Wrekin to lead healthy lives 

 

P
age 242



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032 

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  17 

 

 

 
 

  

National & Local Strategies - What does this mean for leisure provision in Telford & Wrekin? 
 

• Leisure facilities have a role to play in connecting communities and providing 
opportunity for everyone to be active. 

 

• Facility development should take a place-based approach to ensure they are providing 
for local need and demand and to be supportive of local health issues. 

 

• Leisure facilities are a key element in increasing levels of physical activity, however 
there are other elements such as active travel and active environments that have a role 
to play in making communities more physically active. 

 

• Leisure centres contribute to the local economy in a variety of ways, including tourism 
and employment and there is an opportunity to maximise the impact they have to 
ensure local communities benefit from their success. 

 

• The leisure centres need to offer activities for every stage of life, supporting both 
physical and mental health. 

Page 243



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  18 

 

4. DEMOGRAPHIC & HEALTH PROFILE 
 
4.1. This section sets out the insight data used to understand the socio demographic context of 

the Borough up to 2032. The services going forward will need to reflect the future and 
current population and health profile of the area. 
 

4.2. According to Understanding Telford and Wrekin 2019, ‘Telford & Wrekin is one of the fastest 
growing local authority areas outside of London, largely due to record levels of housing 
growth.’ As the population grows and ages it is becoming more diverse with notable 
changes in the age profile of the population which will impact on the future demand for 
services. 

 
4.3. Stage 2 includes the review of the Borough’s demographic profile, health profile and 

physical activity participation rates.   
 

4.4. The key demographic and health statistics are outlined overleaf. 
 
  

Page 244



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  19 

 

Figure 8 – Key Demographic and Health Statistics 

 
  

Page 245



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  20 

 

Figure 9 – Key Health Statistics 

 
  

Page 246



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  21 

 

4.5. Current Levels of Activity  
 
4.5.1. The levels of physical activity for adults and children in the Telford & Wrekin Borough area 

are detailed in the figure below. 
 

Figure 10 – Telford & Wrekin Physical Activity profile  

 

Page 247



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  22 

 

4.5.2. Telford & Wrekin has higher rates of adult inactivity than the national and regional average 
and higher rates of children inactivity than the regional average but better than the national 
average. 
 

4.5.3. The most recent adult data (Nov 20/21) shows a decline in active adults post-Covid 
(59.8% Nov 18/19) with 55.6% of Telford & Wrekin adults active (England 61.4%) and an 
increase of inactive adults to 30.1% (was 26.3% Nov 18/19) which is worse than the 
England average (27.2%).  
 

4.5.4. Telford & Wrekin has high levels of deprivation and ageing population. Both these factors 
(as shown in the infographic below) correlate to lower levels of activity in adults.  

 
Figure 11 – Sport England – Levels of Activity   

 

 
 

4.5.5. National data shows a strong link between areas most in need and inactivity.2  
 

4.5.6. Looking at activity variations by areas with greatest need it can be seen in the figure overleaf 
that people in the most deprived areas have the highest inactivity. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2 Public Health England Fingertips: Physical Activity (2018) 

Page 248



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  23 

 

 
Figure 12 – Telford & Wrekin Physical Activity profile by deprivation   

 

 
 

4.5.7. This analysis is broken down further to see what proportion of those who do less than an 
average of 30 minutes a day (less active) fell into one of these three sub-groups. The graph 
below shows that 73% of those in the most deprived areas did no activity in the last 28 days. 
 
Figure 13 – Levels of Inactivity by deprivation  

  

 

Page 249



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  24 

 

4.5.8. The map below shows specific areas most in need in the Borough with several wards to 
the South of Telford (Woodside, Madeley & Sutton Hill, Brookside, Dawley & Aqueduct, 
Malinsee & Dawley Bank), College ward in Wellington and Donnington in the top IMD 10% 
‘most in need’ wards in the country. These areas most in need are served by local leisure 
facilities with Dawley Sports & Leisure @ Langley School in Dawley and Abraham Darby 
Sports & Leisure Centre near Woodside, Wellington Civic & Leisure Centre in Wellington 
and Oakengates Leisure Centre near Donnington.   

 
Map 2 – Telford & Wrekin Indices of Multiple Deprivation Map by Ward 

 

 

 

  

Page 250



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  25 

 

Map 3 – Telford Risk of Inactivity Map by Ward 
  

 
 

4.5.9. As shown below, there is a strong correlation between regular physical activity and 
reducing the risk of a number of health conditions. This makes improving activity levels 
important across the board, but especially among deprived communities where inactivity 
may be more prevalent.3  
 
Figure 14 – Benefits of Physical Activity 

 
3 Public Health England Fingertips: Physical Activity (2018) 

Page 251



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  26 

 

4.6. Covid-19 Impact on activity levels 
 

4.6.1. In April 2021, Sport England analysed the impact of coronavirus on activity levels across 
England[1]. They found that the combined impact of the storms and coronavirus had a 
significant effect on outdoor activity in early 2020 and a large number of people were inactive 
– doing less than 30 minutes of activity a day, or nothing at all. 

 
4.6.2. The report found that compared to the previous 12 months, activity levels had fallen 

amongst all groups, with those from lower socio-economic groups seeing larger drops than 
those from higher socio-economic groups. As such, existing inequalities widened.  

 
4.6.3. Interestingly, whilst the restrictions severely limited the ability to take part in some activities 

such as walking for travel, and team sports, the data showed how significant attempts were 
made by the population to find alternatives through increases in activities like ‘walking for 
leisure’, ‘running’ and ‘cycling for leisure and sport’.  

 
4.6.4. Although at home exercise was encouraged, and the numbers of people working out at 

home increased significantly, it was not enough to offset the lost gym environment and drop 
in those taking part in team sports. 

  
4.6.5. With coronavirus still part of our lives, and with omicron currently prevalent, it will be 

important to monitor how communities continue to react, and the impact on levels of and 
type of physical activity undertaken. 

 
4.7. Covid-19 Implications for the Market  
 
4.7.1. Moving Communities4  
 

4.7.2. Following the re-opening of leisure centres in April 2021, Sport England and partners (of 
which Max Associates is one) launched the largest ever data gathering of; financial 
performance, participants, throughput, customer experience, service delivery (Quest) and 
social value of public leisure centres.  

 

4.7.3. The data will assist local authorities, leisure providers and policymakers to support the 
recovery of public gyms and leisure centres, taking informed decisions to keep the nation 
active. A summary of key findings is overleaf.  
 

  

 
[1] https://www.sportengland.org/news/impact-coronavirus-activity-levels-revealed  
4 https://movingcommunities.org 

Page 252

https://www.sportengland.org/news/impact-coronavirus-activity-levels-revealed


Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  27 

 

Figure 15 – Moving Communities Analysis    

 

 
  

Page 253



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  28 

 

  

Demographic Analysis - What does this mean for leisure provision in Telford & 
Wrekin? 
 

• Leisure facilities need to meet the demands of one of the fastest growing 
populations outside London. 

 

• 15-19 is the largest age group and 65-69 year age group is projected to grow 
the most, highlighting the importance of having leisure facilities that are 
attractive to all age groups. 

 

• Leisure facilities must be accessible to those living in the most deprived areas. 
 

• There are some local health issues that increased participation in physical 
activity could positively contribute towards, such as the level of overweight 
and obese adults and children and the under 75 mortality rate from 
cardiovascular disease that is considered preventable. 

 

• Rates of participation in physical activity have declined post-Covid, therefore 
the leisure facilities need to attract those that have either always been inactive 
or have stopped being active during the Covid-19 pandemic.  

 

• Rates of physical activity in children are better than the national average, 
leisure provision needs to provide opportunities that enables children to 
remain active throughout their teenage years and into adulthood. 

 

• National trends show swimming has recovered well post-Covid, with 
significant demand for swimming lessons, fitness and group exercise has 
been slower to recover.  Ensuring there is a strong swimming offer with 
capacity for mixed programming will be important for future leisure centre 
provision along with strong marketing and sales to support the fitness offers 
within the leisure centres. 

Page 254



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  29 

 

5. CONSULTATION  
 

5.1 Stakeholder Consultation  
 
5.1.1 To ensure buy-in throughout the process and identify opportunities for co-location a series 

of stakeholder workshops were undertaken.  
 

5.2 Stakeholder Workshop Summary 
 
5.2.1 Key stakeholder engagement was carried out between May-July 2022, both within the 

Council Members and Officers and with external partners.  The full detailed report can be 
found in Appendix 1. The common themes that came out of the stakeholder consultation 
were: 
 
Figure 16 – Stakeholder Engagement Common Strategic Themes 

 

 
5.2.2 In general, stakeholders saw target groups as everyone and that physical activity needs to 

be maintained across the life course. When discussed in more detail a wide range of 
specific target groups were identified which mainly correlated to the Sport England focus 
on under-represented ‘hard to reach’ groups – inactive, women, ethnic minorities, poverty. 
 

5.2.3 Additional groups specific to the area included targeting activities for families, older people, 
‘middle aged workforce’ and 16-21 year olds, of which all were felt are not currently being 
serviced but would benefit from participation in physical activity.  
 

5.2.4 Disability groups were also mentioned which is supported by initiatives in the new Inclusive 
Leisure Partnership Action Plan.   

 
 
  

Page 255



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  30 

 

Figure 17 – Target Groups 
 

 
 
5.2.5 Stakeholders identified the following barriers often cited by people to being physically 

active. 
 
Figure 18 – Barriers to participation  

 

 

Page 256



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  31 

 

 
Figure 19 – Facilities / Co-location  
 

 
  

 
 
Figure 20 – Co-location of services and co-delivery of services   

 
 

Page 257



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  32 

 

5.2.6 Interventions related feedback from these sessions is also included within facility and 
service interventions of this report. 

 

5.3 Public Consultation 

 

5.3.1 The objective of the public consultation is to identify the reasons and barriers that non-users 

face to ensure future provision; both the leisure centres themselves and how the centres 

are managed, positively impact the barriers and are planned to directly increase the uptake 

of those that currently do not take part. 

 

5.4 Online Resident Survey  
 
5.4.1 In May-June 2022 public consultation was undertaken including an online survey with 485 

respondents.  The key findings from the consultation are set out below. 
 

5.4.2 A more detailed report can be found in Appendix 2. 
 

Figure 21 – Online Resident Survey Key Findings – Barriers / Encouragement factors 

 

  

Page 258



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  33 

 

Figure 22 – Online Resident Survey Key Findings – Activity Levels / Leisure usage 

 
 

 
Figure 23 – Online Resident Survey Key Findings – Inactive people 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 259



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  34 

 

Figure 24 – Online Resident Survey Key Findings – Older people 

 
 

Figure 25 – Online Resident Survey Key Findings – People with disability / long term health 

conditions  

 
 

5.4.3 These suggestions and considerations will be incorporated in Stage 3 of the report for 
service and facility intervention recommendations. 

 

5.5 Focus Groups 

 

5.5.1 A series of focus groups were undertaken July-August 2022, themed and organised by 
the Council. Themes included – inactive, workers, older people, Asian women, and 
parents/carers of young children with a disability. The focus groups were a hybrid of virtual 
focus groups and a mini survey each tailored to the specific group.   

 

Page 260



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  35 

 

5.5.2 It was highlighted that those engaged with wish to do more physical activity which is 
positive. Tailored programming, information, empathetic and knowledgeable staff, and 
specific sessions for these groups would encourage them to be more active in leisure 
centres. Other key findings from the focus groups are set out below.  
 

Figure 26 – Focus Group Key Findings – Inactive  

 
 
Figure 27 – Focus Group Key Findings – Workers 

 

  

Page 261



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  36 

 

Figure 28 – Focus Group Key Findings – Older People 

 

Figure 29 – Focus Group Key Findings – Asian Women  

 

  

Page 262



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  37 

 

Figure 30 – Focus Group Key Findings – Disability  

 

 

5.6 Barriers to Participation Evidence  
 

5.6.1 Three recent national studies through surveys and consultation have identified barriers to 

participation and encouragement factors particularly in the light of the pandemic.  
 

  

Page 263



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  38 

 

Figure 31 – Barriers to Participation Evidence 

 

 

  

Page 264



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  39 

 

5.6.2 Detailed encouragement factors and recommendations from these three studies will be 

taken into account in the facility needs assessment. 

 

5.7 NGB Consultation 
 
5.7.1 Consultation with NGBs is paramount to obtain their local knowledge and overview of 

supply and demand, the current and future needs along with their priorities for the local 
area. Consultation with NGBs can also identify unmet and latent demand. 

 

  

Page 265



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032 

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential      40 

 

Table 3 – NGB Key Findings 

National Governing Body Key Findings 

Badminton England • Above average badminton participation rates 

• Seven affiliated clubs with over 160 affiliated members suggests a strong infrastructure  

• Nearly 90.0% of facilities meet Badminton England quality threshold 

• Projected increase in regular demand in 2030 is 121 court hours 

British Gymnastics  • Strong return to the sport post Covid 

• Emphasis on gymnastics as foundation sport for 5 to 11 year olds  

• Increase in West Midlands region of 9000 to 28,800 participants 2014 - 2020 

• 8 gymnastics clubs in Telford & Wrekin area with 2,726 participants. No clubs registered on facility project list as 
wanting to develop a dedicated facility project. Ensuring long term access to all sites delivering gymnastics a priority.  

• Lilleshall National Sports Centre is a key facility and priority for British Gymnastics our Sport.  

Swim England  • Clubs in Telford & Wrekin area – 502 members in total 

• Telford Aqua – swimming and artistic swimming. Club reserves have been eaten into and they are looking for 
commercial sponsorship. Learning to swim was main income generation and is currently compromised. They do have a 
healthy influx of members but in need of more realistic pool time 

• Newport & District – have lost members in all squads since pandemic 

• Swim England would like to work with the local authority to ensure that the unmet demand is addressed and to ensure 
that current facilities remain sustainable  

P
age 266



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  41 

 

National Governing Body Key Findings 

England Volleyball • Telford Volleyball Club is the only Volleyball club in Telford & Wrekin. Based at Telford College, Wellington.  

• Promoting club at planned Commonwealth Games Legacy Activation in Telford as well as expanding hall hire to cater 
for our team play progression as well as to attract new players and improvers.  

• Club vision is to provide separate individual team training, a beginners and improvers training, junior’s and sitting 
volleyball hence the increased hall hire, but obviously at a cost and this can only be sustained with increased numbers 
to the club.  

England Squash  • Participation in squash has declined over previous years but is now defined by Sport England insight as stable. There 
has been an increase in female participation. 

• Telford & Wrekin is an area of interest for future delivery and squash participation. 

• There are three squash venues in the local authority of Telford & Wrekin, these are a mix of education and public 
leisure centre sites with approx. 7 courts across three venues.  

• The number of courts in the locality does not meet the national requirement of 1 court per 10,000 people (Currently 
1:24,065 approx.).  

• It is imperative that current sites are maintained, and more sites added in the future with more of a geographical spread 
of courts to meet the needs of the population. 

• England Squash are keen to ensure that squash courts are protected for the future and will work with facility managers 
and providers on these matters. 

England Indoor Bowls 
Association 

• There are no purpose-built Indoor Bowls sites in the local authority area.  

• Shrewsbury Indoor Bowls Club is the only alternative purpose-built Indoor Bowling facilities within the “acceptable drive 
time” of 30 minutes. Shrewsbury does have the capacity to accept new participants, if they were prepared to travel for 
say 20 – 30 minutes. 

• Population projection shows an increase in older population, many of whom have traditionally been attracted to the 
Sport of Indoor Bowls. 

ECB  • Shropshire Cricket are keen to work with Council as currently undertaking new facilities strategy for cricket in the area. 

• Priorities for the Telford & Wrekin Council area are - no facilities which can provide good level indoor practice – lots of 
clubs go to Shrewsbury School as this is a purpose-built space. Some of the school sites allow us to use for soft ball 
practice but do not cater for hard ball practice. Charlton School probably the only State school whilst Wrekin College 
allow practice although it is an aging facility. 

• Future priorities – As above and a cricket shaped indoor 4 lane practice facility, plus consideration for an outdoor site at 
the Ironbridge development (which is in Shropshire but will provide provision for Telford & Wrekin residents) plus with 
the expanse of Lawley a green space with a small number of wickets and pavilion provision is essential because the 

P
age 267



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  42 

 

National Governing Body Key Findings 

clubs to the north Wellington and St Georges have overplay and they are both two pitch sites, Madeley is a one pitch 
site and also has over play and topographical issues with its outfield. 

o The pavilion at Edgmond is in a very poor condition and not conducive to a “Welcoming Environment” 
o All future facility developments must ensure they are appropriate for all – female and disability 

• Key clubs 
o Wellington – are the largest club in the County, the threat is the tenure on their ground especially with the land 

adjacent to the club being developed into new homes. They have 5 senior teams, over 100 Juniors and are a 
leading club in terms of Women and Girls development. They have most recently enquired about becoming a 
Disability Hub club. 

o St Georges – have four senior sides, a number of Junior sides and are a current Disability Champion Club in 
the heart of the community where they have close to 100 youngsters and are embarking on a refurbishment of 
their changing rooms for the second pitch and improving access for disability. Although next to the Social Club 
they have to work hard to enable the club to be open when they host certain events unless they are 
commercially viable to the Social Club. 

o Shifnal – have one of the best facilities in the County but need to expand to a two-pitch site as they have to 
play some of their matches at Weston Park. Junior numbers are over 100, they play host to numerous age 
group matches and used a reference site for other clubs in terms of grounds maintenance. 5 days a week it is 
available to the community for meetings and group activity. 

o Newport – have healthy numbers and continue to expand Juniors and Women & Girls but the ancillary facilities 
cannot cater adequately with female changing and toilet facilities either nonexistent (changing) or insufficient for 
the growth we are seeing. 

o Lilleshall – In desperate need of pavilion refurbishment as the upstairs changing rooms are now not fit for 
purpose and they have continuing drainage issues – the club have seen a reduction in Juniors which is related 
to the facility restrictions. Plus, they have to use the Edgmond facility for their third team on a Saturday. 

o Bowring Rec – was used by Church Aston but have moved to Broseley due to the problems with managing the 
site during Covid, which became too unwieldy for volunteers. By moving to Broseley they have now started a 
second team. 

o Madeley CC – a key club for ourselves and development of cricket in the heart of the area of socio and 
economic deprivation. The outfield is undulating and not the largest, has limitations for activity. We have given 
them a grant to add a non turf pitch on site for Women & Girls training and matches. The club is of good 
standard and hosts numerous community events. The changing facilities are of poor quality and need a major 
refurbishment or replacement. This club is one we have earmarked for the Ironbridge development, possibly as 
a second pitch location. 

• Long term plans or developments - Our priorities would be to increase the capacity of cricket in South Telford – 
maybe through a green space in Lawley and also the development of the Ironbridge development (although Shropshire 
LA).  

P
age 268



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  43 

 

National Governing Body Key Findings 

o We would be looking at facility improvements at Newport, Madeley and Lilleshall as priorities. 
o An indoor site which can take some of the pressure off the small number of sites we have in the County would 

be advantageous to allow cricket to be sustainable and an opportunity to grow – not just open age but in the 
Juniors and Women and Girls development – who struggle to book indoor facilities. 

• Funding – None, as ECB are finishers in terms of funding, for major projects ECB would encourage clubs to look 
locally CIL/106 monies and also encourage to look at Sport England and the local Land Fill options available. Some of 
the smaller projects say up to £20K we could look at supporting with some club contributions. In recent years we have 
funded non turf at Bowring Rec, Madeley and supported Shifnal with their site developments. We have also provided 
grants toward St Georges for the refurbishment of the original pavilion. We are looking to make a contribution to some 
improvements at Newport, but it won’t be as far reaching as it needs to be for a permanent solution for them. 

LTA Priorities for indoor facilities in the Telford & Wrekin Council area? 
- increase participation in programmes, provide a wider diversity of opportunities for local residents and maintain/ upgrade 
 the facilities at the Indoor Tennis centre 
- Support the existing clubs to maintain and grow membership, improve facilities, open up to be more inclusive and have 

good governance. 
- Upgrade the tennis courts open for community access in parks, provide a seamless online booking system and the 

ability for these parks to be sustained for future use. Link appropriate community programmes.  
- Increase our work with IMD 1-3 and LSEG groups to tailor our approaches to fit local need, provide activation training 

and resources needed to sustain tennis within these groups. 
- Increase the connection and activation of schools’ tennis programmes through our LTA youth programme which 

provides free training, resources and funding to all education settings for U18’s. where schools have tennis courts, 
enable community use and promotion of these through Rally, online booking and links to local coaching programmes. 

- Develop the links to post 18 education facilities, increasing community use and creating pathways to working in the 
tennis industry, where facilities have tennis courts or suitable MUGAS, enable community use and promotion of these 
through Rally, online booking and links to local coaching programmes. 
  

What might be required to support your priorities in the coming years? 
-  Ongoing support from the local authority to develop parks and make them sustainable. 

- Increased links to local workforce plans to ensure we can grow local coaches, volunteers and young leaders. 
- Improved links to schools’ sport to embed LTA youth into schools and community usage of schools’ facilities. 
- Continued links to new housing developments and section 106 to support new park hub sites with courts being 

developed. 
- LA plans reflect the maintenance and sustainability of current courts, we are fully consulted before they are 

removed or changed in usage. 
- Better support for local clubs linked to community activation programmes, social prescribing etc. 

  

P
age 269



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  44 

 

National Governing Body Key Findings 

Key clubs within Telford & Wrekin Council Borough and what do they deliver for your sport?  
  

Boughey 
Gardens 
Tennis Club Judith Paton heyjudes24@outlook.com 

Family-friendly club with age range from 4-80. 
Focus on both competitive and beginners' 
opportunities.   

High Ercall 
Tennis Club David Haston david@hastonreynolds.co.uk 

4-court Village-based club with a full weekly 
provision of activities. New members welcome    

Wrekin & 
Telford 
Tennis Club Carol Pritchard carolpritchard22@yahoo.co.uk 

Formed through the merging of Wrekin Tennis 
Club and Telford Community Tennis Club, 
based on outdoor courts at Telford Tennis 
Centre. Midlands winner for LTA Communities 
and Parks Regional Award   

  
Do you have any long term plans or developments in mind /in progress for the Telford & Wrekin Council area? 

- We are hopeful that the Council will sign off on agreements to upgrade parks, add gate access and online 
booking then promote the wider programme of free and low cost tennis. 

- The long term plans for expansion of courts or facilities will depend on the successful activation and growth of 
existing facilities, community usage and partnerships. 

- We believe that there is an opportunity for Padel courts at the indoor tennis centre, these can only be 
loan funded or through a partnership agreement. 

  
Do you have access to funds to support your plans and developments across the Telford & Wrekin Council area? 

- We have funding on offer to support parks dependant which is a capital based grant. 
- Loan funding of up to £250K is available for all facilities to develop capital provision, in particular LED 

floodlighting, covered courts and Padel facilities. 
- Revenue support for programmes like LTA youth in schools (training and £250 voucher for each school), 

Community funding for IMD 1-3 areas to develop volunteers and community resources.  

England Boxing • No response 

England Basketball • No response 

England Netball • No response.  

  

P
age 270

mailto:heyjudes24@outlook.com
mailto:david@hastonreynolds.co.uk
mailto:carolpritchard22@yahoo.co.uk


Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  45 

 

 

Consultation - What does this mean for leisure provision in Telford & Wrekin? 
 
Stakeholder engagement: 

• Stakeholder engagement highlighted strategic themes that emphasise the 
role leisure centres can play in connecting communities – the social impact 
should not be underestimated. 

 

• Leisure centres must be accessible and inclusive. 
 

• The leisure centres are a place for everyone, however some of the key target 
groups were identified as young people, old people, people with disabilities, 
people from low socio-economic groups, middle aged workforce and people 
with long term health conditions. 

 

• Accessibility in terms of day time community use is limited at the leisure 
centres, which are based on school sites. 

 

• Leisure centres should be welcoming spaces. 
 

• Additional water space and studio space were highlighted as being areas for 
improvement to the existing portfolio. 

 
Public Engagement: 

• 89% of survey respondents said improved facilities would encourage 
participation, therefore engaging with this group following any investment will 
be important in attracting them to the leisure centres. 

 

• Of the inactive respondents, costs and lack of confidence were the top two 
barriers to participation. 

 

• 42% of respondents are keen to do more exercise, which is encouraging for 
improving leisure centre usage. 

 

• Inactive respondents said that cleanliness and improved facilities would 
encourage them to participate in physical activity. However it is assumed that 
this group do not visit the leisure centres regularly if at all.  Therefore, 
supporting this group to visit the leisure centres by providing welcoming 
centres that are not intimidating to enter with supportive staff is important to 
change their perception of leisure centre provision. 

 
NGB Consultation 

• England squash highlighted the importance of maintaining existing provision 
- Telford & Wrekin is an area of interest for future delivery and squash 
participation. 

 

• England Cricket stated that there is a need for indoor cricket provision in the 
Telford & Wrekin area, however they have no funding available. 

 

• The Lawn Tennis Association stated that there is an opportunity for Padel 
courts at the Tennis Centre and they have loan funding available up to £250k. 

 

• Swim England highlighted the need to address the current level of unmet 
demand for water space in the Council area. 

 
 

Page 271



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  46 

 

6. LATENT DEMAND MODELLING 
 

6.1. Latent demand reports for fitness were commissioned from The Leisure Database 
Company to identify the potential fitness membership growth across the sites and the 
demand for fitness facilities.  Knowing the membership demand will help inform the size 
of fitness facilities required. 

 

6.2. The table below sets out the estimated total demand for fitness against the current 
membership levels and details the potential latent demand.  Across the Council’s 
portfolio it is projected that there is the potential for 1,952 additional members, the 
majority of these are expected to be achieved at Abraham Darby Sports & Leisure 
Centre and Wellington Civic & Leisure Centre. 

 

Table 4 – Projected Total Demand for Fitness – Membership Levels  

Leisure Facility 
Projected Total 

Demand for Fitness 

Current 
Membership (Aug 

2022) 

Estimated Latent 
Demand for Fitness 

Abraham Darby 
Sports & Leisure 
Centre 

1,453 840 613 

Langley & Horsehay 
Village Golf & Fitness 
Centre 

469 427 42 

Newport Swimming & 
Fitness Centre 

996 692 304 

Oakengates Leisure 
Centre 

1,117 936 181 

Dawley Sports & 
Leisure @ Langley 
School 

162 77 85 

Stirchley Sports & 
Leisure @ Park 
School 

148 79 69 

Wellington Civic & 
Leisure Centre 

2,167 1,509 658 

Total 6,512 4,560 1,952 
 

6.3. Pre-Covid (2019) total membership was at 5,050 and prior to the two budget gyms 
opening in Telford membership levels were at 5,714. 
 

6.4. The following table shows the total demand against the current number of fitness 
stations and the benchmark of members per station.  Across the industry a benchmark 
of c.30 members per station is considered optimal, a higher figure would suggest there 
could be capacity issues at peak times. 

 

Table 5 – Projected Total Demand for Fitness – Members per Station 

Leisure Facility 
Estimated Total 

Demand for Fitness 

Current Number 
Stations 

Members per 
station if total 

demand achieved 

Abraham Darby 
Sports & Leisure 
Centre 

1,453 53 27 

Langley & Horsehay 
Village Golf & Fitness 
Centre 

469 41 11 

Newport Swimming & 
Fitness Centre 

996 42 23 

Page 272



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  47 

 

Leisure Facility 
Estimated Total 

Demand for Fitness 

Current Number 
Stations 

Members per 
station if total 

demand achieved 

Oakengates Leisure 
Centre 

1,117 54 21 

Dawley Sports & 
Leisure @ Langley 
School 

162 47 3 

Stirchley Sports & 
Leisure @ Park 
School 

148 50 3 

Wellington Civic & 
Leisure Centre 

2,167 56 39 

 

6.5. This table suggests that there is sufficient capacity within all of the gyms to 

accommodate the projected total demand with the exception of Wellington Civic & 

Leisure Centre, which is just over the optimal position at 39 members per station.  Whilst 

it is possible to manage a gym facility at this level it will be important to ensure that 

programming supports peak usage times and that there is a strong group exercise 

programme to reduce the demand on the gym. 

 

 

  

Latent Demand Modelling - What does this mean for leisure provision in Telford & 
Wrekin? 
 

• There is the potential for growth in the fitness membership base, with the most 
growth projected to be at Abraham Darby and Wellington. 

 

• Whilst growth is projected the existing gym facilities are large enough to 
support the total demand projected. 

 

• The size of the gym at Dawley Sports & Leisure @ Langley School and 
Stirchley is large compared to the total membership potential, however as 
these are dual use facilities altering the size of the gym is not considered 
viable. 

 

• Consequently, no significant changes to the gym facilities are considered to 
be required. 

 
 
 
 

Page 273



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  48 

 

7. MOSAIC MAPPING 
 
7.1 Catchment Analysis  
 
7.1.1 A catchment analysis of current leisure centre users was completed to understand 

where existing members live to which groups are currently over or underrepresented.  
 
7.1.2 The map overleaf shows that the majority of users come from within the Telford & Wrekin 

Borough. Users from outside of the Borough come from clusters situated in the west 
around Shrewsbury, the south at Much Wenlock, Broseley, the south east 
Wolverhampton, Shifnal and in the north at Market Drayton. 

  

Page 274



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  49 

 

 
Map 4 – Telford & Wrekin Leisure Users Catchment Map 

P
age 275



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  50 

 

7.2 Mosaic Profile of Leisure Centre Users  
 
7.2.1 Using Mosaic, a detailed segmentation system, each user’s postcode was assigned a 

Mosaic code to analyse the existing leisure centre user base and from this identify which 
mosaic groups are currently under-represented in the leisure centres. This will help 
inform the types of facilities that could be introduced to attract under-represented 
groups. 

 
7.2.2 The combined key findings of the catchment and mosaic analysis were: 

 

• 88.8% of total current users live within the Telford & Wrekin local authority area. 

• 23.4% of the 181,322 population currently use one of the leisure venues. 

• Women are overrepresented in users (almost 52.1% are female compared to 
47.9% male) and conversely men are underrepresented, this is counter to general 
activity levels and shows the impact leisure centres have on attracting women to 
be active.  

 
Figure 32 – User profile findings 

 
 

Page 276



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  51 

 

7.2.3 Given these findings the following opportunities were identified: 
 

• Continue to attract female users. Consider targeting men particularly 45+. 

• Look at initiatives and programming to attract more 45+ year old users. 

• Aspiring Homemakers, Prestige Positions and Domestic Success are 
already using the leisure centres despite being able to afford to use a premium 
private health club. People are prepared to pay for a good facility and services 
so new future facility developments should help to retain their customer loyalty. 

• Family Basics are young families with limited budgets, who may therefore face 
more financial barriers to participating in physical activity. This group is over-
represented which suggests the centres are doing well and should continue to 
attract families on lower incomes.  

• Focus on the people within the Modest Traditions group as these people will 
benefit from increased levels of physical activity and wellbeing activities and are 
under-represented at Telford & Wrekin leisure centres. Modest Traditions are 
older people, mostly aged between 45 and 65, living in inexpensive homes that 
they own, often with the mortgage nearly paid off. Both incomes and 
qualifications are modest, but most enjoy a reasonable standard of living. 
Consider reviewing programming to retain and attract more people from this 
group. 

• Transient Renters are under-represented overall. This group are, as the name 
suggests, often on the move, often living in a property for only a short length of 
time, so hard to build up a loyal customer base. Pay and play more likely to 
appeal to this group.  

 
7.2.4 The map overleaf shows where the under-represented mosaic groups5 live in the 

Borough. This can help more targeted marketing and initiatives to help encourage more 
representation from these mosaic groups.  
  

 
5 Based on Telford Loyalty Card users  

Page 277



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  52 

 

 
Map 5 – Telford & Wrekin Leisure under-represented mosaic groups catchment Map 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Mosaic Profile - What does this mean for leisure provision in Telford & Wrekin? 
 

• As well as continuing to attract existing users the leisure centres should focus 
on people within the Modest Traditions group as these people will benefit from 
increased levels of physical activity and wellbeing activities and are under-
represented at Telford & Wrekin leisure centres. 

 

• Transient Renters are under-represented overall at the leisure centres. This 
group are, as the name suggests, often on the move, often living in a property 
for only a short length of time, so it is hard to build up a loyal customer base. 
The facilities need to continue to offer pay and play activities as this is likely 
to be more attractive to this group than fixed term contracts. 

 

• The majority of under-represented groups live within the areas where the 
leisure centres are located and are within a 20 minute drive time. 

 

• Older people are under-represented therefore ensuring there are facilities that 
are attractive to older people is important to increase participation in physical 
activity from this target group. 

 
 
 
 

Page 278



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  53 

 

8. SPORT ENGLAND FACILITY PLANNING MODEL (FPM) 
 
8.1 Up to date FPM runs were commissioned to understand the current demand for sports 

hall and swimming pool facilities.  These studies are a quantitative, accessibility and 
spatial assessment of the supply, demand and access. 
 

8.2 The FPM assesses all sports hall and swimming pool provision where community 
access is granted this includes not only the Councils leisure facilities, but private 
provision, education sites and community/club run facilities.   The audit excludes 
facilities that are deemed to be either for private use, too small, closed or there is a lack 
of information, particularly relating to hours of use. 

 
8.3 The assessments include the swimming pools and sports halls and population in the 

Borough and neighbouring local authority areas. 
 

8.4 The FPM is based on an assessment of used capacity/utilisation and demand, when 
calculating over/under supply of facilities it does not factor in financial performance, 
existing cost of the service or local policies that may influence usage such as free 
swimming initiatives. 

 
8.5 The key findings are outlined below, the detailed FPM reports are contained in 

Appendix 3 and Appendix 4. 
 

8.6 Sports Halls 
 

8.6.1  The key findings from the facilities planning model are as follows: 
 

• Of the total 69 courts modelled, 11 are unavailable for community use in the 
weekly peak period in both years. This is 16% of the Borough’s total supply.  

• No sports hall is available for the maximum 46 hours in the weekly peak period.  

• Three of the 12 sites have been modernised.  

• There is a projected 9% increase in the Borough’s population and demand for 
sports halls between 2022 and 2031.  

• In 2022 and 2031, there is enough sports hall capacity within a suitable travel time 
to meet 92% of the Borough’s demand for sports halls.  

• In 2022 and 2031, 94% of the Borough’s met demand for sports halls is retained 
within the Borough. The sports halls are very accessible to residents.  

• Unmet demand is 8% of demand in both years. This equates to four courts.  

• Unmet demand too far away from a sports hall is 95% in 2022 and 94% in 2031. 
The remaining unmet demand is due to lack of sports hall capacity.  

• In 2031, reachable unmet demand is highest midway between Ironbridge and 
Stirchley, at 1.2 courts. However, the level of reachable unmet demand is 
insufficient to warrant building a new sports hall to increase access for residents.  

• In 2022, the overall estimated used capacity of the Borough’s sports halls is 70% 
in the weekly peak period. This increases to 77% in 2031.  

• In 2022 and 2031, the estimated used capacity of Oakengates Leisure Centre, 
Dawley Sports & Leisure @ Langley School and Stirchley Sports & Leisure @ 
Park School is 100% in the weekly peak period. In 2031, Burton Borough School 
also has a used capacity of 100%.  

• In 2031, demand exceeds capacity at Burton Borough School, Dawley Sports & 
Leisure @ Langley School and Stirchley Sports & Leisure @ Park School. 

 
8.6.2 The recommendations and considerations for sports hall provision in the Borough is 

that there is a need for a better balance between the supply of sports halls and demand 

Page 279



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  54 

 

by increasing the hours for community use, rather than the provision of additional 
facilities. 

 
8.6.3 The public leisure centre sports halls are available for 44 hours in the weekly peak 

period. Capacity can be increased by a total of six hours in the weekly peak period. 
This will have limited impact on reducing the used capacity of each site.  

 
8.6.4 However, there is much more scope at the eight educational sites. The hours available 

for community use of the main halls range from 27 at Wrekin College Sports Centre to 
44 at Holy Trinity Academy. The remaining sites are available for between 32.5 hours 
and 39 hours in the weekly peak period. 

 
8.6.5 The FPM recommends that four key educational sites are targeted to increase 

community access and capacity, these are: 
 

• Burton Borough School; 

• Wrekin College Sports Centre; 

• Charlton School; and 

• Telford College. 
 
8.7 Swimming Pools 

 
8.7.1 The key findings from the facilities planning model are as follows:  

 

• There are no dedicated learner pools. However, Abraham Darby Sports & Leisure 
Centre has been modernised to include a movable floor and create shallow water 
for learn to swim. The depth of the main pools at the other sites may limit the 
amount of water space suitable for learn to swim.  

• In the Borough, 84% of the total water space is available in the weekly peak period. 
There is scope to increase capacity by extending the opening hours at Hadley 
Learning Community and Wrekin College Sports Centre.  

• The average age of all the swimming pools in 2022 is 31 years, but 39 years for 
the public leisure centres. However, all four public leisure centres have been 
modernised since 2007.  

• There is a projected 9% increase in the Telford and Wrekin population and demand 
for swimming between 2022 and 2031. In 2031, demand is significantly greater 
than supply.  

• In 2022 and 2031, 90% of the Telford and Wrekin demand for swimming pools is 
met.  

• Of the satisfied demand, 94% is retained within the Borough in 2022 and 92% in 
2031.  

• Unmet demand is the equivalent of 201 sqm of water in 2022 and 231 sqm of water 
in 2031.  

• In 2031 the highest level of demand is projected to be between Dawley and 
Madeley, Dawley Sports & Leisure @ Langley School and Abraham Darby are the 
closest leisure centres to these areas. 

• The majority of unmet demand is located too far away from a facility, but unmet 
demand due to lack of facility capacity increases from 20% in 2022 to 26% in 2031.  

• In 2031, reachable unmet demand is highest between Stirchley and Abraham 
Darby Sports & Leisure Centre, at 80 sqm of water. This is insufficient to consider 
providing a new swimming pool in this location due to the close proximity of existing 
leisure centres but is where capacity needs to be increased.  

• Except for Telford Hotel and Golf Resort, all the pools in both years are estimated 
to be operating above 80% used capacity.  

Page 280



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  55 

 

• Demand cannot be met at four sites in 2031:  
 

o Abraham Darby Sports & Leisure Centre  
o Oakengates Leisure Centre  
o Hadley Learning Community  
o Wrekin College Sports Centre 

 

8.7.2 All four public leisure centre swimming pools are available for community use for the 
maximum 52.5 hours in the weekly peak period applied in the FPM. Crucially, there is 
no scope to increase capacity to reduce the used capacity level. 

 

8.7.3 At the educational sites there is scope to increase the hours available, as follows:  
 

• Hadley Learning Community by up to 24.5 hours.  

• Wrekin College Sports Centre by up to 31 hours.  
 

8.7.4 It is recognised that increasing the hours at the educational sites would involve costs 
and negotiations with each educational owner. However, it is a first option to consider 
because it would increase capacity at existing swimming pools. 

 

8.7.5 The priority site for intervention is Wrekin College Sports Centre. It is the third-most-
recent pool site to open and has the second-largest pool in the Borough. Increasing 
the hours for community use at this site has the most impact in meeting demand.  

 

8.7.6 The strategic interventions and drivers are:  
 

• Improve the swimming offer by providing a public leisure centre that has a main 
pool and a learner pool. All activities can then take place in pools suitable for 
specific activities.  

• Increase the amount of water space available for community use, thereby providing 
more capacity and enabling the used capacity of pool sites to be at a comfortable 
level at peak times. The Sport England measure for a swimming pool to be 
comfortably full is 70% of capacity used at peak times.  

• Meet the projected demand for swimming pools in the Telford area, where demand 
is highest in 2031. It is recognised that the Borough may wish to use a longer-term 
projection for residential sites and population up to 2040.  

• Replace a public leisure centre that is old, has high used capacity and demand that 
cannot be met. This applies to Oakengates Leisure Centre. 
 

8.7.7 Based on the FPM findings, the possible scale for a new Oakengates Leisure Centre 
could be a 25m x 13m six-lane pool and a 12m x 10m learner pool. This would increase 
the total water space to 445 sqm, from the current centre’s 213 sqm. 
 

8.7.8 The Council is in the process of developing plans for additional pool provision in the 
Dawley area to address the short fall in water space identified in the facility planning 
model.  This new facility will have community access at all times and will not be 
restricted by dual use operations, which is limiting the used capacity level at existing 
leisure centres.  

 

Page 281



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  56 

 

 
  

Facilities Planning Model - What does this mean for leisure provision in Telford & 
Wrekin? 
 

• Additional sports hall facilities are not required in the Council’s leisure 
portfolio; however a better balance could be achieved between supply and 
demand by increasing community access to existing facilities. 

• The Council should work with education providers to increase community 
access to sports halls. 

• As with sports halls, increasing community access to swimming pools on 
school sites would improve capacity within the Council’s leisure centre 
portfolio. 

• There are no dedicated learner pools, providing a public leisure centre which 
has both a main pool and learner pool would improve the Council’s swimming 
offer. 

• In 2031 the highest level of demand is projected to be between Dawley and 
Madeley, Dawley Sports & Leisure @ Langley School and Abraham Darby 
are the closest leisure centres to these areas. 

• In 2031, it is projected that demand will not be met at Abraham Darby and 
Oakengates Leisure Centres. 

• Consequently, to meet future swimming demand the Council should consider: 
o Providing additional water space in the form of a learner pool at one 

of the existing wet dry leisure centres; 
o Provide an additional swimming pool on one of the existing dry leisure 

centres; or 
o Replace an existing leisure centre to include a main pool and learner 

pool, for example Oakengates Leisure Centre, which is aging, has high 
used capacity and will not meet future demand in its current form.  

 
 
 

Page 282



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  57 

 

9. LEISURE CENTRE FACILITY AUDIT 
 
9.1. Facility Audit  
 
9.1.1. A facility audit was carried out on the Councils leisure centres, which covered; 

 
• Quality – how good are they? Age date of refurbishment. General condition and is it 

fit for purpose? 

• Accessibility – Location, walking, cycling routes catchments and GIS mapping 

• Availability - Programming and sports development policy initiatives. Pay and Play 

use, sports clubs only, private use, registered membership only use. Cost of use, 

patterns of use, hours of use, does design limit use by specific users e.g. disability 

users. 

• Identify new facilities which are planned, any forthcoming closures or enhancements 

which are planned.  

 
9.1.2. Quantity & Quality Review 
 

Table 6 – Facility Audit 

 
 

Leisure Centre Comments Score 

Telford Tennis 
Centre 

• General condition and reception area excellent 

• Large accessible car park 

• High standards of cleanliness 

89% 

Abraham Darby 
Sports & Leisure 
Centre 

• Sports hall floor replaced June 2022 

• Modern building 

• Served by public transport, signposting could be improved 

88% 

Oakengates 
Leisure Centre 

• General condition of facility was excellent, with a good 
quality sports hall, spinning studio, changing rooms and 
reception 

86% 

Telford Ice Rink • General condition and changing rooms good with 
excellent reception 

• Indoor soft play for younger children 

82% 

Wellington Civic 
and Leisure 
Centre 

• Overall condition was good with excellent changing rooms 
and facility mix with co-location of library and Council 
offices 

• Opportunity to install turnstiles in reception to better 
monitor usage  

80% 

Dawley Sports & 
Leisure @ 
Langley School 

• Good condition with excellent sports hall and good 
reception 

• Accessibility was excellent and good parking, however, 
would benefit from better signposting 

77% 

Shortwood 
Swimming Pool 

• Condition of site, swimming pool, changing rooms is 
excellent as is disability access 

• Good use of site for swimming lesson programme and 
target group sessions 

75% 

Key Rating

>80% Excellent

60% - 80% Good

40% - 59% Average

20%-39% Poor

<20% Very Poor

Page 283



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  58 

 

Leisure Centre Comments Score 

• Lack of presence, car park capacity, signposting and links 
to public transport reduced overall score 

Langley & 
Horsehay Village 
Golf & Fitness 
Centre 

• The fitness suite was excellent with new equipment, light 
and welcoming 

• Good parking, improved signposting would better help 
direct people to the site 

• No studio space 

74% 

Telford 
Snowboard & Ski 
Centre 

• Significant investment planned for the ski centre 

• Changing rooms high standard for adjacent 3G pitch 71% 

Newport 
Swimming & 
Fitness Centre 

• At the time of visit the pool was closed for new pool 
restoration including heat source pump and shallower 
pool suitable for swimming lessons 

• Good quality gym facility 

• Lack of studio space noted 

• Site was slightly hidden with limited natural presence in a 
residential area, would benefit from better signposting 

70% 

Stirchley Sports & 
Leisure @ Park 
School 

• Sports hall was good quality but located on first floor 
(accessible by lift) 

• Gym equipment dated compared to other sites 

• School reception used for leisure centre reception 

• Natural presence of site and signposting was poor, venue 
is hard to find 

• Name of school/leisure facilities due to have a re-brand 
which will help improve awareness and identity of the site 

• Facilities located within the school, no separate access  

61% 

 

  

Facility Audit - What does this mean for leisure provision in Telford & Wrekin? 
 

• All of the Council’s leisure facilities scored well in the facility audit and there is 
no one facility that stands out as being in need of significant investment to 
improve the quality of offer. 

 

• Consistent levels of signage will help improve awareness, accessibility and 
presence 

 

• Overall, there is a limited supply of flexible studio space across the portfolio 
to not only support the wider fitness offer and membership base but also to 
provide other services such as wellbeing initiatives, community groups etc. 

Page 284



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  59 

 

10. MAPPING OF PROVISION  
 
10.1. The following maps set out all indoor leisure provision in Telford & Wrekin where leisure 

and wellbeing activities can take place. 
 

10.2. The link to this mapping detail6 is https://datahubmaps.com/Telford-Wrekin-Facilities/ 
 
10.3. The map below shows that a good variety of indoor leisure provision but these are mostly 

located within the south east of the Borough which correlates to areas of highest 
population. 

 
Map 6 – Indoor Leisure Provision  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

  

 
6 The mapping is interactive and the Council can amend the mapping layers to assess a range of 
scenarios against the indoor leisure provision in the Council area. 

Page 285

https://datahubmaps.com/Telford-Wrekin-Facilities/


Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  60 

 

Map 7 – Council leisure centres – 20 minute drive time catchment   
 

 
 

10.4. As can be seen in the map above, not all of the Borough is covered by a 20 minute drive 
time of a council leisure facility.  However, within the Borough the top 30% most deprived 
areas are within a 20 minute drive time and served by a leisure facility.  

 
Map 8 – Council leisure centres – 20 minute drive time catchment for deprivation  

 

 
 

Page 286



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  61 

 

10.5. As shown in the map below not all areas at risk of inactivity area are covered by a 20 
minute drivetime such as in the north of the Borough. However, if you add community 
centre’s type of facility to provide physical activity then all areas at risk of inactivity are 
served e.g. in the north the Ellerdine Village Hall can cater for this area.  

 
Map 9 – Council leisure centres / community centres – Risk of Inactivity map – 20 minute 
drive time catchment 

 

 Ellerdine Village Hall 

 

 
 

Mapping - What does this mean for leisure provision in Telford & Wrekin? 
 

• The leisure centres are already located in the areas of higher population. 
  

• As well as the Council’s leisure centres there are other sports facilities in the 
Council area that are providing opportunities for local residents to be active, 
these include private gyms, studio spaces and community facilities.  
Therefore, it is important that the Council’s leisure centres differentiate from 
these facilities and provide accessible facilities for all. 

 

• The location of the existing leisure centres serve areas most in need well, and 
therefore they are in a strong position to attract users from lower socio-
economic groups. 

 

• More rural areas to the north of the Borough are served by community 
facilities, such as village halls. 

 

• The mapping highlights that the leisure centres are well placed to serve local 
residents and where there is not a Council facility within 20 minutes there are 
community facilities available.  These areas are low in population and there is 
not considered to be sufficient demand for additional leisure facilities in the 
north of the Borough.  This is supported by the FPM findings. 

 
 
 
 

Page 287



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  62 

 

11. COMPETITION ANALYSIS – Commercial Leisure 
 

11.1. A review of physical activity opportunities in the area was undertaken to identify any 
opportunities for additional facilities that will increase participation in physical activity and 
support revenue generation. Examples include; leisure water, soft play, spa, martial arts, 
indoor/outdoor climbing etc. 

 
11.2. This will help inform if there are commercial leisure opportunities within the Council’s 

indoor leisure portfolio, that will not only help increase participation in physical activity 
but also provide revenue that could help subsidise other activities or improve the overall 
financial cost of the service. 

 
11.3. Commercial competition analysis has been reviewed for: 
 

• Indoor climbing 

• Trampolining 

• Soft play 

• Tenpin bowling 

 
11.4. The maps below show that there is already a high level of commercial leisure provision 

in the Borough with two indoor climbing, four trampoline, fourteen soft play (including 
the soft play at Telford Ice Rink) and three ten pin bowling facilities. 

 
Map 10 – Telford & Wrekin Borough – Indoor climbing  

 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 288



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  63 

 

Map 11 – Telford & Wrekin Borough – Trampolining  

 
 

 

Map 12 – Telford & Wrekin Borough – Soft Play  

 

 
 

  

Page 289



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  64 

 

Map 13 – Telford & Wrekin Borough – Ten Pin Bowling  

 

 
 

11.5. In addition to the existing facilities identified in the maps it is understood that there has 
been an application to develop a new indoor commercial leisure facility in the town centre 
which will include an indoor crazy golf and restaurant facility by the company Putt 
Noodle. Alongside this facility there is also expected to be a Flip Out facility which will 
include laser quest, bumper cars, ninja obstacle courses and a roller rink. 

Page 290



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  65 

 

 

Commercial Leisure Competition - What does this mean for leisure provision in 
Telford & Wrekin? 
 

• Within Telford there is substantial commercial leisure provision including ten 
pin bowling, soft play and a trampoline park. 

 

• It is understood that an indoor crazy golf and Flip Out are also due to open in 
Telford in the near future, which will be a major attraction and present 
significant competition for any other commercial leisure facility. 

 

• Indoor climbing is one activity that is not provided for within Telford, however 
there is a facility in Newport and Wolverhampton.  Newport Rock is a 
traditional climbing wall and bouldering facility. 

 

• The planned entertainment venue for the former Debenhams building will 
capture a significant proportion of the commercial leisure market, limiting the 
opportunities within the leisure centres. 

 

• A clip and climb facility could be considered within the leisure centre portfolio 
to add a commercial element, however these are more staff intensive than 
facilities such as soft play, therefore getting the size, location and accessibility 
right is critical for it to be financially viable. 

 

 
 
 

Page 291



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  66 

 

12. NEEDS ASSESSMENT 
 
12.1. Having completed the insight research and analysis, the following strategic priorities 

have been identified for leisure provision in Telford and Wrekin. 
 

Figure 33 – Strategic Themes and Outcomes 

 
 
12.2. Considering these strategic outcomes, the insight research and analysis has identified 

the following core needs for leisure provision in Telford and Wrekin. 
 
  

Page 292



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  67 

 

Figure 34 – Leisure Facility Core Needs  

 

  

Identified 
Leisure 
Facility 

Core Needs

Social spaces 
to connect 

communities 
and support 

wider wellbeing

Retain existing 
sports hall 

space within the 
Council's 

leisure centres

Provide an 
additional learner 
pool to cater for 

growing population 
and high levels of 

demand

Facilities and 
activities that 
attract all age 

groups

The leisure 
centres should 
remain in their 

current 
locations

Squash courts 
should be 
retained

There is an 
opportunity to 
provide Padel 
courts at the 

Tennis Centre

Increased flexible studio 
space to assist in 

achieving latent demand 
projections but to also be 
utilised for other services 

such as health related 
initiatives and 
programmes

The exisitng leisure 
centres are high 

quality, well 
maintained and 

development should 
be in addition to rather 
than replace existing 

facilities

Specific facility 
consideration for 

older population who 
are currently under-

represented

Gyms are 
large enough 

to absorb 
future 

demand

Page 293



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  68 

 

13. FACILITY RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

 

 
 
 

 

Recommendation 1 – Studio/Flexible Space 
 
Through the facility audits it was identified that there is a lack of studio/flexible space across 
the portfolio.  Two centres have been identified as requiring studio space: 
 

• Langley & Horsehay Village Golf & Fitness Centre 

• Newport Swimming & Fitness Centre 

There is an opportunity to combine studio provision with a toning suite at Horsehay to 
create a wider wellbeing offer to maximise efficiencies and benefits (see recommendation 
3). 
 
Additional studio provision will: 
 

• Support fitness membership sales, by providing an increased group exercise 

programme.  It will assist in achieving the membership demand projections and 

therefore generate additional revenue. 

• Enable the Council to deliver a wider range of services either directly or through 

third parties, including health initiatives such as cardiac rehabilitation, trips and falls, 

nutrition/weight management. 

• Enable the delivery of non-sporting activities such as providing meeting space for 

local businesses or training courses. 

• Provide opportunity to deliver programmes and sessions for all age groups. 

• Support increased physical activity from the middle-aged workforce - Group 

Exercise is often popular with this group, additional studio space will allow for 

increased group exercise classes around the working day, including lunchtimes. 

• Enable the delivery of additional youth sessions, such as junior fitness, 

gymnastics/dance, martial arts or general youth club activities. 

• Enable co-delivery of services and increased partnership working with local 

stakeholders. 

• Improve the social opportunities for local communities by providing meeting space 

for community groups. 

• The additional usage opportunities will generate additional income with limited 

additional cost. 

• There is limited community space in the catchment of Langley & Horsehay Village 

Golf & Fitness Centre and therefore flexible space within the centre can also serve 

as a community centre. 

 

Page 294



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  69 

 

 
 
 

Recommendation 2 – Additional Swimming Pool 
 

The FPM run has identified that demand for swimming will not be met by the existing 
provision by 2031.   
 
In 2031 the highest level of demand is projected to be between Dawley and Madeley, 
Dawley Sports & Leisure @ Langley School and Abraham Darby are the closest leisure 
centres to these areas. 
 
The Council should progress with the provision of additional pool space in the Dawley area, 
to ensure demand can be met both now and in the future. 
 
Additional pool space in Telford & Wrekin will: 
 

• Enable the Council to deliver an increased learn to swim programme in pool space 

that is fit for purpose (suitable for non-swimmers/children). 

• A new pool in the Dawley area will increase day time access to swimming pools, 

as it will not be restricted by school access. 

• Enable people living close to the facility to increase physical activity levels – 

currently an area at risk of higher levels of inactivity. 

• Increased learn to swim programme will generate additional revenue and contribute 

to an improved financial position. 

• Meet the future demand for swimming following significant population growth in the 

Council area up to 2031. 

• Deliver additional sessions for target groups such as older people, people with long 

term health issues, people with disabilities, people from ethnic minority groups. 

• Enable the school to access pool provision more easily. 

• A new build will ensure the facility is environmentally sustainable and more efficient 

to operate. 

• Swim England are keen to work with the Council to ensure facilities are sustainable. 

In the longer term (linked to the Local Plan for 2040) the Council should consider the 
replacement of Oakengates Swimming Pool, as highlighted in the FPM report. 

Page 295



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  70 

 

 
 

Recommendation 3 – Toning (Assisted Exercise) Suite 
 

The insight research highlighted that older age groups are currently under-represented at 
the leisure centres.  Accessing traditional fitness facilities can be intimidating for non-users 
or people with mobility issues. 
 
There is the opportunity to provide a toning suite at Langley & Horsehay Village Golf & 
Fitness Centre, targeting older people, people with mobility and/or health issues and 
people with disabilities.  This should be linked to a new studio space (Recommendation 1) 
to create a wider wellbeing offer. 
 
Langley & Horsehay Village Golf & Fitness Centre has sufficient space on site to provide 
the additional facilities.  It also has an existing catering offer and experience shows that 
toning creates a social aspect to people’s visits and therefore a catering offer will be well 
supported by users of a toning facility. 
 
A toning suite at Langley & Horsehay Village Golf & Fitness Centre will: 
 

• Provide a unique facility in the portfolio aimed at non-users and target groups. 

• Generate its own membership base and income. 

• Increase usage and rates of participation in physical activity by those who are least 
active. 

• Enable a preventative approach to be taken with regards to health & wellbeing as 
well as offering rehabilitation. 

• Act as an introduction to wellbeing and fitness with the aim of providing a pathway 
for people to then access the main gym and group exercise programme. 

• Support the aging population in Telford & Wrekin. 
 
 

Page 296



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  71 

 

 
 

 
 

Recommendation 4 – Indoor Tennis Centre 
 
The Tennis Centre is a large facility which is currently utilised by ‘We Do Tennis’ who 
deliver the coaching opportunities.  The facility is also utilised by the school as part of the 
PE programme. 
 
As a large space alternative options have been considered for the tennis centre, including 
commercial leisure options such as soft play, indoor climbing and Tag Active, however due 
to the extensive competition in Telford (particularly once the new Flip out and crazy golf 
facility has opened), this would be a high risk option for the Council to consider. 
 
Consequently, following conversations with the Lawn Tennis Association and the manager 
of We Do Tennis there is an opportunity to include Padel courts on site.   
 
Tennis is also a social sport, having a catering offer inside the venue would support the 
coaching programme, events and training courses that are delivered on-site.  A small 
catering offer should be considered, either through a high quality vending offer or linked to 
the reception where hot and cold drinks and pre-prepared snacks can be provided.  This 
should be delivered by receptionists/recreation assistants during peak hours so as not to 
require additional staffing. 
 
Provision of Padel Courts with catering provision will: 

• Add diversity to the current offer. 

• Padel is more accessible – it is played on an enclosed court, which is c.25% smaller 

than a tennis court and it can be played by groups of mixed ages and abilities 

together. 

• It has grown rapidly in popularity in recent years, however there are limited venues 

available, the closest courts to Telford & Wrekin are in the centre of Birmingham. 

• Padel will provide an additional income stream. 

• Padel is a social sport that is easy to pick up – it is a good introduction to tennis 

and can provide a pathway into tennis and therefore support the existing tennis 

coaching programme. 

• A small catering offer on site will generate a secondary income opportunity with 

little additional resource required. It also supports the training programmes 

delivered on site. 

The Council should also consider the most sustainable delivery model for the tennis centre 
going forward. 

Recommendation 5 – Sports Halls 
 
It is recommended that the Council retains existing sports hall space within the leisure 
centre portfolio. 
 
To ensure there is sufficient provision to meet demand the Council should work with 
education providers to maximise community access to education facilities. 
 

Page 297



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  72 

 

 
 
 

 

Recommendation 6 – Fitness 
 
The analysis has shown that additional gym space is not required to meet future demand, 
however it is important the gym facilities are well maintained, and equipment replaced 
regularly to ensure they can compete with the private sector.  Maintaining the current level 
of quality is important for the future success and to reach the projected total demand for 
memberships. 
 

Recommendation 7 – Other Community Provision 
 
The Council should continue to support and facilitate community based leisure and sports 
provision.  Physical activity initiatives and policies should be developed to further support 
public health initiatives, tackle inequalities and stimulate new markets. 
 

Page 298



Telford & Wrekin Indoor Sports & Leisure Strategy 2022-2032  

 

Max Associates Private & Confidential  73 

 

Disclaimer 

 

Although the information in this report has been prepared in good faith, with the best intentions, 

on the basis of professional research and information made available to us at the time of the 

study, it is not possible to guarantee the financial estimates or forecasts contained within this 

report. Max Associates assumes no responsibility or liability for any errors or omissions in the 

content of this report. 

 

Max Associates cannot be held liable to any party for any direct or indirect losses, financial or 

otherwise, associated with any information provided within this report.  We have relied in a 

number of areas on information provided by the client and have not undertaken additional 

independent verification of this data. 

 

Page 299



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 

 

“We have made giant strides to tackle homelessness but we recognise there is much 

more to do to ensure that everyone in the borough has a roof over their heads - 

something which many of us take for granted. 

“The homelessness strategy builds on our work as an innovative council which is 

willing to try new solutions, strong partnership working across the statutory and 

voluntary sectors and a service which is already delivering good outcomes for many 

customers.” 

 

Page 301

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Borough of Telford and Wrekin 

Cabinet 

15 December 2022 

Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 

 
 
Cabinet Member:   Cllr Paul Watling - Cabinet Member: Stronger and Safer   

Communities  
 
Lead Director: Katherine Kynaston - Director: Housing, Employment & Infrastructure

  
Service Area: Housing Solutions 
 
Report Author: Toni Guest - Service Delivery Manager: Housing Solutions  
 
Officer Contact 
Details:  Tel: 01952 381860  Email: toni.guest@telford.gov.uk 
 
Wards Affected: All Wards  
 
Key Decision: Key Decision  
 
Forward Plan: Yes  
 
Report considered by: SMT – 8 November 2022 

Business Briefing – 17 November 2022 
Cabinet – 15 December 2022 

 
 
1.0 Recommendations for decision/noting: 

Cabinet is asked to approve: 
 

1.1 the adoption of the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy for the period of 
2022 – 2027; and 
 

1.2 delegated authority be given to the Director: Housing, Employment and 
Infrastructure in consultation with the lead Cabinet Member: Stronger and Safer 
Communities to implement actions set out in the Strategy. 
 

 
 

Page 303



 

 

2 

 

2.0 Purpose of Report 

2.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval for the adoption of the new 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy for Telford & Wrekin.  This sets out 
how Telford & Wrekin Council and its partners across the statutory, community 
and voluntary sectors will continue to work together to prevent and tackle 
homelessness and rough sleeping in the Borough over the next five years.  
 

2.2  This strategy is integral to the Council Plan and our commitment to ‘protect, care 
and invest to create a better borough’. 

 
2.3 Our Housing Strategy recognises that a decent place to live is the foundation on 

which people build their lives and this strategy is key to our objective to provide 
homes to support and empower our most vulnerable people. 

 
2.4 Existing partnerships within the borough are robust in delivering a wide range of 

support to clients facing homeless and are key in delivering the overarching 
objectives within this strategy.  This is particularly evident in the work of the Rough 
Sleeping Task Force and provides a strong foundation on which to build with the 
strategy featuring pledges by partners across the public, community, voluntary and 
health sectors to drive delivery.  

 
3.0 Background 

3.1 The Homelessness Act 2002 requires all housing authorities to produce a 
homelessness strategy based on a review of all forms of homelessness in their area.  
The strategy must be renewed at least every five years showing how we will address 
and prevent homelessness based on this review.  The strategy should be cross 
service. 

 
3.2 Telford & Wrekin Council’s current Homelessness strategy runs to 2022. 
 
3.3 The Homelessness Act 2017 significantly reformed England’s homelessness 

legislation by placing duties on local authorities to intervene at earlier stages to 
prevent homelessness in their areas. 

 
3.4 Section 4 of the Homelessness Act 2002 requires that strategies tackle all forms of 

homelessness that are defined in law, which encompasses rough sleeping. 
 
3.5 The strategy must set out the authority’s plans for the prevention of homelessness 

and for securing that sufficient accommodation and support are, or will be, 
available for people who become homeless or who are at risk of becoming so. 

 
3.6  Local housing authorities should be assisted by social care services and have the 

co-operation of private registered providers of social housing, to fulfil 
homelessness strategy duties. Other agencies should also contribute. 

 
3.7 The proposed Strategy has been produced with the involvement of a specialist 

housing advisor to ensure an independent view was taken and to lead on 
consultation and engagement sessions with key partners and internal services.  
This has included the voluntary sector, supported accommodation providers, 
registered social landlords, private landlords, support services and social care.  

Page 304



 

 

3 

 

 
3.8 Data  
 
3.9 In the past year c.3000 households have approached the Council and been 

provided with advice and support to prevent them becoming homeless.  The table 
below illustrates how this number has increased year on year. 

  
 Number of people approaching and receiving Housing Solutions advice pa: 
 

2018/19 2029 

2019/20 2073 

2020/21 2438 

2021/22 2969 

 
3.10 Our data further shows that the number of clients who fall under the 

Homelessness Reduction Act duty i.e. they are homeless or threatened with 
homelessness - has more than doubled from 2018/19 to 2021/22:  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
3.11 Illustrating the success of actions in our existing Strategy while we are seeing the 

scale of our challenge grow the number of clients where we have been able to 
prevent homelessness has almost tripled since 2018/19 to 2021/22:  

 
 

  
Annual 

  

2018/19 133 

2019/20 230 

2020/21 303 

2021/22 361 

  

 
 

 

Annual 

% of 
those 
who 

Approach 
for 

support  

2018/19 396 20% 

2019/20 452 22% 

2020/21 875 36% 

2021/22 881 30% 

Page 305



 

 

4 

 

3.12 Similarly the number of clients where we have relieved homelessness has more 
than tripled since 2018/19 to 2021/22:  
 

 
Annual 

 

2018/19 111 

2019/20 140 

2020/21 428 

2021/22 418 

 

3.13 The key reasons we are seeing for homelessness include eviction from private 
rented tenancies, family breakdown and domestic abuse.  For some there are a 
range of issues and support needs contributing to their homelessness including 
mental health, disability and substance misuse. 

 
3.14 While we continue to see significant numbers of single adults increasing numbers 

of couples and families are approaching the service.   
 
3.15 We are already seeing the current cost of living crisis leading to increased arears 

risking an increase in homelessness as a result. 
 

4.0 Summary of main proposals 

4.1 The proposed Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy draws on the successful 
work undertaken by the Council’s Housing Services and it’s partners. It meets all 
legal requirements and represents a best practice strategic plan that will inform the 
local approach to preventing and relieving homelessness and rough sleeping for 
the next 5 years. 

 
4.2 The strategy has been drawn from a robust evidence base which looks at patterns 

and trends in homelessness, the personal and structural factors that lead to 
people becoming homeless, and the effectiveness of different interventions in 
preventing homelessness.  It also draws on the lived experience of clients who 
have found themselves homeless. 

 
4.3     The strategy sets out four overarching priorities to address homelessness and 

rough sleeping in the borough: 
 

 Prevention through Early Intervention 

 Accommodation to Support and Empower 

 Addressing Rough Sleeping 

 Collaboration - delivering services that are responsive, targeted and maximise 
impact 

4.4 The following sections provide an extract from the strategy to illustrate what we, 
with partners, are already doing and are committing to deliver.  

 
 

Page 306



 

 

5 

 

Prevention Through Early Intervention 
 
4.5 Critical to our strategy is to prevent homelessness through intervening both 

structurally working with partners including health to address the key causes of 
homelessness and to work with those threatened with homelessness to provide 
advice and access to the support needed and/or to intervene directly to prevent 
their being evicted or losing existing accommodation. 

 
4.6 What’s working well 
 

 Wide ranging services in place e.g. from debt and benefit advice to specialist 
support targeted for particular needs 

 Work across and with partners to identify those at risk and make fast referrals so 
prevention work can take place as early as possible 

 Providing discretionary funds alongside food and energy vouchers and vouchers 
for free school meals 

 Work with private tenants and landlords to sustain tenancies 

 Work of our mental health alliance and services for those suffering drug or alcohol 
addiction 

 Investing through Disability Facilities Grant to enable people to continue to live at 
home 

 Use of peer mentors and those with lived experience as volunteers to work with 
clients  

4.7 What we will do further 
 

 Deliver the Council’s Cost of Living strategy to support households retain their 
accommodation and independence 

 Ensure personalised housing plans build on customers strengths and set out clear 
expectations and commitments 

 Develop a protocol with private and social landlords to prevent homelessness 

 Develop an education programme for young people to promote awareness of 
housing options and pathways that prevent homelessness and continue to raise 
aspirations at an early age linking to homelessness as well as crime/drugs and Ant 
Social Behaviour. 

 Work with health colleagues to address housing issues early prior to hospital 
discharge, to provide support services around key contributors to homelessness 
and work with the Ageing Well Partnership to ensure older people have access to 
advice and support 

 Explore options to include requirements for work experience, volunteering and 
employment for those who have been homeless as part of social value in council-
commissioned contracts 

 Review and update information on our website to enable customers to take steps 
to prevent homelessness 

Implement a cross partner communications plan so everyone is aware of the 
importance of prevention work and timely referral 
 
 
 
 

Page 307



 

 

6 

 

Accommodation to Support & Empower 
 
4.8 What’s working well 
 

 We are already managing to relieve the homelessness of 50% of those 
approaching the Council’s service with support to find alternative accommodation 
in the social or private rented sector 

 Working with our local social landlords to maximise nominations into their 
accommodation 

 Growing our provision of emergency and temporary accommodation and 
reconfiguring this to better meet demand and facilitate support including for those 
fleeing domestic violence 

 Halving the average time spent in temporary accommodation 

 1000 new homes being completed in the Borough per annum – 30% affordable 

 Developing our Supported & Specialist Housing Strategy and Homes for All 
Supplementary Planning Document to maximise delivery of new affordable and 
specialist accommodation 

 Investing directly through Nuplace and Telford & Wrekin Homes – and using the 
Council’s Registered Provider status and £10m Housing Intervention Fund to 
deliver new provision on stalled development sites 

4.9 What we will do further 
 

 Invest further in Nuplace and T&W Homes to shape the private landlord market 
and to provide more affordable, adapted and specialist homes 

 Explore options to deliver more one bed accommodation and new models for 
shared accommodation 

 Explore the need for respite/crash pad accommodation for young people as 
additional emergency accommodation with mediation/arbitration services to 
enable a safe return home where appropriate 

 Maximise our planning powers to deliver new affordable and specialist homes 

4.10 Addressing Rough Sleeping 
 
4.10 The Council is committed to eradicating rough sleeping i.e. preventing where 

possible but where it does occur ensuring it is rare, brief and non-recurrent. 
 
4.11 What’s working well 
 

 The multi-agency Rough Sleepers Task Force which continues to meet daily to co-
ordinate services and ensure that anyone rough sleeping is quickly identified and 
provided with support 

 Growing our night in provision to further reduce use of emergency accommodation 
alongside new provision to provide intensive support for those not ready to move 
on into their own accommodation 

 Delivery of 23 Telford Housing First properties providing self contained move on 
accommodation for Rough Sleepers 

 Rapid mental health support scheme with Midland Partnership Foundations Trust 
(MPFT) 

 

Page 308



 

 

7 

 

4.12 What we will do further 
 

 Sustain and grow the successful work of the Taskforce providing comprehensive 
services including outreach, provision of support and accommodation 

 Working with the Integrated Care System (ICS) to maximise access to health 
services including dedicated mental health resources 

 Expand our Housing First programme 

 Lobby for sustained investment by Government to provide additional 
accommodation and support services  

Collaboration – Delivering Services that are responsive, targeted and maximise 
impact 
 
4.13 There is a strong foundation of partnership working in place.  This is evident in the 

Rough Sleeper Task Force but there is also a much wider set of partnerships in 
place including working with private and social landlords, older people and those 
experiencing domestic violence.   

 
4.14 Further work we will undertake 
 

 Develop a new Homelessness Forum with shared responsibility for delivering the 
strategy 

 Hold an annual homelessness event to share progress and renew the commitment 
of all partners 

 Report on and seek support for, the delivery of the strategy through key 
partnerships including the Health & Wellbeing Board and Telford & Wrekin 
Integrated Place Partnership 

 Ensure that data is captured widely and effectively across the system and used to 
improve interventions 

 Facilitate shared training, shadowing and joint working opportunities 

 Build on work with health and social care to ensure that preventing homelessness 
is at the heart of services and review if/how risk of becoming homeless can be a 
factor when considering the thresholds and criteria to access services 

 Offer fast-track appointments through the hub for interim assessment for adult 
care services  

 Develop further the work with children’s services to ensure young people at risk of 
becoming homeless are identified and supported at the earliest opportunity. 

 To support care leavers even further to ensure they are ready for a tenancy and in 
accessing an appropriate housing pathway 

Delivering the Strategy  
 
4.15 The new Homelessness Forum will agree a set of performance measures to 

evidence the impact of delivering the strategy. 
 
4.16 A live action plan developed from the strategy and ongoing engagement work will 

be managed and delivery monitored via the Forum. 
 
4.17 Progress will also be reported annually through the Council’s Cabinet  
 
 

Page 309



 

 

8 

 

5.0 Alternative Options 

5.1 It is a legal requirement to review homelessness within the local authority area and 
to publish a homelessness and rough sleeping strategy at least every five years.  
A failure to implement such a strategy would leave the Council open to the risk of 
legal challenge. 

 
5.2 The Council has drawn on a robust evidence base and engagement with wide 

ranging partners considering a range of options as part of formulating the strategy. 
 
6.0 Key Risks 

6.1 The recommendations mitigate against the risks of:  
o Increase in homelessness and rough sleeping 
o People not receiving the support service they need, when they need it  
o Legal challenge – including County Court Judgements and Judicial Review  
o Financial Cost (including direct costs paying for emergency accommodation 

and the impact on wider public sector services 
o Complaints/damage to reputation 

 
7.0 Council Priorities 

 
7.1 Every child, young person and adult lives well in their community; 

 
7.2 All neighbourhoods are a great place to live; and 

 
7.3 A community focused innovative council providing effective, efficient and quality 

services. 

8.0 Financial Implications 
 
8.1 The Homelessness and Prevention Strategy will be implemented using the 

resources available to the Housing Solutions Team.   
 
8.2 New Burdens funding has been allocated by DHLUC to assist with implementing 

the Homelessness Reduction Act in the form of Homelessness Prevention Grant 
(HPG) and access to Rough Sleeping Initiative (RSI) grants.  The Authority has 
been allocated £374k HPG for 22/23 and were successful in securing RSI5 
funding totalling £821k over a 3 year period upto 31st March 2026. 
 

8.3 The Authority has also been successful in bidding for funding from DHLUC via 
Homes England for the Next Steps and Rough Sleeping Accommodation 
programmes with a total funding of £1.48m being granted to deliver additional 
Housing solutions.  The £1.48m includes a capital allocation which will be spent 
before 31st March 2023.    

 
9.0 Legal and HR Implications 
 
9.1 The Legal implications are set out within the body of the report. The Council has a 

legal duty to publish a Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy and to do so 
using an evidence based approach. In addition, the consideration of the Council’s 

Page 310



 

 

9 

 

equalities duties are key when developing policies. Legal advice has been sought 
and will continue to be provided on an ongoing basis. 

 
9.2 There are no HR implications arising from this report. 
 
10.0 Ward Implications 
 
10.1  This report has a borough wide impact. 
 
11.0 Health, Social and Economic Implications 
 
11.1 The adoption of the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy will have a 

positive impact on those facing homelessness and roughing through addressing 
health inequalities and assisting people into stable accommodation with tailored 
support where required to  improve their social and economic circumstances.  

  
12.0 Equality and Diversity Implications 
 
12.1 The Council has considered equality and diversity implications of the 

Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy, as it has been developed. A key 
point to note is that the strategy is for all, supporting the most vulnerable in the 
borough. 

 
13.0 Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
 
13.1 As those rough sleeping are at risk from extreme weather, this strategy identifies 

the support provided to those rough sleeping to ensure they have access to 
emergency accommodation.  Investment through the Council’s Climate Change 
Programme has brought Council owned temporary accommodation properties up 
to required energy performance standard.  Developments being delivered by 
Nuplace and T&W Homes include measures to raise environmental standards 
within the fabric, design and layout of schemes.  The Council and partners also 
offer and channel a range of grant support available to landlords to address 
energy efficiency. 

 
14.0  Background Papers 

 
Not Applicable   

 

 
15.0  Appendices 
 

A Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 
 
16.0  Report Sign Off 
 
Signed off by Date sent Date signed off Initials  
Legal 12/10/2022 17/10/2022 RP 
Finance 12/10/2022 18/10/2022 AEM 
Director 12/10/2022 02/11/2022 KK 

 

Page 311



This page is intentionally left blank



Telford and Wrekin’s 
Strategy to address homelessness 
and rough sleeping

1

P
age 313



Foreword 
This strategy sets out how Telford and Wrekin 
Council and its partners across the statutory, 
community and voluntary sectors will continue to 
work together to prevent and tackle homelessness 
and rough sleeping in the borough. The strategy 
has been developed through engagement with 
a wide range of stakeholders all of whom have a 
critical role to play. 

This strategy is integral to the Council Plan 
and our commitment to ‘protect, care and 
invest to create a better borough.’ The Council 
Plan highlights housing as a key priority, 
recognising the role it plays in creating a vibrant 
and successful area and seeking to ensure 
that all residents, no matter their background 
and circumstances, can benefit from a strong 
economy and fulfil their potential, living well. 

Our Housing Strategy recognises that a decent 
place to live is the foundation on which people 
build their lives. A good quality home makes 
health, employment, educational achievement 
and a happy family life much easier to obtain. 
But we know that financial difficulties and 
some national policies make it harder for some 
households to find and maintain a roof over 
their heads.

In the past year 3,000 households approached 
the council for advice and support to prevent 
them becoming homeless. Working with our 
partners, we were able to prevent 40% of 

these from becoming homeless while working 
to ‘relieve’ homelessness by supporting 
households to move to new accommodation in 
the majority of other cases. Our ‘Everyone In 
for Good’ programme first established during 
the pandemic has to date supported over 500 
people to prevent them sleeping rough and find 
accommodation. We remain committed to this 
programme and to finding solutions, with our 
partners, to eradicate the need for anyone to 
sleep rough.

As well as tackling homelessness, the council 
is working hard to ensure that families can 
access good quality affordable housing; that 
young people are able to stay living and working 
in the borough; that vulnerable people can 
access housing which supports and empowers 
independence. We have delivered over 1,000 
new homes every year, including affordable, 
adapted and specialist homes.

This strategy builds on strong foundations: an 
innovative council willing to try new solutions; 
strong partnership working across the 
statutory and voluntary sectors; and a service 
which is already delivering good outcomes for 
many customers.

As we launch this strategy, rises in the cost of 
living and especially in energy costs are putting 
enormous financial pressure on households. 
More households will be at risk of becoming 

homeless without support. Our key goal of 
early advice and intervention sits at the heart of 
preventing homelessness.

I am delighted that so many partners attended 
engagement events to develop this strategy; 
their input has made a real difference. We have 
also benefited from those with lived experience 
of homelessness sharing their experiences and 
helping us to improve the delivery of services by 
seeing things from their perspective.

As we move forward to deliver the strategy, we 
will continue to engage with partners through a 
new Homelessness Forum and an annual event 
to evaluate our progress. As a co-operative 
council, our commitment is to work together 
with our community and partners to develop 
new ideas, to empower others to take action 
to extend the impact of what we can do as a 
council and to involve people in decisions that 
will affect their lives. 

Cllr Paul Watling
Cabinet Member for
Safer and Stonger 
Communities 

2

P
age 314



Contents

4 Executive summary

6 Introduction

7 Engagement

8 Our role in preventing 
homelessness

10 Our achievements

11 The national picture

13 Our borough

15 Objective one: Prevention 
through early intervention

18 Objective two: Accommodation to 
support and empower

21 Objective three: Addressing rough 
sleeping 

23 Objective four: Collaboration: 
Delivering services that are 
responsive, targeted and 
maximise impact

25 Delivering the strategy

26 How we will measure success

As a community nurse 
for Midlands Partnership 
Foundation Trust (MPFT) I 
will continue to work across 
all services to help tackle 
health inequalities within 
the rough sleeper cohort – 
Mike Cooper 

Commitments from 
our partners

3

P
age 315



1. Executive summary
The council’s vision is to protect, care and 
invest to create a better borough. This strategy 
sits within that overall vision, and the council’s 
housing strategy, and is an essential part of 
delivering it. It also complements other strategies 
such as the Health and Wellbeing Strategy and 
the strategy for responding to Domestic Violence 
and Abuse.

Informed by our work to date and our 
engagement with partners and those with 
lived experience our strategy includes four 
shared objectives:

Prevention through early intervention

• Map and ensure that all advice and support 
services in the borough are working to 
prevent homelessness; agree and implement 
a communications plan so that all partners 
are aware of the vital importance of early 
prevention work and timely referrals

• Review and update information on the council 
website to enable customers to take steps 
to prevent themselves becoming homeless; 
ensure access to appropriate advice on debt 
and budgeting

• Maximise the impact of current services 
across the partnership to prevent increased 
homelessness in response to the rising 
cost of living; identify gaps and ways to 
address these

• Continue to improve the customer journey 
through regular sharing of learning across 
partners and through feedback from those 
with lived experience

• Work with housing providers to prevent 
evictions wherever possible

• Work with health partners to address 
underlying health issues which could lead 
to homelessness

 
Accommodation to support and empower

• Facilitate delivery of the required supported 
and specialist housing identified in the ‘Homes 
For All’ strategy

• Explore options to deliver more 1 bed 
accommodation; consider whether any 
existing stock can be used more effectively

• Explore different models for the provision of 
shared accommodation

• Continue to work with private landlords 
to reduce entry barriers for those with a 
high housing need and support tenancy 
sustainment

• Continue to work with housing associations 
on nominations to maximise the role played 
by social housing

• Continue to work with supported housing 
providers to ensure a joined-up approach to 
meeting need

• Continue to deliver more specialist and 
supported accommodation through Nuplace 
and Telford & Wrekin Homes

Addressing rough sleeping

• Build on the ‘Everyone In for Good’ initiative 
to ensure that any instances of rough sleeping 
are brief, rare and non-recurring

• Develop the successful work of the Rough 
Sleeper Task Force in identifying, monitoring 
and responding to rough sleepers

• Sustain existing comprehensive services for 
rough sleepers including outreach, provision 
of support and accommodation

• Bid successfully for funding for rough sleeper 
services from 2025 onwards

• Further develop Telford Housing First offer

Collaboration delivering services that are 
responsive, targeted and maximise impact 

• Develop a cross partnership Homelessness 
Forum with shared responsibility for delivering 
the new strategy

• Hold an annual homelessness event to raise 
awareness, share progress and renew the 
commitment of all partners

• Ensure that data is captured widely and 
effectively across the system and is used to 
improve interventions and joint approaches

4

P
age 316



• Explore options for shared risk assessments 
and shared information where it will ensure 
more joined-up services for customers

• Ensure delivering appropriate accommodation 
and support services for the homeless is 
recognised in related council and partner 
strategies and investment decisions

• Develop more effective links with the 
Integrated Care System (ICS)

5

P
age 317



2. Introduction 
It is a statutory requirement that every local 
authority has a strategy for preventing 
homelessness and rough sleeping. This strategy 
has been drawn from a robust evidence 
base which looks at patterns and trends in 
homelessness, the personal and structural 
factors that lead to people becoming homeless, 
and the effectiveness of different interventions in 
preventing homelessness.  

This strategy has been developed to reflect and 
conforms to statutory requirements, including the 
updated Code of Guidance 2018. 

The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 (HRA) 
sets the statutory framework. The ethos of the 
HRA is to:

• prevent more people from becoming 
homeless in the first place by identifying 
people at risk and intervening earlier;

• intervene rapidly if a homelessness crisis 
occurs, so it is brief and non-recurrent; and

• help more people to recover from and exit 
homelessness by getting them back on 
their feet.

This strategy reflects the requirements of the 
HRA and the recognised need to continue to 
intervene at the earliest possible stage to prevent 
homelessness. 

The government published a new rough 
sleeping Strategy in September 2022 which 
drives forward their manifesto commitment 
to end rough sleeping: rough sleeping should 
be prevented wherever possible and where it 
cannot be prevented it is a rare, brief and non-
recurring experience.   

6

P
age 318



3. Engagement
The council alone cannot prevent homelessness 
but relies on working with many partners and 
stakeholders. Engagement events were held with 
a wide range of partners to shape and prioritise 
the strategy. Those participating included housing 
associations (Registered Providers or RPs), 
voluntary organisations who work in homelessness 
and wider advice and support services, private 
landlords and statutory partners including adult 
care services, children and young people’s services, 
health partners including mental health services, 
and those involved with the justice system.

Key issues raised through discussion included:

• continuing the ‘person-centred’ approach and 
increased flexibility to meet needs that don’t 
always fit within specific service criteria

• continuing need to work together to deliver 
fully joined-up services; a need to increase 
awareness of the range of services available 
and how to access these

• the need for more affordable housing, both 
general needs housing and more supported 
and specialist accommodation

• honest conversations between all partners 
about what can be achieved.

There were also some specific comments about 
different needs groups which are picked up in the 
relevant sections below.  

These engagement events benefitted from 
input from those with lived experience of 
being homeless; this included participation in 
group discussions and one-to-one interviews 
by housing officers and through our partners. 
Feedback was generally very positive, both 
for the overall service and for individual 
staff members and agencies. Many felt that 
the service they had received exceeded 
their expectations. It is also recognised that 
not everyone who contacts homelessness 
services will feel this way. Peer support 
is also important – this was particularly 
highlighted by one woman who had become 
homeless because of Domestic Violence and 
Abuse (DVA).

7

P
age 319



4. Our role in preventing homelessness
The Homelessness Reduction Act places a 
range of duties on the council. We work with 
any household who is homeless or threatened 
with homelessness in the next 56 days to try 
and prevent them becoming homeless. We can 
talk to landlords, friends and family to try and 
persuade them to let someone stay in their 
accommodation for longer. We can help to 
resolve issues over arrears or behaviour. 

Often people are referred to us by our partner 
organisations and in turn we can refer people 
to our partners for support on a wide range of 
issues, or to access specific services.

Where we cannot prevent someone becoming 
homeless, we can work with them to secure 
alternative accommodation, including in the 
private rented sector. This is termed ‘relieving’ 
homelessness.

There are only a small number of cases each 
year where we cannot prevent or relieve 
homelessness and have to consider whether the 
household is eligible for support under the ‘main 
duty’. This includes whether they have done 
or failed to do anything which has led to them 
becoming homeless, as well as whether anyone 
in the household is vulnerable.

There are many reasons why people become 
homeless, from financial issues and employment 
challenges to broader lifestyle issues which might 

impact on tenancy sustainment. Sometimes the 
reasons are complex and inter-related. Some 
homelessness is invisible, for example those who 
are ‘sofa surfing’. 

Becoming homeless has a significant impact 
on the quality of life for individuals and for 
families. Health, education and employment 
are all affected for the individual household, 
but the wider impacts are felt across our 
communities. Homelessness can lead to 
greater demands on our health and care 
services, and on emergency services.   

Commitment to Cohesive 
working – Alan Olver, 
Maninplace

Commitments from 
our partners

8

P
age 320



5. Headline figures

• Almost 3,000 households approached for 
advice and support in 21/22

• The council had a duty under the 
Homelessness Reduction Act to 880 of these

• Homelessness was prevented in 361 cases ie 
40% 

• Homelessness was ‘relieved’ through a move 
to alternative accommodation in a further 418 
cases ie a further 50%

• There were 34 households where homelessness 
could not be prevented or relieved and who 
were assessed for the main statutory duty 

Kristine and her three children 
(two boys aged seven and five and 
one girl aged two) fled London 
to Telford after she suffered 
domestic abuse at the hands of 
her ex-husband.

She was living with friends at first, but the 
place she was staying in had no cooking 
or laundry facilities. She ran out of funds 
and approached Telford & Wrekin Council 
following a police recommendation. 

Kristine and her family moved into temporary 
accommodation in August 2022. She 
has been helped by a Housing Solutions 
Officer to find and be placed into temporary 
accommodation and then helped to settle in 
by an outreach Tenancy Sustainment Officer, 
who has also supported getting her children 
settled into school and nursery. 
 
She has been nominated for a property 
and work is ongoing to help her with her 
budgeting.  

Kristine said: “I don’t know how 
different it would have been, but 
I’m happy with the support I’ve had.

“Without this support, particularly 
from my support worker, I might not 
have been that strong enough.”

Case study

9

P
age 321



6. Our achievements 

Through Nuplace and T&W Homes 
we have delivered 447 new homes 

to date including affordable, 
accessible and specialist housing, 
with a further 437 in the pipeline.

We have attracted over £1.6m 
funding to address rough sleeping.

The Rapid Mental Health support scheme 
working with Midlands Partnership 
Foundations Trust has resulted in 

estimated savings to health and other 
partners of over £10,000 in the first 6 

months through diverting the need from 
emergency services alone. 

There continues to be daily 
meetings of the Rough Sleepers 

Task Force.

We have secured 11 new units 
of emergency accommodation 
with 24/7 support and 8 new 

units within intensive supported 
accommodation hub.

Our ‘Everyone In for Good’ programme 
in response to the pandemic has to 
date supported over 500 people to 

prevent them sleeping rough and find 
accommodation.

We have purchased 23 properties 
to establish the Telford Housing 

First programme providing 
accommodation for rough sleepers 

with wrap around support.

We have prevented or relieved 
homelessness for 90% of those 

approaching us for help for whom 
an HRA duty applies.

We have delivered over 
1,000 new homes every year, 

including affordable, adapted 
and specialist homes.

90%

24/7

10

P
age 322



7. The national picture 
Across England, homelessness has risen 
year on year since 2010; this is generally 
accepted to be down to a reduction in the 
amount of social housing available and benefit 
restrictions which make the private rented 
sector less affordable for many. During the 
pandemic, fewer households were faced with 
becoming homeless, partly due to temporary 
legislation that prevented eviction from a 
rented home.

The number of rough sleepers has also 
increased significantly over the last decade. 
During the pandemic, the number of rough 
sleepers rose by 40%, reflecting the drive to get 
‘everyone in’ from the streets.

Looking ahead, many families will be affected 
by the increased cost of living, particularly 
increases in food and energy costs. With 
budgets under pressure, it is possible that 
arrears may increase in both the private 
rented and social housing sectors, potentially 
leading to increased homelessness without 
intervention and support. Mortgage rates are 
increasing rapidly, which could also lead to 
arrears and repossessions.
    
The strategy must also respond to changes 
in legislation, particularly in the private rented 
sector. The government’s White Paper ‘A 
fairer private rented sector’ proposes a move 
to new tenancy types which will abolish ‘no 

fault’ possession. This type of possession is 
a significant cause of homelessness; such a 
move could reduce the number of households 
losing their tenancies. The White Paper also 
proposes applying the Decent Homes Standard 
to private rented housing, which should ensure 
good quality housing. However, there is some 
concern that the changes may leave some 
landlords to leave the sector, reducing the 
supply of available properties. 

The rest of this section looks in more detail at the 
national picture of homelessness during 2020/21 
across England.

For households with children, the main reasons 
for loss of last settled accommodation were:

• ending of Assured Shorthold Tenancy 
(generally in the private rented sector)

• family and friends no longer willing to 
accommodate

• domestic abuse.

The main support needs for these households 
were:

• domestic abuse

• mental health

• physical health/disability.

For single households across England during 
the same period, the main reasons for loss of 
last settled accommodation were similar ie:

• family/friends no longer able to accommodate

• ending of Assured Shorthold Tenancy 
(generally private sector rent)

• relationship breakdown (including non-violent 
relationship breakdown).

The main support needs for these 
households were: 

• mental health 

• history of rough sleeping

• physical health

• drug and alcohol

• offending.

 

STAY will endeavour to 
home individuals who need 
emergency accommodation. 

Commitments from 
our partners

11

P
age 323



The majority of households with children where 
there is a support need have only one support 
need, but up to a third of single households have 
two or three support needs. 

2020/21 national figures also show a large 
increase in applications from households with 
a history of offending; this may be due to the 
work of the new Homelessness Prevention Task 
Forces established by the Ministry of Justice. 

12

P
age 324



8. Our borough
In Telford and Wrekin, the numbers approaching 
the council for support has increased by around 
a third since 2018/19. This increase is higher 
than national trends, which saw numbers plateau 
or drop during the pandemic. This may well be 
due to the council continuing to offer a full range 
of services over this period (2021-2022). 

Reasons for homelessness

235 
were homeless due to a S21 (no 
fault eviction) notice on a private 
rented tenancy

A further 210 
were faced with losing a private 
rented tenancy on other grounds

493 
were homeless as friends or 
family were no longer willing to 
accommodate

189
 were sofa surfing

148 
were rough sleeping.

247 
were homeless as a result of 
domestic abuse.

24 
were homeless on leaving an 
institution. 

43
had no fixed abode or had been 
rough sleeping.

Support needed

173 
had a history of mental health 
problems.

113 
needed support because of 
physical health or disability.

92 
needed support as a result of 
domestic violence and abuse.

Age/household breakdown

401 
single adults 

320
were single parents; 

85 
were couples with children;

Not surprisingly, most heads of 
households were aged

25-44

Employment

170
households were headed by 
someone working full or part time, 

454 
households were headed by 
someone unemployed, 

63 
unable to work due to a disability.

Households

80 households 
were homeless because their 
current accommodation was 
detrimental to their health.

297 
households threatened with 
becoming homeless live in the 
private rented sector, 

298 
households threatened with 
becoming homeless live with 
family or friends. 

115 
households threatened with 
becoming homeless live in social 
rented housing, 

SECTION

21

13

P
age 325



A key challenge is the affordability of rented 
accommodation in the area, particularly for those 
on benefits (including in-work benefits): the 
table below shows the maximum housing costs 
that can be paid through the benefits system 
compared to lower quartile market rents – the 
cheapest market rents available. In all cases, the 
rent is higher – usually significantly higher – than 
the housing cost that benefits can cover (data as 
of Jul 2022).

Monthly max 
benefit rate £

Lower quartile 
monthly 
market rents £

Single 
room rate

325 347

1 bed 398.88 425

2 bed 523.55 550

3 bed 623.31 625

4+ bed 792.83 850

To explore direct referrals 
with Citizen’s Advice for DHP 
customers with severe debts – 
Becky Owen-Jones, T&WC

Commitments from 
our partners

14

P
age 326



Objective one: Prevention 
through early intervention

What’s working well
• There are a wide range of services in place 

which help to prevent people becoming 
homeless, from debt and benefits advice 
to general support for non-specific client 
groups, to specialist support targeted for 
particular needs.

• The council has built on the statutory Duty 
to Refer to encourage all partners and 
council services to identify those at risk of 
becoming homeless and to make the fastest 
possible referral to the homelessness team 
so that prevention work can take place at the 
earliest opportunity.

• Debt and benefits advice is offered through 
Citizen’s Advice, housing associations, a 
number of voluntary sector organisations, 
and the council’s housing benefits and Safer 
Stronger Communities teams. Discretionary 
funds may be offered alongside food and 
energy vouchers, and vouchers for free 
school meals.

• The council offers advice and support to 
private sector tenants who are at risk of losing 
their tenancy; tenancy relations officers 
will advise on the validity of notices and can 
mediate with landlords if required. Housing 
officers will also negotiate with landlords, help 
tenants to pay off arrears, and refer them for 
further support if needed. 

• Advice and support is available to those 
suffering domestic violence and abuse. 
This can help to prevent people becoming 
homeless or needing to move to a refuge.

• There is a mental health alliance in 
place which brings together statutory and 
voluntary sector organisations delivering 
mental health services. Those who may be 
at risk of homelessness because of mental 
health challenges can access a range of 
services from low-level support to specialist 
accommodation. 

• Some services use volunteers or peer mentors. 

• Services are in place for those suffering from 
drug or alcohol addiction through local 
services, including STARS. Support covers 
harm reduction, relapse prevention, detox, 
and rehabilitation. There is also specialist 
accommodation. Support also includes help 
with claiming benefits, seeking employment 
and finding accommodation.

• Joint working is in place with Children’s 
services to ensure 16- and 17-year-olds are 
appropriately safeguarded. There is a care 
leavers protocol in place; care leavers are 
supported to find and sustain a tenancy. 
Specialist services and accommodation are 
available, including specialist housing for 
those aged over 18 with a learning disability 
and/or mental health issues. 

• Disabled Facilities Grants have a key role to 
play in enabling both older people and those 
with a disability to remain in their existing 
accommodation. Although it is rare for older 

people to approach the council because they 
are at risk of becoming homeless, some will 
be referred through other services. 

• Many services use volunteers with lived 
experience of homelessness, which brings 
a range of benefits. Some services also offer 
peer mentor support.

• When someone approaches the council who 
is at risk of becoming homeless, the council 
will do an initial assessment; a Personalised 
Housing Plan is produced for all those at risk 
of becoming homeless in the next 56 days. 

• Effective interventions will depend on the 
individual circumstances of the household, 
including the resources available to them. 
These may include:

 • Contacting a landlord where a private 
sector tenancy is ending to ascertain the 
circumstances and see if the tenancy can 
continue.

 • Contacting the family or friends where 
someone has been asked to leave to 
understand the circumstances and see if a 
longer stay can be negotiated; mediation 
can be offered where helpful. 

 • Finding someone a place in a refuge for 
those fleeing domestic violence and abuse.

 • Sorting debt and benefit issues including 
advising on benefits which can be claimed.

 • Referral to a floating support service as 
appropriate.

 

15

P
age 327



 • Referral to a mental health nurse where 
appropriate.

 • In some circumstances, providing funding 
through Discretionary Housing Payments, 
or through the homelessness prevention 
fund.

 • Preventing eviction from social housing by 
resolving any underlying issues or delaying 
eviction to allow a planned move where 
possible.

 • Referral for specialist accommodation 
where appropriate.

In order to further meet this objective, the 
council and its partners will:

Advice and information:
• Deliver the council’s Cost of Living strategy 

which aims to support households to maintain 
their current housing.

• Maximise the impact of current services 
across the partnership to prevent increased 
homelessness in response to the rising cost of 
living; identify gaps and ways to address these.

• Explore options and provide training to ensure 
that all partners can easily access information 
about advice and support services to promote 
early referral.

• Review and update information on the 
council website to enable customers to take 
steps to prevent them becoming homeless; 
ensure access to appropriate advice on debt 
and budgeting.

• Agree and implement a communications 
plan so that all partners are aware of the vital 
importance of early prevention work and 
timely referrals.

Customer experience
• Continue to improve the customer journey 

through regular sharing of learning across 
partners and through feedback from those 
with lived experience.

• Ensure personalised housing plans build on 
customer strengths and set out clearly the 
expectations and commitments on both sides.

Preventing eviction
• Develop a protocol with private and social 

landlords to work to prevent homelessness.

• Develop a Landlord and Tenant Support 
Programme with a single point of contact.

• Work with housing association partners 
to encourage early referral where tenant 
is finding it difficult to sustain the tenancy 
through a pre-eviction protocol.

Young People
• Work with Education Services to establish an 

education programme for young people to 
promote awareness of housing options and 
pathways that prevent homelessness.

• Work with education service and partners 
to develop youth offer to continue to raise 
aspirations at an early age, linking to 
prevention of homelessness as well as crime/
drugs/asb etc to try and stop the cycle in 
future generations.

Review homelessness policy 
for the organisation and ensure 
embedded in all service delivery 
areas/links with strategy – 
J Griffiths, BVT 

Commitments from 
our partners

16

P
age 328



Health
• Work with health colleagues to ensure that 

housing issues are raised on admission to 
hospital so they can be addressed before 
discharge.

• To review and develop the Hospital Discharge 
policy to ensure early engagement prior to 
discharge for those with no accommodation.

• Work with the Ageing Well Partnership to 
ensure that older people have access to 
appropriate advice and support to prevent 
homelessness.

Employment and skills
• Work with employment and skills teams 

to strengthen links with employers and 
increase opportunities for work experience, 
volunteering and employment for those who 
have been homeless, including rough sleeping.

• Explore options to include requirements 
for work experience, volunteering and 
employment for those who have been 
homeless as part of the social value in 
council-commissioned contracts. 

We will work in partnership to 
make more nominations work – 
Wrekin Housing Group

Commitments from 
our partners

17

P
age 329



Objective two: Accommodation 
to support and empower

What’s working well
• Around 50% of those approaching the 

council where an HRA duty applies have 
their homelessness ‘relieved’ with support 
to find alternative accommodation. This may 
be in the social or private rented sectors. 
This avoids the need for people to move into 
emergency or temporary accommodation, 
providing less disruption and more certainty.

• The council and its partners work together 
to ensure that households in the greatest 
housing need are nominated to social housing 
landlords for accommodation.

• The council works closely with private 
landlords operating within Telford and Wrekin.

• The council has expanded provision 
of emergency and temporary 
accommodation to meet rising demand. 
Existing schemes have been reconfigured 
to better meet demand, for example there 
is increased management and support at 
for those experiencing domestic abuse. 
An accessible room has also been created 
within the refuge. 

• Although the number of households going 
into temporary accommodation increased 
significantly during the pandemic (due to the 
Everyone In initiative), we have halved the 
average number of nights spent in temporary 

accommodation from 110 in 2019/20 to 55 in 
2021/22.  

• The housing strategy aims to maximise the 
number of affordable properties available, 
including affordable rented properties 
for those who are homeless or at risk of 
becoming homeless. Over 300 new affordable 
homes are being built each year.

• The council is using information about housing 
need to shape and maximise the delivery 
of new affordable and specialist housing 
provision through S106 planning agreements 
and work with Homes England who grant fund 
provision by RP.

• The council is using its £10m Housing 
Intervention Fund to help bring stalled 
development sites forward to deliver specialist 
and supported housing including for those 
who are homeless.

• The council’s wholly owned housing company, 
Nuplace, has a portfolio of 447 privately 
rented homes including a proportion of 
affordable, adapted and specialist homes. In 
2021/22 the council launched Telford and 
Wrekin Homes which is refurbishing existing 
properties for rent.

• The council has carefully assessed the 
need for specialist and supported 
accommodation, publishing a separate 
strategy running to 2031. This includes 
accommodation for those who have 
experienced, or are at risk of, homelessness. 
The strategy identifies the need for: 

 • 800 units of accommodation for those 
with non-assessed mental health needs 
(including mainstream accommodation with 
low-level support)

 • 330 units of accommodation for care 
leavers and other vulnerable young people 
(again, some of these will be mainstream 
accommodation)

 • just under 300 properties suitable for 
those with a physical disability, including 
households with a disabled child.   

The strategy is supported by a Homes for All 
Supplementary Planning Document to shape 
market provision and ensure these needs are met.

Continue to tackle health 
inequalities in homelessness – 
Maninplace

Commitments from 
our partners

18

P
age 330



In order to further meet this objective, the 
council and its partners will:

Facilitate delivery
• Continue to facilitate delivery of the required 

supported and specialist housing identified in 
that strategy through planning, engagement 
with developers and housing associations. 

• Continue to invest in Nuplace and Telford and 
Wrekin Homes to deliver affordable, adapted 
and specialist homes; grow the combined 
portfolio to 880 properties by 2026. 

• Work with community and voluntary sector 
partners to help them acquire additional 
properties to meet need and provide move on 
accommodation.

• Ensure that planning agreements continue to 
maximise the delivery of new affordable and 
specialist homes in accordance with existing 
policy.

Smaller and shared accommodation 
• Explore options to deliver more one bed 

accommodation; consider whether any 
existing stock can be used more effectively.

• Explore different models for the provision of 
shared accommodation; we know that most 
people want self-contained accommodation, 
but it is unaffordable for those under 35 who 
rely on benefits to pay part or all of their rent.

Siobhan was a victim of domestic 
abuse and fled to Telford from 
Rochdale. 

She was accommodated in Telford & Wrekin 
Council’s local refuge and received support 
from a Domestic Abuse Support Worker 
and the tenancy sustainment and housing 
solutions teams. 

Siobhan was nominated for housing with a 
social landlord and moved from the refuge 
into her own property where she has settled 
well. She has started to attend local courses 
to help her socialise and learn new skills.

Siobhan said: “I’m really grateful 
for all the help and support I’ve 
received and want to say a big 
thanks to the Telford & Wrekin 
Council teams who have helped 
me to make a completely fresh 
start in life.”

Case study

19

P
age 331



Private rented sector
• Continue to work with private landlords 

to reduce entry barriers for those with a 
high housing need and support tenancy 
sustainment.

• If S21 abolished, implement a 
communications plan for private landlords to 
encourage them to remain in the market; work 
with partners and stakeholders to understand 
and monitor the impact.

Social housing
• Work with our housing association partners 

to maximise the number of successful 
nominations into social housing; agree a clear, 
shared definition of ‘tenancy ready’.  

• Work with our housing association partners to 
ensure that new properties reflect the needs 
of homeless households.

Emergency and temporary 
accommodation 
• Improve (where feasible) on the existing 

performance on number of nights customers 
spend in emergency accommodation.

• Identify and explore innovative solutions 
to provide move-on accommodation and 
minimise the need for temporary housing 

• Explore the need for a small crash pad room 
for young people as additional emergency 
accommodation with mediation/arbitration 

services which enable them to return home 
where safe and appropriate

Customer expectations
• Work with partners to manage customer 

expectations about the type, size and location 
of housing they may be offered

Adapt services to fill a need ie 
fleeing domestic violence, older 
adults etc – ORSA housing

Commitments from 
our partners

20

P
age 332



Objective three: Addressing 
rough sleeping

The council is committed to eradicating rough 
sleeping, working with the definition in the 
National End Rough Sleeping for Good Strategy 
ie rough sleeping should be prevented where 
possible but where it does occur it should be 
rare, brief and non-recurrent.

What’s working well
• The multi agency Rough sleepers Task 

Force meets daily to co-ordinate services and 
ensure that anyone sleeping rough is quickly 
identified and offered support.

• All partners work to the same triage criteria; 
information on rough sleepers is shared so that 
the most appropriate services are offered.

• Maninplace offer a responsive service outside 
working hours, including a night inn service. 

• There is an outreach team funded by the 
council and delivered through Urban Kip and 
STAY. 

• Emergency night by night accommodation is 
provided where appropriate.

• There are comprehensive support services in 
place, including specialist support around 
mental health and positive diversion. 

• There is a range of emergency, temporary 
and move-on accommodation available, 
including new provision for homeless couples. 

• Accommodation is also available under the 
Telford Housing First scheme, putting a roof 
over people’s heads combined with support 
to address underlying issues.

• The council and its partners have attracted 
over £1.6m government funding to date to 
support and accommodate rough sleepers. 
This includes revenue funding through to 2025 
to maintain existing support services, and 
capital funding to purchase 23 new properties 
to provide accommodation for those who 
were previously rough sleeping.

• The Rapid Mental Health support scheme 
in partnership with Midlands Partnership 
Foundations Trust supports rough sleepers 
and those in volatile tenancies with mental 
health challenges, often complex problems. 
The scheme is funded to December 2022 and 
to date has supported 139 individuals; 84 of 
them needing no additional service input. 

In order to further meet this objective the 
council and its partners will:

Services
• Continue the successful work of the Rough 

Sleeper Task Force in identifying, monitoring 
and responding to rough sleepers.

• Sustain existing comprehensive services for 
rough sleepers including outreach, provision 
of support and accommodation.

• Work with the emerging primary care networks 
to maximise access to health services for 

those who are homeless, including dedicated 
mental health resources, substance misuse 
workers and other support functions.

• Further develop the Telford Housing First 
programme.

Funding
• Bid successfully for further funding to provide 

additional accommodation and services rough 
sleepers

21

P
age 333



Thomas is turning his life around 
after being re-housed through 
the Next Steps Accommodation 
Programme.

He had been homeless and living in and 
out of temporary accommodation for over a 
decade until the council stepped in to find 
him a home.

Thomas now lives in a flat in Newport thanks 
to the programme – which has also helped 
him to get his whole life back on track.

During his spells of homelessness, Thomas 
turned to a life of drugs and crime which led 
to several spells in prison.

But now his new home has given him a new 
lease of life and the chance to look forward to 
a brighter future.

Thomas said: “I was in a bad way 
and it spiralled. I had no home, I 
was taking drugs, I wasn’t eating 
properly and I was in trouble with 
the law.

“I had brief spells in shared 
accommodation but it didn’t work 
out for me and I found myself mixing 
with the wrong crowd all the time.

“Having a permanent roof over 
my head through this programme 
has helped me to sort my life out 
completely.

“I’m now drug free, I’m able to see 
my young daughter regularly and I 
just feel far more settled. The past is 
in the past and it’s something I don’t 
want to go back to.”

Case study

22

P
age 334



Objective four: Collaboration: 
Delivering services that are 
responsive, targeted and 
maximise impact

What’s working well
There is already a strong foundation in place 
of partnership working on which we can build. 
This is particularly evident with the Rough 
Sleeper Task Force but there is a much wider set 
of partnerships in place working across all facets 
of housing and homelessness. 

The process of developing this strategy has 
re-energised and refocused some of those 
partnerships including work with private 
landlords, social housing landlords, other 
statutory services and voluntary sector services. 

In order to further meet this objective, the 
council and its partners will:

All partners
• Develop a Homelessness Forum with shared 

responsibility for delivering the new strategy.

• Hold an annual homelessness event to share 
progress and renew the commitment of all 
partners.

• Continue to ensure that all partners are 
aware of and using referral pathways into 
the service.

• Report on and seek support for the delivery 
of the Strategy through key partnerships 
including the Health & Wellbeing Partnership 
and Telford & Wrekin Integrated Place 
Partnership.

• Ensure that data is captured widely and 
effectively across the system and is used to 
improve interventions and joint approaches.

• Explore options for shared risk assessments 
and shared information where it will ensure 
more joined-up services for customers.

• Facilitate shared training, shadowing and 
other joint working opportunities.

Health and social care
• Build on current work with health and social 

care partners to ensure that preventing 
homelessness is at the heart of services for 
mental health, substance misuse and adult 

care; review whether the risk of becoming 
homeless should be a factor when considering 
the thresholds and criteria to access services.

• Work with healthcare partners to promote 
awareness of the importance of their contribution 
to preventing homelessness, including the 
emerging Integrated Care Partnership.

• Work with the Rapid Response Team working 
with older people at risk of hospital admission 
to provide a joined-up response including 
housing considerations. 

• Offer fast-track appointments through the hub 
for interim assessment for adult care services.

Children and young people
• Build on current joint working with Children 

and Young People’s services to ensure that 
young people at risk of becoming homeless are 
identified and supported at the earliest possible 
stage; build a ‘Care Leavers’ covenant which 
includes an appropriate housing pathway.

Recruiting more volunteers with 
lived experience – MIND

Commitments from 
our partners

23

P
age 335



Rough Sleeper Task Force Success

The Rough Sleeper Task Force was set 
up in 2020 to initially support those rough 
sleeping or faced with rough sleeping to 
access support and accommodation during 
the Covid pandemic.  

Partners meet daily to discuss, monitor 
and identify cross partnership actions on 
supporting those rough sleeping or faced 
with rough sleeping.  

Due to the success of the partnership, 
the Rough Sleeper Task Force continues 
to meet daily to provide support and a 
collaborative approach to those faced with 
rough sleeping

Our Rough Sleeper Task Force 
partners include:

• Telford & Wrekin Housing 
Solutions 

• Maninplace
• Kip
• STAY
• A Better Tomorrow
• Orsa Housing
• STARS
• Midlands Partnership 

Foundation Trust (MPFT)

24

P
age 336



9. Delivering the strategy

Our offer

The council will work with partners, stakeholders 
and customers to deliver this strategy building on 
the themes raised through engagement to date.

The council will build on existing partnership 
working and establish a new Homelessness 
Forum with shared responsibility for delivering 
the strategy. This will be supported by an annual 
event where all partners can review progress 
against the action plan and commit their on-
going support.

The council will promote the interests of 
the borough in advocating for resources 
and policy changes which help to prevent 
homelessness and respond appropriately to 
those who are homeless.

The actions in the strategy will be pulled together 
into a live action plan which will be shared and 
owned by the council and partners and managed 
and monitored through the Homelessness 
Forum. The action plan is intended to be flexible, 
to be updated at least annually and respond to 
emerging needs, trends and policy changes. 

Our asks

During the engagement work to develop this 
strategy, partners made a range of commitments 
to support its delivery: some partners committed 
to increased collaboration, others to specific 
changes or additions to current services. All 
commitments were documented and form part of 
our action plans.   

The council values its partners without whom the 
work to date would not have been possible and 
asks them to:

• continue to work in partnership with us to 
prevent and respond to homelessness

• share information and insight to help us 
understand the causes of homelessness and 
the impact of our interventions 

• work with us to ensure that access criteria and 
thresholds for services reflect the reality of the 
demand we are facing.

Resources

Despite funding pressures, the council will 
continue to direct resources into preventing and 
responding to homelessness. We have secured 
funding from central government for core services 
until 2025 but we need to do more if we are to 
deliver our ambitions and address the needs of 
our residents and communities. We will build on 
our successful track record of bidding for funds 
to secure additional resources to provide more 
properties, particularly for those who have been 
sleeping rough, or at risk of doing so.

We will also work with partners to support 
them to secure external funding for new 
accommodation, including through Homes 
England. We continue to use our Disabled 
Facilities Grant funding to support older people 
and those with a physical disability to remain 
in their homes where feasible and appropriate. 
Before taking any council-owned land to 
market we will consider its potential for use as 
supported or specialist housing. We will look at 
opportunities to tailor planning contributions for 
affordable housing to meet specialist housing 
needs and to shape provision by Nuplace and 
Telford and Wrekin Homes wherever possible. 
 
When commissioning support services we 
will give priority to services which meet the 
objectives of this homelessness strategy.

Link in with wider services such 
as probation to ensure robust 
support is offered – Telford 
MIND

Commitments from 
our partners

25

P
age 337



10. How we will measure and report on success
The new Homelessness Forum will agree a set of 
performance measures to evidence the impact 
of delivering the strategy. Measures may include 
(but are not limited to):

• A year-on-year increase in the proportion 
of people for whom homelessness can be 
prevented 

• A year-on-year increase in the proportion of 
people for whom homelessness can be relieved

• The number of rough sleepers sleeping out for 
more than one night

• The number of rough sleepers who return to 
the streets

• Maintaining the average number of nights spent 
in temporary accommodation at 55 or less

• Ensuring that all those in the refuge as a result of 
domestic abuse achieve a planned move to long-
term accommodation within an agreed timescale 

Progress will also be monitored through an 
annual report to the council’s Cabinet.

Work closely with local authority 
to do something different with 
our newbuilds/homeless list –
Bromford

Commitments from 
our partners

Chloe and her partner Brendon 
benefited from our service 
during lockdown in 2021 after 
they became homeless.  

They were placed into B&B 
accommodation and were extremely 
grateful to be accommodated in a warm 
and safe environment. 

In June 2021, Chloe and Brendon were 
housed in Newport as part of our Next Steps 
Accommodation (NSAP) project. 

They both settled well into the area 
and engaged with all of their support 
appointments which helped them thrive and 
gave them the tools to become tenancy 
ready and independent in all aspects of life. 

Chloe and Brendon have now secured a 
tenancy with The Wrekin Housing Group and 
have moved into their ‘forever home.’ They 
have both worked extremely hard and are a 
credit to the NSAP project.  

Chloe said: “I’d like to say thanks 
to Telford & Wrekin Council for all 
the support we have been given. We 
wouldn’t be in our own home without 
that help and we’re really grateful.”

Case study

26

P
age 338



Telford and Wrekin’s
Strategy to address homelessness 
and rough sleeping

27

P
age 339



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	5 Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site – Supplementary Planning Document (Consultation Version)
	Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site – Supplementary Planning Document (Consultation Version)
	Appendix 1 for Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site – Supplementary Planning Document (Consultation Version)

	6 Declaration of Further Green Guarantee Sites
	Declaration of Further Green Guarantee Sites
	Appendix 1 for Declaration of Further Green Guarantee Sites
	Appendix 2 for Declaration of Further Green Guarantee Sites

	7 Indoor Sports and Leisure Strategy 2022-2032
	Indoor Sports and Leisure Strategy 2022-2032
	Appendix 1 for Indoor Sports and Leisure Strategy 2022-2032

	8 Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy
	Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy
	Appendix 1 for Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy


